
Administrative Office  
1717 North Indian Hill  
Boulevard, Suite B 
Claremont, CA 91711 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 623-4073 

Clinical Office / Adult  
2008 North Garey Avenue 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 865-9281 

Clinical Office / Child & Fam 
1900 Royalty Drive, Suite 180 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 766-7340 
Fax (909) 865-0730 

MHSA Administrative Office 
2001 North Garey Avenue 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 326-4690 

Wellness Center 
1403 North Garey Avenue  
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 242-7600 
Fax (909) 242-7691 

www.tricitymhs.org 

 

 

 

 

 

    

HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. 
Let’s find it together. 

Founded in 1960  
by the residents 

of Pomona, 
Claremont and La 
Verne. 

 

www.tricitymhs.org  

 

 

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY 
 

AGENDA 
 

GOVERNING BOARD REGULAR MEETING 
 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 17, 2024 AT 5:00 P.M. 

MHSA ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 

2001 NORTH GAREY AVENUE, POMONA, CA  91767 

 

To join the meeting on-line clink on the following link:  

https://tricitymhs-

org.zoom.us/j/84979023535?pwd=J3YE5zwvY30sbVvDfsKQS2DgWkCWpdjA.7dQ7NC

d7SobXM9pB 
Passcode: awFL+Wy4 

 
Public Participation.  Section 54954.3 of the Brown Act provides an opportunity for 

members of the public to address the Governing Board on any item of interest to the public, 

before or during the consideration of the item, that is within the subject matter jurisdiction 

of the Governing Board.  Therefore, members of the public are invited to speak on any 

matter on or off the agenda.  If the matter is an agenda item, you will be given the 

opportunity to address the legislative body when the matter is considered. If you wish to 

speak on a matter which is not on the agenda, you will be given the opportunity to do so at 

the Public Comment section. No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the 

Agenda.  The Chair reserves the right to place limits on duration of comments.  

In-person participation: raise your hand when the Governing Board Chair invites the 

public to speak. 

Online participation: you may provide audio public comment by connecting to the meeting 

online through the zoom link provided; and use the Raise Hand feature to request to speak. 
 

Please  note  that  virtual  attendance  is  a  courtesy  offering  and  that  technical difficulties 

shall not require that a meeting be postponed. 
 

Written participation: you may also submit a comment by writing an email to 

molmos@tricitymhs.org. All email messages received by 3:00 p.m. will be shared with the 

Governing Board before the meeting.  
 

Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda 

and distributed by Tri-City Mental Health Authority to all or a majority of the Governing 

Board less than 72 hours prior to this meeting, are available for public inspection at 1717 

N. Indian Hill Blvd., Suite B, in Claremont during normal business hours. 

In compliance with the American Disabilities Act, any person with a disability who requires 

an accommodation in order to participate in a meeting should contact JPA 

Administrator/Clerk Mica Olmos at (909) 451-6421 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.   

 

GOVERNING BOARD 
 

Jed Leano, Chair 
(Claremont) 
John Nolte, Vice-Chair 
(Pomona) 
Carolyn Cockrell, 
Member 
(La Verne) 
Paula Lantz, Member 
(Pomona) 
Wendy Lau, Member 
(La Verne) 
Elizabeth Ontiveros-Cole, 
Member 
(Pomona) 
Ronald T. Vera, Member 
(Claremont) 

 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/
http://www.tricitymhs.org/
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/346ae58b/EyLnVG0M5kS84vDLNEMQQg?u=https://tricitymhs-org.zoom.us/j/84979023535?pwd=J3YE5zwvY30sbVvDfsKQS2DgWkCWpdjA.7dQ7NCd7SobXM9pB
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/346ae58b/EyLnVG0M5kS84vDLNEMQQg?u=https://tricitymhs-org.zoom.us/j/84979023535?pwd=J3YE5zwvY30sbVvDfsKQS2DgWkCWpdjA.7dQ7NCd7SobXM9pB
https://link.edgepilot.com/s/346ae58b/EyLnVG0M5kS84vDLNEMQQg?u=https://tricitymhs-org.zoom.us/j/84979023535?pwd=J3YE5zwvY30sbVvDfsKQS2DgWkCWpdjA.7dQ7NCd7SobXM9pB
mailto:molmos@tricitymhs.org


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

 
GOVERNING BOARD REGULAR MEETING AGENDA – JANUARY 17, 2024      PAGE 2 OF 4 

 

 

    

GOVERNING BOARD CALL TO ORDER 

 

Chair Leano calls the meeting to Order. 

 

ROLL CALL  

 

Board Members Carolyn Cockrell, Paula Lantz, Wendy Lau, Elizabeth Ontiveros-Cole, and Ron 

Vera; Vice-Chair John Nolte; and Chair Jed Leano. 

 

POSTING OF AGENDA 

 

The Agenda is posted 72 hours prior to each meeting at the following Tri-City locations: Clinical 

Facility, 2008 N. Garey Avenue in Pomona; Wellness Center, 1403 N. Garey Avenue in Pomona; 

Royalty Offices, 1900 Royalty Drive #180/280 in Pomona; MHSA Office, 2001 N. Garey Avenue 

in Pomona; and on the TCMHA’s website: http://www.tricitymhs.org  

 

 
1. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE DECEMBER 20, 2023 GOVERNING 

BOARD AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION REGULAR JOINT MEETING 

 

Recommendation:  “A motion to approve the Minutes of the Governing Board and Mental 

Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting of December 20, 2023.”  

 

2. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 731 ADOPTING A REVISED 

PERSONNEL RULES AND REGULATIONS MANUAL OF TRI-CITY MENTAL 

HEALTH AUTHORITY, EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024 

 

Recommendation: “A motion to adopt Resolution No. 731 updating Rule VI, Section 

2.B of the Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations Manual, effective January 1, 

2024.” 

 

3. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 732 REVISING THE JOB 

DESCRIPTIONS FOR THE BEHAVIORAL HEALTH WORKER, DEI 

COORDINATOR, HR DIRECTOR, PEER SUPPORT SPECIALIST I/II, AND TCG 

GARDENER CLASSIFICATIONS; AND RECTIFYING THE AUTHORITY’S 

MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE 

RETROACTIVE TO MARCH 7, 2023 

 

Recommendation:  “A motion to adopt Resolution No. 732 revising the Job 

Descriptions for the Behavioral Health Worker, DEI Coordinator, HR Director, Peer 

Support Specialist I/II, and TCG Gardener Classifications; and Rectifying the Authority’s 

Master Classification and Salary Schedule Effective Retroactive to March 7, 2023.” 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/
http://www.tricitymhs.org/


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

 
GOVERNING BOARD REGULAR MEETING AGENDA – JANUARY 17, 2024      PAGE 3 OF 4 
 

 

    
 

 

 

 

 

4. ELECTION OF OFFICERS FOR THE 2024 CALENDAR YEAR AS REQUIRED 

BY THE JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITIES OF POMONA, 

CLAREMONT, AND LA VERNE 

 

Recommendation:  “Staff recommends that the Governing Board considers the election 

or re-election of a chairperson and vice chairperson.” 
   

5. CONSIDERATION TO FORM AN AD-HOC COMMITTEE TO INTERVIEW 

APPLICANTS FOR MEMBERSHIP TO TCMHA MENTAL HEALTH 

COMMISSION 

 

Recommendation: “Staff recommends that the Governing Board select two of Board 

Members to participate in an Ad-Hoc Committee to interview MHC Membership 

Applicants.” 

 
 

 

 

 
6. RIMMI HUNDAL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 

 

7. DIANA ACOSTA, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT 

 

8. LIZ RENTERIA, CHIEF CLINICAL OFFICER REPORT 

 

9. SEEYAM TEIMOORI, MEDICAL DIRECTOR REPORT 

 

10. DANA BARFORD, DIRECTOR OF MHSA AND ETHNIC SERVICES REPORT 

 

11. NATALIE MAJORS-STEWART, CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER REPORT 

 
GOVERNING BOARD COMMENTS 

 

Members of the Governing Board may make brief comments or request information about mental 

health needs, services, facilities, or special problems that may need to be placed on a future 

Governing Board Agenda. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

The Public may at this time speak regarding any Tri-City Mental Health Authority related issue, 

provided that no action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the Agenda.  The Chair reserves 

the right to place limits on duration of comments. 

 

MONTHLY STAFF REPORTS 

 

 

 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

 
GOVERNING BOARD REGULAR MEETING AGENDA – JANUARY 17, 2024      PAGE 4 OF 4 
 

 

    
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

The next Regular Meeting of the Governing Board will be held on Wednesday, February 21, 

2024 at 5:00 p.m., in the MHSA Administrative Office, 2001 North Garey Avenue, Pomona, 

California. 

  
    

 

MICAELA P. OLMOS 

       JPA ADMINISTRATOR/CLERK 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/


 
 

MINUTES 

 JOINT MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BOARD  
AND THE MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

DECEMBER 20, 2023 – 5:00 P.M.   

AGENDA ITEM NO. 1 

 

 

 

 

The Regular Joint Meeting of the Governing Board and Mental Health Commission was held on 
Wednesday, December 20, 2023 at 5:00 p.m. in the MHSA Office located at 2001 North Garey 
Avenue, Pomona, California. 
 
CALL TO ORDER Chair Leano called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL   Roll call was taken by JPA Administrator/Clerk Olmos. 
 
 GOVERNING BOARD  
 

PRESENT: Jed Leano, City of Claremont, Chair  
  John Nolte, City of Pomona, Vice-Chair 
  Carolyn Cockrell, City of La Verne, Board Member  
  Paula Lantz, City of Pomona, Board Member  
  Wendy Lau, City of La Verne, Board Member  
  Ronald T. Vera, City of Claremont, Board Member    
  Beverly Johnson, City of Pomona, Alternate Board Member 
 
ABSENT: Elizabeth Ontiveros-Cole, City of Pomona, Board Member  
 

 MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION  
 

PRESENT: Anne Henderson, Chair  
  Wray Ryback, Vice-Chair 
  Clarence D. Cernal 
  Joan M. Reyes 
  Twila L. Stephens 
  Toni L. Watson 
 
ABSENT: Isabella A. Chavez 
  Nichole Perry 
    
STAFF   
 
PRESENT: Diana Acosta, Chief Financial Officer 

Amy Grayson, Deputy General Counsel    
  Elizabeth Renteria, Chief Clinical Officer 
  Dana Barford, Director of MHSA & Ethnic Services 
  Natalie Majors-Stewart, Chief Compliance Officer 
  Mica Olmos, JPA Administrator/Clerk 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 2 of 11 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

A. TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOUSING OVERVIEW 
 
Chief Clinical Officer Renteria explained that homelessness refers to an individual or a family who 
lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence, and pointed out that within, there is a 
subgroup of individuals who are considered unsheltered, which is living long-term in places that 
are not meant for habitation such as riverbeds, parks, behind buildings, etc. She distinguished 
between homeless individuals and individuals who are homeless that are unsheltered in order to 
accurately present the 2023 statistics that were gathered from the annual Point-In-Time count, 
that is the count of sheltered and unsheltered persons experiencing homelessness conducted by 
the Los Angeles County, noting that that there is another one coming up and Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority will be participating. She provided the 2023 statistics noting that there was a 14% 
increase in visible identification of unsheltered individuals when compared with the 2022 statistics 
both nationwide and locally; that Point In Time count data from 2022 showed that Claremont 
identified 26 individuals, La Verne identified 41, Pomona identified 716, and 6 were identified in 
the unincorporated areas of Pomona.  She added that the housing presentation will discuss the 
efforts in place by Tri-City Mental Health Authority (TCMHA) to assist individuals experiencing 
homelessness, including the programs provided by the Housing Program.  
 
Housing Manager Monzon provided an overview of TCMHA Housing Program, and stated that 
‘housing is mental wellbeing’; that the TCMHA Housing team strives to be ‘Housing First’ focused; 
that they work with the Coordinated Entry System (CES), which does not ask about the ability to 
maintain housing when it comes to an individual’s eligibility for a housing program. She then 
introduced the Housing Department Team, stating that everyone has their own specialty and there 
is not much overlap: 1) Jose Castaneda, ensures there is communication between the teams and 
certain clients within TCMHA; 2) Dwight Pennington, housing navigator who receives the open 
referrals; 3) Elaine Hernandez, works with the landlords hosting monthly workshops and sessions 
to help them better support their tenants; 4) the three Residential Services Coordinators (RSC), 
who although they have similar jobs, they tend different properties with a different developer and 
property manager and that each one of them are specialists for their specific assigned property; 
5) Cynthia Vega, Housing Supervisor who oversees staff and provides direct supervision; and her 
position as the Housing Manager, who helps with building the programs and continues to find 
ways to assist the community. She then provided a timeline from the time she became Housing 
Manager beginning in 2017, and reported that in June 2018, TCMHA began to participate in the 
Coordinated Entry System, an online database system used by the Los Angeles County to 
coordinate and identify who are the most vulnerable individuals in the County and match them to 
housing, and explained the CES process to connect individuals to services and stay connected 
with all the other agencies.  She then stated that in December of 2021, TCMHA identified a more 
streamlined vision for funding, and a set plan for each client; and shared different examples of 
crisis situations that would call for a motel voucher or assistance to catch up with rent, which 
TCMHA is able to help with, and at the same time ensuring that clients are also utilizing outside 
resources. She then stated that in 2022, the need for ROI’s (Release of Information) became 
clear, and now it is a standard protocol between the housing team and the clinical team for added 
safety and client privacy protection, pointing out that a ROI must be in file before any staff member 
from one department can speak to the medical provider of that specific client. She added that in 
2023, CARE (Community Assistance, Recovery, and Empowerment) Court was implemented and 
staff is ready for any changes that need to be made. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 3 of 11 
 
Chair Leano inquired about the elimination of open-ended hotel stays and the status of housing 
stock that was used to provide housing for those who needed housing. Housing Manager Monzon 
replied that they eliminated motel stays that were not a definite amount of time, and that now there 
needs to be a subsequent coordinated plan for clients to move forward with a motel stay.  
 
Housing Manager Monzon explained a few ‘Housing First’ principles that TCMHA abides by which 
include immediate access to permanent housing with no housing readiness requirement and harm 
reduction, noting that it is helping clients diminish whatever has not allowed them to maintain 
housing or work.  She added that TCMHA staff work with the Los Angeles County to determine 
the assistance the clients are eligible to receive, and also work with the client to create an 
individualized plan; and discussed the various Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) funded 
through the MHSA (Mental Health Services Act) Housing Program; that TCMHA now has a 
presence in housing and individuals can come to them to get services. She reported that TCMHA 
has 21 units reserved at Parkside; 25 units at Holt; 8 units focused on TAY (Transition-Aged 
Youth) at Cedar Springs; and at 10 units at Villa Esperanza. 
 
Commissioner Watson inquired if the Transition Aged Youth must relocate after they age out. 
Housing Manager Monzon replied in the negative, stating that once they are in the building, it is 
their home until they no longer choose to live there; and explained the housing selection process 
for TAY, noting that the property managers assist in maintaining the housing while TCMHA staff 
provides support. 
 
Chair Leano inquired about the difference between MHSA units and VASH units, and if they are 
also PSH. Housing Manager Monzon replied in the affirmative, noting that VASH units are PSH 
reserved for Veterans. Chair Leano then sought clarification regarding TCMHA having 72 units of 
PSH within the four properties combined. Housing Manager Monzon replied in the affirmative. 
 
Board Member Vera inquired about the status of the waitlist. Housing Manager Monzon 
responded that there is no waitlist; however, it is similar to the CES matcher; that they identify 
everyone in the agency when they come in, and identify if anyone is homeless; and explained the 
various steps to confirm who matches the income requirement and the household size request.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding how it is determined if an individual is able to live independently in 
supportive housing, which does not have to be established since PSH is based on the ‘Housing 
First’ principle and if someone is the next person who is eligible to apply, they are assisted in the 
application process and also TCMHA staff works with them to maintain their health. For situations 
where an individual has severe mental health issues that hinder them from being independent, 
TCMHA staff connects that individual with services, such as an in-home support service. 
 
Housing Manager Monzon shared about upcoming housing projects using the No Place Like 
Home (NPLH) funding.  She explained that TCMHA applied for the competitive NPLH funding in 
partnership with the Cesar Chavez Foundation that will develop a 90-unit housing project, and 9 
of those units will be reserved for TCMHA, noting that the groundbreaking was this past June; 
and that it is expected to have the units ready to lease within the next year. She added that 
TCMHA also applied for non-competitive NPLH funds with Restore Neighborhoods Los Angeles 
(RNLA) for the Claremont Housing Project for seniors ages 60 and up; that this project will be a 
partnership with the City of Claremont and Genesis Los Angeles; that it will be a total of 15 units 
and 8 of those units will be reserved for TCMHA. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 4 of 11 
 
Housing Manager Monzon continued to share how TCMHA staff helps clients maintain housing; 
that they do not expect clients or individuals to live in the housing permanently, but they allow it 
to be a space where they can figure out plan to maintain housing on their own. She pointed out 
that they work with Continuum of Care, which is in both Los Angeles County and Pomona; that 
they have housing certificates that allow people who have a disability to be able to find housing 
where they only pay 30% of their income; and discussed the difference between the Continuum 
of Care Certificate and the Housing Choice Voucher (or Section 8 housing) and how individuals 
qualify for each.  She then stated that the property located on Park Avenue in Pomona is owned 
by TCMHA and it was converted into 8 apartment units; that a property management company 
manages the property; and those housed have either a voucher or certificate.  She then talked 
about Hope for Home (H4H), stating that TCMHA pays for 31 beds and 28 of these beds are for 
active clients that are enrolled in services such as AOP, FSP, or TAY; and that three beds are 
reserved for the Intensive Outreach And Engagement Team for when they work with individuals 
who are not fully in services, they place them in one of those beds while working on getting them 
into services.  She also stated that in 2022, the TCMHA team began to work closely to bridge 
some of the communication gaps between TCMHA and H4H due to the difference in housing 
terminology and clinical terminology, and by having access to the Homeless Management 
Information System (HMIS), an online database for all individuals who are homeless; and 
explained how it is utilized to connect individuals to services. She then talked about the various 
housing opportunities that come though SPA Los Angeles County; provided the Fiscal Year 2022-
23 TCMHA housing referrals;  
 
Discussion ensued regarding referrals within TCMHA, from the clinical team to the housing team; 
about the increase in housing referrals; about identifying resources when it is not possible to 
provide housing and connect individuals with health advocates to apply for SSI or to the wellness 
center employment specialists; and about how overall, the housing team can assist the individual 
in working towards their goal; and about the increase in the number of people who are homeless 
is a direct result of the moratorium, the financial assistance and the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
Housing Manager Monzon continued with her presentation and provided the fair market rent for 
each county developed by the Housing and Urban Development (HUD), noting that it increases 
annually. 
 
Commissioner Ryback inquired about the San Bernardino County rates. Housing Manager 
Monzon responded that she does not have those numbers but they are not far off from the Los 
Angeles County rates; that staff makes sure to have housing listings available for anyone who is 
interested and sometimes they will include housing in the neighboring areas such as San 
Bernardino County. 
 
Commissioner Reyes inquired what determines a fair market rate.  Housing Manger Monzon 
stated that HUD determines the fair market rate.  Chief Clinical Officer Renteria shared from the 
HUD website that a fair market rate is generally calculated as the 40th percentile of gross rents 
for regular standard quality units in a local housing market. Discussion ensued and it was 
concluded that although the numbers are 10% lower than the midpoint, real rents run higher than 
the numbers shown.  

Housing Manager Monzon shared about the Housing Stability Project, which is a way to create 
positive relationships between mental health providers, landlords, property managers, and clients 
with a focus on TAY; and indicated that there are three groups that they host for the community: 
1) Open Door; 2) the Roommate 101 class; and 3) the Good Tenant Curriculum.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 5 of 11 
 
Discussion ensued regarding tenant programs being available to the community and not only for 
TCMHA clients, which are also hosted at non-TCMHA associated properties; about other 
agencies that offer similar kinds of housing opportunities in the area beside TCMHA, such as the 
Union Station Homeless Services, Volunteers of America, Prototypes, Foothill Aids Project and 
David and Margaret; and about how funding is set aside for TCMHA housing since there is no 
money designated for housing at this time.   
 
Chair Leano thanked Housing Manager Monzon for the presentation and shared that a similar 
presentation was given by the previous Executive Director in the Summer of 2019; that in the 
previous presentation, an appropriate number of housing units was shared and inquired about 
the optimum number of permanent supportive housing units TCMHA should have for the next 5 
and 10 years, since it looks like TCMHA is in need of increasing capacity as well as increasing 
capacity for those in FSP who have no capacity to pay; and that that increasing capacity should 
be the focus; and requested that this information be presented at the next stakeholder process. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding census data and how it might be used to determine the need for 
housing; about the current housing stock and about how any new development opportunities for 
consideration would require funding to be secured for the acquisition, or a TCMHA collaboration 
with a landowner that wants Permanent Supportive Housing.  
 
Board Member Vera shared that the Los Angeles County is encouraging a network of licensed 
adult residential care facilities to treat the homeless and mentally ill; that they are trying to get 
legislation to increase subsidies for individuals who do that. 
 
MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

 
1. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 

OF SEPTEMBER 12, 2023   
  

There being no discussion, Commissioner Watson moved, and Commissioner Cernal seconded, 
to approve the Mental Health Commission Minutes of its Regular Meeting of September 12, 2023. 
The motion was carried by the following vote: AYES: GB Liaison Cockrell, Commissioners Cernal, 
Reyes, Stephens, and Watson; Vice-Chair Ryback; and Chair Henderson. NOES: None. 
ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Commissioner Chavez and Perry. 

 
Chair Henderson noted that there were no Minutes for the October or November Mental Health 
Commission meetings since there was no quorum. 

2. SELECTION OF AN AD-HOC COMMITTEE TO PREPARE THE 2023 DATA 
NOTEBOOK FOR LOCAL BEHAVIORAL HEALTH BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

Commissioner Ryback inquired if they were asking for volunteers. Chair Henderson responded in 
the affirmative. Commissioner Cernal requested a summary of tasks to be completed. 

Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services shared that historically, they have 3-4 individuals in an ad-
hoc committee who work closely with TCMHA staff because they are able to provide the 
information needed. She added that they will go through the template, complete an electronic 
survey, and then present their findings to the Governing Board. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 6 of 11 
 
Chair Henderson mentioned that it is a lot easier than it used to be and she called for volunteers 
who would be interested. 

Commissioners Watson, Reyes and Cernal, and Vice-Chair Ryback, volunteered to create the 
Ad-Hoc Data Notebook Committee. The motion was carried by the following vote: AYES: GB 
Liaison Cockrell, Commissioners Cernal, Reyes, Stephens, and Watson; Vice-Chair Ryback; and 
Chair Henderson. NOES: None. ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Commissioner Chavez and Perry. 

Board Member Vera inquired about the lack of quorum for the last two Mental Health Commission 
meetings. Chair Henderson responded by stating that she believes it is both as well as confusion 
about the notification of the meeting since JPA Clerk/Administrator Olmos was out and it came 
from another staff member.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding the number needed for quorum, the number of Commissioners and 
the recruitment process for Commissioners.  
 
JPA Clerk/Administrator Olmos mentioned that she will provide an agenda report for the next 
meeting for the Board to create an Ad-Hoc Committee to select new Commissioners; thereafter, 
the Ad-Hoc Committee will make its recommendation to the Board for approval. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Chair Leano pulled Agenda Item Nos. 5 and 6 from the Consent Calendar for discussion.  
 
Board Member Lantz announced that she will abstain from Item No. 3 since she was not present. 
Chair Leano also noted that he will be abstaining for not attending the meeting. 
 
Chair Leano opened the meeting for public comment; and there was no public comment.   
 
There being no further comment, Vice-Chair Nolte moved, and Board Member Vera seconded, to 
approve the Consent Calendar Items 3 and 4.  The motion was carried by the following vote, with 
Board Member Lantz abstaining from approval of Agenda Item No. 3: AYES: Alternate Board 
Member Johnson; Board Members Cockrell, Lau, and Vera; and Vice-Chair Nolte; Chair Leano. 
NOES: None. ABSTAIN: Board Member Lantz. ABSENT: Board Member Ontiveros-Cole. 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE AUGUST 9, 2023 GOVERNING BOARD 

ADJOURNED REGULAR MEETING 
 

 Recommendation: “A motion to approve the Minutes of the Governing Board Adjourned 
 Regular Meeting of August 9, 2023.” 
 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM THE NOVEMBER 15, 2023 GOVERNING BOARD 

REGULAR MEETING 
  
 Recommendation: “A motion to approve the Minutes of the Governing Board Regular 
 Meeting of November 15, 2023.” 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 7 of 11 
 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
5. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 727 ESTABLISHING THE 2024 MEETING 

SCHEDULE OF THE TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY GOVERNING BOARD 
AND MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

 
Chair Leano explained that he pulled Agenda Item No. 5 due to the addition of a June 19th 
meeting, which is on a federal holiday.  He asked if all the Board Members were in favor of meeting 
on June 12th instead of Wednesday, June 19th. No one was opposed, therefore, he proposed to 
amend the meeting schedule to add the June 12th meeting instead of June 19th. 

 
Chair Leano opened the meeting for public comment; and there was no public comment.   

 
There being no further comment, Board Member Lau moved, and Vice-Chair Nolte seconded, to 
adopt Resolution No. 727 establishing the dates, time, and place where the Governing Board and 
the Mental Health Commission Meetings are held. The motion was carried by the following vote: 
AYES: Alternate Board Member Johnson; Board Members Cockrell, Lantz, Lau, and Vera; Vice-
Chair Nolte; and Chair Leano. NOES: None. ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Board Member 
Ontiveros-Cole. 
 
6. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 728 ADOPTING TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH 

AUTHORITY’S PUBLISHED RATES EFFECTIVE FY 2022-23 
 
Board Member Lantz sought clarification about the rates being listed as Fiscal Year 2022-2023. 
Chief Financial Officer Acosta responded by stating that it has been a standard practice over the 
last several years because under the previous arrangement and due to Cal AIM, they are under 
a different arrangement. She explained that prior to Cal AIM being implemented, they were not 
on a cost reimbursement type of basis with the County of Los Angeles; that at the end of every 
fiscal year, they are to complete a cost report; that at this time, the 2023 report has not been 
submitted, but it has been completed by TCMHA but the County has yet to provide the final form 
for TCMHA to complete; that because of TCMHA’s rates, the published rates need to be higher 
than rates they actually submit or claim to the county; that they need to publicize the rates and 
make them effective as of the beginning of last fiscal year. 

 
Discussion ensued about the process of receiving cost reports and reimbursements from LA 
County. 
 
Chair Leano opened the meeting for public comment; and there was no public comment.   

 
There being no further comment, Board Member Lantz moved, and Vice-Chair Nolte seconded, 
to adopt Resolution No. 728 establishing TCMHA’s Published Rates effective Fiscal Year 2022-
23. The motion was carried by the following vote: AYES: Alternate Board Member Johnson; Board 
Members Cockrell, Lantz, Lau, and Vera; Vice-Chair Nolte; and Chair Leano. NOES: None. 
ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Board Member Ontiveros-Cole. 

 
7. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 729 AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE A SUBORDINATION AND INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT 
WITH RESTORE NEIGHBORHOODS, LA, INC. (RNLA) AND THE LENDERS OF THE 
CLAREMONT GARDENS SENIOR HOUSING PROJECT AT 956 W BASELINE ROAD 
IN CLAREMONT, CALIFORNIA 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 8 of 11 
 
Chief Financial Officer Acosta shared that this is a document that has been brought to the Board 
in the past. She added that it is for the Claremont Gardens project on Baseline Road that was 
mentioned earlier; that they recently had a groundbreaking ceremony a couple weeks ago. She 
expressed that the document has gone through some changes; that the project has gone through 
a long pause due to a gap in funding. She mentioned that the developer reached out to a couple 
of the funders, and he was able to get the funding; that the document has now been updated and 
revised to include those changes. She concluded by adding that nothing has been changed on 
TCMHA’s end; that she was hoping to have the developer join the meeting to answer any 
questions, but she noted that he is not present due to illness. 

 
Board Member Lantz inquired about the order of the subordination or if the ranking is based on 
the amount of the loan. Chief Financial Officer Acosta responded in the affirmative and stated that 
it is due to not only the amounts but also the requirements fo the funders and parties to the project; 
that TCMHA is third; that one of the things that came up were specific requirements that the City 
of Claremont needed in order to move forward. She added that they had the document reviewed 
by their legal counsel as well. 

 
Chair Leano opened the meeting for public comment; and there was no public comment.   

 
There being no further comment, Board Member Vera moved, and Board Member Lau seconded, 

to adopt Resolution No. 729 authorizing the Executive Director to execute a new 
“Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement” for the Claremont Gardens senior housing 
project. The motion was carried by the following vote: AYES: Alternate Board Member Johnson; 
Board Members Cockrell, Lantz, Lau, and Vera; Vice-Chair Nolte; and Chair Leano. NOES: None. 
ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Board Member Ontiveros-Cole. 
 
8. CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 730 APPROVING THE SUBCONTRACTOR 

AGREEMENT FOR THE HUD CONTINUUM OF CARE PROGRAM WITH THE LOS 
ANGELES COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (LACDA); AND AUTHORIZING 
THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT  
 

JPA Clerk/Administrator Olmos explained that this contract is to receive the housing vouchers 
that Housing Manager Monzon referred to earlier during the housing presentation; that the 
contract is renewed annually in order to receive the vouchers for the Continuum of Care Program. 
 
Chair Leano opened the meeting for public comment; and there was no public comment.   
 
There being no comment, Vice-Chair Nolte moved, and Chair Leano seconded, to adopt 
Resolution No. 730 Authorizing the Executive Director to execute the Subcontractor Amendment 
with LACDA for the HUD Continuum of Care Program. The motion was carried by the following 
vote: AYES: Alternate Board Member Johnson; Board Members Cockrell, Lantz, Lau, and Vera; 
Vice-Chair Nolte; and Chair Leano. NOES: None. ABSTAIN: None. ABSENT: Board Member 
Ontiveros-Cole. 
 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORTS 
 
9. RIMMI HUNDAL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 9 of 11 
 
Chair Leano noted that Executive Director Hundal was absent and Chief Financial Officer Acosta 
will be sharing the report in her absence. 
 
Chief Financial Officer Acosta updated the Governing Board regarding the SB 43 implementation; 
that she attended the Board of Supervisor meeting, and it was indicated that Los Angeles County 
will not be implanting the legislation until 2026. She concluded by informing the Board that she 
can pass along any further questions to Executive Director Hundal. 
  
10. DIANA ACOSTA, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REPORT 
 
Chief Financial Officer Acosta updated the Governing Board regarding cash flow and the latest 
payments received from Los Angeles County; that they identified that as of December 14, they 
received $970,000 from LA County and that is for payment for services they provided for 2022-
2023. She added that they also received an additional $1 million a few days ago. 
 
She updated the Board regarding the status of the financial audit for TCMHA. She mentioned that 
although they typically bring forth their independent audit financial statements in the October 
meeting, they are not able to do that as of yet. She explained that they are still working on the 
implementation of the new governmental accounting standard (GASB 96); that they hope to bring 
another update next month; that the hope is to get the financial statements issued and presented 
to the Governing Board closer to the March meeting. She noted that after a certain timeline, 
auditors tend to get busy with other clients and they may not have the opportunity to come back 
to TCMHA and finish when they are ready; that it is a matter of scheduling but she will continue 
to update the Governing Board.  
 
Board Member Vera inquired if there is a government code provision that government agencies 
have to submit and audit by a certain date. Chief Financial Officer Acosta responded by stating 
that it is based on funding; that at this point, TCMHA is beholden to provide financial statements 
to TCMHA partners, such as the city of Claremont, La Verne, and Pomona; that they have been 
in contact with each partner to let them know of the delays they are experiencing. 
 
Board Member Vera inquired if other County mental health agencies are experiencing similar 
delays. Chief Financial Officer Acosta responded in the affirmative, stating that she believes there 
are delays in government agencies nationwide due to the brand-new standard being 
implemented. 
 
11. LIZ RENTERIA, CHIEF CLINICAL OFFICER REPORT 
 
Chief Clinical Officer Renteria highlighted the work that the Therapeutic Community Garden has 
been doing. She shared about a few of the outreach events in November including one at the 
Wellness Center where they provided a workshop as well as the Fall in the Farm highlight event, 
and an event at Garon Elementary School. She shared that they provided a workshop called, 
‘Finding your Calm’ and they were able to work with students there on integrating their sensory to 
prepare for things like stressful events and mindfulness. She concluded by stating that it was a 
good month of outreach; that the Therapeutic Community Garden team is continually trying to 
outreach to the TAY (Transition Aged Youth) and the young population for these types of activities. 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 10 of 11 
 
Board Member Lantz commented about the low attendance at the Garon Elementary School 
workshop. She inquired if they were planning to host any more workshops at other local schools. 
Chief Clinical Officer Renteria mentioned she would check with her team and get back to Board 
Member Lantz. 
 
12. SEEYAM TEIMOORI, MEDICAL DIRECTOR REPORT 
 
Chair Leano noted that Medical Director Teimoori was not present and asked if there was a 
replacement. Chief Financial Officer Acosta shared that Crisis Intervention and Medication 
Support Manager Smith is present. There were no questions. 
 
13. DANA BARFORD, DIRECTOR OF MHSA AND ETHNIC SERVICES REPORT 
 
Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services Barford highlighted a few stakeholder meetings that have 
happened. She shared that they have been successful; that they have connected with up to 126 
individuals; that they are going about it with a different approach with smaller stakeholder 
gatherings, but the conversations have been full of great feedback. She also shared that they are 
currently collaborating with NAMI (National Alliance of Mental Illness); that they hosted a virtual 
presentation called Our Own Voice; that although there was low participation, there were still great 
conversations with staff and the speakers. She mentioned that there is another upcoming webinar 
that is a shorter version of Mental Health First Aid; that they have flyers to share with anyone who 
is interested. 
 
Board Member Lau thanked Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services Barford for the increased 
outreach efforts. Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services Barford added that they also have 
upcoming presentations with Sustainable Claremont and a pending date with Pomona Valley 
Hospital Medical Center and the BFW; that if anyone else has any other suggestions to let TCMHA 
staff know. 
 
Chair Leano suggested connecting with the Claremont Interfaith Council; that they know TCMHA 
well and that hopefully, staff can attend one of their meetings. 
 
14.  NATALIE MAJORS-STEWART, CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER REPORT 
 
Chief Compliance Officer Majors-Stewart provided an update for two projects. She shared that 
they are nearing completion of the Group Treatment Module; that it is a critical piece that assists 
with access and is also beneficial to the overall treatment for clients. She added that they are also 
almost done with Incident Reports; that they have been working with the Facilities department 
and Human Resources to optimize incident reporting; to make it easier to report incidents, track 
them and have a better follow up system in place. She concluded that they are very near 
completion for both projects.   
 
Commissioner Ryback commended Chief Compliance Officer Majors-Stewart for the work they 
are doing to improve incident reporting. 
 
GOVERNING BOARD / MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
Governing Board Member Cockrell inquired about the Mental Health Commissioner recruitment 
and the specific criteria.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Governing Board and Mental Health Commission Regular Joint Meeting – Minutes 
December 20, 2023 
Page 11 of 11 
 
JPA Clerk/Administrator Olmos responded by sharing that all the requirement are listed on the 
application, which can be found on the website. 
 
Commissioner Reyes inquired about the job recruitment process for TCMHA. JPA 
Clerk/Administrator Olmos stated that she will refer her to the Human Resources Department for 
any questions. 
 
Executive Director Hundal wished everyone a happy holiday. 
 
Chair Leano wished everyone a happy holiday and thanked the staff for their hard work. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 6:34 p.m., on consensus of the Governing Board and the Mental Health Commission its 
meeting of December 20, 2023 was adjourned. The next Regular Meeting of the Mental Health 
Commission will be held on Tuesday, January 9, 2024 at 3:30 p.m., in the MHSA Administrative 
Office, 2001 North Garey Avenue, Pomona, California. The next Regular Meeting of the 
Governing Board will be held on Wednesday, January 17, 2024 at 5:00 p.m., in the MHSA 
Administrative Office, 2001 North Garey Avenue, Pomona, California. 
 
 
 
 
 
       
Micaela P. Olmos, JPA Administrator/Clerk 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 2 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 DATE: January 17, 2024 

 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority  

    
FROM:  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
   
BY:  Kitha Torregano, Human Resources Manager                                 

 
SUBJECT: Consideration of Resolution No. 731 Adopting a Revised Personnel 

Rules and Regulations Manual of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Effective January 1, 2024 

 
    

Summary: 
 

Effective January 1, 2024, Senate Bill 616 (SB) 616 expands paid sick leave entitlements 
for California employees by amending California Labor Code Sections 245.5, 246, and 
246.5.  This expansion will specifically impact the availability and use of paid sick leave 
for Tri-City’s Part-time and Temporary employees by increasing the amount of available 
paid sick leave hours from 24 to 40 hours annually. Tri-City is requested Governing Board 
approval in an effort to align our current sick leave policy for part-time and temporary 
employees with the current State law. 
Background: 
 
Prior to January 1, 2024, Tri-City part-time and temporary employees have accrued sick 
leave at the rate of 1 hour for every 30 hours worked, up to 3 days or 24 hours, whichever 
is greater, per 12-month calendar period in accordance with Labor Code section 245, et 
seq. However, effective January 1, 2024, paid sick leave expanded in the State of 
California from 3 days or 24 hours to 5 days or 40 hours of leave required amending Labor 
Code Sections 245.5, 246, and 246.5.    
 
In an effort to comply with the revised State law and amended Labor Codes, Tri-City has 
amended Rule VI.  Leave Benefits, Section 2:  Sick Leave, subsection B.  Accrual of and 
Eligibility for Sick Leave for Part-Time and Temporary Employees of Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations effective January 1, 2024. 
 
With this revision, Tri-City will also be changing the method in which part-time and 
temporary employees receive sick leave from the current accrual method to a “front load” 
method.   
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
None.  Currently, TCMHA budgets 1040 hours for part-time employees.  Leave time is 
included in the budgeting of the aforementioned hours.  
 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Consideration of Resolution No. 731 Adopting a Revised Personnel Rules and Regulations 
Manual of Tri-City Mental Health Authority Effective January 1, 2024 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the Governing Board adopt Resolution No. 731 amending the 
Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations Manual, effective January 1, 2024, 
superseding all previous versions of Personnel Rules and Regulations, Policy and 
Guidelines. 
 
Attachments 
 
Attachment 2-A:  Resolution No. 731 - DRAFT 
 
Attachment 2-B:  Personnel Rules and Regulations Manual Revised 01/17/2024, 

Effective 01/01/2024 -DRAFT 
 
Attachment 2-C:  Personnel Rules and Regulations Manual Revised 01/18/2023 -

ANNOTATED 
 



 

 
ATTACHMENT 2-A 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 731 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE TRI-CITY 
MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY REVISING AND APPROVING 
THE AUTHORITY’S PERSONNEL RULES AND REGULATIONS 
MANUAL EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2024 

 
 
The Governing Board of the Tri-City Mental Health Authority does resolve as follows: 
 
1. Findings. The Governing Board hereby finds and declares the following: 

 
A. Tri-City Mental Health Authority (“Authority” or “TCMHA”) on January 18, 2023, 

adopted Resolution No. 695 approving the Authority’s revised Personnel Rules and Regulations 
Manual. 

B. The Governing Board desires to continue complying with the requirements of the 
Healthy Workplaces, Healthy Families Act of 2014 at Labor Code section 246(e)(2).  Effective 
January 1, 2024, Senate Bill 616 (SB 616) expands paid sick leave entitlements for California 
employees by amending California Labor Code Sections 245.5, 246, and 246.5. 

 
C. Rule VI. Leave Benefits, Section 2. Sick Leave, subsection B. Accrual of and 

Eligibility for Sick Leave for Part-Time and Temporary Employees is amended in the revised 
Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations, effective January 1, 2024. 

 
2. Action  
 
The Governing Board approves the revised Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations Manual 
dated January 1, 2024, and become effective as of this date and supersedes all previous versions 
of Personnel Rules and Regulations, Policy and Guidelines. 
 
3. Adoption   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Governing Board held on January 17, 2024 
by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:   
ABSENT:    
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
STEVEN L. FLOWER, GENERAL COUNSEL 
 
 
By:  

   
JED LEANO, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
MICAELA P. OLMOS, RECORDING SECRETARY 
 
 
By:  

  



 

ATTACHMENT 2-B 
 

 
 

 

PERSONNEL RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 

 
Revised: 

January 17, 2024 
Effective January 1, 2024 

Supersedes All Previous Versions of Authority’s 
Personnel Rules and Regulations, Policy and Guidelines 

 
 

Administrative Office 
1717 N. Indian Hill Boulevard, Suite B 

Claremont, CA  91711-2788 
 

Clinical Office 
2008 N. Garey Avenue 

and 
1900 Royalty Drive  

Pomona, CA  91767-2722 
 

Wellness Center 
1403 North Garey Avenue 

     Pomona, CA 91767 
 
            MHSA Office 
       2001 N. Garey Ave 

        Pomona, CA 91767-2722 



 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page intentionally left blank.)



 

 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 PAGE 
 

RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT…………………………………………………..……………….1 
  
RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISION 

Section 1: Officer and Employees to Which Rules and Regulations are Applicable ........ 2 

Section 2: Definition of Terms .................................................................................................. 2 
Section 3: Human Resources Department - Powers and Duties ................................... 7 

Section 4: Equal Employment Opportunity  ............................................................................ 8 

Section 5: Reasonable Accommodation Policy  .................................................................... 8 
A. Policy 
B. Procedure 
C. Accommodations for Sincerely Held Religious Beliefs and Observances 
D. Service and Support Animals 

Section 6:       Policy Against Workplace Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation ........ 12 
A. Purpose 
B. Policy 
C. Definitions 

Section 7: Complaint Procedure for Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation ......... 16 
A. Complaint procedure 
B. Investigation of Complaint 
C. Remedial and Disciplinary Action 
D. Final Recommendations 
E. Closure 
F. Confidentiality 
G. Responsibilities 
H. Mandatory Training 

Section 8:        Grievance Procedure .................................................................................. 19 
A. Policy 
B. Eligibility to File a Grievance 
C. Definition of “Grievance” 
D. Exclusions from the Grievance Procedure 
E. Grievance Procedure 
F. Settlement of Grievance 
G. Representation 
H. No Retaliation 
I. Withdrawal 
J. Resubmission 
K. Miscellaneous 
 

 
 
 
 



 

ii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

 

Section 9: Drug Free Workplace / Testing Policy   .............................................................. 23 
A. Policy 
B. Scope of Policy 
C. Searches 
D. Drug and Alcohol Testing 
E. Employee’s Responsibilities 
F. Management Employee Responsibilities 
G. Employee Assistance Programs 
H. Tobacco Use 
I. Drug-Free Awareness Program 

Section 10:  Hours of Work ......................................................................................................... 27 
A. Normal Work Schedule 
B. Flexible Work Schedule 
C. Alternative Work Schedule 
D. Holidays on the Alternative Work Schedule 
E. Meals and Breaks 

 F.   Overtime Pay 
 G.  On-Call Duty 

Section 11:  Attendance / Job Abandonment .......................................................................... 29 
A. Attendance 
B. Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence 
C. Job Abandonment 

Section 12:  Employee Performance Evaluation ..................................................................... 30 
A. Timing of Performance Evaluation Reports 
B. Employee Review / Rebuttal 

Section 13:  Employee Activities / Outside Employment ....................................................... 31 
A. General Considerations 
B. Determination of Inconsistent Activities 
C. Improper Use of Authority Equipment Prohibited 
D. Compliance with Employment Standards 
E. Public Information Statement 

Section 14:  Right to Work in the United States / Immigration Reform And 
 Control Act of 1986 ..................................................................................... 33 
Section 15:     Anti-Solicitation Policy ................................................................................. 33 
Section 16:     Cell Phone Policy / Electronic Device Use Policy ........................................ 33 

A.  Applicability and Purpose 
B.  General Policy on the use of Tri-City Cell Phones and Electronic Devices 

 C.  Use of Personal Devices 
 D.  Use of Devices while Operating a Vehicle in the Course and 

Scope of Employment 
 



 

iii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 17:      Workplace Security  .............................................................................................. 35                                     
 A.  Policy 
 B.  Prohibited Behavior 
 C.  Definitions 
 D.  Incident Reporting Procedures 
 E.  Investigation 
 F.  Management Responsibility 

 G.  Follow-Up and Disciplinary Procedures 
   Section 18:  Anti-Bullying Policy  ............................................................................................... 37 

 A.  Purpose 
 B.  Policy 
 C.  Complaint Procedure 

 D.  Policy Against Retaliation 
 
RULE III.   CLASSIFICATION PLAN 

Section 1: Class Specifications  ............................................................................................. 39 

Section 2: Licensure and Certification ................................................................................... 39 
 
RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 

Section 1: Job Announcements ............................................................................................... 40 

Section 2:  Application Forms ................................................................................................... 40 
Section 3:  Internal Applicants  ..................................................................................... 41 
Section 4: Lateral Transfers ......................................................................................... 41 
Section 5: Disqualification ............................................................................................ 41 
Section 6:  Employment of Relatives and Spouses/Domestic Partners ............................ 42 
 

Section 7:  Subject and Method of Examinations ................................................................. 43 

Section 8:  Conduct of Examinations ...................................................................................... 44 
Section 9:  Eligibility Lists ......................................................................................................... 44 
Section 10:  Types of Appointments ......................................................................................... 44 

A.  Appointment 
 B.  Emergency Appointments 
 C.  Temporary Appointments 

 D.  Provisional (Interim) Appointments 
 E.  Trainee Appointments 
 F.  Lead Appointments 
 G.  Additional Duty Appointments 

Section 11:  Reinstatement ........................................................................................................ 47 
Section 12:  Availability ............................................................................................................... 47 
 



 

iv 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
 PAGE 

Section 13:  Probationary Period ............................................................................................... 48 
A. Extension of Probationary Period 
B. Rejection During Probationary Period 
C. Use of Leave While on Probation 
D. Probationary Period After Promotion 
E. Employee’s Responsibility 

 
RULE V.    COMPENSATION PLAN  

Section 1: Salary Range .......................................................................................................... 49 
A. Review and Adjustment of Pay Ranges 

Section 2:  Salary Appointment ............................................................................................... 50 
Section 3:  Anniversary Date ........................................................................................ 50 

Section 4:  Salary Anniversary Date ....................................................................................... 50 
A. Establishment of Salary Anniversary Date 
B. Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date 

Section 5:  Salary Increases .................................................................................................... 51 
A. Guidelines 
B. Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) 

Section 6:  Salary Increase Procedure ................................................................................... 52 
A. Notification of Eligibility 
B. Notification of Authorization to Accounting 
C. Postponement of Merit Salary Increase 
D. Failure to Process Eligibility for Merit Salary Increase 

Section 7:  Salary on Promotion ............................................................................................... 53 
Section 8:  Salary on Transfer .................................................................................................. 53 
Section 9:  Salary on Reinstatement ....................................................................................... 53 
Section 10:  Salary on Demotion ................................................................................................ 53 

A. Involuntary Demotion 
B. Voluntary Demotion 

Section 11:  Salary on Position Reclassification ..................................................................... 54 
A. Class with Same Salary Range 
B. Class with Higher Salary Range 
C. Class with Lower Salary Range 
D. Employee Incentive Pay 
E. Step Increases 

 
 
 
 



 

v 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 12:  Overtime ..................................................................................................... 55 
A. Definition of Overtime 
B. Prior Authorization 
C. Rate 
D. Compensatory Time Off 

Section 13:  Exceptional Performance Awards ....................................................................... 56 
A. Annual Initiation of Program 
B. Amount of Award 
C. Eligibility 
D. Justification 
E. Executive Director Approval 

Section 14:  Bilingual Incentive Pay ................................................................................ 58 
Section 15:    Employee Referral Fee Program ................................................................. 58 
Section 16:      On Call Pay ................................................................................................. 59 
Section 17:  Insurance Benefits ................................................................................................. 59 
Section 18: Medicare ..................................................................................................... 59 
Section 19: Pay Period .................................................................................................. 59 
Section 20: Pay Days .................................................................................................... 59 
Section 21:     Time Entry  .................................................................................................. 60 
Section 22:      Licensure/Certification Incentive Pay …….………….………..…….…………60 
Section 23:      License/Registration Renewal Pay …………………………..………..……… 60 

 
RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS 

Section 1:  Vacation .....................................................................................................  60 
A. Basis of Accrual 
B. Vacation Accrual 
C. Effects of Holiday on Vacation Leave 
D. Effects of Sick Leave on Vacation Leave 
E. Scheduling Vacations 
F. Vacation Accrual Cash Out 
G. Payment on Separation 

Section 2:  Sick Leave .................................................................................................. 62 
A. Accrual of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees 
B. Accrual of and Eligibility for Sick Leave or Part-Time and Temporary 

Employees 
C. Accumulation of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees 
D. Use of Sick Leave 
E. Notification and Proof of Illness 
F. Payment Upon Separation 



 

vi 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 3:  Holidays ...................................................................................................... 64 
A. Authorized Holidays 
B. Use of Floating Holidays 
C. Weekends 
D. Flextime and Holidays 
E. During Unpaid Leaves 
F. New Hires 

Section 4:  Compensatory Time Off .............................................................................. 65 
Section 5:  Pregnancy Disability Leave ......................................................................... 65 
Section 6:  Family and Medical Leave / Family Rights Act ............................................ 65 
Section 7:        Baby Bonding Leave ................................................................................... 65 
Section 8:  Military Leave .............................................................................................. 66 

Section 9:  Leave of Absence without Pay .................................................................... 66 
A. General Policy 
B. Authorization Procedure 
C. Length of Leave and Extension 
D. Return From Leave 

   Section 10:     Bereavement Leave .................................................................................... 67 
Section 11:  Workers’ Compensation .............................................................................. 67 
Section 12:  Employee Time Off For Voting .................................................................... 68 
Section 13: Family School Partnership Act / Parental Leave .......................................... 68 
Section 14: Jury Duty ..................................................................................................... 68 
Section 15:     Witness Leave ............................................................................................ 69 

A. Subpoena 
B. Exception for Employee-Initiated or Non-Authority Related Lawsuits 

Section 16: Time Off for Victims of Violent Crimes, Stalking, or Domestic Violence ....... 69 
   Section 17:     Administrative Leave ................................................................................... 70                                                                                    
 
RULE VII. EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 

Section 1: Training ....................................................................................................... 70 
A. Responsibility 
B. Orientation 
C. Mandatory All Staff Trainings 

  
 
 
 

 



 

vii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 
 PAGE 
RULE VIII.   SEPARATION 

Section 1: Resignation  ................................................................................................ 72 
Section 2: Retirement System / Retirement ................................................................. 72 
Section 3: Layoff Procedures ....................................................................................... 72 
Section 4: Extended Benefits / COBRA ....................................................................... 73 

 
RULE IX. DISCIPLINE 

Section 1: Disciplinary And Appeals Procedures ......................................................... 73 
A. Excluded Positions 
B. Notification and Approval of Department Directors 
C. Basis for Disciplinary Action 
D. Types of Discipline 
E. Procedures for Discipline 
F. Evidentiary Appeal Procedure Following Disciplinary Action for 

Discharge, Demotion, Reduction in Salary or Suspension without 
Pay.   

 
RULE X. RECORDS 
  Section 1: Personnel File ............................................................................................. 85 

A. Official File 
B. Update of File 
C. Medical Information 
D. References and Release of Information in Personnel Files 
E. Employee Access to Personnel File 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

viii 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 1 of 85 
 

 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Personnel Rules and Regulations 

 
 

RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 
 
As a public behavioral health system of care, Tri-City Mental Health Authority (the Authority or Tri-
City) recognizes that employees (human resources) are the Authority’s greatest assets.  These rules 
and regulations are set forth to provide policies for the management of personnel operations for Tri-
City.  Tri-City reserves the right to revise, modify, delete or add to any and all policies, procedures, 
work rules or benefits stated in these rules and regulations or in any other document.  All such 
revisions will be effective only upon approval by the Governing Board. The Human Resources 
Department is responsible for the implementation and the administrative interpretation of these rules 
and the maintenance of records related thereto.  These rules are/may be supplemented by Clinical, 
Operational and Accounting Policies and Procedures.   
 
These rules do not create any contract of employment, express or implied, or any rights in 
the nature of a contract. 
 
Please read this booklet carefully and keep it for future reference. 
 
These rules and regulations shall supersede any prior personnel rules and regulations and became 
effective upon approval by the Governing Board on January 18, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 2 of 85 
 

 

 
RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
SECTION 1. OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES TO WHICH RULES AND REGULATIONS ARE 

APPLICABLE 
These rules and regulations shall apply to all full-time (40 hours per week) employees holding offices, 
positions, and employment in the competitive service of the Authority except those employees or 
groups excluded below or where the rules and regulations specifically provide otherwise. Unless 
otherwise specified, excluded employees and groups are: 
A. Members of the Governing Board; 

B. Members of the Mental Health Commission and appointed committees; 

C. Persons engaged under contract to supply expert, professional or technical services for a 
definite period of time; 

D. Volunteer personnel including those who receive no regular compensation from the Authority; 

E. Employees in the Executive Management Service.  Positions presently included in this status 
are:  Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer, Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief 
Operations Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, Chief Compliance Officer, and 
Medical Director; 

F. Psychiatrists; 

G. Part-Time Employees;  

H. Temporary Employees. 
 
Individuals in the categories listed above are not included in the competitive service to which these 
rules and regulations apply, but rather serve in an at-will status at the pleasure of the appointing 
authority. Such individuals have no property right in continued employment, are prohibited from the 
attainment of regular employment status, have no entitlement to pre-disciplinary rights or 
procedures, and are specifically excluded from disciplinary administrative appeal procedures 
contained in these rules and regulations.   
 
SECTION 2.   DEFINITION OF TERMS  
All words and terms used in these rules and regulations and in any resolution dealing with personnel 
policies and procedures shall be defined as they are normally and generally defined in the field of 
personnel administration.  For the purpose of convenience, however, the following words and terms 
most commonly used are hereinafter defined: 
 
 “ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE” means leave approved by the Executive Director for special 
situations for which ordinary leaves such as annual/vacation, sick/medical, holiday, jury duty, and 
bereavement do not apply.  Included, but not limited to, is substituted time off granted to FLSA 
“exempt” employees for pre-approved hours worked beyond the normal workweek. 
 
 “ADVANCEMENT” means a salary increase within the limits of the pay range established for 
classes provided by resolution. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 3 of 85 
 

 

 “ALLOCATION” means the assignment of a single position to its proper class in accordance with 
the duties exercised, and the educational and experience requirements; or, the assignment of a class 
to a salary range or rate. 
 
 “ANNIVERSARY DATE” means date of initial appointment of an employee. (Also See Salary 
Anniversary Date) 
 
 “APPOINTING AUTHORITY” means the Executive Director or other officer who has been 
delegated the power to fill positions in the competitive service or to administer discipline. 
 
 “APPOINTMENT” means the employment of a person in a position. 
 
 “AT-WILL” means employment at the pleasure of the appointing authority. Individuals employed 
in an at-will status do not serve a probationary period, have no property right in continued 
employment, have no entitlement to pre-disciplinary rights or procedures, and are excluded from 
termination administrative appeal procedures. 
 
 “BASE SALARY” means the salary range and rate established in a salary resolution by the 
Governing Board exclusive of any overtime, shift differential, incentive, or other type of premium pay 
an employee may receive. 
 
 “CALL BACK DUTY” occurs when an employee is unexpectedly ordered by his/her department 
to return to duty, following the completion of his/her normal work shift or work week, because of 
unanticipated work requirements. 
 
 “CLASS” means all positions sufficiently similar in duties, authority, responsibilities, and minimum 
qualifications grouped for the equitable application of common standards of selection and 
compensation. 
 
 “CLASSIFICATION PLAN” means the designation by resolution of the Governing Board of a title 
for each class together with the specifications for each class as prepared and maintained by the 
Personnel Officer. 
 
 “CLASS SPECIFICATIONS” means a written description of a class, setting forth the essential 
characteristics, functions, and requirements of the positions in the class. 
 
 “COMPENSATORY TIME OFF” means time taken off, with pay, from work in lieu of overtime 
pay. 
 
 “COMPETITIVE SERVICE” means all positions in the Authority service except those specifically 
excluded by these rules.  Those excluded positions (listed in Rule II, Section 1 “Officers and 
Employees to Which Rules and Regulations are Applicable”) serve in an at-will status at the pleasure 
of the appointing authority. 
 
 “CONTINUOUS SERVICE” means the employment without a break or interruption in the 
competitive service.  A break or interruption in continuous service shall be construed as an absence 
of the employee from his/her employment initiated by either the Authority or the employee for periods 
of time of more than six consecutive months in an unpaid status. 
 
 “DEMOTION” means the voluntary or involuntary reduction of an employee from a position in 
one class to a position in another class having a lower maximum base salary rate and less 
responsible duties and/or less job qualifications.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 4 of 85 
 

 

 “DISCIPLINE” generally means an action taken against an employee such as a verbal or written 
reprimand, suspension from work without pay, demotion, reduction in pay or discharge to correct 
performance deficiencies. 
   
 “DISCRIMINATION” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12.) 
 
 “DISMISSAL” means the involuntary separation of an employee from the Authority’s service. 
 
 “DOMESTIC PARTNER” includes those persons who are legally registered as domestic partners 
with the California Secretary of State and who meet the minimum requirements set forth in California 
Family Code section 297. 
 
 “ELIGIBLE” means a person who may be appointed to a vacant position in the competitive 
service as provided by these rules. 
 
 “ELIGIBILITY LIST” means a list of names of persons who have been examined/interviewed for 
a position in the competitive service and who have passed and are ranked on the list based on the 
score received. 
 
 “EXEMPT CLASSES” means those classes of positions that, by the nature of the job 
requirements, do not earn overtime.  These classes include management and confidential classes 
that have been determined to be ineligible for overtime compensation as exempt classifications 
under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). 
 
 “FULL-TIME POSITION” means a position in the competitive service of the Authority which 
requires at least 40 hours of work per week for employees employed after June 1, 1990.  
 
 “GRIEVANCE” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 8, Page19) 
 
 “HARASSMENT” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12) 
 
 “LAYOFF” means the separation of an employee from Authority service for reasons of economy 
or reductions or elimination of Authority services. 
 
 “MERIT SALARY INCREASE” means the increase of an employee’s salary within the salary 
range established for the class of position he/she occupies based on job performance in such 
position.  
 
 “OVERTIME” means written pre-approved time which an interim, probationary, or regular 
non-exempt employee is required to work in excess of the regular maximum number of hours 
prescribed for a full-time employee in that classification in a work period as described in these rules 
and regulations. 
 
 “PART-TIME POSITION” means a position having a work week of fewer hours than the work 
week established for full-time positions or a position compensated at a straight hourly rate and 
receiving only those benefits mandated by state or federal law.  Part-time employees may not attain 
regular employment status and  are  at-will employee. 
 
 “POSITION” means a combination of duties and responsibilities assigned to a specific 
employment description, whether occupied or vacant, carrying certain duties by an individual on 
either a full-time or part-time basis. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 5 of 85 
 

 

 “PROBATIONARY APPOINTMENT” means the probationary employment of an eligible 
candidate in a full-time position.  A probationary appointment is for a specified working test period, 
during which job performance is evaluated as a basis for a subsequent regular appointment or 
dismissal without right of appeal. Part-time employees are not eligible for probationary appointments 
as they are prohibited from attaining regular employment status. 
 
 “PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE” means a full-time employee who has a probationary 
appointment serving a probationary work test period for a regular position in a classification in which 
he/she is currently employed. 
 
 “PROBATIONARY PERIOD” means a working test period that is part of the selection process 
and during which time a full-time employee is required to demonstrate his/her fitness for the duties 
of the position to which he/she has been assigned by actual performance of such duties.  The term 
“initial probationary period” means an employee’s first probationary period during his/her continuous 
Authority employment.  Promotion to a new position results in the commencement of a probationary 
period in the higher class. 
 
 “PROMOTION” means the advancement of an employee from a position in one classification to 
a position in another classification having a higher level of duties, responsibilities, qualifications and 
a higher maximum rate of pay. 
 
 “PROVISIONAL/INTERIM APPOINTMENT” means the appointment of a person to a 
classification in the Authority service on an interim basis during which that person will continue to 
occupy the position from which he/she was appointed for a period of six (6) months and may be 
extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Except in cases of retired annuitants, in which the 
appointment would be limited to 960 hours per fiscal year (See Definition under Rule IV, Section 10, 
Page 45)   
 
 “RECLASSIFICATION” means the reassignment of a position from one class to a different class 
in accordance with a reevaluation of the minimum qualifications, duties, and responsibilities of the 
position.  A reclassification is not a punitive action and does not apply when duties are voluntarily 
assumed by the employee.  A reclassification shall not be used as a means to circumvent the 
promotion procedure.  A reclassification can occur only when budget authority exists for a position 
in a different class. 
 
 “REDUCTION” means a salary and/or classification decrease for an employee, generally 
associated with a disciplinary action. 
 
 “REGULAR EMPLOYEE” means an employee who has successfully completed the initial 
probationary period and who regularly works a minimum of 40 hours per week. Such an employee 
shall become a full-time regular employee and shall be entitled to all the benefits provided herein.  
 
  “REINSTATEMENT” means the reappointment of an employee to a position in the same or 
comparable class within six (6) months of his/her resignation in good standing provided a position is 
available.  Credit shall be granted for prior service in terms of the level of benefits accrued and 
seniority.  A reinstated employee shall serve a new probationary period. 
 
 “REJECTION” means the involuntary separation from Authority service of an employee who has 
not successfully completed his/her probationary period or the reduction of an employee who did not 
successfully complete his/her probationary period in a promotion to a position in a different class in 
which he/she had previously acquired regular status. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 6 of 85 
 

 

 “RESIGNATION” means the voluntary separation of an employee from Authority service.  An 
employee wishing to leave in good standing shall file a written notice of intent to resign his/her 
position. The employee shall give at least two (2) calendar weeks’ notice of intention to leave the 
service, unless the supervisor consents to the employee leaving sooner. (See Rule VIII, Section 1, 
Page 73)   
 
 “RETALIATION” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12) 
 
 “SALARY ANNIVERSARY DATE” means the future date on which an employee is eligible, on 
the basis of satisfactory job performance for a prescribed period, for a merit salary increase within 
the salary range established for the class of position he/she occupies.  (Also See Anniversary Date 
on Page 50. 
 
 “SALARY PLAN” means the assignment by the Governing Board resolution of salary ranges 
and/or salary rates to each class. 
 
 “SALARY RANGE” means the minimum and maximum salary rates for a class as established by 
resolution of the Governing Board. 
 
 “SALARY RATE” means the dollar amount assigned within a salary range. 
 
 “SCHEDULED PAID HOLIDAY” means an eight (8) hour paid holiday for full time staff. 
 
 “SENIORITY” means length of full-time employment service with the Authority. 
 
 “SPOUSE” is defined by California law, but generally indicates a person with whom there is a 
legal marriage and/or other legally sanctioned relationship. 
 
 “SUSPENSION” means the temporary and involuntary separation of an employee, for a specified 
period of time, from the service, without pay, for disciplinary purposes. 
 
 “TEMPORARY APPOINTMENT” means an appointment to a position for a period of six months 
or less which may be extended by the Executive Director for a maximum of an additional six months. 
 
 “TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE” means a person who has been appointed to a position for a limited 
period. 
 
 “TEMPORARY POSITION” means a full-time or part-time position of limited duration. 
 
 “TERMINATION” means the separation of an employee from Authority service due to layoff, 
retirement, resignation, dismissal, or death. 
 
 “TITLE,” “CLASS TITLE,” “TITLE OF CLASS” means the official name applied to a class and to 
each position allocated to the class and to the incumbent of each position. 
  
 “TRANSFER” means a change of an employee from one position to another position in the same 
classification or in another classification having the same maximum salary rate, involving the 
performance of basically similar duties, and requiring substantially the same minimum qualifications. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 7 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3.   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT - POWERS AND DUTIES   
 
The Human Resources Department or his/her designee or agency employed for that purpose, shall: 
 
A. Prepare and recommend to the Governing Board, as required, amendments to these rules 

and regulations. 
 
B. Prepare a “salary compensation” plan and revisions thereto as required. 
 
C. Be responsible for administration of the following procedures within the framework of these 

rules and regulations. 
  

1. The formulation of specifications for each class of position in the competitive service 
of the Authority. 
 

2. The allocation of positions to class in the competitive service on the basis of duties, 
responsibilities, and requirements. 

 
3. The public announcement of vacancies and examinations and the acceptance of 

applications for employment. 
 

4. The preparation and conduct of examinations/interviews and the establishment and 
use of eligibility lists containing names of persons eligible for appointment. 

 
5. The certification and appointment of persons from eligibility lists to fill vacancies and 

the making of temporary and emergency appointments. 
 

6. The evaluation of employees during the probationary period and periodically 
thereafter. 

 
7. The transfer, promotion, demotion, discipline, and re-employment of employees in the 

competitive service. 
 

8. The setting of hours of work, attendance and leave regulations, and working 
conditions. 

 
9. The promotion of employee morale, welfare, training, and safety. 

 
10. The voluntary and involuntary separation of employees from the competitive service. 

 
11. The maintenance and use of necessary records and forms, including payroll 

certification. 
 

12. The establishment and maintenance of suitable methods of effective communication 
between employees and their supervisors; between employees and the Executive 
Director; and between employees and the Governing Board, relating to conditions of 
employment in the Authority service. 

 
13. The development of a pay and benefit package for management, confidential, and 

unrepresented employees and the presentation of this package to the Governing 
Board. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 8 of 85 
 

 

14. The development and administration of the Authority’s employee-employer 
relationship program consistent with State law. 

 
15. The development and administration of policies which assure an unbiased work 

environment and fully protect the rights of each employee. 
 
SECTION 4.   EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY      
 
This section applies to all employees of and applicants for employment with the Authority.  
The Authority prohibits discrimination against employees or applicants for employment on the basis 
of race, color, religion and religious creed, sex (including pregnancy), gender, gender identity 
(including transgender and transsexual), gender expression, national origin, ancestry, citizenship 
status, age (40 and over), marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic 
characteristics or information, sexual orientation, military and veteran status or any other basis 
protected by law.   
The Authority will afford equal employment opportunity to all qualified employees and applicants as 
to all terms and conditions of employment, including compensation, hiring, training, promotion, 
transfer, discipline, and termination.  Employees, volunteers, or applicants who believe they have 
experienced any form of employment discrimination or abusive conduct are encouraged to report 
this immediately to Human Resources, or to contact the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission or the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing.  
 
SECTION 5.  REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION POLICY      
 
This section applies to all applicants to the Authority and all employees, volunteers and interns of 
the Authority, to the extent required by law.  
 
A. Policy. 
 

Absent undue hardship or direct threats to the health and safety of employee(s), the Authority 
provides employment-related reasonable accommodations to:  
 
1. Qualified individuals with disabilities within the meaning of the California Fair 

Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”) and Title I of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (“ADA”), to enable them to perform essential job functions;  

 
2. Employees with conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical 

condition, if she so requests, and with the advice of her health care provider;  
 
3. Employee victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to promote the 

safety of the employee victim while at work; and 
 
4. Employees who request reasonable accommodation to address a conflict between 

religious belief or observance and any employment requirement (see Section 5(C).) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 9 of 85 
 

 

B. Procedure. 
 

1. Request for Accommodation. An employee who desires a reasonable 
accommodation in order to perform essential job functions should make such a 
request in writing to the Human Resources Department. The request should identify: 
a) the job-related functions at issue; and b) the desired accommodation(s). 

 
2. Documentation or Certification Indicating Need for Reasonable Accommodation. 
 

a. Disability. If the disability or the need for reasonable accommodation is not 
obvious, the Authority may require the individual to provide reasonable medical 
documentation confirming the existence of the disability and the need for 
reasonable accommodation, along with the name and credentials of the 
individual’s health care provider.  If the individual provides insufficient 
documentation, the Authority will:  1) explain the insufficiency; 2) allow the 
employee or applicant to supplement the documentation; and 3) pursue the 
interactive process only to the extent that the request for reasonable 
accommodation is supported by the medical documentation provided.  
 

b. Pregnancy or Related Condition. If a pregnant employee, or an employee with 
a pregnancy-related condition, requests a reasonable accommodation or transfer 
due to pregnancy, the Authority will provide the employee with notice of the need 
for a medical certification within two business days after the employee’s request 
for accommodation. A medical certification confirming the need for a reasonable 
accommodation, including transfer, is sufficient if it contains: a description of the 
requested accommodation or transfer; a statement describing the medical 
advisability of the accommodation or transfer due to pregnancy; and the date that 
the need for the accommodation or transfer will become necessary and the 
estimated duration of the accommodation or transfer.    

 
c. Victim Status. An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, 

or stalking and who requests an accommodation to provide for his or her safety 
while at work must provide both of the following:  

 
i. a written statement signed by the employee or an individual acting on the 

employee's behalf, to certify that the accommodation is to address victim-
safety concerns while at work; and  

ii. a certification demonstrating the employee's status as a victim of domestic 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking, which can be in the form of: a police 
report indicating the employee's victim status; a court order separating the 
perpetrator from the employee or that the employee has appeared in court for 
that purpose; or documentation from a medical professional or counselor that 
the employee is undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse 
resulting from an act of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

 
3. Fitness for Duty Examination.  The Authority may require an employee to undergo a 

fitness for duty examination when there is significant evidence that:  
 

a. the employee's ability to perform one or more essential functions of his or her job 
has declined; or  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 10 of 85 
 

 

b. could cause a reasonable person to question whether an employee is still capable 
of performing one or more of his or her essential job duties, or is still capable of 
performing those duties in a manner that does not harm him or herself or others.  

 
The purpose of the examination is to determine whether the employee has a disability 
and is able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable 
accommodation, and it will be conducted at the Authority’s expense. The Authority 
may also require that an Authority approved physician conduct the examination.   

 
4. Interactive Process Discussion. The Authority will initiate the interactive process 

when: 
 

a. an applicant or employee with a known physical or mental disability or medical 
condition requests reasonable accommodation(s); or 

b. the Authority otherwise becomes aware of the need for an accommodation 
through a third party (e.g. a doctor's note requesting an accommodation), or by 
observation of the employee's work; or 

c. the Authority becomes aware of the possible need for an accommodation because 
the employee with a disability has exhausted workers' compensation leave, 
Family and Medical Act leave, or other leave rights, but the employee and/or the 
employee's health care provider indicate that further accommodation is still 
necessary for recuperative leave or other accommodation; or 

d. an employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions 
requests a reasonable accommodation or transfer based on the advice of her 
health care provider; or 

e. an employee with a physical or mental disability, regardless of cause, fails to 
return to work following pregnancy disability leave; or 

f. an employee-victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking requests a 
reasonable accommodation(s) for his or her safety at work. 

After the occurrence of any of the above-stated circumstances that trigger the need 
to conduct an interactive process meeting, the Authority will promptly arrange for a 
discussion(s), in person or via telephone conference call, with the applicant or 
employee, and his or her representative(s), if any. The purpose of the discussion(s) 
is to work in good faith to fully consider all feasible potential reasonable 
accommodations. The Authority will document these communications in writing. 

 
5. Case-by-Case Determination. Based on the particular facts of each case, the 

Authority will determine, in its sole discretion, whether reasonable accommodation(s) 
can be made, and the type of accommodation(s) to provide. The Authority will not 
provide accommodation(s) that would pose an undue hardship upon Authority 
finances or operations, or that would endanger the health or safety of the employee 
or others. The Authority will inform the employee of its decision as to reasonable 
accommodation(s) in writing. 

 
C. Accommodations for Sincerely Held Religious Beliefs and Observances 
 

1.       Request for Accommodation. The Authority also provides employment-related 
reasonable accommodations to individuals based upon religious belief within the 
meaning of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, unless doing so would 
cause an undue burden on the Authority.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 11 of 85 
 

 

Any person who desires such a reasonable accommodation should make such a 
request in writing to the Human Resources Department. The request should identify 
the desired accommodation(s).  Upon a request for a religious accommodation, if the 
Authority has an objective basis for questioning either the religious nature or sincerity 
of a particular belief or practice, the Authority may seek additional information. 
 

2.       Case-by-Case Determination. Based on the particular facts of each case, the 
Authority determines, in its sole discretion, whether reasonable accommodation(s) 
can be made, and the type of accommodation(s) to provide. The Authority will 
consider the preference of the employee or applicant, but has the right to select and 
implement any accommodation that it deems effective. The Authority will inform the 
employee of its decision as to reasonable accommodation(s) in writing.  

    
D. Service and Support Animals 
 

1.       The Authority permits employees, volunteers and interns to bring a service or support 
animal (“assistive animal”) into the workplace where necessary as a reasonable 
accommodation under FEHA and the ADA.   
 

2. Definitions.   
 

a. Assistive Animal.  An assistive animal means an animal that is necessary as a 
reasonable accommodation for a person with a disability. An assistive animal 
includes, but is not limited to guide dogs, signal animals, service animals, and 
support animals.  

b. Service Animal.  A service animal is defined as a dog or other animal individually 
trained to the requirements of the individual with a disability, including, but not 
limited to, minimal protection work, rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, or fetching 
dropped items.  The work or tasks performed by a service animal must be directly 
related to the employee, intern or volunteer’s disability. 

c. Support Animal. A support animal is defined as a dog or other animal that 
provides emotional, cognitive or other similar support to a person with a disability, 
including, but not limited to, traumatic brain injuries or mental disabilities, such as 
major depression.   

 
3. Requests for Accommodation.  An employee, volunteer or intern (“individual”) 

requesting as a reasonable accommodation the use of an assistive animal must 
comply with Subsection B, above.  The Authority may require the individual to provide 
certification from his or her healthcare provider stating that he or she has a disability 
(diagnosis not to be provided) and explaining why the assistive animal is necessary 
as an accommodation to enable the individual to perform the essential functions of 
his or her job.  The individual must also confirm that the assistive animal meets the 
minimum requirements set forth in Paragraph 4 below.  Whether an assistive animal 
constitutes a reasonable accommodation shall be determined on a case-by-case 
basis.   
 

4. Approved Assistive Animals.  Approved assistive animals must: (1) be free from 
offensive odors and display habits appropriate to the work environment, for example, 
the elimination of urine and feces; (2) not engage in behavior that endangers the 
health or safety of the individual or others in the workplace; and  
(3) if the assistive animal is a service animal, be trained to provide assistance for the 
individual’s disability.  Such assistance may include, but is not limited to, assisting 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 12 of 85 
 

 

individuals who are blind or have low vision with navigation and other tasks, alerting 
individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing to the presence of people or sounds, 
pulling a wheelchair, and assisting an individual during a seizure.  Additionally:  

 
a. All assistive animals must be immunized against rabies and other diseases 

common to that type of animal and must otherwise be in good health.  All 
vaccinations must be current.  All assistive animals must wear a rabies 
vaccination tag to the extent required by law.   

b. All animals must be registered and licensed as required per California law.  
c. All assistive animals must at all times wear an identification tag, which includes 

the name and phone number of the owner or disabled individual (the “handler”).  
d. All assistive animals must be under the full control of the handler at all times.  The 

care and supervision of the animal is the sole responsibility of the handler.  The 
handler must not permit co-workers or other persons to maintain or supervise the 
animal and may not leave the animal unattended for any length of time.  Dogs 
may also not bark repeatedly unless required to do so as a part of the task being 
performed.     

e. All assistive animals must be housebroken.   
 

5. Removal.  Reasonable behavior is expected from assistive animals while on Authority 
property.  An assistive animal may be removed from an Authority facility temporarily 
or excluded from the facility permanently if the assistive animal is disruptive, 
aggressive, or otherwise out of control, in poor health, or habitually unclean.   
 
 

SECTION 6. POLICY AGAINST WORKPLACE DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT AND 
RETALIATION 

             
This section applies to all Authority applicants, employees regardless of rank or title, elected or 
appointed officials, interns, volunteers, and contractors (hereinafter referred to as “covered 
individuals”). For purposes of this Policy, “intern” is defined to include both paid and unpaid interns.  

 
A. Purpose.  
 

To establish a strong commitment to prohibit and prevent discrimination, harassment, and 
retaliation in employment; to define those terms; and to set forth a procedure for investigating 
and resolving internal complaints. The Authority encourages all individuals to report – as soon 
as possible – any conduct that is believed to violate this policy.   

 
B. Policy. 
 

1. The Authority has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this policy.  Conduct 
need not arise to the level of a violation of law in order to violate this policy.   Instead 
a single act can violate this policy and provide grounds for discipline, up to and 
including dismissal, or other appropriate sanctions.  If you are in doubt as to whether 
or not any particular conduct may violate this Policy, do not engage in the conduct, 
and seek guidance from a supervisor or the Human Resources Manager. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 13 of 85 
 

 

2. Harassment or discrimination against a covered individual by a supervisor, 
management employee, co-worker, volunteer, intern or contractor on the basis of 
race, color, religion or religious creed, sex, gender, gender identity (including 
transgender and transsexual), gender expression, national origin, ancestry, 
citizenship status, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, 
genetic information, sexual orientation, military or veteran status or any other basis 
protected by law will not be tolerated.    

 
3. This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including, but not limited 

to, hiring, placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of 
absence, compensation and training. 

 
4. Disciplinary action or other appropriate sanction up to and including dismissal will be 

instituted for prohibited behavior as defined below. 
 

5. Any retaliation against a person or the family member of a person for filing a 
complaint, participating in the complaint resolution process, or engaging in any other 
protected activity is prohibited.  Discrimination or retaliation against an individual for 
requesting a reasonable accommodation for a disability or religious belief, regardless 
of whether the accommodation was granted, is likewise prohibited.  Individuals found 
to be retaliating in violation of this policy will be subject to appropriate sanction or 
disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

 
C. Definitions. 
 

1. Protected Classifications.  This policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, or 
retaliation because of an individual’s protected classification. “Protected 
classification” includes race, color, religion or religious creed, sex, gender, gender 
identity ( including transgender and transsexual) , gender expression, national origin, 
ancestry, citizenship status, age (40 and over), marital status, physical or mental 
disability, medical condition, genetic information, military and veteran status, sexual 
orientation, and any other basis protected by law.  

 

a. “Gender expression” means a person’s gender-related appearance or behavior, 
whether or not stereotypically associated with the person’s sex at birth. 

b. “Gender identity” means a person’s identification as male, female, a gender 
different from the person’s sex at birth, or transgender. “Transgender” is a general 
term that refers to a person whose gender identity differs from the person’s sex at 
birth.  

c. “Sex” includes but is not limited to pregnancy; childbirth; breastfeeding; medical 
conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth or breastfeeding; gender identity; and 
gender expression. A transgender employee is protected against harassment, 
discrimination and retaliation for purposes of pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding 
and their related conditions.   

  
2. Policy Coverage. This policy prohibits covered individuals from harassing, 

discriminating, or retaliating against covered individuals because: 
 

a. Of an individual protected classification,  
b. Of the perception that an individual has a protected classification, or  
c. The individual associates with a person who has or is perceived to have a 

protected classification. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 14 of 85 
 

 

3. Discrimination.  This policy prohibits treating individuals differently and adversely 
because of the individual’s protected classification, actual or perceived; because the 
individual associates with a person who is member of a protected classification, actual 
or perceived; or because the individual participates in a protected activity as defined 
herein. 

 
4. Harassment.  Harassment includes, but is not limited to, the following types of 

behavior that is taken because of a person’s actual or perceived protected 
classification: 

  

a. Speech, such as epithets (e.g. nicknames and slang terms), derogatory or 
suggestive comments, propositioning, jokes or slurs, including graphic verbal 
commentaries about an individual’s body or that identify a person on the basis of 
his or her protected classification. This may also include comments about 
appearance and/or stories that tend to disparage those of a protected 
classification. 

b. Visual forms of harassment, such as derogatory posters, notices, bulletins, 
cartoons, drawings, sexually suggestive objects, or e-mails related to a protected 
classification. Visual harassment includes mimicking the way someone walks or 
talks because of their protected classification. 

c. Physical acts, such as assault, offensive touching, impeding or blocking 
movement, pinching, grabbing, patting, leering, making express or implied job-
related threats or promises in return for submission to physical acts, or any 
physical interference with normal work or movement. 

d. Unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other acts of a 
sexual nature, where submission is made a term or condition of employment, 
where submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for 
employment decisions, or where the conduct is intended to or actually does 
unreasonably interfere with an individual's work performance or create an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.   

e. Sexual harassment, may take the form of “quid pro quo” harassment or create a 
“hostile work environment.”  
i. “Quid pro quo” sexual harassment is characterized by explicit or implicit 

conditioning of a job or promotion on an applicant or employee’s submission 
to sexual advances or other conduct based on sex.   

ii. “Hostile work environment” sexual harassment occurs when unwelcome 
comments or conducted based on sex unreasonably interferes with the 
employee’s work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offense 
work environment.  Sexual harassment may occur even when the harassing 
conduct is not motivated by sexual desire.  

5. Guidelines for Identifying Harassment. To help clarify what constitutes harassment in 
violation of this Policy, use the following guidelines: 

 

a. Harassment includes any conduct which would be “unwelcome” to an individual 
of the recipient’s same protected classification and which is taken because of the 
recipient’s protected classification. 

b. It is no defense that the recipient appears to have voluntarily “consented” to the 
conduct at issue. A recipient may not protest for many legitimate reasons, 
including the need to avoid being insubordinate or to avoid being ostracized. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 15 of 85 
 

 

c. Simply because no one has complained about a joke, gesture, picture, physical 
contact, or comment does not mean that the conduct is welcomed. Harassment 
can evolve over time. Small, isolated incidents might be tolerated up to a point. 
The fact that no one is complaining now does not preclude anyone from 
complaining if the conduct is repeated in the future. 

d. Even visual, verbal, or physical conduct between two employees who appear to 
welcome the conduct can constitute harassment of a third individual who observes 
the conduct or learns about the conduct later. Conduct can constitute harassment 
even if it is not explicitly or specifically directed at an individual. 

e. Conduct can constitute harassment in violation of this Policy even if the individual 
engaging in the conduct has no intention to harass. Even well-intentioned conduct 
can violate this Policy if the conduct is directed at, or implicates a protected 
classification, and if an individual of the recipient’s same protected classification 
would find it offensive (e.g., gifts, over attention, endearing nicknames). 

 
6. Protected Activity.  A “protected activity” includes, but is not limited to any of the 

following: 
 

a. Filing a complaint with a federal or state enforcement or administrative agency;  
b. Participating in or cooperating with a federal or state enforcement agency that is 

conducting an investigation of the Authority regarding alleged unlawful activity; 
c. Testifying as a party, witness, or accused regarding alleged unlawful activity;  
d. Associating with another employee who is engaged in any of the protected 

activities enumerated here; 
e. Making or filing an internal complaint with the Authority regarding alleged unlawful 

activity or violation of this Policy;  
f. Opposing violations of this Policy; 
g. Participating in an investigation under this Policy; 
h. Providing informal notice to the Authority regarding alleged unlawful activity or 

violations of this Policy; Calling a governmental agency’s “Whistleblower hotline;” 
i. Filing a written complaint under penalty of perjury that the Authority has engaged 

in “gross mismanagement, a significant waste of public funds, or a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety;” 

j. Making a request for an accommodation for a disability; or 
k. Making a request for accommodation for religious beliefs.  
 

7. Romantic and Sexual Relationships Between Supervisors and Subordinates.  
Romantic or sexual relationships between supervisors and subordinate employees 
are discouraged. There is an inherent imbalance of power and potential for 
exploitation in such relationships. The relationship may create an appearance of 
impropriety and lead to charges of favoritism by other employees.   
A welcomed sexual relationship may change, with the result that sexual conduct that 
was once welcome becomes unwelcomed and harassing. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 16 of 85 
 

 

8. Retaliation.  Any adverse conduct taken against a covered individual because of the 
individual’s protected activity as defined in this Policy, or because an individual’s 
family member has engaged in a protected activity. Retaliation of any kind is strictly 
prohibited. Any act of reprisal violates this Policy and will result in appropriate 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

 
Examples of actions that might be retaliation against a complainant, witness or other 
participant in the complaint process includes:  

 
a. Singling a person out for harsher treatment;  
b. Lowering a performance evaluation;  
c. Failing to hire, failing to promote, withholding pay increases, assigning more 

onerous work, abolishing a position, demotion or discharge; or 
d. Real or implied threats of intimidation to prevent an individual from reporting 

alleged wrongdoing, harassment, or discrimination. Any act of retaliation will be 
treated as a separate and distinct incident, regardless of the outcome of the 
harassment or discrimination complaint. 

 
SECTION 7. COMPLAINT PROCEDURE FOR DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT AND 

RETALIATION  
 
This section applies to all Authority applicants, employees regardless of rank or title, elected or 
appointed officials, interns, volunteers, and contractors (hereinafter referred to as “covered 
individuals”).  
 
The following complaint procedure is established for the investigation and resolution of unlawful   
harassment, discrimination and/or retaliation at the workplace.  This procedure will be used in place 
of the Grievance Procedure established in Rule II, Section 8 herein to investigate and resolve such 
complaints.   
 
An individual who utilizes the following complaint procedure may not simultaneously or subsequently 
use the Grievance Procedure established in Rule II, Section 8 herein relative to the same reported 
instance or instances.  
 
A. Complaint Procedure.  
 

A covered individual who feels he or she has been subjected to harassment, discrimination, 
or retaliation in violation of this Policy should report the conduct immediately as outlined 
below so that the complaint can be resolved quickly and fairly. All employees involved in the 
complaint process may be represented by a person of their choosing and at their own 
expense. A covered individual may make a complaint verbally or in writing to any of the 
following individuals:    
 
• Immediate Supervisor;  
• Any supervisor or manager within or outside of the department;  
• Chief Operations Officer; or  
• Human Resources Manager. 

  
There is no need to follow the chain of command. Any supervisor or manager who receives 
a complaint should notify the Human Resources Manager immediately. In addition to making 
a complaint, an individual can also:  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 17 of 85 
 

 

1. Object to the Conduct.  Sometimes an individual is unaware that his/her conduct is 
offensive. The offensive behavior may be eliminated by simply informing the offender 
that the conduct or language in question is unwelcome and offensive and request that 
it be discontinued immediately. A person who believes he/she is being harassed is 
encouraged, but not required, to use this process. If the conduct in question continues 
after the offending person has been informed it is offensive, or if a person does not 
feel comfortable talking to the offending person directly, the employee should make a 
report in accordance with Subsection b and c below or go directly to the formal 
reporting process. 
 

2. Option to Report to Outside Administrative Agencies.  Covered individuals have the 
option to report harassment, discrimination, or retaliation to the U.S. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH). 

 
B. Investigation of Complaint. 

 
Upon receipt of a complaint of alleged harassment, discrimination or retaliation, the Human 
Resources Manager will be responsible for coordinating a thorough investigation (unless 
he/she is named in the complaint). The Human Resources Manager may coordinate the 
investigation with the complainant’s department head and/or Director of MHSA and Ethnic 
Services and may hire an outside investigator if the Authority deems it appropriate. The type 
of investigation undertaken, and the party chosen to conduct the investigation will depend on 
the nature of the complaint made and will be determined by the Human Resources Manager. 
The Human Resources Manager will report the status of investigations to the Executive 
Director as appropriate.  The Human Resources Manager, in concurrence with the Chief 
Operations Officer and Executive Director, may take interim action to diffuse volatile 
circumstances. 
 
The investigator will review the complaint allegations in an objective manner and to the extent 
that the Authority deems necessary. The investigation will normally include interviews with 
the reporting individual, the accused, and any other person who is believed to have relevant 
knowledge concerning the allegations. The investigator will remind all witnesses to maintain 
the confidentiality of the interview and that retaliation against those who report alleged 
harassment or who participate in the investigation is prohibited. 
 
The Authority takes a proactive approach to potential Policy violations and will conduct an 
investigation if its officers, supervisors, or managers become aware that harassment, 
discrimination or retaliation may be occurring, regardless of whether or not the recipient of 
the alleged action or a third party reports a potential violation. 
 

C. Remedial and Disciplinary Action. 
 

If the investigation determines that the alleged conduct occurred and that the conduct violated 
this Policy, the Authority will notify the complainant and perpetrator of the general 
conclusion(s) of the investigation and take effective remedial action that is designed to end 
the violation(s). If discipline is imposed, the level of discipline will not be communicated to the 
complainant. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 18 of 85 
 

 

Any employee or officer determined to have violated this Policy will be subject to disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination. Disciplinary action may also be taken against any 
supervisor or manager who condones or ignores potential violations of this Policy, or who 
otherwise fails to take appropriate action to enforce this Policy. Any official or contractor found 
to have violated this Policy will be subject to appropriate sanctions. 

 
D. Final Recommendations. 
 
 The Human Resources Manager and Chief Operations Officer, in conjunction with legal 

counsel, and the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, may advise Department Head on 
recommended course of action in regards to the findings of the investigation of complaints 
regarding protected classifications. 

 
E. Closure. 
 

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Human Resources Manager will notify the 
complainant in general terms of the outcome of the investigation. 

 
F. Confidentiality. 

 
Every possible effort will be made to assure the confidentiality of complaints made under this 
policy. Complete confidentiality cannot be assured, however, due to the need to fully 
investigate and the duty to take effective remedial action. As a result, confidentiality will be 
maintained to the greatest extent allowed by law. An individual who is interviewed during the 
course of an investigation is prohibited from discussing the substance of the interview, except 
as otherwise directed by a supervisor or Human Resources or designee. Any individual who 
discusses the content of an investigatory interview will be subject to discipline or other 
appropriate sanction. The employer will not disclose a completed investigation report except 
as it deems necessary to support a disciplinary action, to take remedial action, to defend itself 
in adversarial proceedings, or to comply with the law or court order. 

 
G. Responsibilities. 
 

1. Managers and Supervisors are responsible for: 
 

a. Informing employees of this policy. 
b. Modeling appropriate behavior. 
c. Taking all steps necessary to prevent harassment, discrimination or retaliation 

from occurring. 
d. Receiving complaints in a fair and serious manner and documenting steps taken 

to resolve complaints. 
e. Monitoring the work environment and taking immediate appropriate action to stop 

potential violations, such as removing inappropriate pictures or correcting 
inappropriate language. 

f. Following up with those who have complained to ensure that the behavior has 
stopped and that there are no reprisals. 

g. Informing those who complain of harassment or discrimination of his or her option 
to contact the EEOC or DFEH regarding alleged policy violations. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 19 of 85 
 

 

h. Assisting, advising, or consulting with employees and Human Resources 
regarding this Policy and Complaint Procedure. 

i. Assisting in the investigation of complaints involving employee(s) in their 
departments and, if the complaint is substantiated, recommending appropriate 
corrective or disciplinary action in accordance with these Rules and Policies, up 
to and including discharge. 

j. Implementing appropriate disciplinary and remedial actions. 
k. Reporting potential violations of this policy of which he or she becomes aware to 

the Human Resources Department and/or designee and department head, 
regardless of whether a complaint has been submitted. 

l. Participating in periodic training and scheduling employees for training. 
 

2. Each employee, intern, volunteer, or contractor is responsible for: 
 

a. Treating all individuals in the workplace or on worksites with respect and 
consideration. 

b. Modeling appropriate behavior. 
c. Participating in periodic training. 
d. Fully cooperating with the Authority’s investigations by responding fully and 

truthfully to all questions posed during the investigation. 
e. Maintaining confidentiality of any investigation that the employer conducts by not 

disclosing the substance of any investigatory interview, except as directed by 
Human Resources. 

f. Reporting any act he or she believes in good faith constitutes harassment, 
discrimination or retaliation as defined in this Policy, to his or her immediate   
supervisor, or department head, or Human Resources.   

 
H. Mandatory Training.   

 
As part of its commitment to ensuring a work environment free from harassment and 
discrimination, the Authority requires that all of its employees receive training on this Policy 
at least once every two years or more frequently as determined by Human Resources. 
Human Resources will schedule training sessions each year to ensure that employees are 
able to complete the mandatory training. Attendance at the training will be documented. 

 
Any questions, concerns or comments related to this complaint procedure should be directed 
to the Human Resources Manager or the Chief Operations Officer.  

 
SECTION 8.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees of the Authority with the exception of at-will 
employees.       

 
A. Policy.   
  
 The goal of this grievance procedure is to make every reasonable effort to resolve applicable 

complaints as near as possible to the point of origin. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 20 of 85 
 

 

B. Eligibility to File a Grievance.   
  
 A grievant is a regular employee who is personally affected by an act or omission that 

occurred no more than 14 calendar days prior to the filing of the grievance, provided that the 
act or omission comes within the definition of “grievance” as described herein. 

 
C. Definition of “Grievance.”   
 
 Subject to the exclusions listed in this Policy, a grievance is defined as any dispute that:  
 

1. Is job-related,  
 
2. Is wholly or partially within the province of the Authority to rectify or remedy,  
 
3. Concerns terms and conditions of employment,  
 
4. Involves the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of these Policies, and  
 
5. Is not subject to any other Authority dispute resolution process or procedure that is 

provided by statute, ordinance, resolution or agreement. 
 
D. Exclusions from the Grievance Procedure.   
 
 The following matters are excluded from the definition of “grievance.” 
 

1. Requests for changes in wages, hours, or working conditions, including any impasse 
or dispute in the meet and confer process or matter within the scope of representation; 

 
2. Requests for changes in the content of employee evaluations or performance 

reviews, oral or written warnings, reprimands or counseling memos; 
 
3. Challenges to a decision to reclassify, layoff, transfer, deny reinstatement, or deny a 

step or merit increase; 
 
4. Challenges to any disciplinary action; and 
 
5. Challenges to examinations or the appointment to positions. 

 
E. Grievance Procedure.   
  
 The grievance procedure has the following four steps: 
 

1. Step 1:  Informal Discussion.    
 

Within 14 calendar days of the occurrence of the act(s) that constitute the grievance, 
an employee shall discuss the grievance with his/her immediate supervisor, who will 
investigate and/or attempt to resolve the matter. The supervisor will give the employee 
an oral reply within ten (10) calendar days after the discussion. If the employee is not 
satisfied with the reply or receives no timely reply, he or she may proceed to Step 2. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 21 of 85 
 

 

2. Step 2:  Formal Discussion. 
 

a. Any grievance not resolved at Step 1 may be submitted in writing to the immediate 
supervisor no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of the supervisor’s 
oral reply.   

  
 If the employee does not receive a timely reply from his or her supervisor, he or 

she may submit a written grievance to the immediate supervisor no later than ten 
(10) calendar days after the expiration of the supervisor’s time to reply in Step 1. 

 
The written grievance must include all of the following: 
 
(1) A description of all facts regarding how the alleged violation occurred and how 

the grievant is/was adversely affected by the alleged violation; 
misinterpretation, or misapplication; 

(2) Identify the specific provision of these Rules and Regulations that was 
allegedly violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied;  

(3) The date or dates on which the violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication 
allegedly occurred; 

(4) The documents, witnesses or other evidence that support the grievance; 
(5) The desired solution or remedy; 
(6) The signature and identification of the grievant; and 
(7) The person, if any, the grievant has chosen to be his or her representative. 

b. No grievance will be accepted for processing until all of the information listed 
above is provided. Within ten (10) calendar days after the grievant provides all of 
the information listed above, the immediate supervisor may, in his or her 
discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant for the parties to work at resolving 
the grievance. The immediate supervisor shall give the grievant a written reply 
within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the written grievance, or the meeting, 
whichever occurs later, and will file a copy in the grievance file. If the grievant is 
not satisfied with the response, or receives no timely response, he/she may 
proceed to Step 3. 

 
3. Step 3: Department Director. 
 

Any grievance not resolved at Step 2 may be submitted in writing to the department 
director (e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Operations Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic 
Services, Medical Director) no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of the 
immediate supervisor’s written reply.  If the employee does not receive a timely reply 
from his or her supervisor in Step 2, he or she may submit a written grievance to the 
department director no later than ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the 
supervisor’s time to reply in Step 2. 

 
The grievant shall provide the department director with copies of the Step 2 response. 
Within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, the department director may, in his or her 
discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant for the purpose of giving the parties 
the opportunity to resolve the grievance.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 22 of 85 
 

 

The department director will give the grievant a written reply within 14 calendar days 
after receipt of the written grievance, or the meeting, whichever occurs later, and will 
file a copy in the grievance file. If the grievant is not satisfied with the response or 
receives no timely response, he/she may proceed to Step 4. 
 

4. Step 4: Executive Director or Executive Designee  
 
The Executive Director may delegate non-involved executive level directors, 
department directors or other management-level employees to act on his or her behalf 
in this process.  
 
Any grievance not resolved at Step 3 may be submitted in writing to the Executive 
Director or Designee no later than 10 days after the date of the department director’s 
written reply.   If the employee does not receive a timely reply from the department 
director in Step 3, he or she may submit a written grievance to the Executive Director 
or Designee no later than 10 calendar days after the expiration of the department 
director’s time to reply in Step 3. 
 
The grievant shall provide the Executive Director or Designee with copies of the Step 
2 and 3 responses. Within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, the Executive Director 
or Designee may, at his or her discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant to 
discuss the matter. After consideration of the facts and an investigation, if the 
Executive Director or Designee deems necessary, he or she will give his or her written 
decision to the grievant. 
 

5. Executive Director’s Decision on Grievance. 
 

If the Executive Director delegates a management-level employee to act on his or her 
behalf during Step 4 of the grievance process, the Executive Designee will render an 
advisory recommendation to the Executive Director.  
 
The Executive Director’s decision will be final and binding. The Executive Director’s 
decision will be limited as follows: 

 
a. The decision shall neither add to, detract from, nor modify the language of these 

Personnel Rules and Regulations. 
b. The decision shall be confined to the precise issue(s) the grievance has raised 

and that the grievant has submitted. 
c. Any monetary award in favor of the grievant may not exceed wages or benefits 

that the grievant has actually lost as a result of the matters alleged in the 
grievance. In no event shall any grievance award include any compensatory 
damages or attorneys’ fees. 

 
F. Settlement of Grievance.   
 
 Any grievance will be deemed settled when it is not appealed to the next step within the 

specified time limit, unless an extension of time to a definite date has been mutually agreed 
upon in writing. Any grievance that the grievant fails to timely move to the next step shall be 
deemed resolved on the basis of the last disposition. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 23 of 85 
 

 

G. Representation.   
 
 An employee may have a representative of his or her choice present at all stages of the 

grievance procedure, except that no one may be represented by an employee he or she 
supervises, and no employee may be represented by his or her supervisor or department 
director. If the employee’s representative is a fellow employee, that employee will receive 
time off from his or her work assignment for the time of the grievance meeting or hearing plus 
reasonable travel time. Forty-eight hours prior to the grievance meeting, the employee shall 
inform the immediate supervisor, department director, Executive Director or Designee 
whether he or she shall be represented at the grievance meeting and shall identify the 
representative. 

 
H. No Retaliation.   
 
 An employee shall not be penalized for using this procedure.  However, the employee shall 

not be provided immunity from disciplinary action during the grievance process. 
 

I. Withdrawal.   
 
 A grievant may withdraw any grievance at any time, without prejudice, by giving written notice 

to the Authority representative who last took action on the grievance, and by providing a copy 
of the notice to the Human Resources Department. 

 
J. Resubmission.   
  
 Upon consent of the person hearing the grievance and the grievant, a grievance may be 

resubmitted to a lower step in the grievance procedure for reconsideration. 
 

K. Miscellaneous.   
  
 If an employee is given an order that he or she wishes to grieve, the employee must first 

comply with the order and file a grievance later, unless the employee reasonably believes 
that the assignment endangers the health or safety of the employee or others or if the 
employee reasonably believes that the requested assignment violates the employee’s 
constitutional rights or requires the employee to violate federal or state law. 
 

SECTION 9. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE/TESTING POLICY     
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
  
A.  Policy. 
 

1. The manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of alcohol, any 
controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug that has not been lawfully 
prescribed to the employee is prohibited in both Authority workplaces and wherever 
Authority business is performed. 
 

2. An Authority employee is prohibited from working or being subject to call in if impaired 
by alcohol, any controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug whether or not 
lawfully prescribed. 

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 24 of 85 
 

 

3. An employee must notify his/her supervisor before beginning work when taking 
medications or drugs, including but not limited to prescription drugs, over the counter 
medications, or illegal drugs or narcotics, which could interfere with the safe and 
effective performance of duties or operation of the Authority equipment. If there is a 
question regarding an employee’s ability to perform assigned duties safely and 
effectively while using prescribed medications, the Authority may require medical 
clearance. 

 
4. Compliance with this policy is a condition of the Authority employment. Disciplinary 

action will be taken against those who violate this policy. 
 
B. Scope of Policy. 
 

This policy applies to all Authority employees when they are on the Authority property or 
when performing the Authority-related business elsewhere. 
 

C. Searches. 
 

In order to promote a safe, productive and efficient workplace, the Authority has the right to 
search and inspect all Authority property, including but not limited to lockers, storage areas, 
furniture, Authority vehicles, and other places under the common control of the Authority, or 
joint control of the Authority, and employees. No employee has any expectation of privacy in 
any Authority building, property, or communications system. 

  
D. Drug and Alcohol Testing. 
 

The Authority has discretion to test a current employee for alcohol or drugs in the following 
instances: 

 
1. Reasonable Suspicion Testing.  The Authority may require a blood test, urinalyses, 

or other drug and/or alcohol screening of those persons reasonable suspected of 
using or being under the influence of a drug or alcohol at work. Testing must be 
approved by the Human Resources Supervisor or Manager, the department director, 
or a designee. 

 
“Reasonable suspicion” is based on objective factors, such as behavior, speech, body 
odor, appearance, or other evidence of recent drug or alcohol use which would lead 
a reasonable person to believe that the employee is under the influence of drugs or 
alcohol.  (Refer to Alcohol and Drug Abuse Policy, attached to these Personnel Rules 
as Exhibit A for further indicators.) The supervisor/Manager may not rely solely on 
long-term signs such as absenteeism. 
 
In order to receive authority to test, the supervisor must record the factors that support 
reasonable suspicion and discuss the matter with the Human Resources Supervisor 
or Manager or department director. If there is a reasonable suspicion of drug or 
alcohol abuse, the employee will be relieved from duty and placed on sick leave until 
the test results are received.   

 
2. Post-Accident Testing and Reporting. The Authority may require alcohol or drug 

screening following any work-related accident or violation of safety precautions or 
standards in which the Authority suspects drugs or alcohol may have played a role in 
the accident or violation.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 25 of 85 
 

 

The suspicion of the involvement of drugs or alcohol in the accident or violation will 
constitute reasonable suspicion. This includes individuals who drive agency vehicles 
or conduct agency business while driving their personal vehicles.  For employees 
subject to the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, such testing is mandatory for 
any accident that results in a fatality; anytime a driver is involved in an accident that 
results in anyone receiving medical treatment away from the scene of the accident, 
and/or any accident in which the driver receives a citation from law enforcement 
officials.  
 
Employees involved in workplace accidents, illnesses, or injuries must report the 
incident to a supervisor as soon as practicable after the employee has realized that 
he or she has suffered a recordable work-related accident, injury, or illness. 
Employees may initially make reports verbally, whether by phone or in person, but 
employees reporting workplace accidents, illnesses, or injuries should provide a 
written report of the incident as soon as practicable. Nothing in this Policy is intended 
to deter or discourage employees from accurately reporting a workplace injury or 
illness and employees shall not be subject to retaliation for making a reasonable 
report about a workplace accident, illness, or injury. 
 

3. Pre-Employment Drug Testing.  Individuals seeking employment for “special need” 
positions, including safety-sensitive positions and positions that involve the direct 
influence over children, shall be required to pass a pre-employment drug test as a 
condition of employment. 

 
E. Employee’s Responsibilities. 
 

An Authority employee must: 
 
1. Not report to work or be on standby or on-call status while impaired by alcohol, any 

controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug whether or not lawfully 
prescribed.; 

 
2. Not possess or use controlled substances, narcotics, or prescription drugs that have 

not been lawfully prescribed to the employee at any time, or use alcohol at any time 
while on the Authority property or while on duty for the Authority at any location; 

 
3. Not directly or through a third party manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense, or provide 

alcohol or controlled substances, narcotics, or prescription drugs to any person, 
including any employee, at any time while on the Authority property or while on duty 
for the Authority at any location; unless authorized and licensed to do so as an 
essential function of their job duties ( ie, Psychiatric Technician, Psychiatrist) 

 
4. Notify his or her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications, 

narcotics, or drugs, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with the safe 
and effective performance of duties or operation of Authority equipment; 

 
5. Notify the department director of any criminal conviction for a drug violation that 

occurred in the workplace within no more than five days after such conviction; 
 

6. Notify the supervisor immediately of facts or reasonable suspicions when he or she 
observes behavior or other evidence that a fellow employee poses a risk to the health 
and safety of the employee or others; and 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 26 of 85 
 

 

7. Consent to drug or alcohol testing and searches. 
 
F. Management Employee Responsibilities. 
 

The Authority management employees must: 
 
1. Notify the state or federal granting agency which has funded the work or program, if 

any, within ten (10) days after receiving notice of any criminal drug statute convictions 
for a violation that occurred at a site where work is/was being done with a specific 
grant or contract; 

 
2. Record factors supporting “reasonable suspicion” as defined above and consult with 

other management staff in order to determine whether there is reasonable suspicion 
to test an employee as described by this policy; 

 
3. Take appropriate disciplinary action within thirty (30) days of receiving notice of any 

criminal drug statute conviction that occurred in an Authority workplace, up to and 
including dismissal, or require that the convicted employee participate satisfactorily in 
a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program as a condition for returning to duty; 
and 

 
4. Take appropriate disciplinary action for any violation of this policy. 

 
G. Employee Assistance Programs.   

  
The Authority encourages employees to seek treatment voluntarily for alcohol or drug abuse 
and to utilize available employee assistance programs or medical insurance providers.  Any 
employee who comes forth and notifies the Authority of alcohol or drug abuse problems will 
be given the assistance extended to employees with any other illness.  In such cases, sick 
leave, or leave of absence without pay may be granted for treatment and rehabilitation as in 
other illnesses.  Employees may be referred to or encouraged to participate in employee 
assistance programs and such participation may be a mandated alternative to disciplinary 
action. Participation in an employee assistance program, however, shall not be an automatic 
exemption of employees from disciplinary action resulting from inadequate job performance. 
 

H. Tobacco Use.   
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority Facilities shall be smoke free.  Employees and/or visitors to 
the Authority shall be directed to refrain from smoking within the premises and in other areas 
designated as “non-smoking” by the Authority.  The Authority reserves the right to limit staff 
smoking on designated times and to designated areas.  It is the policy of The Authority that 
smoking employees will not be granted or allowed to use additional break time or time away 
from their work station for smoking purposes (in addition to any regularly scheduled break 
time allowed for other employees).  Further, to avoid staff modeling of potentially adverse 
health habits to clients, staff shall not be permitted to smoke when interacting with clients or 
to take smoke breaks with clients of The Authority. E-cigarettes are considered smoking 
materials and are also subject to this section.  
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 27 of 85 
 

 

1. Medical and Recreational Marijuana – Although medical and recreational marijuana 
use is legal under California State law, it is still currently illegal under Federal law. Tri-
City, as an employer, complies with Federal law and reserves the right to enforce a 
drug and alcohol free workplace with regard to employees and applicants, in 
accordance with the law.  Tri-City employees are required to refrain from drug and 
alcohol use immediately prior to and during performance of work-related duties, 
activities or functions.   

 
Accordingly, medical use of marijuana that may be legal under the State 
Compassionate Use Act or non-medical recreational use that may be legal under Prop 
64 does not constitute an acceptable explanation or excuse for a positive drug test 
under this Policy, and does not hinder or affect the Authority’s ability to fail to refuse 
to hire such applicant as a result of the positive drug test. In such instances, the 
Medical Review Officer (MRO) will automatically verify such tests as “positive”, and 
the candidate will be disqualified from further consideration. 

 
I. Drug-Free Awareness Program. 
 

The following is The Authority’s drug-free awareness program: 
 
2. Distribution of a brochure on the dangers of drug abuse to each Authority employee 

and volunteer; and 
 

3. Notification to each Authority employee and volunteer of the availability of counseling 
and treatment of drug-related problems through the Authority’s Employee Assistance 
Program provider. 

 
SECTION 10.   HOURS OF WORK         
 
A. Normal Work Schedule.   

 
Tri-City full-time employees shall be employed for a 40 hour work week minimum.  No full-
time employee may be scheduled to work less than 40 hours per week without a direct 
proportionate decrease in compensation unless otherwise authorized by the Executive 
Director.  Any foreseeable absence or deviation from regular working hours desired by an 
employee shall, in advance, be cleared through the employee’s supervisor, and such 
absences shall be noted on the employee’s e-time sheet. 
 

B. Flexible Work Schedule.   
 
Flexible work schedules (i.e., varied specific starting and ending times of work shifts) within 
the normal workweek of 40 hours per week or the equivalent are not expressly prohibited by 
these Rules and Regulations.  Executive Management may, at its discretion, approve flexible 
work schedules for employees or groups of employees to accommodate personal issues; 
however, the operational needs of the Authority and the provision of services shall be the 
primary issues of consideration in the deliberations of Executive Management. 

 
C. Alternative Work Schedule.   

 
Variations from the traditional five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week schedule are 
not expressly prohibited by these Rules and Regulations.  Any alternative work schedules 
which are variations from the traditional five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week for 
individual employees or groups of employees shall require the approval of Executive 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 28 of 85 
 

 

Management after thorough review and resolution of all potential impacts. Request for 
Modified Workweek Schedule form must be signed and submitted to HR. Employees 
assigned to an alternative work schedule shall continue to accrue leave time (i.e., sick leave, 
vacation and holidays) on an hourly basis as provided for in these rules and regulations.  If 
an employee’s regular day off (”RDO”) falls on a scheduled paid holiday, the employee may 
take off the workday immediately before or immediately following the holiday; however, it 
must be in the same pay period so that it’s taken within the same 80 hour pay period.  
 
Employees on an alternative work schedule will also continue to have leave time deducted 
from accumulated hours on an hour-for-hour basis. At the discretion of Executive 
Management any alternative work schedule may be amended, modified or revoked at any 
time.  Employees assigned to modified duty due to injury or illness or are subject to call-in for 
jury duty shall be reassigned to the standard five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week 
at the discretion of Executive Management. 

 
D. Holidays on the Alternative Work Schedule. 
 

Additionally, the scheduled paid holiday is an eight (8) hour paid holiday regardless of the 
agreed upon work schedule, whether it be a traditional or alternative work schedule.  It is at 
the employee’s discretion as to how to make up any remaining hour(s) via the use of a leave 
balance or unpaid hours(s). 

 
E. Meals and Breaks.  

 
Non-exempt employees are required to take a 30 minute meal break after 5 hours of work. 
Meal breaks must be taken away from the desk or work area. Meal breaks are unpaid and 
the employee may leave the premises. If an employee works no more than 6 hours in one 
day, the employee and his/her supervisor may mutually agree to waive the employee’s meal 
break period. 
 
A fifteen (15) minute compensated rest period will be provided for all non-exempt employees 
for each four (4) hour period of service. The rest periods may not be combined to shorten the 
workday or to extend the meal period. Break times may not be combined or accumulated. 
 

F. Lactation Breaks 
 

An employee who wishes to express breast milk for her infant child during her scheduled 
work hours will receive a reasonable amount of additional unpaid time beyond the 15-minute 
compensated rest period. Those desiring to take a lactation break must notify a supervisor 
prior to taking such a break. Breaks may be reasonably delayed if they would seriously disrupt 
operations. Once a lactation break has been approved, the break should not be interrupted 
except for emergency or exigent circumstances. 
 
The Authority will make reasonable efforts to accommodate employees by providing an 
appropriate location, that is not in a bathroom, to express milk in private. The Authority will 
attempt to find a location in close proximity to the employee’s work area. Employees 
occupying such private areas shall either secure the door or otherwise make it clear to others 
through signage that the area is occupied and should not be disturbed.  
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 29 of 85 
 

 

All other employees should avoid interrupting an employee during an authorized break under 
this section, except to announce an emergency or other urgent circumstance. Authorized 
lactation breaks for employees assigned to the field may be taken at the nearest appropriate 
private area.   

 
G. Overtime Pay.  

 
Overtime-eligible employees may not work overtime unless prior written approval is obtained 
from the employee’s Supervisor. Working overtime without advance approval is grounds for 
discipline. 

 
H. On-Call Duty.  

 
On-Call Duty shall be assigned to affected clinical staff by the Director of Clinical Program 
Services to meet the needs of the Authority either on a voluntary basis, or a mandatory 
rotating basis at the discretion of the Director of Clinical Program Services.  On-call coverage, 
outside regular business hours, is necessitated by consumer service needs. (Refer to On-
Call Pay Policy & Procedure for further details.) 

 
SECTION 11.   ATTENDANCE / JOB ABANDONMENT      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
  
A. Attendance.   
 
 Employees shall be in attendance at their work in accordance with the Rules and Regulations 

regarding hours of work, holidays and leaves.  Employees shall keep records of attendance 
activities, which shall be reported to the Chief Financial Officer in the form and on the dates 
specified.  Sick leave shall not be considered as a privilege which an employee may use at 
his or her discretion, but shall be allowed only in compliance with Rule VI. Section 2. Sick 
Leave in these Rules and Regulations.  

 
B. Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence.   
  
 An employee who is unexpectedly unable to report for work as scheduled due to illness or 

unforeseen circumstances must, absent extenuating circumstances as determined by the 
employee’s immediate supervisor or department head, notify his or her immediate supervisor 
or designee directly  30 minutes prior to the beginning of the scheduled work time and report 
the expected time of arrival or absence or request time off. If the employee’s immediate 
supervisor or designee is not available, the employee must notify the department head or 
program manager.  Calls to reception will not be considered an acceptable form of 
notification.  An employee who fails to provide timely notification  as soon as practicable to 
his/her supervisor of any absence, or who is not present and ready to work during all 
scheduled work times, will be deemed to have an unauthorized tardy or absence and will not 
receive compensation for the period of absence. If an employee who is absent without leave 
fails to return to duty within 24 hours after due notice to return to duty has been issued, he or 
she may be subject to discipline up to and including discharge.   

 
C. Job Abandonment.   
 
 An employee is deemed to have resigned from his/her position if he or she is absent for three 

consecutive scheduled work days/shifts without prior authorization and without notification 
during the period of the absence.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 30 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 12.   EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, except the Executive Director.   
 
The primary purpose for performance evaluations is to evaluate the work accomplishments and 
conduct of employees, to inform employees of their evaluations in writing, to establish goals and 
objectives for measuring job performance and to assist employees in improving overall job 
performance.   
 
Employees shall be expected to satisfy the minimum standards established for their positions, which 
may include, but are not limited to, timely e-timesheet submission, productivity, documentation, 
attendance and punctuality, etc.  The Authority reserves the right to withhold pay increases to 
individuals whose performance does not meet acceptable standards and to differentially reward staff 
based upon meritorious performance.  Reports shall be prepared with a copy to the employee, if 
requested, and to the Human Resources Department for retention in the employee’s employment 
history/personnel file. 
 
A. Timing of Performance Evaluation Reports.   
  
 As provided for in these rules, a performance evaluation of each probationary employee shall 

be made by respective program managers or their designees as scheduled by the Human 
Resources Department in the form provided by the Human Resources Department.  The 
employee’s performance shall be reviewed at least every three months during the 
probationary period, and shall be evaluated at the conclusion of the probationary period.   
After having attained regular employment status the performance review date will change to 
a fiscal year basis, which may mean an employee will be evaluated for a shorter period of 
time to reach the fiscal year beginning date of July 1st.  Performance Evaluations shall be 
prepared annually thereafter. All signed Performance Evaluations shall be submitted to HR 
and placed in the personnel file.  A special performance evaluation may be prepared at any 
time at the discretion of the employee’s supervisor to further reflect employee efficiency, 
character, and conduct. 

 
B. Employee Review/Rebuttal.   
 
 The merits or content of a supervisor’s report on an employee’s work performance is not 

grievable under the Grievance Procedure established in these Rules and Regulations.  
Neither does the Disciplinary and Appeals Procedures set forth in these Rules and 
Regulations apply.   

 
 Each performance evaluation report shall be discussed with the employee to point out areas 

of successful performance and areas that need improvement.  If an employee wishes to rebut 
a performance evaluation report, he/she may take the following actions within ten (10) 
working days of his/her review of the report: 
 
1. The employee may submit a response in writing to his/her supervisor. 
 
2. If the employee’s concerns are not resolved through review by the supervisor, the 

employee may within ten (10) working days request a review of the performance 
evaluation report and a written response by the department head. 

 
3. If the employee’s concerns are not resolved by review by the department head, the 

employee may within ten (10) working days request review by the Executive Director. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 31 of 85 
 

 

4. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall review the rebuttal and responses, 
if any, within ten (10) working days of receipt and issue a final decision. 

 
SECTION 13.   EMPLOYEE ACTIVITIES / OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT     
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
A. General Considerations.   
 
 During the employee’s work day, he/she is expected to devote his/her full time to the 

performance of his/her assigned duties as an Authority employee. An employee in the 
competitive service shall not engage in any employment, activity, or enterprise which is 
inconsistent, incompatible, or in conflict with his/her duties, functions, or responsibilities as 
an Authority employee.  Neither shall he/she engage in any outside activity which will directly 
or indirectly contribute to the lessening of his/her effectiveness as an Authority employee.   

 
 No employee shall engage in any type of activity relating to an employee organization which 

interferes with the safe and efficient operation of Authority business during such time an 
employee is on duty, except as provided for by these Rules and Regulations, memoranda of 
understanding, or state or federal law.   

 
B. Determination of Inconsistent Activities.   
 
 In making a determination as to the consistency of outside activities, the immediate 

supervisor shall consider, among other pertinent factors, whether the activity: 
 

1. Involves receipt or acceptance by the employee of any money or other consideration 
from anyone other than the Authority for the performance of any act which the 
employee, if not performing such act, would be required or expected to render in the 
regular course or hours of his/her Authority employment or as part of his/her duties 
as an Authority employee; or 

 
2. Involves the performance of an act in other than his/her capacity as an Authority 

employee which act may later be subject directly or indirectly to the control, 
inspection, review, audit, or enforcement by such employee or the department by 
which he/she is employed; or  

 
3. Involves the use of Authority time, facilities, equipment or supplies, or the information,   

certification, prestige, or influence obtained through Authority employment for private 
gain or advantage; or 

 
4. Involves the solicitation of future employment with a firm or individual doing business 

with the Authority over which the employee has some control or influence in his/her 
official capacity or has a financial interest in an Authority contract which the employee 
is making on the Authority’s behalf in his or her official capacity, at the time of 
transaction; or 

 
5. Involves the performance of act or work which may interfere with the employee’s 

ability to effectively perform the duties and responsibilities of his/her job, or involves 
time demands that would render the employee’s performance of his or her regular 
Authority employment less efficient or dangerous to the employee.  

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 32 of 85 
 

 

6. Requests for approval of outside employment shall be in writing (on the “Outside 
Employment Request” form located on Summit, the Authority’s Intranet website).  A 
copy of the form will be placed in the employee’s personnel file and provided to the 
appropriate Program Manager. The form must include the second employer/ agency’s 
name, location, position title, duties, hours, anticipated start date and such other 
information as may be required.  

 
 The request must be approved prior to commencing any outside employment.  
 
7. An outside employment authorization is valid only up to one year.  Should the 

employee continue the outside employment, activity, or enterprise for a longer 
duration, he or she must make, and is responsible for making, another request 
following the process in this Policy. 

 
8. If the immediate supervisor denies an employee’s outside employment request, the 

employee may submit a written notice of appeal to the Executive Director within 10 
days after the date of the denial.  The decision on appeal will be put in Writing, 
provided within 10 days after the receipt of the appeal, and will be final.   

 
9. Any outside employment authorization may be revoked or suspended during the year 

it is granted under the circumstances listed below.   
 

a. The employee’s work performance declines; or 
 

b. An employee’s conduct or outside employment conflicts with the conditions of the 
outside work authorization or is incompatible with the employee’s work for the 
Authority. 

 
 An employee may appeal the revocation or suspension as provided in this Policy. 

 
C. Improper Use of Authority Equipment Prohibited.   

 
No Authority owned equipment, autos, trucks, instruments, tools, supplies, machine, badge, 
identification cards, or other items which are the property of the Authority shall be used by an 
employee except upon prior approval of the Executive Director or the latter’s designee for 
managing that property.  

 
D. Compliance with Employment Standards.  

 
All employees will be required to comply with basic employment standards as applicable to 
their classifications.  Basic employment standards will be established in areas which may 
include, but are not limited to, timely e-timesheet submission, productivity based on direct 
client service, compliance with client service documentation, attendance and punctuality, etc. 
 

E. Public Information Statement.  
 
1. No employee should speak on behalf of the Authority to any outside media (i.e.: 

newspapers, news reporters, radio stations) without explicit approval from the 
Executive Director.   
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 33 of 85 
 

 

2. All employees of the Authority must inform their Supervisor or Human Resources as 
soon as possible of any criminal misdemeanor or felony conviction, regardless of the 
nature of the conviction.   

 
SECTION 14. RIGHT TO WORK IN THE UNITED STATES/IMMIGRATION REFORM AND 

CONTROL ACT OF 1986 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
In accordance with the Immigration Reform Act and Control Act of 1986, all new employees must 
verify identity and entitlement to work in the United States by providing required documentation.   
 
If an employee loses such rights or is unable to demonstrate that he/she is legally permitted to work 
in the United States, he/she will be disqualified from employment at the Authority resulting in 
discharge without notice or rights of appeal. 
 
SECTION 15.  ANTI-SOLICITATION POLICY        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.   
  
Non-employees may not solicit employees or distribute literature of any kind on Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority premises at any time.  Employees may only admit non-employees to work areas 
with management approval or as part of a Company-sponsored program.  These visits should not 
disrupt workflow.  The Authority employee must accompany the non-employee at all times. Former 
employees are not permitted onto Company property except for official Authority business. 
Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with an Authority 
approved or sponsored event.  

Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during work times, or in any work area at any 
time, except in connection with an Authority-sponsored event. Employees may, however, with written 
Supervisor approval, leave private fundraiser materials i.e. for schools, Girl Scout cookies, Avon, 
Tupperware, etc., on display in the employee lunchrooms, allowing employees to participate at their 
own volition.  

The posting of materials or electronic announcements is permitted with approval from Human 
Resources.   Violation of this policy should be reported to Human Resources.  

SECTION 16.  CELL PHONE / ELECTRONIC DEVICE USE POLICY    
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
A. Applicability and Purpose.   
 
 This policy and procedure applies to the use of personal and Tri-City issued cell phone and 

electronic devices by employees within the course and scope of employment. Violation of 
this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

B. General Policy on the Use of Tri-City Cell Phones and Electronic Devices.   

 All Tri-City cell phones and electronic devices (“Devices”) are provided as a tool to conduct 
Tri-City-related business. Tri-City Devices are issued on an as-needed basis with the 
approval of the Department Head.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 34 of 85 
 

 

All Tri-City employees shall use such Devices in a responsible, appropriate, and safe manner. 
All employees assigned Devices shall assume the responsibility to use the equipment in 
accordance with the provisions of this policy.  (Refer to Acceptable Use Agreement for further 
details.) 

1. Employees are prohibited from installing any third party equipment to Tri-City Devices 
unless approved by the employee’s supervisor in writing with final approval from the 
IT Manager. 

 
2. Employees have no expectation of privacy as to the Devices, including but not limited 

to data residing in Devices and /or voice mail. Tri-City may inspect that data at any 
time and without notice, as permitted by state and federal law. Employees must 
provide Tri-City with username and passwords for any Device upon Tri-City’s request. 
 

3. Employees shall protect Tri-City Devices from loss or damage. An employee assigned 
a Tri-City Device is responsible for its good care and will be required to reimburse Tri-
City’s cost for any damage, or lost Devices due to negligence. If a Device is damaged, 
fails to work properly, or is stolen or lost, the employee shall immediately notify the 
Department Head and the Information Technology Department. 

4. Tri-City Devices should only be used by Tri-City employees in the performance of 
their official duties. Personal use of Tri-City Devices, except in emergency situations 
or for incidental personal use, is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action 
and reimbursement of charges for personal use.  Incidental personal use of Tri-City 
Devices, as defined by the Authority, is allowed if such use is kept to a minimum and 
limited to break times or non-working hours; does not interfere or conflict with 
Authority operations or the work performance of Authority employees; allows an 
employee to more efficiently perform Authority work as determined by his or her 
supervisor or department head; is not abusive, illegal, inappropriate or prohibited by 
these Rules; and the employee clearly indicates it is for personal use and does not 
indicate or imply Authority sponsorship or endorsement.   

 
5. Employees shall acquaint themselves with the rate plan that applies to their Device 

and use their best efforts to make the most economical and cost efficient use of the 
Device. Cell phones are unique in that they may have charges for both in-coming and 
outgoing calls and texts. In addition, local calls can still incur airtime charges if the 
plan minutes are exceeded. A call may be made from a Device only if it cannot be 
made at any other time with a provided wired landline telephone. Because cell phones 
have additional “air time” and possible other charges, employees are expected to use 
a wired landline telephone when available. 

 
6. Employees are prohibited from using the camera function on Tri-City Devices except 

as authorized by a supervisor for work-related purposes. 
 
7. Tri-City employees are responsible for complying with the Health Insurance Portability 

and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).  Private Health Information (PHI) of Authority 
consumers is not discussed in areas where the public can overhear information; this 
includes information shared while using Tri-City Devices. 

 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 35 of 85 
 

 

8. No PHI data should ever be sent as text message through a cell phone or other 
device. Text messaging is allowed as long as staff has prior approval from the client 
to receive text messages for informational purposes, PHI is not included in the text 
message and the text message is documented in all related clinical paperwork.  
 

9. An Authority employee who is issued an Authority cell phone must refrain from using 
his or her personal cell phone for Authority-related business, unless expressly 
permitted by the employee’s immediate supervisor or department head or in 
emergency circumstances in which the employee does not have access to the 
Authority-issued cell phone.   

 
C. Use of Personal Devices. 
 

1. Employees are required to limit personal Device usage during working hours to 
breaks or lunch periods. Usage outside of the break and lunch periods should be 
Minimal and must follow the guidelines of this Policy. 
 

2. Personal Devices must be in silent or vibrating mode during work hours and must not 
be disruptive to co-workers. 
 

3. Employees are prohibited from using the camera function on personal Devices in the 
workplace. 
 

4. Employees may not use Personal Devices for work related purposes unless required 
by his or her official duties and permitted by his or her department head.   

 
D. Use of Devices While Operating a Vehicle in the Course and Scope of Employment 

 
1. In the interest of the safety of our employees and other drivers, Tri-City employees 

are generally prohibited from using Devices while driving within the course and scope 
of employment for Tri-City.  Personal and/or agency provided cell phones or other 
electronic devices are generally required to be turned off any time an employee is 
driving a Tri-City or personal vehicle in the performance of their job duties for Tri-City.  
They shall not be used for voice, text, or email communications while driving on Tri-
City time except in emergency situations where permitted by the California Vehicle 
Code. 

2. As determined by Tri-City management, if your job requires that you keep your Device 
turned on while you are driving, you must use a hands-free device while using your 
cell phone to conduct agency business while driving in compliance with the Tri-City 
Cell Phone/Electronic Device Usage policy and as required by law. 

3. In the event of a vehicle accident the camera function on Tri-City Devices may be 
used to record accident information. 

 
SECTION 17.  WORKPLACE SECURITY        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, contractors, volunteers and interns.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 36 of 85 
 

 

A. Policy.   
 

Tri-City is committed to providing a safe and secure workplace for employees and the public. 
Tri-City will not tolerate acts or threats of violence in the workplace. The workplace includes 
any location where Tri-City business is conducted, including vehicles and parking lots. Any 
violation of this policy may lead to criminal prosecution, and/or disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination. 

 
B. Prohibited Behavior. 
 

Employees are prohibited from engaging in or promoting acts of intimidation, violence, 
threats, coercion, assault, bullying, and/or abusive behavior toward any person while in the 
course of Tri-City employment. Tri-City has zero tolerance for any conduct that references 
workplace violence, even if it was intended to be harmless, humorous, a prank, blowing off 
steam, or venting. 

 
C. Definitions. 
 

1. “Workplace Violence” is any conduct that causes an individual to reasonably fear for 
his or her personal safety or the safety of his or her family, friends, and/or property. 
Specific examples of workplace violence include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Threats or acts of physical harm directed toward an individual or his/her family, 

friends, associates, or property, including but not limited to striking, punching, 
slapping or assaulting another person. 

b. The destruction of, or threat of destruction of, Tri-City property or another 
employee’s property. 

c. Harassing or threatening phone calls. 
d. Surveillance. 
e. Stalking. 
f. Intimidation and/or Bullying Behavior 
g. Possession of offensive or defensive weapons during work hours or on Tri-City 

property is prohibited. “Weapons” are defined as firearms, chemical sprays, clubs 
or batons, knives, or any other device, tool, chemical agent or implement that can 
cause bodily harm if used as a weapon or displayed in such a manner to cause 
harm or threaten a person with harm. 

 
D. Incident Reporting Procedures. 
 

1. Employees must immediately report to their supervisor or Program director if they 
have been a victim of, or have witnessed, workplace violence. The supervisor or 
program director will report the matter immediately to the Human Resources 
Manager. 
 

2. The Human Resources Manager will document the incident, including the employee 
names(s), date/time, location, incident description, witness names and statements, 
description of unidentified parties, description of the act(s) and/or behavior arising 
from the incident, action taken, and provide any other relevant information regarding 
the incident. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 37 of 85 
 

 

3. The Human Resources Manager will take appropriate steps to provide security, such 
as: 

 
a. Placing the employee alleged to have engaged in workplace violence on 

administrative leave, pending investigation; 
b. Asking any threatening or potentially violent person to leave the site; or  
c. Immediately contacting an appropriate law enforcement agency. 
 

E. Investigation. 
 

The Human Resources Manager will see that reported violations of this policy are 
investigated as necessary. 

 
F. Management Responsibility. 
 

Each program director has authority to enforce this policy by: 
 

1. Training supervisors and subordinates about their responsibilities under this policy; 
 
2. Assuring that reports of workplace violence are documented and addressed 

accurately and timely; 
 
3. Notifying the Human Resources Supervisor or Manager and/or law enforcement 

authorities of any incidents; 
 
4. Making all reasonable efforts to maintain a safe and secure workplace; and 
 
5. Maintaining records and follow up actions as to workplace violence reports. 
 

G. Follow-Up and Disciplinary Procedures. 
 

An employee found in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination of employment. Tri-City may also direct that an employee submit to a 
fitness for duty examination. In addition, employees found in violation of this policy may be 
subject to criminal prosecution. 

 
SECTION 18:       ANTI-BULLYING POLICY  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, contractors, interns and volunteers.  
 
A. Purpose. 
 

The Authority is committed to providing a safe work environment.  In addition to prohibiting 
all forms of discrimination and harassment, the Authority has a zero tolerance policy for any 
form of intimidation or bullying in the workplace or elsewhere, such as offsite events.  

 
B. Policy. 
 

Every employee and every other individual, including, but not limited to, temporary workers, 
consultants, independent contractors, volunteers, and visitors has the right to be treated with 
respect.  
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 38 of 85 
 

 

Bullying is the use of aggressive behavior with the intention of harming, intimidating, 
offending, degrading, or humiliating another individual.  Bullying also includes harming, 
intimidating, offending, degrading, or humiliating another employee whether intentionally or 
unintentionally.  It can include any written, visual, verbal, or physical act, when the act 
physically harms the individual or damages his or her property; has the effect of interfering 
with an employee’s ability to work; is severe or pervasive; and creates an intimidating or 
threatening environment. Frequent or severe use of swearing, profane language, or sexually 
explicit comments violates this Anti-Bullying Policy.   
 
Bullying includes, but is not limited to: 
1. Deliberately undermining a person’s work or person’s participation in the workplace; 

2. Tormenting, teasing, offensive innuendo, taunting, abusive comments; 

3. Threatening gestures or posturing, physical intimidation, pushing, shoving, 
punching, unwanted physical contact, any use of violence; 

4. Graffiti; 

5. Name-calling, sarcasm, spreading rumors; 

6. Swearing, using profane, lewd or other offensive language. 

7. Abusive Conduct, which is defined as is conduct perpetrated by an employee in the 
workplace, with malice, that a reasonable person would find hostile, offensive, and 
unrelated to an employer's legitimate business interests.  Abusive conduct may 
include repeated infliction of verbal abuse, such as the use of derogatory remarks, 
insults, and epithets, verbal or physical conduct that a reasonable person would find 
threatening, intimidating, or humiliating, or the gratuitous sabotage or undermining of 
a person's work performance.  A single act does not constitute "abusive conduct," 
unless especially severe and egregious. 

Bullying may also occur via use of electronic or telephonic communications such as internet, 
email and chat rooms, mobile threats by text-messaging or telephone or cellphone calls or 
misuse of cameras and video equipment. 

 
C. Complaint Procedure. 

 
Any individual who believes that he or she is being or has been subjected to any form of 
bullying should immediately report this to his or her supervisor, program director, or Human 
Resources.  In addition, any person who believes that they have witnessed bullying and any 
person who has received a report of such conduct, whether the perpetrator is an employee 
or a non-employee, shall immediately report the conduct to their supervisor, program director, 
or Human Resources. 

 
1. If an Employee reports workplace bullying to Human Resources, the Human 

Resources Department will document the incident, including the employee names(s), 
date/time, location, incident description, witness names and statements, description 
of unidentified parties, description of the act(s) and/or behavior arising from the 
incident, action taken, and provide any other relevant information regarding the 
incident. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 39 of 85 
 

 

2. The Human Resources Department will then take appropriate steps based on the 
nature of the complaint and will see that reported violations of this policy are 
investigated as necessary. 

 
D. Policy Against Retaliation. 

 
The Authority policy prohibits any form of retaliation against an employee who reports an 
incident of bullying, or participates in an investigation by the Authority or its representatives 
into allegations of bullying. Additionally, all employees have a duty to cooperate in connection 
with any investigation by the Authority or its representatives into allegations of bullying.  Any 
employee found to engage in retaliation is subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination.  

 
 
 

RULE III.  CLASSIFICATION PLAN 
 
 
SECTION 1.  CLASS SPECIFICATIONS        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
Human Resources will establish and maintain the classification plan covering all classifications in 
the competitive service.   The classification title of a position shall be used in all official personnel 
and budget records and transactions.  Class specifications shall include a listing of sample duties as 
well as employment expectations of employees in the class.  When a new position has been created, 
the Position Related Changes and Recruitment Form must be completed and signed by the 
Executive Director, Chief Operations Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Department Director for the 
new position and submitted to Human Resources for approval. The new position must be approved 
by the Governing Board and included in the Classifications Specifications before any job posting or 
recruiting can begin.  
 
SECTION 2.   LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION       
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
Certain job classifications at the Authority shall require a current certification or approved license 
either at hire or within a specified period of time. Acquisition and/or renewal of such license, 
certification and/or waiver shall be the sole responsibility of the employee, including fees and 
applications, unless specified in writing and approved in advance by the Executive Director.  The 
absence of a valid required license, certification or approved waiver may be grounds for 
disqualification for employment and failure to renew a required license, certification or approved 
waiver, by the expiration date, may constitute grounds for immediate discharge.  All 
applicants/employees that are listed as excluded on the U.S. Department of Health & Human 
Services OIG (Office of Inspector General) website are subject to immediate discharge.   

 
 
 
 
 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 40 of 85 
 

 

RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
SECTION 1.   JOB ANNOUNCEMENTS        
 
All positions to be filled in the competitive service shall be publicized by posting announcements on 
the Authority’s website, or in such other places as Human Resources deems advisable. 
The announcements shall specify the title and pay for the position, the nature of the work to be 
performed; preparation desirable for the performance of the work of the class; the dates, time, place 
and manner of submitting applications; the closing date for receiving applications and resumes; the 
minimum requirements for the position; and other pertinent information.  There shall be a minimum 
of ten (10) working days from the date the recruitment opens and until it closes.  Resumes must be 
received in the Human Resources Department by “close of business” on the day the filing time 
expires.  There will be an exception for closed promotional recruitments which shall be posted a 
minimum of five (5) working days.  The time for filing applications may be extended or reopened as 
needed by Human Resources.   
 
SECTION 2.   APPLICATION FORMS         
 
Applications shall be made on forms provided/authorized by Human Resources. Such forms shall 
require information covering training, experience, and other pertinent information as deemed 
necessary by Human Resources.  All applications must be signed by the person applying.  
No appointment shall be finalized until a completed official application form is received by Human 
Resources. Applications are required to be completed online on the CalOpps.org website.  It is the 
responsibility of the applicants to show that they clearly meet the minimum requirements for the 
position applied for and be able to perform the essential functions of the position with or without 
reasonable accommodation.  The applicants shall certify to the correctness of all statements made 
on the application. After filing, information on the application may be amended only with the 
permission of Human Resources.  Applicants may be required to submit additional information about 
their job related qualifications, or to submit evidence of their possession of degrees, licenses or 
certificates, or of the completion of courses of study or training.  Failure to supply such information 
or evidence may disqualify an applicant.   
 
Applications, resumes, examination papers, and any and all other information submitted as part the 
examination process become the property of the Human Resources Department and Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority.  Resumes/applications will be screened based upon the minimum qualifications 
indicated in the job announcement.  Applicants meeting the minimum qualifications, or those 
appearing to be the “most qualified”, will be selected to participate in successive parts of the selection 
process.  Possession of the minimum qualifications does not ensure that an applicant will be 
interviewed.  Applications/resumes will be reviewed in comparison with all other 
applications/resumes received.  
 
After a conditional offer of employment has been extended to an applicant, the Authority will require 
the applicant to be fingerprinted and/or subjected to a criminal record check. It may also require the 
applicant to submit to a fitness for duty examination that is job-related; necessary for efficient 
operations of the agency; and required of all applicants for the job classification.  An applicant who 
is required to pass a medical and/or psychological examination will be notified of his/her right to 
obtain a second opinion at his/her expense and that he/she may submit such second opinions for 
consideration.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 41 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3. INTERNAL APPLICANTS 
 
Qualified Employees in good standing may apply for any of the posted positions. The employee must 
have a 3-month and 6-month signed evaluation on file with HR. The employee must have a minimum 
of a “Meets” as the final evaluation in order to be eligible.  The employee should notify his or her 
current supervisor that they have applied for an internal position. Any employee actively on a 
Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP”) is not eligible. This provision shall not apply to lateral 
transfers. 
 
SECTION 4.    LATERAL TRANSFERS 
 
An employee may be transferred by the Authority at any time from one position to another position 
in the same or comparable class, involving the performance of similar duties and requiring 
substantially the same basic qualifications with no change in pay.  In addition, an employee may 
request and be granted a transfer if approved by Human Resources and affected program managers.  
Only those employees who are currently in a position of equal or greater qualifications shall be 
considered for the transfer.  
 
The procedure for a lateral transfer is as follows: 
 

1. Hiring Managers with an available vacancy that are interested in accepting lateral candidates 
shall submit a Position Related Changes and Recruitment Form to advertise the vacancy, 
either internally or externally. 

 
2. Employees interested in a lateral transfer must submit an application to an open and available 

recruitment via CalOpps.   
 

3. Qualified and eligible employees may be interviewed by the Hiring Manager.   
 

4. Selection(s) for the lateral transfer will be made by the Hiring Manager or on a first come, first 
served basis.  
 

5.  Both the employee’s existing department head and the department head where the vacancy 
exists must agree upon the transfer.   
 
The Hiring Manager is responsible for completing a performance review/reference check with 
the potential transferring employee’s current manager. 
 

An employee so transferred shall receive the same salary received in the former classification.   The 
employee’s base salary will only be transferrable.  Bilingual and On-Call Pay will be determined 
based on the need of the position being transferred into. 
 
SECTION 5.   DISQUALIFICATION         
 
Human Resources shall reject any application/resume which indicates on its face that the applicant 
does not possess the qualifications specified for the position or has not properly completed an 
application or has excluded other requested supplemental information.   
 
A. Applications shall also be rejected for any of the following reasons, insofar as they relate 

to the applicant’s ability to perform the job for which the application is made.  There will be 
no written notification sent to the applicant in these following instances: 

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 42 of 85 
 

 

1. If the applicant does not possess the required license and credentials specified; 
 

2. If the applicant applying for any position has an “exclusion” as a result of  a search on 
the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General OIG 
exclusions database; 

 
3. If the applicant has requested to have the application/resume withdrawn from 

consideration; 
 

4. If the applicant is not legally permitted to work within the United States; 
 
5. If the applicant is a current user of illegal drugs; 
 
6. If the applicant has made false statements of any material fact, or omissions, 

practices, or attempted to practice any deception on the application/resume or 
in securing eligibility or appointment; 

 
7. Failure to be present upon appropriate notification for fingerprinting or medical testing 

or examination as required; 
 
8. Unsuitability of an applicant’s work record as indicated upon a review of qualifications; 
 
9. Any material cause which, in the judgment of Human Resources, would render the 

applicant unsuitable for the particular position, including prior resignation, prior 
termination or a significant disciplinary action with the Authority. 

 
B. An applicant will be provided written notification in the following instance: If the applicant has 

been convicted of either a misdemeanor or a felony that directly and adversely relates to the 
specific position duties that the applicant would perform.  Unless required by law, the 
Authority will not deny employment to any applicant solely because he or she has been 
convicted of a crime. The Authority may, however, consider the nature, date and 
circumstances of the offense, evidence of rehabilitation, as well as whether the offense is 
relevant to the duties of the position. 

 
C. An applicant may be rejected if the applicant is related by blood or marriage to an existing 

employee and if Human Resources make findings that hiring a relative in the particular 
position could adversely affect supervision, security, or morale within the department.   

 
D. False statements or evidence that an employee committed deception or fraud in his/her 

application will be cause for discharge. 
 
SECTION 6.   EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES AND SPOUSES/DOMESTIC PARTNERS  
 
It is the Authority’s policy not to discriminate in its employment and personnel actions with respect 
to its employees, prospective employees, and applicants on the basis of marital status, domestic-
partner status and relatives.  No employee, prospective employee or applicant shall be improperly 
denied employment or benefits of employment on the basis of his/her marital status or relatives.  This 
policy also applies to the selection of persons for a training program leading to employment. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 43 of 85 
 

 

Marital status is defined as an individual’s state of marriage, divorce or dissolution, separation, or 
other marital state for the purpose of this anti-discrimination policy.  Relatives for the purposes of 
this section is defined as spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, children (including foster care 
children), brother, sister, half-brother, half-sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, 
grandchild, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew. 
 
Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Authority retains the right: 
 
A. To prohibit relatives from working in the same department, division, program or facility where 

such has the potential for creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security, or morale 
or involves potential conflict of interest.  For example, one relative will generally not be 
permitted to maintain a supervisory relationship over another relative.  A “supervisory 
relationship” is defined as one in which one employee exercises the right or responsibility to 
control, direct, reward, or discipline another by virtue of the duties and responsibilities 
assigned to his or her Authority appointment.   
 

B. When two employees, employed by the Authority in the same department, division, program 
or facility marry or file for legal status as domestic partners and where such has the potential 
for creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale, the Authority will 
attempt to transfer one spouse (or domestic partner) to a similar classified position in another 
department, division, program or facility. Although the wishes of the involved parties as to 
which spouse (or domestic partner) will be transferred will be given consideration by the 
Authority, the controlling factor in determining which spouse (or domestic partner) shall be 
transferred shall be the positive operation and efficiency of the Authority.   
 
If any such transfer results in a reduction in salary or compensation, the transfer shall not be 
considered disciplinary in nature and shall not be subject to any form of administrative appeal. 
If continuing employment of two spouses (or domestic partners) cannot be accommodated 
in a manner consistent with the Authority’s interest in promotion of safety, security, morale 
and/or efficiency, the Authority retains sole discretion to separate one spouse from Authority 
employment.  Absent resignation by one affected spouse (or domestic partner), the less 
senior of the involved parties will typically subject to separation and the same shall not 
constitute discipline and shall not be subject to any administrative appeal.  However, if in the 
Authority’s discretion, the retention of the less senior spouse (or domestic partner) would 
better serve the interest of the Authority, the said spouse (or domestic partner) shall be 
retained. 
 

C. To maintain or adopt bona fide health plans which provide additional or greater benefits 
to employees with dependents than to those employees without or with fewer dependents.  
Where such bona fide health plan discriminates against individuals on the basis of marital 
status, benefits shall not be conditioned upon whether an employee is “head of household,” 
“principal wage earner,” “secondary wage earner,” or other similar status. 

 
SECTION 7.   SUBJECT AND METHOD OF EXAMINATIONS    

  
Examinations shall be competitive and may consist of written test, oral test, appraisal interview, 
performance test, evaluations of prior training, experience and education; or any combination 
thereof.  Each examination must be job related and must be designed to test the ability of an 
individual to perform the duties of the job.  The scope and type of examination is to be determined 
by Human Resources.  If a person fails to pass such an examination, he/she may be disqualified 
from consideration for employment.  Each candidate invited to an examination shall be given written 
notice of the examination results.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 44 of 85 
 

 

As the needs of the Authority may require, promotional examinations may be conducted and may 
consist of evaluation of prior service, accomplishments in special training courses, or other tests.  
All candidates for promotion must be employees of the Authority and must possess the minimum 
qualifications as set forth in the specifications of the class to which promotion is sought. 
 
SECTION 8.   CONDUCT OF EXAMINATIONS        
 
Human Resources will determine the manner, methods, applicant pool, and by whom examinations 
will be given. The Authority may contract with any competent agency or individual for the 
performance by such agency or individual for giving or scoring examinations. 
 
SECTION 9.   ELIGIBILITY LISTS         
 
Eligibility lists may be established by Human Resources following a competitive examination process 
and will consist of the names of persons successfully passing a competitive examination process. 
Under circumstances in which an open and continuous recruitment is posted and conducted, Human 
Resources may approve the appointment of a qualified applicant without the establishment of an 
eligibility list. Eligibility lists shall be valid and in effect for a period of up to one year.   
 
An eligibility list may be extended by action of Human Resources for additional six-month periods.   
If less than three (3) names of qualified applicants are available for appointment, Human Resources 
may declare the list invalid.  Names shall be removed from an eligibility list for any of the following 
reasons: 
 
A. If an eligible requests orally or in writing that his/her name be removed. 

B. If an eligible fails to accept an offer of employment from the Authority. 

C. If an eligible on a promotional list resigns from the Authority. 

D. If an eligible, in a medical examiner’s opinion, is unable to perform the essential functions of 
the position even with reasonable accommodation. 

E. If a person on the eligibility list leaves no forwarding address at which he/she can be 
contacted by mail. 

F. If an eligible is found to be unsuitable for the position by the immediate supervisor. 
 
SECTION 10.   TYPES OF APPOINTMENTS        
 
All vacancies in the competitive service, other than temporary vacancies, shall be filled by 
reinstatement, transfer, demotion or from an appropriate eligibility list, if available.  In the absence of 
persons eligible for appointment in the above manner, temporary appointments may be made in 
accordance with these rules and regulations. 
 
A. Appointment. 
 

After interview and investigation, Human Resources shall effect the appointment by notifying 
the selected candidate subject to passing the required examinations listed below, and if the 
applicant accepts the appointment and presents himself/herself for duty within the period of 
time as the immediate supervisor shall prescribe, he/she shall be deemed to be appointed; 
otherwise, he/she shall be deemed to have declined the appointment. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 45 of 85 
 

 

Prior to appointment to a position in the competitive service, a person may be required to 
pass a medical (possibly including drug/alcohol screen), and/or physical examination plus 
fingerprinting and processing through the California Department of Justice in keeping with 
California Code of Regulations section 703(d) to the satisfaction of Human Resources.   

 
B. Emergency Appointments. 
 

To meet the immediate requirements of an emergency condition, a supervisor may in his or 
her discretion retain persons as Authority employees on a temporary basis as may be needed 
for the duration of the emergency which may exceed 60 working days without regard to the 
personnel rules affecting appointments.  Such appointments shall be reported to Human 
Resources within 24 hours and shall require approval of the Executive Director and shall be 
terminated at the discretion of the Authority regardless of cause or reason as determined by 
the Executive Director or his or her designee. 

 
C. Temporary Appointments. 
 

Temporary appointments may be made by Human Resources of persons who possess the 
qualifications for the position. A temporary appointee is typically a person with some 
administrative experience brought in to the Authority to complete a short term project.  Such 
appointments shall not continue for a period in excess of any six (6) months unless approved 
by the Executive Director.  Temporary employees will not be entitled to annual vacation leave 
with pay, or holiday pay as is provided in these rules. Temporary employees will be provided 
with sick leave to the minimum extent required by law.  However, if a temporary appointment 
is converted to a probationary appointment without interruption of service, the period of 
temporary service may be credited towards the completion of the probationary period. Annual 
vacation leave will not accrue for the period of service that the temporary appointee has 
served and received compensation for as provided in these rules.  All temporary assignments 
must be made within budget limitations and shall not be the basis for preferential hiring 
consideration. 

 
D. Provisional (Interim) Appointments. 
 

When the service demands of the Authority are such that a management level position is 
open and it could adversely affect the immediate operations of the Authority not to promptly 
fill it and an immediate open competitive recruitment process is not practical and/or in the 
absence of an eligibility list for such a management level position, the appointing authority 
may make a provisional appointment.  A provisional appointee is typically a person with 
management level expertise and/or has a highly skilled specialty that would require an 
intensive and lengthy recruiting process.  

 
1. Any person appointed in provisional status shall meet the minimum qualifications for 

the position to which he/she is being appointed. 
 
2. No person shall remain in the provisional appointment status for more than 12 

months, except as approved by the Executive Director.  Except in cases of retired 
annuitants, in which the appointment would be limited to 960 hours per fiscal year. 

 
3. A provisional appointee who is subsequently appointed to a regular position shall be 

entitled to credit for the time served in the provision status toward the completion of 
his/her probationary period. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 46 of 85 
 

 

4. A provisional employee shall be entitled to the same salary and benefits as a regular 
employee. 

 
5. Prior to being appointed in a regular status, a provisional appointee shall successfully 

complete the competitive examination/interview process. 
 
6. A provisional appointment shall not be the basis for preferential hiring consideration. 
 

E. Trainee Appointments. 
 

When it becomes necessary for the appointing authority to fill an open classification with a 
less qualified person than required by the classification, and elects to train the person until 
minimum qualifications are met, the appointing authority may fill the classification with a 
trainee. 

 
1. Trainee status may be assigned to any classification. 
 
2. The training period may not exceed 12 months, except that it may be extended 

an additional six (6) months upon approval of the appointing authority. 
 

3. The salary range for the trainee will be the minimum salary range of the classification 
in which the employee is a trainee. 

 
4. During the training period, the trainee will be entitled to the same benefits as a 

probationary employee. 
 
5. Upon successful completion of the training period as determined by the department 

supervisor, the trainee may be promoted to the probationary status and the regular 
salary range for that classification without completing the competitive 
examination/interview process. 

 
6. Trainee appointments are considered transitional assignments to positions in regular 

classifications. A trainee who is subsequently transitioned to a position in a 
regular classification shall be required to serve a probationary period of 6 months after 
such appointment.  

 
7. Failure of a newly hired trainee to meet the qualifications of the classification during 

the training and/or probationary period as determined by the department supervisor 
will be cause for rejection from trainee status/probation. 

 
8. A regular employee who is transferred to trainee status and fails to meet the 

qualifications of the classification during the training and/or probationary period will 
be transferred back to the person’s prior regular classification or to one similar in pay. 

 
F. Lead Appointments. 

 
To recognize personnel within existing classifications who are providing lead services such 
as clinical supervision for paraprofessional and/or licensure hour accrual, but do not 
necessarily meet promotional classification qualifications or wish to be considered for 
promotional consideration, the appointing authority may designate a Lead appointment(s) 
within existing classifications.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 47 of 85 
 

 

1. The appointing authority may designate Lead status within existing classifications and 
add the term “Lead” to the working position title in order to recognize additional 
responsibilities of leading the activities of co-workers. 

 
2. A five percent (5%) differential in pay will be applied to the base rate of pay upon 

designation of Lead status. 
 
3. Lead appointment designation and corresponding 5% pay differential pursuant to 

Subparagraph B above shall be removed at the discretion of the appointing authority 
without notice, cause or right of appeal. 

 
      4.       Lead pay and the employee’s appointment to lead shall take effect at the beginning   

of the first pay period following the employee’s notification of his/her assignment. 
 
G. Additional Duty Appointments.  
 

Assignment to cover a position, which is temporarily vacant due to staff/supervisor being on 
a leave or unable to fulfill the duties of their position for a period not to exceed 6 months or 
based on HR review.  Supervisors/Managers who have direct report vacancies are excluded 
from this provision. 

 
1. The appointing authority may designate additional duty appointment to another staff 

within the same department in order to recognize additional responsibilities 
for covering their duties. 

 
2. The additional duty assignment(s) must take place for a period of four (4) consecutive 

weeks or more. 
 
3. A five percent (5%) differential in pay will be applied to the base rate of pay upon 

designation of this appointment. 
 
4. The five percent (5%) differential in pay will be removed at the completion of 

assignment 
 
5. The five percent (5%) differential in pay and the employee’s appointment to additional 

duties shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the employee’s 
notification and effective date of his/her assignment. 

 
SECTION 11.   REINSTATEMENT         
 
With the approval of Human Resources and Executive Management, an employee who has resigned 
with a good record may be reinstated within six months to his/her former position, if vacant, or to a 
vacant position in the same or comparable class.  Upon reinstatement, all benefits shall be restored 
to the employee at the same level at which they were earned at the time of resignation.  
 
SECTION 12.   AVAILABILITY          
 
For purposes of quality client services, supervisors of clinical areas must reside within a reasonable 
distance of the Authority so as not to interfere with their job responsibilities.  Clinical supervisors 
shall reside within a 90-minute commute to the Authority in heavy traffic.  After hours on-call staff 
shall reside within a 30-minute commute to the Authority in heavy traffic. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 48 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 13.   PROBATIONARY PERIOD        
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management, part-time and at-will positions. 
 
A. Extension of Probationary Period  

(The Personnel Rules and Regulations were updated on November 18, 2015 to change the 
probationary period from 1 year to 6 months)   
All original, promotional and reinstatement appointments shall be tentative and subject to a 
probationary period of 6 months. The probationary period is part of the testing process and 
shall be utilized for closely observing the employee’s work such as conduct, capacity, 
efficiency, skill, responsibility, integrity, and effectiveness to determine whether the employee 
is fully qualified for employment in the classification and position to which the employee has 
been appointed.   
 
A Manager/Director may recommend, and the Executive Director may extend, an employee’s 
probationary period by a maximum of six (6) months past the end of the initial probationary 
period for performance reasons. In order for probation to be extended, there must be a 3-
month signed evaluation on file in the Personnel file and the request for extension must be 
received by HR no later than the 5th month of the probationary period.   
 
An employee’s probationary period will automatically be extended by the length of any 
absence of a week or more. 
 

B. Rejection During Probationary Period.   
 
During the probationary period, an employee may be rejected at any time by the appointing 
power without cause, without notice, and without appeal, grievance, or any rights described 
in Rule IX regarding Discipline. If the service of a probationary employee has been 
satisfactory, then the Manager shall file with Human Resources a performance evaluation 
stating the retention of such employee is desired.   If, after the completion of a probationary 
period, no statement is filed stating that the probationary employee is rejected, or no 
evaluation is timely completed, the employee shall be deemed to have attained regular 
employment status.   

 
C. Use of Leave While on Probation 

 
While on initial probation, new employees may not use vacation leave accruals.  New 
employees, however, may use floating holidays, compensation time off, and sick leave, 
where applicable.  This provision does not apply to employees on promotional probation.  
Employees are entitled to use any applicable leave balances while on promotional probation 
provided that they have completed initial probation. 

 
D. Probationary Period After Promotion.  

 
Promotions to a higher classification will be assigned a new probationary period. Any 
employee receiving a promotion to a higher level within the same classification will maintain 
the same probationary period. A promoted employee does not have a property interest in his 
or her prior position if an employee fails to successfully complete the promotional probation 
period.   
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 49 of 85 
 

 

A promotional probationary employee may be rejected at any time during the promotional 
probationary period with or without cause or reason, without notice or appeal or grievance, 
and without any rights described in Rule IX regarding Discipline.  If the employee fails to 
complete the probationary period in the promotional position satisfactorily, the employee may 
return to the position held prior to promotion at the range and step held prior to promotion, if 
there is a vacancy in the prior position, unless he or she is terminated for cause.   

 
Should the original position no longer be available, the employee may be returned to a similar 
position provided they meet qualifications and a position is available, or they may be released 
without cause, without notice or appeal, and without any rights described in Rule IX regarding 
Discipline.  No new probationary period shall be required upon demotion or reinstatement to 
a lower class following rejection from probation.  
 

E. Employee’s Responsibility.   
 
It is the responsibility of the employee to meet and to strive to exceed the minimum standards 
established for work accomplishment and conduct, to strive to improve work effectiveness, 
and to perform at highest competency levels. 

 
 

RULE V.  COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees with the exception of the Executive Director unless 
otherwise specified. 
 
SECTION 1.   SALARY RANGE          
 
The Human Resources Department or the person or agency employed for that purpose shall 
establish a salary range for each classification in the competitive service showing the minimum and 
maximum salary amounts.  The minimum salary for each classification shall be thirty percent to 
sixty percent (30% - 60%) below the maximum salary.  All salary ranges shall be adopted by the 
Governing Board by resolution.  The Executive Director retains the authority to adjust salary on a 
case-by-case basis  within the range at any time if it is determined that the current salary adversely 
affects recruitment and retention.   All salary ranges must be included on the Fiscal Year pay 
schedule and must also be approved by the Governing Board. 
 
Tri-City will not discriminate in assigning wage rates on the basis of sex, race, or ethnicity, and will 
not pay an employee at a wage rate less than the rate paid to an employee of the opposite sex, or 
of a different race or ethnicity, for performing substantially similar work, taking into consideration skill, 
effort and responsibility, and which is performed under similar working conditions.  This restriction 
does not limit Tri-City’s ability to assign different wage rates to employees based upon factors other 
than sex, race, or ethnicity, including but not limited to, seniority, merit, education, training and 
experience.  
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 50 of 85 
 

 

A. Review and Adjustment of Pay Ranges.   
 

Tri-City has implemented a system that enables regular review of all salary ranges for 
adjustments contingent upon Tri-City’s financial ability to pay.  If Tri-City is in the financial 
position to do so, as determined by the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, all 
salary ranges will be reviewed on an annual basis in comparison to the relevant labor market 
for adjustment.  The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer will notify the Human 
Resources Department of any revisions to the schedule for the annual review of all salary 
ranges, based on each fiscal year budget. 

 
 
SECTION 2.   SALARY APPOINTMENT        
 
Generally, new employees are appointed to the minimum of the salary range for the particular class 
in which the appointment is made.  When in the judgment of Human Resources and with the 
recommendation of the appointing authority the education, training, and/or experience of the 
proposed employee justify a salary amount in excess of the minimum, Human Resources may 
authorize a salary appointment at an amount that does not exceed the mid-point of the salary range. 
Any initial salary appointment to an amount in excess of the mid-point of the salary range shall require 
the written approval of the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer.  Initial employment at a 
salary amount above the minimum may also be authorized by Human Resources when a particularly 
difficult recruiting problem for a class is found to exist. 
 
SECTION 3.   ANNIVERSARY DATE         
 
New employees shall have their initial anniversary date set on their appointment date.  Promoted, 
reclassified, or demoted employees shall have a salary anniversary date established as the date on 
which the employee begins performing the duties of the position as determined by the Authority. 
Salary changes shall be made effective on the first day of the closest pay period.   
 
There shall be no loss in seniority for vacation, departmental selection of assignments or other 
related matters.  After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed 
his/her probationary period they will revert to a July 1st salary anniversary date.     
 
SECTION 4.   SALARY ANNIVERSARY DATE        
 
A. Establishment of Salary Anniversary Date.   
 
 All employees who receive appointments in the competitive service shall be evaluated near 

the end of 12 months of employment for consideration of merit salary increase. This will 
establish the employee’s salary anniversary date. After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or 
demoted employee has completed his/her probationary period and received their 
performance evaluation and related salary adjustment (if any) they will revert to a July 1st 
salary anniversary date.   

 
B. Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date.  
 
 A salary anniversary date will revert to a July 1st salary anniversary date after a new hire, 

promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed his/her probationary period.  
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 51 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 5.   SALARY INCREASES         
 
Annual salary increases are contingent upon Tri-City’s ability to pay, as determined by the 
Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Salary increases within a salary range shall be granted to an employee based on merit in conjunction 
with an evaluation of his/her work performance. A merit salary increase must be recommended by 
the first line supervision and approved by the department head and the Human Resources 
Department.  The amount of a merit salary increase, if any, will be based on the employee’s 
achievement as recorded in a performance evaluation report based on the following guidelines, 
however, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operations Officer, the 
Executive Director retains the authority to adjust salary on a case-by-case basis at any time if it is 
determined that current salary adversely affects recruitment and retention.  At no time can an 
employee be paid over their assigned pay grade range.  
 
After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed his/her probationary 
period and received their performance evaluation and related salary adjustment (if any) they will 
revert to a July 1st performance evaluation date for their next evaluation.  This could mean that the 
employee is given a performance evaluation before completing their second full year of service to 
put them on a July 1st evaluation schedule.  Any related adjustment to salary will be calculated on a 
pro-rata basis.  If the employee’s July 1st evaluation is six months after the initial performance 
evaluation and salary adjustment, the recommended percentage increase is multiplied by 6/12 (or 
50% which is equal to six [6] months divided by 12 months) to get a pro-rated percentage increase.  
All salary increases will be effective the first day of the pay period following the anniversary date. 
 
A. Guidelines.   
 

Tri-City places high value on caring, helpful service to clients and the public, development of 
creative workable solutions to problems, timely submission of activity logs, productivity based 
upon direct client service, compliance with client service documentation standards, 
dedication and hard work, self-improvement, cooperation with co-workers, enhancement of 
the Authority’s positive image, the accomplishment of goals and objectives established by 
the employee’s supervisor, and program cost effectiveness.   
 
The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer will consider each fiscal years merit 
increase percentages based on Tri-City’s ability to pay based on that fiscal year’s budget.  
The Chief Financial Officer will notify the Human Resources Department of the approval fiscal 
year merit increase percentage.  The Human Resources Department will be responsible to 
inform all staff prior to the July 1 merit increase anniversary date.   The Executive Director 
and Chief Financial Officer also retain the authority to revise the merit rating schedule, such 
as eliminating all ratings except for Meets Expectations. 

 
1. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Meets Expectations” may 

be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

 
2. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Acceptable in most areas, 

improvement needed in some” may be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, 
subject to the supervisors recommendation and management approval; however, the 
evaluating supervisor may delay implementation of the salary increase pending the 
results of a special performance evaluation focusing on the areas in which 
improvement is needed. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 52 of 85 
 

 

3. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Exceeds Expectations” 
may be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

  
4. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Exceptional/Exceed all 

Expectations” may be eligible to receive a merit salary, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

 
5. Employees whose overall work performance is rated as “Immediate Improvement 

Needed” shall not be granted a merit salary increase and may be subject to 
disciplinary action and/or placed on a Performance Improvement Plan.   

 
B. Performance Improvement Plan (PIP).   
 
 An employee who does not receive at least a “Meets Expectations” annual evaluation, may 

be placed on a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP). This Plan is completed by the 
employee’s supervisor and should outline goals and expectations in order to assist the 
employee in improving his/her job performance. This plan must be approved by the 
Department Director (e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Operations Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, Medical 
Director) and the Human Resources Department. 

 
SECTION 6.   SALARY INCREASE PROCEDURE       
 
The following provisions shall govern the salary increase procedures for all employees in the 
competitive service. 
 
A. Notification of Eligibility.   

 
Thirty days prior to each employee’s salary anniversary date and annually thereafter until the 
employee reaches the maximum of the salary range for his/her class, Human Resources 
shall advise the program supervisor in writing of the employee’s pending eligibility for a 
performance evaluation and a merit salary increase.  Please refer to Rule IV, Section 4 
Lateral Transfers.  

 
B. Notification of Authorization to Accounting.   

 
If the supervisor recommends the employee for a merit increase, Human Resources shall 
notify the Accounting Department by Personnel Action Form of the approved merit salary 
increase and such notification shall constitute authorization for the Chief Financial Officer to 
make payment to the employee at the specified higher rate.   
 
Such payment shall commence at or be retroactive to the employee’s salary anniversary 
date, or July 1st of the fiscal year as stated in Rule V, Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary 
Anniversary Date. 

 
C. Postponement of Merit Salary Increase.   
 
 A supervisor may choose not to recommend that an employee receive a salary increase in 

conjunction with the salary anniversary date and postpone consideration pending further 
review of the employee’s performance.   

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 53 of 85 
 

 

 If, during or at the conclusion of the period of postponement, the supervisor recommends that 
the employee receive a merit salary increase, Human Resources shall notify the Chief 
Financial Officer by Personnel Action Form of the approved merit salary increase, and such 
notification shall constitute authorization for the Chief Financial Officer to make payment to 
the employee at the higher rate.  Such payment shall commence at the beginning of the 
nearest pay period closest to which the recommendation is made. 

 
D. Failure to Process Eligibility for Merit Salary Increase.   
 
 Should an employee’s salary anniversary date be overlooked through error, and upon 

discovery of the error the employee is recommended and approved for a merit salary 
increase, the Chief Financial Officer shall honor a request for retroactive payment 
compensating the employee from the employee’s salary anniversary date, or July 1st of the 
fiscal year as stated in Rule V. Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date.   

 
SECTION 7.   SALARY ON PROMOTION        
An employee who is appointed to a position in a class allocated to a higher salary range than the 
class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall receive a salary rate that is at least four 
percent (4%) higher than his/her previous base salary, or to the maximum of the 50th percentile of 
the new salary range. A supervisor can determine the salary increase based on years of service and 
responsibilities. This will allow for Supervisors to adjust the salary in cases where a long term 
employee, who after being promoted, is only at the new minimum salary range. The promotion and 
corresponding pay increase shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the 
employee’s notification of his/her promotion. The effective date of the promotion shall determine the 
employee’s new salary anniversary date, for the six-month promotional probationary period only. 
Thereafter, the salary anniversary date will revert to July 1st of each fiscal year as stated in Rule V. 
Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date. 
 
SECTION 8.   SALARY ON TRANSFER        
 
An employee who is transferred from one position to another in the same class or to another position 
in a class having the same salary range shall be compensated at the same rate in the salary range 
as he/she previously received. The employee’s salary anniversary shall remain the same as it was 
before the transfer.  Please refer to Rule IV, Section 4 Lateral Transfers. 
 
SECTION 9.   SALARY ON REINSTATEMENT        
 
Notwithstanding other provisions of these Rules and Regulations, a person reinstated (within six (6) 
months) in: A) a position allocated to a class in which he/she previously held regular status and from 
which he/she was separated in good standing; or B) a position allocated to a class which is 
comparable as determined by the Authority to a position to which he/she previously held regular 
status and from which he/she was separated in good standing may, with the approval of the 
Executive Director, Chief Fiscal Officer and the program manager in which he/she would be 
reinstated, be appointed to the same rate in salary range for the particular class of position as the 
rate in which he/she occupied at the effective date of his/her resignation.  Upon reinstatement, the 
employee’s anniversary date shall be determined by the effective date of the reinstatement. 
 
SECTION 10.   SALARY ON DEMOTION       

  
The salary of an employee who is demoted to a position in a class allocated to a lower salary class 
than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall be determined as follows: 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 54 of 85 
 

 

A. Involuntary Demotion.   
 
 An employee who is involuntarily demoted to a position in a class allocated to a lower salary 

range than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall have his/her monthly 
salary reduced to the nearest lower monthly salary rate in the salary range for the class to 
which he/she has been demoted.  In lieu of a reduction in salary, the Executive Director may 
approve a “Y” rate for the employee.  A “Y” rate exists when the employee’s salary is frozen 
at the present level until such time as subsequent general salary range increases catch up 
with or exceed the employee’s salary at the “Y” rate.  He shall not be required to serve a 
probationary period in the lower position unless he/she has not completed his/her initial 
probationary period as required in this section.  In such case, he/she will be required to 
complete his/her probationary period in the lower position.  The employee shall retain the 
salary anniversary date he/she had in the higher position. 

 
B. Voluntary Demotion.   
 
 An employee who is demoted at his/her own request to a position in a class allocated to a 

lower salary range than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall have 
his/her monthly salary reduced to the nearest lower monthly salary in the salary range for the 
class to which he/she has been demoted.  In lieu of a reduction in salary, the Executive 
Director may approve a “Y” rate for the employee.   

 
 A “Y” rate exists when the employee’s salary is frozen at the present level until such time a 

subsequent general salary range increases catch up with or exceed the employee’s salary at 
the “Y” rate. He/she shall not be required to serve a probationary period in the lower position 
unless he/she has not completed his/her initial probationary period as required by this 
chapter.  In such case, he/she will be required to complete higher probationary period in the 
lower position.  The employee shall retain the salary anniversary date he/she had in the 
higher position. 

 
SECTION 11.   SALARY ON POSITION RECLASSIFICATION      
 
The salary of an employee in a position that is reclassified shall be determined as follows: 
 
A. Class with Same Salary Range.    

 
If the position is reclassified to a class with the same salary range as the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, the salary rate and the salary 
anniversary date of the employee shall not change.  This provision shall also apply to the 
change of class title, provided there is no change in the basic duties of the position. 

 
B. Class with Higher Salary Range.    

 
If the position is reclassified to a class with a higher salary range as the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, he/she shall be compensated at a 
rate in the new salary range which comes nearest to and/or higher than the rate he/she held 
in the previous salary range.   
 

C. Class with Lower Salary Range.    
 
If the position is reclassified to a class with a lower salary range than the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, his/her salary shall not change 
unless it is greater than the maximum of the lower salary range, in which case, the Executive 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 55 of 85 
 

 

Director shall approve a “Y” rate for the employee.  A ”Y” rate exists when the employee’s 
salary is frozen at the present level until such time as subsequent general salary range 
increases equal or exceed the employee’s salary at the “Y” rate.  The incumbent’s salary 
anniversary date shall not change. 
 

D. Employee Incentive Pay 
 
 If an employee obtains a license,  degree, or certification that requires continuing education 

units (CEUs) and that is determined by the Department Head to be of value to the Authority 
and relative to their job classification, they may be eligible for a one-time 4% salary increase 
subject to Department Head and Human Resources approval. The employee must present 
documentation and the license,  degree, or certification must enhance skills relevant to their 
current position, as determined by the Department Head, for consideration.   

 
E. Step Increases 
 
 If there are multiple pay steps within the same classification and an employee has occupied 

his or her current position for at least 12 months, has increased responsibilities, and has 
maintained a Meets Expectations on all Performance Evaluations while in his or her current 
position, the Department Head may grant a one-step pay increase without posting an 
opening, as a natural career progression.  

  
Upon moving to the higher step, the employee receives a 4% increase above their base 
salary at the time of the increase along with the title number change. If the employee has 
obtained a license, degree, or certification which qualified them for the step increase, the 
employee is only eligible for the 4% salary increase for meeting the requirements of that step. 
The step increase shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the 
employee’s notification of his/her increase. 

 
SECTION 12.   OVERTIME            
 
It is the policy of the Authority to avoid overtime work whenever possible.  In cases of emergency, 
however, or whenever public interest or necessity requires, any employee may be directed by proper 
authority, and is expected to perform, overtime work. 
 
A. Definition of Overtime.   

 
Overtime is hours worked by non-exempt employees in excess of 40 hours in a seven (7) 
day work week.  “Hours worked” shall mean hours actually worked and does not include paid 
leave (i.e., vacation, sick leave, compensatory time, etc.).  No overtime shall be recorded or 
reported for less than 40 hours worked over a seven (7) day work week. 

 
B. Prior Authorization.   

 
Overtime must be authorized in writing in advance by the Authority.  All overtime requests 
must have the prior written authorization of a supervisor prior to the commencement of such 
overtime work.   
 
Where prior written authorization is not feasible, explicit verbal authorization must be 
obtained.  Where verbal authorization is obtained, written authorization must be obtained as 
soon thereafter as practicable.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 56 of 85 
 

 

Dispatched calls beyond the end of duty time are considered as authorized.  Working 
overtime without advance approval is grounds for discipline. Employees are cautioned not to 
spend excessive amount of time at their workstation before or after their normal work period 
or during their meal breaks.  Meal breaks should be taken away from the employee’s 
workstation. This incidental time will not be compensated in any manner whatsoever unless 
prior authorization of a supervisor is obtained. It is the Supervisor’s responsibility to approve 
their assigned staff’s timesheets before submission to Accounting to authorize any overtime 
work performed.   

 
C. Rate.    

 
Employees who have worked overtime hours shall be compensated as follows based on that 
status of their classification under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).  
1. FLSA-Covered Employees. Employees in non-exempt classifications under the FLSA 

shall be compensated at a rate of time and one-half for all overtime hours.  
 
2. Exempt Employees.  Employees in classifications that have been determined to be 

exempt under the FLSA due to their managerial, supervisory or professional status 
as determined by the Executive Director per Department of Labor guidelines may be 
compensated at a rate of straight time in the form of compensatory time off, as 
described in section D(2) below.  Such compensatory time shall not be accrued 
without prior authorization from the employee’s supervisor.   

 
At the discretion of the Executive Director, Exempt employees may be required to 
work overtime without additional compensation to meet unusual operational needs of 
the Authority.  

 
D. Compensatory Time Off. 
 

1. FLSA-Covered Employees and Executive Management.  Non-Exempt and Executive 
Management employees are not eligible to receive compensatory time.  Executive 
Management employees refer to the Resolution. 

 
2. Exempt Employees.  As stated in sub-section C (2) above, exempt employees who 

do not have a legal entitlement to overtime compensation may be permitted to receive 
compensation for overtime in the form of compensatory time off at the straight time 
rate at the discretion of the Authority.  Exempt employees may be permitted to 
accumulate or “bank” up to 60 hours of compensatory time with pre-approval from 
their supervisor; however exempt employees shall not be eligible to receive pay for 
compensatory time hours on the books during employment.  Rather, exempt 
employees may utilize accumulated compensatory time hours only in the form of time 
off in accordance with established vacation utilization procedures. Accrued 
compensatory time off, if available, shall be used first before using vacation leave 
balances.  Exempt employees shall be entitled to carry over unused accumulated 
compensatory time hours from one fiscal year to the next.  If an employee leaves 
Authority employment before exhausting compensatory leave balances, the 
remaining compensatory leave balance will be paid off in the separating employee’s 
final paycheck. 
 

3. Approval of Use. Use of compensatory time must be pre-approved by the employee’s 
Supervisor/Manager/Department Director prior to commencing use for all employees.  
Compensatory time shall not be used for injury or illness-related absences in lieu of 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 57 of 85 
 

 

sick leave when sick leave is available unless otherwise required by state or federal 
law. 

 
SECTION 13.   EXCEPTIONAL PERFORMANCE AWARDS            
 
Consistently exceptional performance may be recognized in the form of an Exceptional Performance 
Award. The provision of such an award shall be a discretionary action requiring review and approval 
of the Executive Director.  An Exceptional Performance Award may be made on a one-time, lump 
sum basis during any fiscal year and is dependent upon the availability of funds as determined by 
the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. An Exceptional Performance Award may be 
granted to an employee in addition to a merit salary increase. The Authority’s ability to provide 
Exceptional Performance Awards is contingent upon the availability of funding guaranteed through 
employee productivity. 
 
A. Annual Initiation of Program.   

 
On a fiscal year basis, the Chief Financial Officer, with the approval of the Executive Director, 
shall determine whether sufficient funding has been received within the Authority to initiate 
the Exceptional Performance Award program for that particular fiscal year.  If a determination 
is made that funds are available, the Executive Director shall issue a memorandum to 
supervisory staff advising of such and the time period during which recommendations for 
Exceptional Performance Awards will be considered. 

 
B. Amount of Award.  

 
An employee may receive a one-time, lump sum Exceptional Performance Award of up to 
eight percent (8%) of his/her annual regular earnings from Tri-City during the previous fiscal 
year. 

 
C. Eligibility.   

 
To be eligible for an Exceptional Performance Award an employee shall have completed the 
probationary period with at least 12 months of full-time service with the Authority.  However, 
under rare special circumstances, the Executive Director may authorize an Exceptional 
Performance Award for an employee who has not yet completed the probationary period and 
12 months of employment with the Authority.   
 
An employee who has informed the Authority of his/her intent to resign or retire from 
employment with Tri-City shall not be eligible to receive an Exceptional Performance Award.  
To be eligible, an employee must consistently exceed performance level standards. 

 
D. Justification.   

 
An Exceptional Performance Award may be granted to recognize an employee’s excellent 
job performance which has produced increased productivity or efficiency, has been above 
and beyond the call of duty and/or is consistently maintained at an outstanding level.   
 
To receive an Exceptional Performance Award, an employee must be recommended as a 
recipient in a memorandum written to the Executive Director by the employee’s supervisor or 
department head.  The justification memorandum to the Executive Director shall describe in 
detail the employee’s accomplishments in one or more of the following categories: 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 58 of 85 
 

 

1. Submittal of ideas and/or taking action that has resulted in increased productivity 
and/or efficiency. 

2. Outstanding actions that have brought credit to the Authority, or improved its services 
and/or image. 

 
3. An option or actions performed that would not normally be expected of the employee’s 

classification and performance of them in an outstanding manner; 
 

4. Within the employee’s area of responsibility, there is a consistent, high level of 
productivity and/or efficiency with repeated successful implementation of outstanding 
work products; 

 
5. Extraordinary effort, diligence, courage, patience, empathy or creativity;  
 
6. Commitment of the employee’s own time to the benefit of the Authority. 

 
E. Executive Director Approval.    

 
The provision of an Exceptional Performance Award requires the written approval of the 
Executive Director.  Such approval may be granted to eligible employees only in instances in 
which funds are available and justification is provided based on a written recommendation in 
the form of a memorandum to the Executive Director that complies with the requirements set 
forth in sub-section D in this Section. 
 

SECTION 14.   BILINGUAL INCENTIVE PAY        
 
The Authority will provide bilingual incentive pay to qualified employees who have the ability to 
fluently converse in one of the following languages:  Spanish, Cambodian, Vietnamese, Cantonese, 
Korean, Mandarin, any of the Asian languages, and uses the language in his/her work in accordance 
with operational guidelines in effect established by the Executive Director and Director of Clinical 
Program Services.  Bilingual incentive pay shall be in the amount of $0.50 per hour totaling in $1,040 
per year.  Department Directors reserve the right to repeal bilingual incentive pay at any time 
depending on the need of the Department and/or position.  The Authority reserves the right to 
establish standards and procedures to determine if an affected employee is qualified to receive such 
compensation.  The Authority additionally reserves the right to review and expand the category of 
accepted languages that would qualify for bilingual pay.  Bilingual incentive pay will take effect at the 
beginning of the pay period following all completed qualifications and approvals. 
 
SECTION 15.  EMPLOYEE REFERRAL FEE PROGRAM 
 
The Authority is always looking for qualified employees and appreciates recommendations made by 
existing employees. If a current staff member recommends someone who is hired on a full-time, 
permanent basis, they will receive a referral fee totaling up to $400. The Authority may from time to 
time, however, pay a higher referral fee for particular positions as approved by the Executive 
Director.  The first $200 will be paid when the referral commits to the offer and actually starts working 
for the Authority. The newly hired employee must fill out a form stating who referred them on their 
first day of employment. The second $200 will be paid when that referral completes probation.  This 
amount may be changed from time to time depending on existing market conditions.  
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 59 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 16.  ON CALL PAY 
 
Certain staff members are required to be available after-hours on a rotating basis. These staff 
members receive an annual on-call pay. In addition, if staff is called to come into the office, they will 
be paid for hours actually worked, including travel time to and from their home.  Department Directors 
reserve the right to repeal On-Call pay at any time depending on the need of the Department and/or 
position.   (Refer to On-Call Pay Policy & Procedure for further details.) 
 
SECTION 17.   INSURANCE BENEFITS         
 
The Authority will make available group insurance benefits to full-time employees in accordance 
with resolutions adopted by the Governing Board and as required by law.  The Authority pays a 
percentage of the premiums with the employee paying the remaining percentage. Employees may 
opt for coverage through a health insurance exchange. Employees who decline medical insurance 
plan coverage shall receive an Health Incentive Plan in lieu payment of $150 per month over 24 pay 
periods. All declining employees must provide proof of alternative insurance coverage to be eligible 
for this payment.   
 
An open enrollment period will occur each year prior to the effective date of each policy.  Only during 
this time may the employee change insurance plans.  An exception occurs if the employee claims a 
qualifying event affecting his/her family, then enrollment will be the first of the next month.   
Tri-City provides term life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment policies, including 
short-term and long-term disability insurance.  Additional voluntary (employee-paid) group rate 
supplemental plans are available through American Fidelity. American Fidelity also provides a 
Medical Expense and Dependent Care Flexible Spending Account, an IRS Code Section 125 benefit 
plan.  Benefits for new hires receiving coverage and their dependents, are effective the first day of 
the calendar month following the employee’s hire month.   
 
Pursuant to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), the Authority shall not retaliate 
against any employee who receives health insurance premium tax credits or a subsidy in the health 
insurance exchange; reports potential violations of protections afforded under Title I of the ACA; 
testifies, assists or participates in a proceeding concerning such violation; or objects to, or refuses 
to participate in, any activity, policy, practice, or assigned task that the employee reasonably believes 
to be a violation of any provision of Title I of the ACA. 
 
SECTION 18.   MEDICARE          
 
All employees hired after April 1, 1986, will have 1.45 percent of their base salary deducted from 
their paycheck to be paid to Medicare.  The Authority will match the 1.45 percent, as mandated by 
law. 
 
SECTION 19.   PAY PERIOD          
 
The compensation due to all employees of the Authority shall be on a bi-weekly basis. 
 
SECTION 20.   PAY DAYS          
 
The payment of compensation, as well as paystubs, shall be made available by the Authority to 
employees on the pay date, the Friday following the completion of each bi-weekly pay period.  In the 
event that a pay date falls on a holiday, payment of compensation (as well as pay stubs) shall be 
made available to the Authority employee on the first work day preceding the holiday. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 60 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 21. TIME ENTRY 
 
Time entry into Workforce Now (the System) is to be completed and approved by the employee and 
the employee’s time and attendance supervisor no later than 11 am on the Monday following the 
completion of each bi-weekly pay period (Approval Deadline). 
 
The employee’s approval of their timecard indicates their attestation to the accuracy and 
completeness of their recorded hours.  The time and attendance supervisors’ approval of employees’ 
timecards indicates their attestation to the accuracy and completeness of the employees’ recorded 
hours. 
 
Exempt and non-exempt employees shall be compensated based on the approved hours as 
recorded within the System.  Modification of hours subsequent to the approval deadline (as noted 
above) will have to be documented and approved by the employee requesting the change and their 
time and attendance supervisor. These modifications will be applied to the subsequent pay period. 
 
SECTION 22. LICENSURE / CERTIFICATION INCENTIVE PAY 
 
For full-time staff who are preparing to get licensed or certified, Tri-City will pay up to $250 per 
calendar year for the cost of the class or workshop that is related directly to getting the license or 
certification.  The license and certification must require continuing education units (CEUs) and be 
approved by the Department Head as having value to the Authority and relative to the employee’s 
job classification, fees associated with registering/sitting for the exam are not covered.   
 
Employees in the Psychiatrist classification refer to the Psychiatrist Resolution. 
 
SECTION 23.   LICENSE / REGISTRATION RENEWAL PAY 
 
Tri-City will pay for the licensure and registration renewal fees for full-time staff whose duties 
require a license. 
 
Employees in the Psychiatrist classification refer to the Psychiatrist Resolution. 
 
 

RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS 
 
SECTION 1.   VACATION          
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management.  Executive Management vacation leave benefits are covered under the 
Executive Management Resolution. 
 
A. Basis of Accrual.   
 
 Every full-time regular employee shall be entitled to a paid vacation leave following 6 months 

of full-time, continuous service with the Authority. Accrual shall take place on a  bi-weekly 
basis as defined below: 

 
Longevity  Accrual  Longevity  Accrual 
0-2 Years  80 Hours  5-9 Years  128 Hours 
3-4 Years  104 Hours  10+ Years  168 Hours 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 61 of 85 
 

 

 
Vacation accrual shall be prorated for employees who begin or terminate their employment 
in the middle of the pay period.  For purposes of this section, continuous service shall include 
time in which an employee is on authorized leave of absence with pay. Vacation leave will 
not accrue during leaves of absence without pay unless required by law. 

 
B. Vacation Accrual.   

 
All full-time employees shall be entitled to accrue vacation up to a maximum of 240 hours. 
No additional vacation hours can be accumulated until balance is below 240 hours.  
Supervisors shall encourage the taking of accrued vacation leave within the calendar year 
earned.  

 
C. Effects of Holiday on Vacation Leave.   

 
In the event one or more authorized Authority holidays fall within a vacation leave, such 
holiday shall not be charged as vacation leave. 

 
D. Effects of Sick Leave on Vacation Leave.   
 
 In the event an employee becomes ill during his/her vacation period, such time shall not be 

charged as vacation leave, upon approval of the supervisor or Human Resources 
Department, if the following conditions are met: 

 
1. Notice is given immediately to the employee’s supervisor or the Human Resources 

Department.  Sick leave will only be granted for those days on which notice is given 
or which follow notice to the Authority; and 

 
2. Upon request, the employee submits a doctor’s certificate for the period of sick leave.  

A doctor’s note will not be required except as described in the Sick Leave policy 
contained in these Personnel Rules and Regulations.  

 
E. Scheduling Vacations.    
 
 An employee may request his/her annual vacation leave at any time during the year, 

contingent upon determination by his/her supervisor that such absence will not adversely 
affect the department.  

 Each employee must consider the needs of the service when requesting annual vacation 
leave. An employee shall request vacation time off through the ADP timesheet process. 

 
F. Vacation Accrual Cash Out.    
 
 An employee may request a “Vacation Cash Out” of a maximum of eighty (80) accrued 

vacation hours during any fiscal year. Eligibility Criteria for a vacation accrual cash out are 
as follows: 

 
1. The employee must be regular, full-time employee, who has completed his or her 

initial probationary period, if applicable.  
 

2. A vacation accrual balance of 40 hours will remain following the completion of the 
cash-out request.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 62 of 85 
 

 

 Employees who meet the Eligibility Criteria for a Vacation Cash Out should complete and 
submit a Vacation Accrual Cash-Out Request Form available on Summit.  Human Resources 
and Finance will review the request for approval or denial.  Only full hour increments of 
accrued vacation leave may be requested.   Vacation Accrual Cash-Outs will be paid out at 
the base rate of pay plus bilingual incentive pay, if applicable.  Approval of an employee’s 
Vacation Cash Out request will be limited to time periods during which an adequate cash flow 
is available to Tri-City to accommodate potential requests by multiple employees as 
determined by the Chief Financial Officer.   

 
 Employees are not permitted to cash out more than 80 hours of vacation accruals during any 

one fiscal year (July 1-June 30).  
 
G. Payment Upon Separation.    

 
An employee separated from Authority service shall receive full compensation for 
accumulated vacation hours on the books at the employee’s then current salary rate. 

 
SECTION 2.   SICK LEAVE   
 
This section applies to all full-time and part-time employees employed by the Authority with 
the exception of Executive Management. Executive Management sick leave benefits are covered 
under the Executive Management Resolution.         
 
A. Accrual of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees.   
 
 Every full-time probationary, regular, and provisional (interim) employee shall accrue sick 

leave at the rate of 88 hours per year.  Sick leave shall accrue on a  bi-weekly  basis, 
beginning on the first day of employment and shall be prorated when an employee begins or 
terminates his/her employment in the middle of a month.  Sick leave is not a leave which an 
employee may use at his/her discretion, but shall be allowed only as provided in this Section 
or as indicated by federal or state law. 

 
B. Accrual of and Eligibility for Sick Leave for Part-Time and Temporary Employees. 

 
Effective January 1, 2024, any existing part-time or temporary employees not otherwise 
provided paid sick leave shall be granted 40 hours of sick leave for use during the calendar 
year.  Every year thereafter, on the first pay period in January, each covered employee shall 
receive an annual grant of 40 hours of sick leave for use during that calendar year.  New 
hires shall receive an annual grant of 40 hours of sick leave upon the 90th day of employment 
at which time they are also eligible to use said sick leave. 
 
This sick leave entitlement shall be reflected on the covered employee’s regular pay stub.  
This annual grant does not rollover to the next calendar year and is not paid out upon 
separation from employment, promotion, or reclassification into a full-time classification. An 
employee who is promoted or reclassified from a part-time or temporary classification into a 
regular, full-time classification, will cease to be eligible for the annual front load grant of 40 
hours of sick leave under this section and will assume the accrual of sick leave for full-time 
employees as outlined in the Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations, Rule VI, Section 
2.A.  Any remaining hours not used prior to the promotion or reclassification from the annual 
front load grant of 40 hours will be forfeited. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 63 of 85 
 

 

Unused sick leave will be restored if a part-time or temporary employee separates from Tri-
City but returns to work for Tri-City, in any position, within 12 months. Tri-City will comply with 
California law regarding sick leave for part-time employees in accordance with Labor Code 
section 245.5, 246, and 246.5. 
 

C. Accumulation of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees.   
 

Sick leave may be accumulated indefinitely without limitation during the employee’s full-time 
employment with the Authority. 

D. Use of Sick Leave.   
 
 Employees may use sick leave for the following reasons:   
  

1. For the employee’s own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition 
or preventative care. 
 

2. For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative 
care for an employee’s immediate family member (child of any age or dependency 
status, spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, 
grandchild, or sibling). 

3. For an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to: 
i) obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary restraining order or other court assistance 
to help ensure the health safety or welfare of the employee or his or her child; ii) obtain 
medical attention or psychological counseling services from a shelter, program or 
crisis center; or iii) participate in safety planning or other actions to increase safety. 

 
 A full-time employee’s use of one half of his or her annual accrued sick leave in a calendar 

year for the uses provided in this Section will be considered “Protected Sick Leave” in 
accordance with California Labor Code section 233. 

 
E. Notification and Proof of Illness.    
  
 In order to be paid for time while absent from duty on sick leave, if the need for sick leave is 

foreseeable, the employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor prior to the time set for 
the beginning of his/her regular duties.  If the need for sick leave is unforeseeable, the 
employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor of the need for leave as soon as 
practicable.   

 
 The Authority may require a full-time employee (or a part-time employee accruing sick leave) 

to provide a physician’s certification to support any absence that involves the illness of the 
employee or family member if the Authority suspects that there is an abuse of sick leave by 
the employee.  The Authority may also require such certification regarding sick leave use at 
any time to the extent permitted by law.  

 
 All employees who use paid leave to address issues related to domestic violence, sexual 

assault or stalking, and who cannot provide advance notice of their need for leave, must 
provide certification of the need for leave within a reasonable time thereafter.   

 
F. Payment Upon Separation.     
 
 Upon separation of employment from the Authority, a terminating full-time employee shall 

receive payment for accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of 240 hours. In addition, an 
Employee who is separating from employment for the purpose of retirement under the 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 64 of 85 
 

 

California Public Employee’s Retirement System (CalPERS) may request that accrued and 
unused sick leave be converted to CalPERS service credit in accordance with applicable 
state laws and regulations. If the employee is re-employed by the Authority within 12 months 
of separating, the employee shall be credited with prior accrued, unused sick time that has 
not been cashed out.  Payment upon separation is made upon the next regularly scheduled 
Authority pay date. 

 
 
SECTION 3.   HOLIDAYS          
 
A. Authorized Holidays.   
 
 Every full-time employee shall be entitled to the following paid holidays, and/or other days 

designated by action of the Governing Board. 
 

1. New Year’s Day (January 1st)  
2. Martin Luther King Day (3rd Monday in January)  
3. President’s Day (3rd Monday in February)  
4. Memorial Day (4th Monday in May) 
5. Juneteenth (June 19th)  
6. Independence Day (July 4th) 
7. Labor Day (1st Monday in September) 
8. Thanksgiving Day  
9. Day after Thanksgiving 
10. Christmas Eve 
11. Christmas Day 
  
Two (2) Floating Holidays (16 hours per calendar year; prorated for new hires) 

 
The Executive Director is empowered to determine whether the Authority shall observe 
special days of declaration by the President or Governor as a day of public fast, thanksgiving, 
mourning, or holiday, as well as determine if any other day shall be a holiday. 

 
B. Use of Floating Holidays.    
 
 A floating holiday shall be scheduled in the same manner as vacations.  The employee will 

request the Floating Holiday through the ADP timesheet process.  Approval of the requested 
day off shall be contingent upon determination that the employee’s absence will not adversely 
affect the operations of the department.  A floating holiday not used during a calendar year 
will be cashed out on the last pay period of the calendar year.  Upon separation of 
employment, any remaining floating holidays will be cashed out. 

 
C. Weekends.    
 
 If a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday; or if the 

holiday falls on a Saturday, the Friday preceding will be observed as the holiday. Additionally, 
if the holiday falls on the employee’s flex day, the employee shall take off another working 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 65 of 85 
 

 

day immediately preceding or following the holiday, with the supervisor’s approval, preferably 
within the same week but may be within the same pay period. 

 
D. Flextime and Holidays. 

  
If an employee’s regular day off (”RDO”) falls on a scheduled paid holiday, the employee may 
take off the workday immediately preceding or immediately following the holiday as their RDO 
instead.   

 
E. During Unpaid Leaves.   
 
 Holiday pay will not be provided during a period in which an employee is on unpaid leave or 

other absence in which regular compensation is not provided. 
 
F. New Hires.     
 
 A new employee whose first working day is the day after a holiday shall not be paid for that 

holiday.   
 
SECTION 4.   COMPENSATORY TIME OFF        
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management.  Executive Management vacation leave benefits are covered under the 
Executive Management Resolution. 
 
Refer to Rule V. Section 12 (D) of these rules and regulations for policies governing the use of 
compensatory time.  An employee who has requested the use of accumulated compensatory time 
shall be permitted to use such time within a reasonable period unless such scheduling will unduly 
disrupt the operations of the Authority.  Upon separation of employment, any remaining 
compensatory time off will be cashed out. 
 
SECTION 5.   PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE 
    
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
The Authority will allow leave in accordance with the California Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(FEHA), if you are disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions.  (Refer to Family 
Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave Policy II.09). 
 
SECTION 6.   FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE / FAMILY RIGHTS ACT  
   
This section applies to all eligible employees employed by the Authority. 
 
The Authority will allow family medical leave for eligible employees in compliance with the federal 
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”).  California law 
shall prevail unless preempted by federal law.  (Refer to Family Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability 
Leave Policy II.09). 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 66 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 7.   BABY BONDING LEAVE  
   
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
New-child bonding is part of CFRA and allows eligible employees to take up to 12 weeks of leave to 
bond with or care for a newborn child, a newly adopted child or a child newly placed in foster care. 
There is no requirement that either the employee or child have a serious health condition, nor must 
the employee be disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition before taking CFRA 
leave for reason of birth of the child. (Refer to Family Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave 
Policy II.09). 
 
 
SECTION 8.   MILITARY LEAVE  
        
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
Military leave will be granted in accordance with state and federal law.  An employee requesting 
leave for this purpose shall promptly provide the Department Director with a copy of the military 
orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or mission.  Within the limits of such 
orders, the Department Director may determine when the leave is to be taken and may modify the 
employee’s work schedule to accommodate the request for leave.  
 
The Department Director shall advise Human Resources of such military orders immediately.  Sick 
leave and annual vacation leave will accrue to the employee during the period he/she is on military 
leave in accordance with the Military and Veterans Code of the State.  (Refer to Family Medical 
Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave Policy II.09). 
 
This provision shall not be construed to grant any other benefits, other than those provided by state 
and federal law, to employees who voluntarily join the armed services or who are called to full-time 
active duty in the armed services. 
 
SECTION 9.  LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY       
 
A. General Policy.    
 
 This policy shall not apply to any leave of absence required by law.  
  
 An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for up to 30 days upon the 

recommendation of his/her supervisor and approval of the Executive Director.  A leave of 
absence in excess of thirty days may only be granted by the Department Director and Human 
Resources for any of the following reasons: 

 
1. To take a course of study which will increase the employee’s usefulness on return to 

his/her position in the Authority service; 
 
2. For personal reasons approved by the Executive Director and Department Director. 

Use of a leave of absence for a purpose other than that requested may be cause for 
forfeiture of reinstatement rights.  No leave of absence without pay shall be utilized to 
permit an employee to seek other employment or to permit an employee to engage 
in non-Authority employment where the employment is an internship.  

 
B. Authorization Procedure.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 67 of 85 
 

 

 Requests for leave of absence without pay shall be made upon the Request for Time Off 
Form and submitted to the Department Director for approval and shall state specifically the 
reason for the request, the date when it is desired to begin the leave and the probable date 
of return.  The request shall be transmitted to the Executive Director for final approval.  The 
action of the Executive Director shall be final.  A copy of any approved request for leave of 
absence without pay shall be delivered promptly to Human Resources, Accounting, the 
Department Director and the employee. 

  
 
 
 
 
C. Length of Leave and Extension.   
 
 A leave of absence without pay may be made for a period not to exceed one (1) year provided 

that the Executive Director and Department Head may extend such leave for an additional 
period not to exceed one (1) year.  Procedure in granting such extensions shall be the same 
as granting the original leave provided that the request for extension is made no later than 
30 calendar days prior to the expiration of the original leave. 

 
D. Return From Leave.   

 
When an employee intends to return from an authorized leave of absence without pay either 
before or upon the expiration of such leave, he/she shall contact his/her supervisor at least 
14 calendar days prior to the day he/she plans to return.  
The supervisor shall promptly notify the Department Director and Executive Director of the 
employee’s intention.  Failure on the part of the employee to report for work promptly at the 
date of leave expiration, or within a reasonable time after notice to return to duty, shall 
constitute a separation from service.  Paid leaves, i.e., vacation, sick leave and holidays, and 
other similar benefits shall not accrue to an employee granted such leave during the period 
of absence. An employee on leave of absence does not have any of the privileges granted 
regular full-time employees, except as otherwise required by law.  Unless required by law, 
the Authority will not maintain contributions toward group insurance or retirement coverage 
for the employee on such leave.    

 
SECTION 10.      BEREAVEMENT LEAVE  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
Any accrued vacation, sick, compensation time or floating holiday pay can be used for Bereavement, 
but must be approved by the Supervisor.  As employees are required to use their own time for 
Bereavement leave, employees shall request the time off through his or her Supervisor through the 
normal request for time off practice.   
 
SECTION 11.  WORKERS’ COMPENSATION  
       
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
All injuries sustained in the course of employment shall be reported as soon as practicable to the 
supervisor, who shall in turn immediately report the same to Human Resources or the Chief 
Operations Officer.   In the event the employee is physically incapacitated in such a manner as to 
prevent submission of a report, the supervisor shall complete and forward the required form to 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 68 of 85 
 

 

Human Resources within 24 hours following the injury.  Medical care and payments for temporary 
and permanent disabilities incurred in the course of employment shall be paid as prescribed by State 
law.  Any regular employee shall continue to earn eligibility for consideration for merit salary 
increases during an absence resulting from an on-the-job injury providing he/she receives 
compensation payments under the provisions of the California Workers’ Compensation Law.  A 
probationary employee shall be entitled to the same benefits as a regular employee. 
 
During the time the employee is in fully paid status while absent from work by reason of injury or 
illness covered by Workers’ Compensation, he or she shall continue to accrue sick leave and 
vacation benefits as though he or she were not on leave of absence. 
 
 
SECTION 12.   EMPLOYEE TIME OFF FOR VOTING  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
      
California Elections Code Section 14001 requires agencies to post a notice to employees advising 
them of provisions for taking paid leave for the purpose of voting in statewide elections.  The notice 
must be posted ten (10) days before a state wide election.  In general, a statewide election is defined 
as one in which all voters in the state have an opportunity to vote on at least one common race or 
issue.  Employees are eligible for up to two (2) hours of paid time off for the purpose of voting only if 
they do not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote.  The intent of the law is to provide 
an opportunity to vote to workers who would not be able to do so because of their jobs.  Voting hours 
are from 7:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.  Employees can be given as much time as they need in order to vote, 
but only a maximum of two hours is paid.  Employees must give notice to their supervisors at least 
two (2) working days prior to the statewide election that they will need additional time off for voting.  
Employees will be required to take the time off only at the beginning or end of the employee’s shift. 
 
SECTION 13.   FAMILY SCHOOL PARTNERSHIP ACT/PARENTAL LEAVE    
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
An employee who is a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, grandparent, or person who 
stands in loco parentis to of one or more children in kindergarten or grades 1 to 12, inclusive, or 
attending a licensed child care facility, can take off up to 40 hours each year, not exceeding eight (8) 
hours in any calendar month of the year, to participate in activities of their child’s school or licensed 
child care facility; find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider; or 
to pick up a child due to a child care provider or school emergency.  The employee, prior to taking 
the time off, must give reasonable notice to Tri-City of the planned absence. The employee shall 
utilize existing vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for purposes of the planned 
absence authorized by this section.   
 
An employee may also utilize time off without pay for this purpose if approved by his/her supervisor.  
The supervisor may request the employee provide documentation from the school or licensed child 
care facility as proof that he or she participated in school or licensed child care facility activities on a 
specific date and at a particular time.  If both parents, guardians or grandparents having custody 
work for the Authority at the same work site, only the first parent requesting will be entitled to leave 
under this provision.  At the discretion of the Department Director(s), the Authority will allow both 
parents to take leave under this provision.   
 
SECTION 14.   JURY DUTY          
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 69 of 85 
 

 

It shall be the general rule to excuse employees of the Authority from regular responsibilities of their 
positions when called for jury duty for a period not exceeding 15 working days.  No employee shall 
be disciplined or separated as a result of jury duty service.  An employee who is summoned to serve 
on a jury must notify his or her supervisor or program manager as soon as possible after receiving 
notice of both possible and actual jury service in order to receive time off for the period of actual 
service required on such jury.  The time spent off the job by the full-time, regular employee while 
actually serving on jury duty under the supervision of the court shall be compensated on a straight 
time basis, limited to the employee’s normal workday schedule. The time spent on jury duty is not 
work time for purposes of calculating overtime compensation.  
 
 
 
An employee excused from jury duty prior to the completion of his/her normal workday must return 
to work. All per diem reimbursement paid the employee by the court shall be endorsed to the 
Authority.  It shall be the duty of the employee requesting compensation under this provision to 
present court verification of time and dates of such employee’s jury duty.  Failure to provide court 
verification of jury duty attendance for each day and any reimbursement of the court per diem to the 
Authority shall be cause for the Authority not to compensate the employee for jury duty. 
 
SECTION 15.    WITNESS LEAVE   
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
        
A. Subpoena.     
 
 An employee who is subpoenaed to appear in court in a matter regarding an event or 

transaction in the course of his or her Tri-City job duties will do so without loss of 
compensation. The time spent will be considered work time. The Authority will offset the 
amount from pay the employee receives for witness fees.    

 
B. Exception for Employee-Initiated or Non-Authority Related Lawsuits.    
 
 An employee who is subpoenaed to appear or who appears in court in a matter unrelated to 

his or her Authority job duties or because of civil or administrative proceedings that he or she 
initiated does not receive compensation for time spent related to those proceedings. An 
employee may request to receive time off without pay, or may use accrued vacation for time 
spent related to those proceedings. The time spent in these proceedings is not considered 
work time.  

 
SECTION 16. TIME OFF FOR VICTIMS OF VIOLENT CRIMES, STALKING OR DOMESTIC 

VIOLENCE  
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
A. Any employee who is a victim of a crime that is a serious or violent felony, or a felony involving 

theft or embezzlement, may take leave from work to attend judicial proceedings related to 
that crime, if the employee provides the Authority a copy of the notice of the scheduled 
proceeding in advance.  If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide the 
Authority, within a reasonable time after the leave is taken, documentation from the District 
Attorney, victim’s rights office, or court / governing agency that shows that the judicial 
proceeding occurred when the leave was used.  An employee who is an immediate family 
member of such a crime victim, including: a registered domestic partner; the child of the 
registered domestic partner; spouse; child; stepchild; brother; stepbrother; sister; stepsister; 
mother; stepmother; father; or stepfather of the crime victim is also entitled to leave from work 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 70 of 85 
 

 

to attend judicial proceedings relating to that crime.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee 
elects to use accrued vacation, sick, or other paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

B. Any employee who is a victim of a crime listed in Labor Code section 230.5(a)(2)(A), may 
take leave from work to appear in court to be heard at any proceeding in which the right of 
the victim is at issue, if the employee provides the employer reasonable advance notice.  If 
advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide the Authority, within a reasonable 
time after the leave is taken, certification from a police report, a district attorney or court, or 
from a health care provider or victim advocate, that the employee was a victim of any of the 
crimes listed in Labor Code section 230.5(a)(2)(A).   An employee who is a spouse, parent, 
child, sibling, or guardian of such a crime victim is also a victim who is entitled to this leave if 
the above notice or certification requirements are met. The leave is unpaid unless the 
employee elects to use accrued vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

C. Any employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, may take 
leave from work to obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to: a 
temporary restraining order, restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the 
health, safety, or welfare of the employee or his or her child, if the employee provides advance 
notice of the need for leave. If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide any 
of the following certifications within a reasonable time after the leave: a police report 
indicating that the employee was a victim; a court order protecting the employee from the 
perpetrator; evidence from the district attorney or court that the employee has appeared in 
court; or documentation from a health care provider or counselor that the employee was 
undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless 
the employee elects to use 2014 Healthy Workplaces sick leave (Labor Code § 246.5(a)(2)), 
accrued vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

D. Any employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, may take 
leave from work to attend to any of the following:  obtaining medical attention or psychological 
counseling; obtaining services from a shelter, program or crisis center; or participating in 
safety planning or other actions to increase safety, if the employee provides advance notice 
of the employee’s intention to take time off for these purposes.  If advance notice is not 
feasible, the employee must provide any of the following to the Authority within a reasonable 
time after the leave: a police report indicating that the employee was a victim; a court order 
protecting the employee from the perpetrator; evidence from the district attorney or court that 
the employee has appeared in court; or documentation from a health care provider or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or 
abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee elects to use 2014 Healthy Workplaces sick 
leave (Labor Code § 246.5(a)(2)), accrued vacation or personal leave, or compensatory time 
off. 

 
SECTION 17.   ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
      
The Authority has the right to place an employee on leave at any time with full pay. An employee 
may be placed on administrative leave pending investigation of misconduct, potential disciplinary 
action, or other reasons that the Human Resources Manager, in his/her discretion, believes warrant 
such leave. Paid administrative leave is not considered a disciplinary action. As such, the employee 
has no right to appeal if placed on paid administrative leave. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 71 of 85 
 

 

RULE VII.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 
 

SECTION 1.  TRAINING           
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
A. Responsibility.   

 
The responsibility for developing Authority-wide training programs for employees shall be 
assumed jointly by the Human Resources Department and department directors/managers.  
Training programs may include lecture courses, demonstrations, attendance at conferences, 
assignment of reading material, or such other programs as may be available for the purpose 
of improving the efficiency and broadening the knowledge of employees in the performance 
of their duties and responsibilities. 

 
B. Orientation.  

 
All new employees will be scheduled for the New Employee Orientation on their first day of 
hire, in order to receive an introduction to Authority employment.  Representatives from each 
department will give an overview of how their department operates and how the various 
programs are integrated into their work. This includes an introduction to Tri-City, Revenue, 
review of the Recovery Model, Quality Assurance, Collaborative Documentation, information 
on the Wellness Authority and our Outreach programs. In addition, the new hire will receive 
HIPAA, Privacy and Security training, Safety training and information on Tri-City policies and 
procedures. During this period, employees will also be asked to complete new-hire forms and 
documents necessary to complete the hiring process and receive their Employee ID badge. 

 
C.        Mandatory All Staff Trainings. 
 

1. All new hires will be assigned the following mandatory staff trainings. These trainings 
must be completed by the end of the employee’s probationary period (with the 
exception of Sexual Harassment) and then annually as required. Certificates of 
Completion will be maintained in the HR Department on each employee. 

              
a. Bloodborne Pathogens 
b. Boundaries 
c. Community Resiliency Model (CRM) Non-Clinical staff 
d. Trauma Resiliency Model (TRM) Clinical staff           
e. Crisis Prevention Institute (CPI) Non-violent Crisis Intervention Training 
f. Cultural Diversity (Competency) 
g. Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) 
h. Motivational Interviewing (MI) 
i. Sexual Harassment for Employees (Must be completed within the first 30 days of 

hire) 
j. Sexual Harassment for Supervisors in California (Must be completed within first 

30 days of hire) 
k. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
l. Human Trafficking: Sexual Exploitation 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 72 of 85 
 

 

2. All existing staff will be assigned the following mandatory staff trainings.  These staff 
should have completed all new hire trainings as listed in section C(I).  Human 
Resources will notify all employees and their supervisors of any incomplete training 
assignments. Certificates of Completion will be maintained in the Human Resources 
Department on each employee. 

 
a. Bloodborne Pathogens – annually 
b. Cultural Diversity (Competency) - annually 
c. HIPAA Privacy - annually   
d. Sexual Harassment for Supervisors in California – bi-annually 
e. Sexual Harassment for Employees in California – bi-annually 

        
RULE VIII. SEPARATION 

 
SECTION 1.   RESIGNATION          
 
Executive Management employees are excluded from this section.   
 
An employee wishing to leave in good standing shall file a written resignation with his/her supervisor 
at least two (2) calendar weeks before leaving service, unless, because of extenuating 
circumstances, the supervisor agrees to permit a shorter period of notice.  The written resignation 
shall be immediately forwarded to Human Resources.  The filing of the written resignation with the 
supervisor shall be deemed official notice to and acceptance by the supervisor.  Once a written 
resignation is tendered, the resignation may not be withdrawn by the employee without the consent 
of the supervisor.  Once a resignation has been tendered, the Authority reserves the right to release 
the employees from duty at their discretion. The resignation of an employee who fails to give notice 
may be cause for denying future employment by the Authority.  Payment for hours worked up to the 
resignation date will be paid at the next scheduled pay date.   
 
All assigned Authority property and/or equipment in their possession or control must be returned on 
or before the last day of employment.  This includes keys, employee identification badges, cell 
phones and other materials provided by the Authority. 
 
All employees leaving the Authority service will be encouraged to participate in an exit interview.  
At the exit interview, employees will be advised of their rights on benefits and insurance.  Employees 
will be given an opportunity to discuss their views on the Authority, their department, training, and 
other subjects upon which they would like to comment.   
 
SECTION 2.   RETIREMENT SYSTEM / RETIREMENT      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
  
Regular full-time employees of the Authority or part-time employees employed over 1000 hours in a 
fiscal year, as a condition of employment shall become members of the California Public Employee’s 
Retirement System (CalPERS), in accordance with the existing legislation governing retirement.   
The Authority participates in the two percent (2%) at 62 Plan for those hired on or after January 1, 
2013. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2013 participate in the 2% at 55 plan.  Employees 
contemplating retirement should contact Human Resources at least 90 days prior to their anticipated 
retirement date.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 73 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3.  LAYOFF PROCEDURES   
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular Authority employees.     

  
A. The Authority may layoff any employee(s) due to termination of a position, termination of the 

program to which the position is assigned, lack of work, or lack of funds.  This is not a 
disciplinary or punitive action and shall not be subject to administrative appeal.  In the event 
that the Authority determines that a reduction in the work force is necessary, full-time regular 
employees shall be deemed to have seniority over part-time, hourly employees. 

 
B. Whenever possible, employees to be laid off shall be given at least 30 calendar days prior 

notice.  The employee shall be advised in writing by the Human Resources Department of 
any and all rights available to employees scheduled to be laid off. 

C. Employees in the classification, program, and/or department that have been reduced will 
be laid off in accordance with their classification, seniority, funding, grant and/or special 
project training.  When two or more employees have relatively equal skills, qualifications and 
ability to perform the work without further training, the employee(s) with the least seniority in 
the affected classification will be laid off first. 

 
SECTION 4. EXTENDED BENEFITS – COBRA 
       
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986 (COBRA) provides for the temporary 
continuation of health care coverage. COBRA continuation coverage is a continuation of Plan 
coverage when coverage would otherwise end because of a life event known as a “qualifying event.” 
After a qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage must be offered to each person who is 
a “qualified beneficiary.”  You, your spouse, and your dependent children could become qualified 
beneficiaries if coverage under the Plan is lost because of the qualifying event.  Under the Plan, 
qualified beneficiaries who elect COBRA continuation coverage must pay for COBRA continuation 
coverage.   
 
When the qualifying event is the death of the employee, the employee’s becoming entitled to 
Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both), your divorce or legal separation, or a dependent 
child’s losing eligibility as a dependent child, COBRA continuation coverage lasts for up to a total of 
36 months.   
 
When the qualifying event is the end of employment or reduction of the employee’s hours of 
employment, and the employee became entitled to Medicare benefits less than 18 months before 
the qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage for qualified beneficiaries other than the 
employee lasts until 36 months after the date of Medicare entitlement.  For example, if a covered 
employee becomes entitled to Medicare eight (8) months before the date on which his employment 
terminates, COBRA continuation coverage for his spouse and children can last up to 36 months after 
the date of Medicare entitlement, which is equal to 28 months after the date of the qualifying event 
(36 months minus eight [8] months).  Otherwise, when the qualifying event is the end of employment 
or reduction of the employee’s hours of employment, COBRA continuation coverage generally lasts 
for only up to a total of 18 months.  
 
 
 

RULE IX. DISCIPLINE 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 74 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 1.   DISCIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURES     
 
A. Excluded Positions.    
 
 The disciplinary and appeals procedures set forth in this section do not pertain to Executive 

Management and employees that are specifically excluded from the competitive service as 
listed in Rule II, Section 1 of these rules and regulations. In addition, any regular employee 
who is exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) is not 
subject to any disciplinary penalty which is inconsistent with his or her FLSA overtime-exempt 
status. 

 
 
 
B. Notification and Approval of Department Directors 
 
            The Supervisor must notify and receive approval from the appropriate Department Director 

(e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operations Officer, 
Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, and Medical Director) and 
HR prior to proposing or imposing any personnel action or discipline as it pertains to Rule IX 
of these Rules and Regulations.  

 
C. Basis For Disciplinary Action.    
 
 The tenure of employment at the Authority shall be based on reasonable standards of 

personal conduct and job performance.  Failure to meet such standards shall be grounds for 
appropriate disciplinary action, which shall be commensurate with the seriousness of the 
offense and with due consideration of the employee’s performance record.  Although not an 
all-inclusive list, the following are examples of infractions which will result in disciplinary action 
up to, and including, dismissal: 

 
1. Dishonesty – Including, but not limited to, falsification of records, billing claims, or 

timesheets, willful omission of information, misrepresentation of a material fact, etc. 

2. Theft. 

3. Unsatisfactory job performance, incompetence, inefficiency or negligence in the 
performance of duties, including failure to perform assigned task or failure to 
discharge duties in a prompt, competent and responsible manner.  

4. Intemperance. 

5. Discourteous or offensive treatment of the public or other employees. 

6. Failure to cooperate with employee’s supervisor or fellow employees. 

7. Disobedience, insubordination or insulting or demeaning the authority of a supervisor 
or manager. 

8. Reporting to work under the influence of drugs, controlled substances or alcohol or 
possessing, transferring, selling or using drugs, controlled substances or alcohol in 
Authority offices, vehicles, work areas, or on Authority property during work hours 
including paid or unpaid break periods.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 75 of 85 
 

 

9. Unexcused absence. 

10. Excessive and/or patterned absenteeism or tardiness. 

11. Violation of any Authority Personnel Rule or Regulation or Authority Policy and 
Procedure, including but not limited to those contained in this manual. 

12. Violations of rules, regulations, orders, or directives established by a supervisor. 

 

 

13. Conviction of a felony that has a nexus to the employee’s job duties.  The record of 
conviction shall be conclusive evidence of the fact that the conviction occurred.  
Human Resources may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission 
of the crime in order to fix the degree of discipline.  A plea or verdict of guilty, 
conviction showing a plea of nolo contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the 
meaning of this section.   

Human Resources may, in its sole discretion, take disciplinary action upon the 
conviction of the offense, when the time for appeal has elapsed, or when order 
granting probation is made suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a 
subsequent order under the provisions of section 1203.4 of California Penal Code 
allowing such person to withdraw his/her plea and enter a plea of not guilty, or setting 
aside a verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation or indictment. 

14. Misuse, abuse or unauthorized use of Authority property, including, but not limited to 
physical property, tools, equipment, Authority communications systems, Authority 
vehicles, intellectual property or certifications. 

15. Mishandling of public funds. 

16. Substandard job performance. 

17. Disciplinary action by a licensing board in connection with a job related license. 

18. Verbal or physical abuse and/or harassment. 

19. Failure to submit timesheets in a timely manner. 

20. Failure to meet established productivity standards. 

21. Failure to comply with service documentation standards, including failure to possess, 
keep in effect, or report loss of any license, certificate or other similar requirement 
specified in the employee’s job description. 
 

22. Breach of Acceptable Use Agreement for improper use of Authority Information 
Technological equipment. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 76 of 85 
 

 

23. Unauthorized disclosure or release of health information1 that relates to any individual 
served by the Authority. 

24. Use of leave in a manner not authorized or provided for pursuant to Authority policies. 

25. Unapproved outside employment or activity that violates the Authority’s policy, or 
other enterprise that constitutes a conflict of interest with service to the Authority. 

26. Any conduct that impairs, disrupts, or causes discredit to the Authority, the 
employee’s Authority employment, to the public service, or other employee’s 
employment.  

27. Abusive conduct, including malicious verbal, visual or physical actions, or the 
gratuitous sabotage or undermining of a person’s work performance.      

28. Failure to comply with OSHA Safety Standards and Authority safety policies. 

29. Working overtime without prior authorization or refusing to work assigned overtime. 

30. Carrying firearms or other dangerous weapons on Authority premises at any time, 
unless authorized to do so. 

31. Horseplay or fighting. 

32. Abuse of Company Time – excessive time spent on non-work related issues, including 
internet/phone usage and/or socializing.  

33. Retaliation - It is illegal and inappropriate to retaliate against any person who has 
participated in complaining or providing information regarding allegations of 
misconduct. 

 
D. Types of Discipline.   

  
 The types of personnel actions or discipline, which may be taken, in reverse order of severity, 

are (dismissal, demotion, reduction in step within a range, suspension, and written and verbal 
reprimand): 

 
1. Dismissal.   The discharge of an employee from the Authority service. Documents 

related to discharge shall become a part of an employee’s personnel file when the 
discipline becomes final. A discharged employee is entitled to prior written notice and 
appeal as provided herein. 

2. Demotion.   Demotion without consent as a disciplinary action shall be reduction in 
classification or rank to a lower classification or rank with reduction in salary.  
Documents related to a demotion shall become part of the employee’s personnel file 
when the discipline is final. An employee subject to demotion will be entitled to prior 
written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

                                                 
1 “Health Information” means any information, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium that: (a) is 

created or received by Tri-City Mental Health Authority; and (b) relates to the past, present, or future 
physical or mental health or condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the 
past, present, or future for the provision of health care to an individual. (45 CFR Part 164.530 (e) (i)) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 77 of 85 
 

 

3. Reduction in Salary.  The reduction of pay within the salary range.  The maximum 
reduction in pay that may be given for any one disciplinary action shall be ten percent 
(10%) within the range for that class.  Reduction in pay shall become effective on the 
first day of the pay period following the effective date of the disciplinary action.  
Reduction may be made on a regular or temporary basis. Documents related to a 
reduction in pay shall become part of the employee’s personnel file when the 
discipline becomes final. An employee subject to a reduction in pay is entitled to prior 
written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

4. Suspension.   Any person holding the position of employment in the competitive 
service shall be subject to disciplinary suspension without pay not to exceed 
30 cumulative days in a 12 month period.  Documents related to a suspension shall 
become part of the employee’s personnel file when the discipline is final. An employee 
subject to suspension will receive prior written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

 

5. Written Reprimand.   An official notification in writing by the immediate supervisor 
to the employee that there is cause for dissatisfaction with his/her performance or 
behavior and that further disciplinary action may be taken if the cause is not corrected.  
Written reprimand shall be made a part of the employee’s official personnel record 
and may not be appealed. The employee has the right to have a written response 
attached to the reprimand in the employee’s personnel file if the response is submitted 
to the Human Resources Department within ten (10) working days of the date the 
reprimand was received. 

6. Verbal Reprimand.  An oral warning or statement of dissatisfaction with employee’s 
performance or behaviors.  A verbal reprimand will be memorialized in writing 
and retained in the supervisor’s file until the completion of the evaluation year and 
documented in the performance evaluation, as the supervisor deems necessary. A 
verbal reprimand may not be appealed under this policy.  Aside from the performance 
evaluation, no record of the verbal reprimand is placed in the employee’s personnel 
file unless subsequent more severe disciplinary action is taken. 

E. Procedures For Discipline.    
 
 Respective levels of disciplinary actions will be imposed based upon the seriousness of the 

employee’s disciplinary problem. However, a higher level of disciplinary action may be 
imposed for serious violations of policy, repeated or chronic minor offenses which have 
resulted in previous lower level disciplinary action, or based upon a history of repeated 
offenses discovered by the supervisor. 

 
1. Verbal Reprimand.   The supervisor will notify the employee of the specific 

performance and/or behavioral deficiencies and the efforts to be undertaken 
to correct them. Following the verbal reprimand the supervisor will submit 
a memorandum to the employee which documents the matters discussed, 
the employee’s response and the understanding reached.  The memorandum shall 
include a statement that this memorandum will not be included in the employee’s 
personnel file unless the matters of concern are not satisfactorily resolved and more 
severe disciplinary action is subsequently taken. 

 
3. Written Reprimand.  When a written reprimand is given it shall be in writing.  The 

immediate supervisor shall give the employee a copy and forward a copy to Human 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 78 of 85 
 

 

Resources for retention in the employee’s official personnel file.  A written reprimand 
shall contain a description of the events which necessitated the action, specific 
expectations for change by the employee, how the supervisor will assist, and notice 
of further action in the event that a change by the employee does not occur.  

  
 Employee’s Response and Opportunity to Respond to Written Reprimand.  

Written reprimands may not be appealed. Full-time regular employees who have 
received a written reprimand may present a written response to the reprimand and 
have the written response placed in the personnel file.   

 Any written response must be submitted to the Human Resources Department within 
ten (10) working days of receipt of the written reprimand to be included in the 
employee’s personnel file. 
 

4. Skelly Process.  Pre-Disciplinary Procedure for Discharge, Demotion, Reduction 
in Salary or Suspension without Pay. 

 
 Only regular, for-cause employees have the right to the conference and appeal 

processes outlined in this Section. At-will employees and those persons in positions 
identified in Rule II, Section 1 of these Rules are not entitled to the procedures 
outlined in this Section. 

 
a. Notice of Intent to Discipline.  The employee will be provided a written notice of 

intent to discipline that contains the following: 
 

ii. The level of discipline intended to be imposed; 
iii. The specific charges upon which the intended discipline is based; 
iv. A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 
v. A copy of all materials, reports, or documents upon which the intended 

discipline is based; 
vi. Notice of the employee’s right to respond to the charges within five (5) working 

days from the date of the Notice, either by requesting a conference, or by 
providing a written response, or both; 

vii. Notice of the employee’s right to have a representative of his or her choice at 
the conference, should he or she choose to respond orally; and 

viii. Notice that the failure to respond at the time specified shall constitute a waiver 
of the right to respond prior to the imposition of discipline. 

b. Employee’s Response and the Skelly Conference. 
 

i. If the employee requests an informal conference timely (within five (5) working 
days from the date of the Notice of Intent) to respond orally to the charge(s), 
the conference must be scheduled at least seven (7) working days from the 
date of the employee’s official request.  The conference will be an informal 
meeting with the supervisor and Human Resources, at which the employee 
has an opportunity to rebut the charges against him or her and/or present any 
mitigating circumstances, and shall have the right to representation.  This is 
not intended to be an adversarial hearing.  The employee will not have the 
opportunity to cross examine the Authority nor to present a formal case in 
opposition to the proposed discipline.   
The supervisor will consider the employee’s presentation before any final 
decision is made on the proposed disciplinary action. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 79 of 85 
 

 

 

ii. The employee’s failure to make an oral response at the arranged conference 
time, or the employee’s failure to cause his or her written response to be 
delivered by the date and time specified in the notice, constitutes a waiver of 
the employee’s right to respond prior to the imposition of the discipline. In that 
case, the decision on whether disciplinary action shall be made without any 
response from the employee. 

 
c. Final Notice of Discipline. 

 

i. Before issuing the final notice, the immediate supervisor shall consult with the 
Human Resources Department, and at Human Resources discretion, may 
also consult with legal counsel.  Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the 
employee’s timely written response, within ten (10) working days of the 
informal conference, or within ten (10) working days after the expiration of the 
employee’s time to respond to the Notice of Intent, whichever comes last, the 
immediate supervisor, with the approval of the Human Resources 
Department, will:   
 

(1) Dismiss the notice of intent and take no disciplinary action against the 
employee,  

(2) Modify the intended disciplinary action, or  
(3) Impose the disciplinary action as originally proposed.  

ii. In any event, the supervisor will prepare and provide the employee with a 
notice that contains the following: 
(1) The level of discipline, if any, to be imposed and the effective date of the 

discipline; 
(2) The specific charges upon which the discipline is based; 
(3) A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 
(4) A copy of all materials, reports, or documents upon which the discipline is 

based; and 
(5) A statement of the nature of the employee’s right to appeal and the 

deadline to appeal. 
 
F. Evidentiary Appeal Procedure Following Disciplinary Action for Discharge, Demotion, 

Reduction in Salary or Suspension without Pay.   
 
Only regular, for-cause employees have the right to the conference and appeal processes 
outlined in this Section. At-will employees and those persons in positions identified in Rule II, 
Section 1 of these Rules are not entitled to the procedures outlined in this Section.   

 
1. Employee’s Right to Appeal.  A regular, for-cause employee may appeal the final 

notice of discipline in the form of suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay, 
or discharge by delivering a written answer to the charges and a request for appeal 
to the Human Resources Manager or designee, who will forward the appeal to the 
Executive Director. The written answer and request for appeal must be received no 
later than five (5) working days from:  
 
a. receipt of the final notice of discipline; or  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 80 of 85 
 

 

b. the date of attempted delivery by the post office or delivery service of the notice 
to the last known address of the employee. If the employee fails to timely submit 
a written request for appeal, the employee’s right to appeal is waived and the 
action of the Authority shall be considered conclusive and shall take effect as 
prescribed. 

 
 
 

2. Date and Time of the Appeal Hearing.  Once the Appeal Hearing Officer has been 
designated, the Executive Director will set a date for an appeal hearing.  The 
employee shall be notified in writing at least 21 days prior to the hearing of the 
scheduled date. An employee who, having filed a timely written answer and request 
for appeal, has been notified of the time and place of the appeal hearing, and who 
fails to appear personally at the hearing, may be deemed to have abandoned his or 
her appeal. In such a case, the Executive Director may dismiss the appeal. 

 
3. Hearing Officer.  In his or her sole discretion, the Executive Director may:  

 
a. Serve as the Hearing Officer and choose to hear the evidentiary appeal directly, 

or  
 

b. He or she may authorize the Authority’s retention of an independent, mutually 
agreeable, Hearing Officer to hear the appeal and make a recommendation to the 
Executive Director.   

 
Should a Hearing Officer be retained, the Hearing Officer’s decision shall be 
advisory only.  The Hearing Officer may recommend to the Executive Director 
sustaining, rejecting, or modifying the disciplinary action invoked against the 
employee, but in no case may the Hearing Officer’s recommendation impose 
greater discipline upon the employee. The decision of the Executive Director shall 
be final and conclusive administrative action. 

 
4. Identification of Issues, Witnesses and Evidence.  Not later than ten (10) days prior 

to the appeal hearing, each party will provide each other and the Hearing Officer with 
a statement of the issues to be decided, a list of all witnesses to be called (except 
rebuttal witnesses), a brief summary of the subject matter of the testimony of each 
witness, and a copy of all evidence (except rebuttal evidence) to be submitted at 
the hearing. Neither party will be permitted to call any witness during the hearing who 
has not been identified pursuant to this section, nor use any exhibit not provided 
pursuant to this section, unless that party can show that they could not have 
reasonably anticipated the need for the witness or exhibit.  

 
5. Conduct of the Appeal Hearing. 

 
a. Subpoenas. The Executive Director has authority to issue subpoenas in the 

name of the Authority prior to the commencement of the hearing. Each party is 
responsible for serving his/her/its own subpoenas. Tri-City employees who are 
subpoenaed to testify during working hours will be released with pay to appear at 
the hearing.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 81 of 85 
 

 

Tri-City employees who are subpoenaed to testify during non-working hours will 
be compensated for the time they actually testify unless Tri-City agrees to a 
different arrangement. 
 

b. Continuances. The Hearing Officer may continue a scheduled hearing only upon 
good cause shown. 
 

c. Record of the Proceedings.  All disciplinary hearings may, at the discretion of 
the parties, be either recorded by a court reporter or tape recorded. Any party who 
requests a transcript of the proceedings must pay for his/ her/ its own copy of a 
transcript. 

d. The Hearing Officer’s Authority During the Hearing.  The Hearing Officer has 
the authority to control the conduct of the hearing and to recommend to the 
Executive Director to affirm, modify, or revoke the discipline. 

 
e. Conduct of the Hearing. 

 
i. The hearing need not be conducted in accordance with technical rules relating 

to evidence and witnesses, but hearings shall be conducted in a manner the 
Hearing Officer decides is the most conducive to determining the truth. 

ii. Any relevant evidence may be admitted if it is the type of evidence upon which 
responsible persons are accustomed to rely upon in the conduct of serious 
affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rules which 
might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil 
actions. 

iii. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or 
explaining any direct evidence, but shall not be sufficient in itself to support a 
finding, unless such evidence would be admissible over objection in civil 
actions. An objection is timely if made before submission of the case. 

iv. The rules dealing with privileges shall be effective to the same extent that they 
are now or hereafter may be recognized in civil litigation. 

v. Irrelevant and unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded by the Hearing 
Officer. 

vi. The Hearing Officer shall determine relevance, weight and credibility of 
testimony and evidence. 

vii. During the examination of a witness, all other witnesses, except the parties, 
shall be excluded from the hearing upon the request of either party. 

viii. All witnesses shall be administered the oath to testify truthfully prior to 
testifying at the hearing. The Hearing Officer or the court reporter shall request 
each witness to raise his or her right hand and respond to the following: “Do 
you swear or affirm that the testimony that you are about to give at this hearing 
is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth? 

f. Burden of Proof at the Hearing. The Authority has the burden of proof of the 
factual charges by a preponderance of the evidence. 

 
g. Right to Due Process.  The employee shall have the following due process rights 

during the hearing: 
 

ii. The right to be represented by legal counsel or another chosen representative, 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 82 of 85 
 

 

at his or her own expense; 
iii. The right to call and examine witnesses on his or her behalf; 
iv. The right to introduce evidence; 
v. The right to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the 

issues; 
vi. The right to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called him or 

her to testify; and 
vii. The right to rebut evidence against him or her. 

h. Hearing to be Closed to the Public.  The hearing will be closed to the public 
unless the employee requests that it be open. 
 

i. Presentation of the Case.  The parties will address their remarks, evidence, and 
objections, to the Hearing Officer. All parties and their counsel or representatives 
shall not disparage the intelligence, morals, or ethics of their adversaries or of the 
Hearing Officer.  

 
The Hearing Officer may terminate argument at any time and issue a ruling 
regarding an objection or any other matter. The Hearing Officer may alter the order 
of witnesses, limit redundant or irrelevant testimony, or directly question the 
witness. The hearing shall proceed in the following order unless the Hearing 
officer directs otherwise: 

 
i. The Department shall be permitted to make an opening statement. 
ii. The employee shall be permitted to make an opening statement.  

 
iii. The Department shall produce its evidence.  
iv. The employee shall produce his or her evidence.  
v. The Department, followed by the employee, may offer rebuttal evidence. 
vi. Closing arguments of not more than 20 minutes by each party shall be 

permitted at the discretion of the Hearing Officer. The Department shall have 
the right to argue first, the employee may argue second, and the Department 
may reserve a portion of its argument time for rebuttal. 

j. Written Briefs by the Parties.  The Hearing Officer or the parties may request 
the submission of written briefs. The Hearing Officer will determine whether to 
allow written briefs, the deadline for submitting briefs, and the page limit for briefs. 

 
i. Written Findings and Decision. 

 
(1) Independent Hearing Officer.  The Hearing Officer shall render a 

statement of written findings and recommendation to the Executive 
Director. The Hearing Officer’s decision shall be advisory only.   
The Hearing Officer may recommend to the Executive Director sustaining, 
rejecting, or modifying the disciplinary action invoked against the 
employee, but in no case may the Hearing Officer’s recommendation 
impose greater discipline upon the employee. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 83 of 85 
 

 

The Executive Director shall review the Hearing Officer’s findings and 
issue a final decision within 30 days after he or she receives the Hearing 
Officer’s findings. The Executive Director’s decision shall be conclusive, 
final and binding administrative action. 

(2) Executive Director. If the Executive Director heard the appeal directly, he 
or she shall render a statement of written findings and decision within 30 
days after the hearing has been completed and the briefs, if any, have 
been submitted. The Executive Director’s decision is conclusive, final and 
binding administrative action.   

k. Proof of Service of the Written Findings and Decision.  The Executive Director 
shall send his or her final statement of written findings and decision, along with a 
proof of service of mailing, to each of the parties and to each of the parties’ 
representatives. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to inform the 
Executive Director of his/her address.  Copies shall also be distributed to the 
Human Resources Supervisor or Manager. 

 
l. Statute of Limitations.  The Executive Director’s written findings and decision is 

final administrative action. There is no process for reconsideration. Pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.6, the parties have 90 days from the date 
of the proof of service of mailing of the written findings and decision to file a 
petition for writ of mandamus with the Superior Court, County of Los Angeles. 

 
 

 
RULE X.  RECORDS 

 
SECTION 1.   PERSONNEL FILE         

 
A. Official File.    
 
 The Human Resources Department shall maintain the “official” personnel file for each 

employee.  Information contained in these files shall include classification title, the 
department to which assigned, salary, changes in employment status, disciplinary actions, 
performance evaluations, commendatory materials, and such other information as is required 
by law or that may be considered necessary and relevant to the administration of Tri-City’s 
personnel program. Personnel files are the property of Tri-City, and access to the information 
they contain is restricted to protect employee privacy interests.   

 
1. Every appointment, transfer, promotion, demotion, change of salary rate, and other 

temporary or permanent changes in status of employees shall be reported to Human 
Resources for the employee, and shall be retained in the employee’s “official” 
personnel file in the Human Resources Department. 

 
B. Update of File.   
 
 It shall be the responsibility of each employee to keep his/her supervisor/manager notified (in 

writing) concerning any changes in his or her contact and benefits information, including:  
number and names of dependents, correct mailing address, telephone number, and the 
person to be contacted in case of an emergency. 

 
C. Medical Information. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 84 of 85 
 

 

 
1. Separate Confidential Files.   All medical information about an employee or applicant 

is kept separately and is treated as confidential, in accordance with applicable state 
and federal law. 

 
2. Information in Medical Files.  Tri-City will not obtain medical information about 

an employee or applicant except in compliance with the California Confidentiality 
of Medical Information Act. To enable Tri-City to obtain certain medical information, 
the employee or applicant may need to sign an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE 
OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION. 

3. Access to Medical Information.  Access to employee or applicant medical 
information shall be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need to have 
such information for Tri-City business reasons, or if access is required by law, 
subpoena or court order. In the case of an employee with a disability, managers and 
supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties 
of the employee and necessary accommodations. Tri-City will not provide employee 
or applicant medical information to a third party (except as permitted under the 
California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act) unless the employee signs an 
AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION. 
Tri-City will release only the medical information that is identified in the employee’s 
authorization. If the employee’s authorization indicates any limitations regarding the 
use of the medical information, Tri-City will communicate those limitations to the 
person or entity to which it discloses the medical information. 

 
D. References and Release of Information in Personnel Files. 

 
1. Public Information.   Upon request, Tri-City will release to the public information about 

its employees as required by the Public Records Act. Tri-City will not disclose 
personnel information if it believes doing so would constitute an unwarranted invasion 
of personal privacy. 

 
2. Reference Checks.  All requests from outside Tri-City for reference checks or 

verification of employment concerning any current or former employee must be 
referred to the Human Resources Department. Information will be released only if the 
employee signs an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYMENT 
INFORMATION in the form attached to this rule, except that without such 
authorization, the following limited information will be provided: dates of employment, 
and salary upon departure. Department heads and supervisors shall not provide 
information in response to requests for reference checks or verification of 
employment, unless specifically approved by the Human Resources Department on 
a case-by-case basis. 

 
3. Medical Information.  Medical information will be released only in accordance with 

subsection C above. 
 

E. Employee Access to Personnel File. 
 

1. Inspection of File.   A current employee may inspect his or her own personnel file, at 
reasonable times and at reasonable intervals, within 30 days of a written request.  A 
former employee is entitled to inspect his or her personnel records one time per year 
provided that the record is still being maintained.  Personnel files will be destroyed 
five years after the employee separates from the Authority as in accordance with the 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 85 of 85 
 

 

law. If an employee wishes to view his/her personnel file, he/she will schedule an 
appointment with Human Resources, or designee. The review must be done in the 
presence of an employee of the Human Resources Department.  

 
2. Copies.   A current or former employee is entitled to receive a copy of his or her 

personnel records within 30 days after the employer receives a written request.  A 
current or former employee who wishes to receive such a copy should contact the 
Human Resources Department in writing.  The Authority may charge a fee for the 
actual cost of copying.   

 
3. In the event the employee wishes to have another person/representative inspect his 

or her personnel file, the employee must provide the person/representative with 
written authorization. The Human Resource Department will notify the employee of 
the date, time and place of the inspection in writing. It is the employee’s responsibility 
to notify the person to whom the employee has given written authorization of the date, 
time and place of the inspection. 

 
4. Under no circumstances is the employee and/or the employee’s designee permitted 

to add or remove any document or other item from the employee’s personnel file 
during the inspection. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(End of Document) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 86 of 85 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 



 

ATTACHMENT 2-C 
 

 
 

 

PERSONNEL RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 

 
Revised: 

January 17, 2024 
Effective January 1, 2024 

Supersedes All Previous Versions of the Authority’s 
Personnel Rules and Regulations, Policy and Guidelines 

 
 

Administrative Office 
1717 N. Indian Hill Boulevard, Suite B 

Claremont, CA  91711-2788 
 

Clinical Office 
2008 N. Garey Avenue 

and 
1900 Royalty Drive  

Pomona, CA  91767-2722 
 

Wellness Center 
1403 North Garey Avenue 

     Pomona, CA 91767 
 
            MHSA Office 
       2001 N. Garey Ave 

        Pomona, CA 91767-2722 

Deleted: 8

Deleted: 3



 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page intentionally left blank.)



 

 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 PAGE 
 

RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT…………………………………………………..……………….1 
  
RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISION 

Section 1: Officer and Employees to Which Rules and Regulations are Applicable ....... 2 

Section 2: Definition of Terms  ............................................................................................. 2 
Section 3: Human Resources Department - Powers and Duties .....................................7 

Section 4: Equal Employment Opportunity  ........................................................................ 8 

Section 5: Reasonable Accommodation Policy  ................................................................. 8 
A. Policy 
B. Procedure 
C. Accommodations for Sincerely Held Religious Beliefs and Observances 
D. Service and Support Animals 

Section 6:       Policy Against Workplace Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation ........ 12 
A. Purpose 
B. Policy 
C. Definitions 

Section 7: Complaint Procedure for Discrimination, Harassment and Retaliation .......... 16 
A. Complaint procedure 
B. Investigation of Complaint 
C. Remedial and Disciplinary Action 
D. Final Recommendations 
E. Closure 
F. Confidentiality 
G. Responsibilities 
H. Mandatory Training 

Section 8:        Grievance Procedure ..................................................................................... 19 
A. Policy 
B. Eligibility to File a Grievance 
C. Definition of “Grievance” 
D. Exclusions from the Grievance Procedure 
E. Grievance Procedure 
F. Settlement of Grievance 
G. Representation 
H. No Retaliation 
I. Withdrawal 
J. Resubmission 
K. Miscellaneous 
 

 
 
 
 



 

ii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

 

Section 9: Drug Free Workplace / Testing Policy   ............................................................ 23 
A. Policy 
B. Scope of Policy 
C. Searches 
D. Drug and Alcohol Testing 
E. Employee’s Responsibilities 
F. Management Employee Responsibilities 
G. Employee Assistance Programs 
H. Tobacco Use 
I. Drug-Free Awareness Program 

Section 10:  Hours of Work ..................................................................................................... 27 
A. Normal Work Schedule 
B. Flexible Work Schedule 
C. Alternative Work Schedule 
D. Holidays on the Alternative Work Schedule 
E. Meals and Breaks 

 F.   Overtime Pay 
 G.  On-Call Duty 

Section 11:  Attendance / Job Abandonment ........................................................................ 29 
A. Attendance 
B. Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence 
C. Job Abandonment 

Section 12:  Employee Performance Evaluation ................................................................... 30 
A. Timing of Performance Evaluation Reports 
B. Employee Review / Rebuttal 

Section 13:  Employee Activities / Outside Employment ...................................................... 31 
A. General Considerations 
B. Determination of Inconsistent Activities 
C. Improper Use of Authority Equipment Prohibited 
D. Compliance with Employment Standards 
E. Public Information Statement 

Section 14:  Right to Work in the United States / Immigration Reform And 
 Control Act of 1986 ........................................................................................ 33 
Section 15:     Anti-Solicitation Policy ................................................................................... 33 
Section 16:     Cell Phone Policy / Electronic Device Use Policy ......................................... 33 

A.  Applicability and Purpose 
B.  General Policy on the use of Tri-City Cell Phones and Electronic Devices 

 C.  Use of Personal Devices 
 D.  Use of Devices while Operating a Vehicle in the Course and 

Scope of Employment 
 



 

iii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 17:      Workplace Security  ........................................................................................... 35                                     
 A.  Policy 
 B.  Prohibited Behavior 
 C.  Definitions 
 D.  Incident Reporting Procedures 
 E.  Investigation 
 F.  Management Responsibility 

 G.  Follow-Up and Disciplinary Procedures 
   Section 18:  Anti-Bullying Policy  ............................................................................................ 37 

 A.  Purpose 
 B.  Policy 
 C.  Complaint Procedure 

 D.  Policy Against Retaliation 
 
RULE III.   CLASSIFICATION PLAN 

Section 1: Class Specifications  .......................................................................................... 39 

Section 2: Licensure and Certification ................................................................................ 39 
 
RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 

Section 1: Job Announcements ........................................................................................... 40 

Section 2:  Application Forms ............................................................................................... 40 
Section 3:  Internal Applicants  ........................................................................................ 41 
Section 4: Lateral Transfers ............................................................................................ 41 
Section 5: Disqualification ............................................................................................... 41 
Section 6:  Employment of Relatives and Spouses/Domestic Partners ........................... 42 
 

Section 7:  Subject and Method of Examinations ............................................................... 43 

Section 8:  Conduct of Examinations ................................................................................... 44 
Section 9:  Eligibility Lists ...................................................................................................... 44 
Section 10:  Types of Appointments ...................................................................................... 44 

A.  Appointment 
 B.  Emergency Appointments 
 C.  Temporary Appointments 

 D.  Provisional (Interim) Appointments 
 E.  Trainee Appointments 
 F.  Lead Appointments 
 G.  Additional Duty Appointments 

Section 11:  Reinstatement ..................................................................................................... 47 
Section 12:  Availability ........................................................................................................... 47 
 



 

iv 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
 PAGE 

Section 13:  Probationary Period ............................................................................................ 48 
A. Extension of Probationary Period 
B. Rejection During Probationary Period 
C. Use of Leave While on Probation 
D. Probationary Period After Promotion 
E. Employee’s Responsibility 

 
RULE V.    COMPENSATION PLAN  

Section 1: Salary Range ...................................................................................................... 49 
A. Review and Adjustment of Pay Ranges 

Section 2:  Salary Appointment ............................................................................................ 50 
Section 3:  Anniversary Date ........................................................................................... 50 

Section 4:  Salary Anniversary Date .................................................................................... 50 
A. Establishment of Salary Anniversary Date 
B. Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date 

Section 5:  Salary Increases ................................................................................................. 51 
A. Guidelines 
B. Performance Improvement Plan (PIP) 

Section 6:  Salary Increase Procedure ................................................................................ 52 
A. Notification of Eligibility 
B. Notification of Authorization to Accounting 
C. Postponement of Merit Salary Increase 
D. Failure to Process Eligibility for Merit Salary Increase 

Section 7:  Salary on Promotion ........................................................................................... 53 
Section 8:  Salary on Transfer .............................................................................................. 53 
Section 9:  Salary on Reinstatement .................................................................................... 53 
Section 10:  Salary on Demotion ............................................................................................ 53 

A. Involuntary Demotion 
B. Voluntary Demotion 

Section 11:  Salary on Position Reclassification ................................................................... 54 
A. Class with Same Salary Range 
B. Class with Higher Salary Range 
C. Class with Lower Salary Range 
D. Employee Incentive Pay 
E. Step Increases 

 
 
 
 



 

v 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 12:  Overtime .......................................................................................................... 55 
A. Definition of Overtime 
B. Prior Authorization 
C. Rate 
D. Compensatory Time Off 

Section 13:  Exceptional Performance Awards ..................................................................... 56 
A. Annual Initiation of Program 
B. Amount of Award 
C. Eligibility 
D. Justification 
E. Executive Director Approval 

Section 14:  Bilingual Incentive Pay ................................................................................... 58 
Section 15:    Employee Referral Fee Program ................................................................... 58 
Section 16:      On Call Pay .................................................................................................... 59 
Section 17:  Insurance Benefits .............................................................................................. 59 
Section 18: Medicare ........................................................................................................ 59 
Section 19: Pay Period ...................................................................................................... 59 
Section 20: Pay Days ........................................................................................................ 59 
Section 21:     Time Entry  ..................................................................................................... 60 
Section 22:      Licensure/Certification Incentive Pay …….………….………..…….…………60 
Section 23:      License/Registration Renewal Pay …………………………..………..……… 60 

 
RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS 

Section 1:  Vacation .........................................................................................................  60 
A. Basis of Accrual 
B. Vacation Accrual 
C. Effects of Holiday on Vacation Leave 
D. Effects of Sick Leave on Vacation Leave 
E. Scheduling Vacations 
F. Vacation Accrual Cash Out 
G. Payment on Separation 

Section 2:  Sick Leave ...................................................................................................... 62 
A. Accrual of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees 
B. Accrual of and Eligibility for Sick Leave or Part-Time and Temporary 

Employees 
C. Accumulation of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees 
D. Use of Sick Leave 
E. Notification and Proof of Illness 
F. Payment Upon Separation 



 

vi 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(Continued) 
PAGE 

Section 3:  Holidays ......................................................................................................... 64 
A. Authorized Holidays 
B. Use of Floating Holidays 
C. Weekends 
D. Flextime and Holidays 
E. During Unpaid Leaves 
F. New Hires 

Section 4:  Compensatory Time Off ................................................................................. 65 
Section 5:  Pregnancy Disability Leave ........................................................................... 65 
Section 6:  Family and Medical Leave / Family Rights Act ............................................. 65 
Section 7:        Baby Bonding Leave ...................................................................................... 65 
Section 8:  Military Leave ................................................................................................. 66 

Section 9:  Leave of Absence without Pay ...................................................................... 66 
A. General Policy 
B. Authorization Procedure 
C. Length of Leave and Extension 
D. Return From Leave 

   Section 10:     Bereavement Leave ....................................................................................... 67 
Section 11:  Workers’ Compensation ................................................................................ 67 
Section 12:  Employee Time Off For Voting ...................................................................... 68 
Section 13: Family School Partnership Act / Parental Leave ........................................... 68 
Section 14: Jury Duty ........................................................................................................ 68 
Section 15:     Witness Leave ............................................................................................... 69 

A. Subpoena 
B. Exception for Employee-Initiated or Non-Authority Related Lawsuits 

Section 16: Time Off for Victims of Violent Crimes, Stalking, or Domestic Violence ....... 69 
   Section 17:     Administrative Leave ..................................................................................... 70                                                                                    
 
RULE VII. EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 

Section 1: Training .......................................................................................................... 70 
A. Responsibility 
B. Orientation 
C. Mandatory All Staff Trainings 

  
 
 
 

 



 

vii 

Personnel Rules and Regulations 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(continued) 
 PAGE 
RULE VIII.   SEPARATION 

Section 1: Resignation  ................................................................................................... 72 
Section 2: Retirement System / Retirement ................................................................... 72 
Section 3: Layoff Procedures .......................................................................................... 72 
Section 4: Extended Benefits / COBRA .......................................................................... 73 

 
RULE IX. DISCIPLINE 

Section 1: Disciplinary And Appeals Procedures ........................................................... 73 
A. Excluded Positions 
B. Notification and Approval of Department Directors 
C. Basis for Disciplinary Action 
D. Types of Discipline 
E. Procedures for Discipline 
F. Evidentiary Appeal Procedure Following Disciplinary Action for 

Discharge, Demotion, Reduction in Salary or Suspension without 
Pay.   

 
RULE X. RECORDS 
  Section 1: Personnel File ................................................................................................ 85 

A. Official File 
B. Update of File 
C. Medical Information 
D. References and Release of Information in Personnel Files 
E. Employee Access to Personnel File 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

viii 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page intentionally left blank.) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 1 of 85 
 

 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Personnel Rules and Regulations 

 
 

RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 
 
As a public behavioral health system of care, Tri-City Mental Health Authority (the Authority or Tri-
City) recognizes that employees (human resources) are the Authority’s greatest assets.  These rules 
and regulations are set forth to provide policies for the management of personnel operations for Tri-
City.  Tri-City reserves the right to revise, modify, delete or add to any and all policies, procedures, 
work rules or benefits stated in these rules and regulations or in any other document.  All such 
revisions will be effective only upon approval by the Governing Board. The Human Resources 
Department is responsible for the implementation and the administrative interpretation of these rules 
and the maintenance of records related thereto.  These rules are/may be supplemented by Clinical, 
Operational and Accounting Policies and Procedures.   
 
These rules do not create any contract of employment, express or implied, or any rights in 
the nature of a contract. 
 
Please read this booklet carefully and keep it for future reference. 
 
These rules and regulations shall supersede any prior personnel rules and regulations and became 
effective upon approval by the Governing Board on January 18, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 2 of 85 
 

 

 
RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
SECTION 1. OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES TO WHICH RULES AND REGULATIONS ARE 

APPLICABLE 
These rules and regulations shall apply to all full-time (40 hours per week) employees holding offices, 
positions, and employment in the competitive service of the Authority except those employees or 
groups excluded below or where the rules and regulations specifically provide otherwise. Unless 
otherwise specified, excluded employees and groups are: 
A. Members of the Governing Board; 

B. Members of the Mental Health Commission and appointed committees; 

C. Persons engaged under contract to supply expert, professional or technical services for a 
definite period of time; 

D. Volunteer personnel including those who receive no regular compensation from the Authority; 

E. Employees in the Executive Management Service.  Positions presently included in this status 
are:  Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer, Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief 
Operations Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, Chief Compliance Officer, and 
Medical Director; 

F. Psychiatrists; 

G. Part-Time Employees;  

H. Temporary Employees. 
 
Individuals in the categories listed above are not included in the competitive service to which these 
rules and regulations apply, but rather serve in an at-will status at the pleasure of the appointing 
authority. Such individuals have no property right in continued employment, are prohibited from the 
attainment of regular employment status, have no entitlement to pre-disciplinary rights or 
procedures, and are specifically excluded from disciplinary administrative appeal procedures 
contained in these rules and regulations.   
 
SECTION 2.   DEFINITION OF TERMS  
All words and terms used in these rules and regulations and in any resolution dealing with personnel 
policies and procedures shall be defined as they are normally and generally defined in the field of 
personnel administration.  For the purpose of convenience, however, the following words and terms 
most commonly used are hereinafter defined: 
 
 “ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE” means leave approved by the Executive Director for special 
situations for which ordinary leaves such as annual/vacation, sick/medical, holiday, jury duty, and 
bereavement do not apply.  Included, but not limited to, is substituted time off granted to FLSA 
“exempt” employees for pre-approved hours worked beyond the normal workweek. 
 
 “ADVANCEMENT” means a salary increase within the limits of the pay range established for 
classes provided by resolution. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 3 of 85 
 

 

 “ALLOCATION” means the assignment of a single position to its proper class in accordance with 
the duties exercised, and the educational and experience requirements; or, the assignment of a class 
to a salary range or rate. 
 
 “ANNIVERSARY DATE” means date of initial appointment of an employee. (Also See Salary 
Anniversary Date) 
 
 “APPOINTING AUTHORITY” means the Executive Director or other officer who has been 
delegated the power to fill positions in the competitive service or to administer discipline. 
 
 “APPOINTMENT” means the employment of a person in a position. 
 
 “AT-WILL” means employment at the pleasure of the appointing authority. Individuals employed 
in an at-will status do not serve a probationary period, have no property right in continued 
employment, have no entitlement to pre-disciplinary rights or procedures, and are excluded from 
termination administrative appeal procedures. 
 
 “BASE SALARY” means the salary range and rate established in a salary resolution by the 
Governing Board exclusive of any overtime, shift differential, incentive, or other type of premium pay 
an employee may receive. 
 
 “CALL BACK DUTY” occurs when an employee is unexpectedly ordered by his/her department 
to return to duty, following the completion of his/her normal work shift or work week, because of 
unanticipated work requirements. 
 
 “CLASS” means all positions sufficiently similar in duties, authority, responsibilities, and minimum 
qualifications grouped for the equitable application of common standards of selection and 
compensation. 
 
 “CLASSIFICATION PLAN” means the designation by resolution of the Governing Board of a title 
for each class together with the specifications for each class as prepared and maintained by the 
Personnel Officer. 
 
 “CLASS SPECIFICATIONS” means a written description of a class, setting forth the essential 
characteristics, functions, and requirements of the positions in the class. 
 
 “COMPENSATORY TIME OFF” means time taken off, with pay, from work in lieu of overtime 
pay. 
 
 “COMPETITIVE SERVICE” means all positions in the Authority service except those specifically 
excluded by these rules.  Those excluded positions (listed in Rule II, Section 1 “Officers and 
Employees to Which Rules and Regulations are Applicable”) serve in an at-will status at the pleasure 
of the appointing authority. 
 
 “CONTINUOUS SERVICE” means the employment without a break or interruption in the 
competitive service.  A break or interruption in continuous service shall be construed as an absence 
of the employee from his/her employment initiated by either the Authority or the employee for periods 
of time of more than six consecutive months in an unpaid status. 
 
 “DEMOTION” means the voluntary or involuntary reduction of an employee from a position in 
one class to a position in another class having a lower maximum base salary rate and less 
responsible duties and/or less job qualifications.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 4 of 85 
 

 

 “DISCIPLINE” generally means an action taken against an employee such as a verbal or written 
reprimand, suspension from work without pay, demotion, reduction in pay or discharge to correct 
performance deficiencies. 
   
 “DISCRIMINATION” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12.) 
 
 “DISMISSAL” means the involuntary separation of an employee from the Authority’s service. 
 
 “DOMESTIC PARTNER” includes those persons who are legally registered as domestic partners 
with the California Secretary of State and who meet the minimum requirements set forth in California 
Family Code section 297. 
 
 “ELIGIBLE” means a person who may be appointed to a vacant position in the competitive 
service as provided by these rules. 
 
 “ELIGIBILITY LIST” means a list of names of persons who have been examined/interviewed for 
a position in the competitive service and who have passed and are ranked on the list based on the 
score received. 
 
 “EXEMPT CLASSES” means those classes of positions that, by the nature of the job 
requirements, do not earn overtime.  These classes include management and confidential classes 
that have been determined to be ineligible for overtime compensation as exempt classifications 
under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). 
 
 “FULL-TIME POSITION” means a position in the competitive service of the Authority which 
requires at least 40 hours of work per week for employees employed after June 1, 1990.  
 
 “GRIEVANCE” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 8, Page19) 
 
 “HARASSMENT” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12) 
 
 “LAYOFF” means the separation of an employee from Authority service for reasons of economy 
or reductions or elimination of Authority services. 
 
 “MERIT SALARY INCREASE” means the increase of an employee’s salary within the salary 
range established for the class of position he/she occupies based on job performance in such 
position.  
 
 “OVERTIME” means written pre-approved time which an interim, probationary, or regular 
non-exempt employee is required to work in excess of the regular maximum number of hours 
prescribed for a full-time employee in that classification in a work period as described in these rules 
and regulations. 
 
 “PART-TIME POSITION” means a position having a work week of fewer hours than the work 
week established for full-time positions or a position compensated at a straight hourly rate and 
receiving only those benefits mandated by state or federal law.  Part-time employees may not attain 
regular employment status and  are  at-will employee. 
 
 “POSITION” means a combination of duties and responsibilities assigned to a specific 
employment description, whether occupied or vacant, carrying certain duties by an individual on 
either a full-time or part-time basis. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 5 of 85 
 

 

 “PROBATIONARY APPOINTMENT” means the probationary employment of an eligible 
candidate in a full-time position.  A probationary appointment is for a specified working test period, 
during which job performance is evaluated as a basis for a subsequent regular appointment or 
dismissal without right of appeal. Part-time employees are not eligible for probationary appointments 
as they are prohibited from attaining regular employment status. 
 
 “PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE” means a full-time employee who has a probationary 
appointment serving a probationary work test period for a regular position in a classification in which 
he/she is currently employed. 
 
 “PROBATIONARY PERIOD” means a working test period that is part of the selection process 
and during which time a full-time employee is required to demonstrate his/her fitness for the duties 
of the position to which he/she has been assigned by actual performance of such duties.  The term 
“initial probationary period” means an employee’s first probationary period during his/her continuous 
Authority employment.  Promotion to a new position results in the commencement of a probationary 
period in the higher class. 
 
 “PROMOTION” means the advancement of an employee from a position in one classification to 
a position in another classification having a higher level of duties, responsibilities, qualifications and 
a higher maximum rate of pay. 
 
 “PROVISIONAL/INTERIM APPOINTMENT” means the appointment of a person to a 
classification in the Authority service on an interim basis during which that person will continue to 
occupy the position from which he/she was appointed for a period of six (6) months and may be 
extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Except in cases of retired annuitants, in which the 
appointment would be limited to 960 hours per fiscal year (See Definition under Rule IV, Section 10, 
Page 45)   
 
 “RECLASSIFICATION” means the reassignment of a position from one class to a different class 
in accordance with a reevaluation of the minimum qualifications, duties, and responsibilities of the 
position.  A reclassification is not a punitive action and does not apply when duties are voluntarily 
assumed by the employee.  A reclassification shall not be used as a means to circumvent the 
promotion procedure.  A reclassification can occur only when budget authority exists for a position 
in a different class. 
 
 “REDUCTION” means a salary and/or classification decrease for an employee, generally 
associated with a disciplinary action. 
 
 “REGULAR EMPLOYEE” means an employee who has successfully completed the initial 
probationary period and who regularly works a minimum of 40 hours per week. Such an employee 
shall become a full-time regular employee and shall be entitled to all the benefits provided herein.  
 
  “REINSTATEMENT” means the reappointment of an employee to a position in the same or 
comparable class within six (6) months of his/her resignation in good standing provided a position is 
available.  Credit shall be granted for prior service in terms of the level of benefits accrued and 
seniority.  A reinstated employee shall serve a new probationary period. 
 
 “REJECTION” means the involuntary separation from Authority service of an employee who has 
not successfully completed his/her probationary period or the reduction of an employee who did not 
successfully complete his/her probationary period in a promotion to a position in a different class in 
which he/she had previously acquired regular status. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 6 of 85 
 

 

 “RESIGNATION” means the voluntary separation of an employee from Authority service.  An 
employee wishing to leave in good standing shall file a written notice of intent to resign his/her 
position. The employee shall give at least two (2) calendar weeks’ notice of intention to leave the 
service, unless the supervisor consents to the employee leaving sooner. (See Rule VIII, Section 1, 
Page 73)   
 
 “RETALIATION” (See Definition under Rule II, Section 6, Page 12) 
 
 “SALARY ANNIVERSARY DATE” means the future date on which an employee is eligible, on 
the basis of satisfactory job performance for a prescribed period, for a merit salary increase within 
the salary range established for the class of position he/she occupies.  (Also See Anniversary Date 
on Page 50. 
 
 “SALARY PLAN” means the assignment by the Governing Board resolution of salary ranges 
and/or salary rates to each class. 
 
 “SALARY RANGE” means the minimum and maximum salary rates for a class as established by 
resolution of the Governing Board. 
 
 “SALARY RATE” means the dollar amount assigned within a salary range. 
 
 “SCHEDULED PAID HOLIDAY” means an eight (8) hour paid holiday for full time staff. 
 
 “SENIORITY” means length of full-time employment service with the Authority. 
 
 “SPOUSE” is defined by California law, but generally indicates a person with whom there is a 
legal marriage and/or other legally sanctioned relationship. 
 
 “SUSPENSION” means the temporary and involuntary separation of an employee, for a specified 
period of time, from the service, without pay, for disciplinary purposes. 
 
 “TEMPORARY APPOINTMENT” means an appointment to a position for a period of six months 
or less which may be extended by the Executive Director for a maximum of an additional six months. 
 
 “TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE” means a person who has been appointed to a position for a limited 
period. 
 
 “TEMPORARY POSITION” means a full-time or part-time position of limited duration. 
 
 “TERMINATION” means the separation of an employee from Authority service due to layoff, 
retirement, resignation, dismissal, or death. 
 
 “TITLE,” “CLASS TITLE,” “TITLE OF CLASS” means the official name applied to a class and to 
each position allocated to the class and to the incumbent of each position. 
  
 “TRANSFER” means a change of an employee from one position to another position in the same 
classification or in another classification having the same maximum salary rate, involving the 
performance of basically similar duties, and requiring substantially the same minimum qualifications. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 7 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3.   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT - POWERS AND DUTIES   
 
The Human Resources Department or his/her designee or agency employed for that purpose, shall: 
 
A. Prepare and recommend to the Governing Board, as required, amendments to these rules 

and regulations. 
 
B. Prepare a “salary compensation” plan and revisions thereto as required. 
 
C. Be responsible for administration of the following procedures within the framework of these 

rules and regulations. 
  

1. The formulation of specifications for each class of position in the competitive service 
of the Authority. 
 

2. The allocation of positions to class in the competitive service on the basis of duties, 
responsibilities, and requirements. 

 
3. The public announcement of vacancies and examinations and the acceptance of 

applications for employment. 
 

4. The preparation and conduct of examinations/interviews and the establishment and 
use of eligibility lists containing names of persons eligible for appointment. 

 
5. The certification and appointment of persons from eligibility lists to fill vacancies and 

the making of temporary and emergency appointments. 
 

6. The evaluation of employees during the probationary period and periodically 
thereafter. 

 
7. The transfer, promotion, demotion, discipline, and re-employment of employees in the 

competitive service. 
 

8. The setting of hours of work, attendance and leave regulations, and working 
conditions. 

 
9. The promotion of employee morale, welfare, training, and safety. 

 
10. The voluntary and involuntary separation of employees from the competitive service. 

 
11. The maintenance and use of necessary records and forms, including payroll 

certification. 
 

12. The establishment and maintenance of suitable methods of effective communication 
between employees and their supervisors; between employees and the Executive 
Director; and between employees and the Governing Board, relating to conditions of 
employment in the Authority service. 

 
13. The development of a pay and benefit package for management, confidential, and 

unrepresented employees and the presentation of this package to the Governing 
Board. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 8 of 85 
 

 

14. The development and administration of the Authority’s employee-employer 
relationship program consistent with State law. 

 
15. The development and administration of policies which assure an unbiased work 

environment and fully protect the rights of each employee. 
 
SECTION 4.   EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY      
 
This section applies to all employees of and applicants for employment with the Authority.  
The Authority prohibits discrimination against employees or applicants for employment on the basis 
of race, color, religion and religious creed, sex (including pregnancy), gender, gender identity 
(including transgender and transsexual), gender expression, national origin, ancestry, citizenship 
status, age (40 and over), marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic 
characteristics or information, sexual orientation, military and veteran status or any other basis 
protected by law.   
The Authority will afford equal employment opportunity to all qualified employees and applicants as 
to all terms and conditions of employment, including compensation, hiring, training, promotion, 
transfer, discipline, and termination.  Employees, volunteers, or applicants who believe they have 
experienced any form of employment discrimination or abusive conduct are encouraged to report 
this immediately to Human Resources, or to contact the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission or the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing.  
 
SECTION 5.  REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION POLICY      
 
This section applies to all applicants to the Authority and all employees, volunteers and interns of 
the Authority, to the extent required by law.  
 
A. Policy. 
 

Absent undue hardship or direct threats to the health and safety of employee(s), the Authority 
provides employment-related reasonable accommodations to:  
 
1. Qualified individuals with disabilities within the meaning of the California Fair 

Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”) and Title I of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (“ADA”), to enable them to perform essential job functions;  

 
2. Employees with conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth, or a related medical 

condition, if she so requests, and with the advice of her health care provider;  
 
3. Employee victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to promote the 

safety of the employee victim while at work; and 
 
4. Employees who request reasonable accommodation to address a conflict between 

religious belief or observance and any employment requirement (see Section 5(C).) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 9 of 85 
 

 

B. Procedure. 
 

1. Request for Accommodation. An employee who desires a reasonable 
accommodation in order to perform essential job functions should make such a 
request in writing to the Human Resources Department. The request should identify: 
a) the job-related functions at issue; and b) the desired accommodation(s). 

 
2. Documentation or Certification Indicating Need for Reasonable Accommodation. 
 

a. Disability. If the disability or the need for reasonable accommodation is not 
obvious, the Authority may require the individual to provide reasonable medical 
documentation confirming the existence of the disability and the need for 
reasonable accommodation, along with the name and credentials of the 
individual’s health care provider.  If the individual provides insufficient 
documentation, the Authority will:  1) explain the insufficiency; 2) allow the 
employee or applicant to supplement the documentation; and 3) pursue the 
interactive process only to the extent that the request for reasonable 
accommodation is supported by the medical documentation provided.  
 

b. Pregnancy or Related Condition. If a pregnant employee, or an employee with 
a pregnancy-related condition, requests a reasonable accommodation or transfer 
due to pregnancy, the Authority will provide the employee with notice of the need 
for a medical certification within two business days after the employee’s request 
for accommodation. A medical certification confirming the need for a reasonable 
accommodation, including transfer, is sufficient if it contains: a description of the 
requested accommodation or transfer; a statement describing the medical 
advisability of the accommodation or transfer due to pregnancy; and the date that 
the need for the accommodation or transfer will become necessary and the 
estimated duration of the accommodation or transfer.    

 
c. Victim Status. An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, 

or stalking and who requests an accommodation to provide for his or her safety 
while at work must provide both of the following:  

 
i. a written statement signed by the employee or an individual acting on the 

employee's behalf, to certify that the accommodation is to address victim-
safety concerns while at work; and  

ii. a certification demonstrating the employee's status as a victim of domestic 
violence, sexual assault, or stalking, which can be in the form of: a police 
report indicating the employee's victim status; a court order separating the 
perpetrator from the employee or that the employee has appeared in court for 
that purpose; or documentation from a medical professional or counselor that 
the employee is undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse 
resulting from an act of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 

 
3. Fitness for Duty Examination.  The Authority may require an employee to undergo a 

fitness for duty examination when there is significant evidence that:  
 

a. the employee's ability to perform one or more essential functions of his or her job 
has declined; or  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 10 of 85 
 

 

b. could cause a reasonable person to question whether an employee is still capable 
of performing one or more of his or her essential job duties, or is still capable of 
performing those duties in a manner that does not harm him or herself or others.  

 
The purpose of the examination is to determine whether the employee has a disability 
and is able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable 
accommodation, and it will be conducted at the Authority’s expense. The Authority 
may also require that an Authority approved physician conduct the examination.   

 
4. Interactive Process Discussion. The Authority will initiate the interactive process 

when: 
 

a. an applicant or employee with a known physical or mental disability or medical 
condition requests reasonable accommodation(s); or 

b. the Authority otherwise becomes aware of the need for an accommodation 
through a third party (e.g. a doctor's note requesting an accommodation), or by 
observation of the employee's work; or 

c. the Authority becomes aware of the possible need for an accommodation because 
the employee with a disability has exhausted workers' compensation leave, 
Family and Medical Act leave, or other leave rights, but the employee and/or the 
employee's health care provider indicate that further accommodation is still 
necessary for recuperative leave or other accommodation; or 

d. an employee disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions 
requests a reasonable accommodation or transfer based on the advice of her 
health care provider; or 

e. an employee with a physical or mental disability, regardless of cause, fails to 
return to work following pregnancy disability leave; or 

f. an employee-victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking requests a 
reasonable accommodation(s) for his or her safety at work. 

After the occurrence of any of the above-stated circumstances that trigger the need 
to conduct an interactive process meeting, the Authority will promptly arrange for a 
discussion(s), in person or via telephone conference call, with the applicant or 
employee, and his or her representative(s), if any. The purpose of the discussion(s) 
is to work in good faith to fully consider all feasible potential reasonable 
accommodations. The Authority will document these communications in writing. 

 
5. Case-by-Case Determination. Based on the particular facts of each case, the 

Authority will determine, in its sole discretion, whether reasonable accommodation(s) 
can be made, and the type of accommodation(s) to provide. The Authority will not 
provide accommodation(s) that would pose an undue hardship upon Authority 
finances or operations, or that would endanger the health or safety of the employee 
or others. The Authority will inform the employee of its decision as to reasonable 
accommodation(s) in writing. 

 
C. Accommodations for Sincerely Held Religious Beliefs and Observances 
 

1.       Request for Accommodation. The Authority also provides employment-related 
reasonable accommodations to individuals based upon religious belief within the 
meaning of the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, unless doing so would 
cause an undue burden on the Authority.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 11 of 85 
 

 

Any person who desires such a reasonable accommodation should make such a 
request in writing to the Human Resources Department. The request should identify 
the desired accommodation(s).  Upon a request for a religious accommodation, if the 
Authority has an objective basis for questioning either the religious nature or sincerity 
of a particular belief or practice, the Authority may seek additional information. 
 

2.       Case-by-Case Determination. Based on the particular facts of each case, the 
Authority determines, in its sole discretion, whether reasonable accommodation(s) 
can be made, and the type of accommodation(s) to provide. The Authority will 
consider the preference of the employee or applicant, but has the right to select and 
implement any accommodation that it deems effective. The Authority will inform the 
employee of its decision as to reasonable accommodation(s) in writing.  

    
D. Service and Support Animals 
 

1.       The Authority permits employees, volunteers and interns to bring a service or support 
animal (“assistive animal”) into the workplace where necessary as a reasonable 
accommodation under FEHA and the ADA.   
 

2. Definitions.   
 

a. Assistive Animal.  An assistive animal means an animal that is necessary as a 
reasonable accommodation for a person with a disability. An assistive animal 
includes, but is not limited to guide dogs, signal animals, service animals, and 
support animals.  

b. Service Animal.  A service animal is defined as a dog or other animal individually 
trained to the requirements of the individual with a disability, including, but not 
limited to, minimal protection work, rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, or fetching 
dropped items.  The work or tasks performed by a service animal must be directly 
related to the employee, intern or volunteer’s disability. 

c. Support Animal. A support animal is defined as a dog or other animal that 
provides emotional, cognitive or other similar support to a person with a disability, 
including, but not limited to, traumatic brain injuries or mental disabilities, such as 
major depression.   

 
3. Requests for Accommodation.  An employee, volunteer or intern (“individual”) 

requesting as a reasonable accommodation the use of an assistive animal must 
comply with Subsection B, above.  The Authority may require the individual to provide 
certification from his or her healthcare provider stating that he or she has a disability 
(diagnosis not to be provided) and explaining why the assistive animal is necessary 
as an accommodation to enable the individual to perform the essential functions of 
his or her job.  The individual must also confirm that the assistive animal meets the 
minimum requirements set forth in Paragraph 4 below.  Whether an assistive animal 
constitutes a reasonable accommodation shall be determined on a case-by-case 
basis.   
 

4. Approved Assistive Animals.  Approved assistive animals must: (1) be free from 
offensive odors and display habits appropriate to the work environment, for example, 
the elimination of urine and feces; (2) not engage in behavior that endangers the 
health or safety of the individual or others in the workplace; and  
(3) if the assistive animal is a service animal, be trained to provide assistance for the 
individual’s disability.  Such assistance may include, but is not limited to, assisting 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 12 of 85 
 

 

individuals who are blind or have low vision with navigation and other tasks, alerting 
individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing to the presence of people or sounds, 
pulling a wheelchair, and assisting an individual during a seizure.  Additionally:  

 
a. All assistive animals must be immunized against rabies and other diseases 

common to that type of animal and must otherwise be in good health.  All 
vaccinations must be current.  All assistive animals must wear a rabies 
vaccination tag to the extent required by law.   

b. All animals must be registered and licensed as required per California law.  
c. All assistive animals must at all times wear an identification tag, which includes 

the name and phone number of the owner or disabled individual (the “handler”).  
d. All assistive animals must be under the full control of the handler at all times.  The 

care and supervision of the animal is the sole responsibility of the handler.  The 
handler must not permit co-workers or other persons to maintain or supervise the 
animal and may not leave the animal unattended for any length of time.  Dogs 
may also not bark repeatedly unless required to do so as a part of the task being 
performed.     

e. All assistive animals must be housebroken.   
 

5. Removal.  Reasonable behavior is expected from assistive animals while on Authority 
property.  An assistive animal may be removed from an Authority facility temporarily 
or excluded from the facility permanently if the assistive animal is disruptive, 
aggressive, or otherwise out of control, in poor health, or habitually unclean.   
 
 

SECTION 6. POLICY AGAINST WORKPLACE DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT AND 
RETALIATION 

             
This section applies to all Authority applicants, employees regardless of rank or title, elected or 
appointed officials, interns, volunteers, and contractors (hereinafter referred to as “covered 
individuals”). For purposes of this Policy, “intern” is defined to include both paid and unpaid interns.  

 
A. Purpose.  
 

To establish a strong commitment to prohibit and prevent discrimination, harassment, and 
retaliation in employment; to define those terms; and to set forth a procedure for investigating 
and resolving internal complaints. The Authority encourages all individuals to report – as soon 
as possible – any conduct that is believed to violate this policy.   

 
B. Policy. 
 

1. The Authority has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this policy.  Conduct 
need not arise to the level of a violation of law in order to violate this policy.   Instead 
a single act can violate this policy and provide grounds for discipline, up to and 
including dismissal, or other appropriate sanctions.  If you are in doubt as to whether 
or not any particular conduct may violate this Policy, do not engage in the conduct, 
and seek guidance from a supervisor or the Human Resources Manager. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 13 of 85 
 

 

2. Harassment or discrimination against a covered individual by a supervisor, 
management employee, co-worker, volunteer, intern or contractor on the basis of 
race, color, religion or religious creed, sex, gender, gender identity (including 
transgender and transsexual), gender expression, national origin, ancestry, 
citizenship status, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, 
genetic information, sexual orientation, military or veteran status or any other basis 
protected by law will not be tolerated.    

 
3. This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including, but not limited 

to, hiring, placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of 
absence, compensation and training. 

 
4. Disciplinary action or other appropriate sanction up to and including dismissal will be 

instituted for prohibited behavior as defined below. 
 

5. Any retaliation against a person or the family member of a person for filing a 
complaint, participating in the complaint resolution process, or engaging in any other 
protected activity is prohibited.  Discrimination or retaliation against an individual for 
requesting a reasonable accommodation for a disability or religious belief, regardless 
of whether the accommodation was granted, is likewise prohibited.  Individuals found 
to be retaliating in violation of this policy will be subject to appropriate sanction or 
disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

 
C. Definitions. 
 

1. Protected Classifications.  This policy prohibits harassment, discrimination, or 
retaliation because of an individual’s protected classification. “Protected 
classification” includes race, color, religion or religious creed, sex, gender, gender 
identity ( including transgender and transsexual) , gender expression, national origin, 
ancestry, citizenship status, age (40 and over), marital status, physical or mental 
disability, medical condition, genetic information, military and veteran status, sexual 
orientation, and any other basis protected by law.  

 

a. “Gender expression” means a person’s gender-related appearance or behavior, 
whether or not stereotypically associated with the person’s sex at birth. 

b. “Gender identity” means a person’s identification as male, female, a gender 
different from the person’s sex at birth, or transgender. “Transgender” is a general 
term that refers to a person whose gender identity differs from the person’s sex at 
birth.  

c. “Sex” includes but is not limited to pregnancy; childbirth; breastfeeding; medical 
conditions related to pregnancy, childbirth or breastfeeding; gender identity; and 
gender expression. A transgender employee is protected against harassment, 
discrimination and retaliation for purposes of pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding 
and their related conditions.   

  
2. Policy Coverage. This policy prohibits covered individuals from harassing, 

discriminating, or retaliating against covered individuals because: 
 

a. Of an individual protected classification,  
b. Of the perception that an individual has a protected classification, or  
c. The individual associates with a person who has or is perceived to have a 

protected classification. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 14 of 85 
 

 

3. Discrimination.  This policy prohibits treating individuals differently and adversely 
because of the individual’s protected classification, actual or perceived; because the 
individual associates with a person who is member of a protected classification, actual 
or perceived; or because the individual participates in a protected activity as defined 
herein. 

 
4. Harassment.  Harassment includes, but is not limited to, the following types of 

behavior that is taken because of a person’s actual or perceived protected 
classification: 

  

a. Speech, such as epithets (e.g. nicknames and slang terms), derogatory or 
suggestive comments, propositioning, jokes or slurs, including graphic verbal 
commentaries about an individual’s body or that identify a person on the basis of 
his or her protected classification. This may also include comments about 
appearance and/or stories that tend to disparage those of a protected 
classification. 

b. Visual forms of harassment, such as derogatory posters, notices, bulletins, 
cartoons, drawings, sexually suggestive objects, or e-mails related to a protected 
classification. Visual harassment includes mimicking the way someone walks or 
talks because of their protected classification. 

c. Physical acts, such as assault, offensive touching, impeding or blocking 
movement, pinching, grabbing, patting, leering, making express or implied job-
related threats or promises in return for submission to physical acts, or any 
physical interference with normal work or movement. 

d. Unwanted sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other acts of a 
sexual nature, where submission is made a term or condition of employment, 
where submission to or rejection of the conduct is used as the basis for 
employment decisions, or where the conduct is intended to or actually does 
unreasonably interfere with an individual's work performance or create an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.   

e. Sexual harassment, may take the form of “quid pro quo” harassment or create a 
“hostile work environment.”  
i. “Quid pro quo” sexual harassment is characterized by explicit or implicit 

conditioning of a job or promotion on an applicant or employee’s submission 
to sexual advances or other conduct based on sex.   

ii. “Hostile work environment” sexual harassment occurs when unwelcome 
comments or conducted based on sex unreasonably interferes with the 
employee’s work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offense 
work environment.  Sexual harassment may occur even when the harassing 
conduct is not motivated by sexual desire.  

5. Guidelines for Identifying Harassment. To help clarify what constitutes harassment in 
violation of this Policy, use the following guidelines: 

 

a. Harassment includes any conduct which would be “unwelcome” to an individual 
of the recipient’s same protected classification and which is taken because of the 
recipient’s protected classification. 

b. It is no defense that the recipient appears to have voluntarily “consented” to the 
conduct at issue. A recipient may not protest for many legitimate reasons, 
including the need to avoid being insubordinate or to avoid being ostracized. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 15 of 85 
 

 

c. Simply because no one has complained about a joke, gesture, picture, physical 
contact, or comment does not mean that the conduct is welcomed. Harassment 
can evolve over time. Small, isolated incidents might be tolerated up to a point. 
The fact that no one is complaining now does not preclude anyone from 
complaining if the conduct is repeated in the future. 

d. Even visual, verbal, or physical conduct between two employees who appear to 
welcome the conduct can constitute harassment of a third individual who observes 
the conduct or learns about the conduct later. Conduct can constitute harassment 
even if it is not explicitly or specifically directed at an individual. 

e. Conduct can constitute harassment in violation of this Policy even if the individual 
engaging in the conduct has no intention to harass. Even well-intentioned conduct 
can violate this Policy if the conduct is directed at, or implicates a protected 
classification, and if an individual of the recipient’s same protected classification 
would find it offensive (e.g., gifts, over attention, endearing nicknames). 

 
6. Protected Activity.  A “protected activity” includes, but is not limited to any of the 

following: 
 

a. Filing a complaint with a federal or state enforcement or administrative agency;  
b. Participating in or cooperating with a federal or state enforcement agency that is 

conducting an investigation of the Authority regarding alleged unlawful activity; 
c. Testifying as a party, witness, or accused regarding alleged unlawful activity;  
d. Associating with another employee who is engaged in any of the protected 

activities enumerated here; 
e. Making or filing an internal complaint with the Authority regarding alleged unlawful 

activity or violation of this Policy;  
f. Opposing violations of this Policy; 
g. Participating in an investigation under this Policy; 
h. Providing informal notice to the Authority regarding alleged unlawful activity or 

violations of this Policy; Calling a governmental agency’s “Whistleblower hotline;” 
i. Filing a written complaint under penalty of perjury that the Authority has engaged 

in “gross mismanagement, a significant waste of public funds, or a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety;” 

j. Making a request for an accommodation for a disability; or 
k. Making a request for accommodation for religious beliefs.  
 

7. Romantic and Sexual Relationships Between Supervisors and Subordinates.  
Romantic or sexual relationships between supervisors and subordinate employees 
are discouraged. There is an inherent imbalance of power and potential for 
exploitation in such relationships. The relationship may create an appearance of 
impropriety and lead to charges of favoritism by other employees.   
A welcomed sexual relationship may change, with the result that sexual conduct that 
was once welcome becomes unwelcomed and harassing. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 16 of 85 
 

 

8. Retaliation.  Any adverse conduct taken against a covered individual because of the 
individual’s protected activity as defined in this Policy, or because an individual’s 
family member has engaged in a protected activity. Retaliation of any kind is strictly 
prohibited. Any act of reprisal violates this Policy and will result in appropriate 
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

 
Examples of actions that might be retaliation against a complainant, witness or other 
participant in the complaint process includes:  

 
a. Singling a person out for harsher treatment;  
b. Lowering a performance evaluation;  
c. Failing to hire, failing to promote, withholding pay increases, assigning more 

onerous work, abolishing a position, demotion or discharge; or 
d. Real or implied threats of intimidation to prevent an individual from reporting 

alleged wrongdoing, harassment, or discrimination. Any act of retaliation will be 
treated as a separate and distinct incident, regardless of the outcome of the 
harassment or discrimination complaint. 

 
SECTION 7. COMPLAINT PROCEDURE FOR DISCRIMINATION, HARASSMENT AND 

RETALIATION  
 
This section applies to all Authority applicants, employees regardless of rank or title, elected or 
appointed officials, interns, volunteers, and contractors (hereinafter referred to as “covered 
individuals”).  
 
The following complaint procedure is established for the investigation and resolution of unlawful   
harassment, discrimination and/or retaliation at the workplace.  This procedure will be used in place 
of the Grievance Procedure established in Rule II, Section 8 herein to investigate and resolve such 
complaints.   
 
An individual who utilizes the following complaint procedure may not simultaneously or subsequently 
use the Grievance Procedure established in Rule II, Section 8 herein relative to the same reported 
instance or instances.  
 
A. Complaint Procedure.  
 

A covered individual who feels he or she has been subjected to harassment, discrimination, 
or retaliation in violation of this Policy should report the conduct immediately as outlined 
below so that the complaint can be resolved quickly and fairly. All employees involved in the 
complaint process may be represented by a person of their choosing and at their own 
expense. A covered individual may make a complaint verbally or in writing to any of the 
following individuals:    
 
• Immediate Supervisor;  
• Any supervisor or manager within or outside of the department;  
• Chief Operations Officer; or  
• Human Resources Manager. 

  
There is no need to follow the chain of command. Any supervisor or manager who receives 
a complaint should notify the Human Resources Manager immediately. In addition to making 
a complaint, an individual can also:  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 17 of 85 
 

 

1. Object to the Conduct.  Sometimes an individual is unaware that his/her conduct is 
offensive. The offensive behavior may be eliminated by simply informing the offender 
that the conduct or language in question is unwelcome and offensive and request that 
it be discontinued immediately. A person who believes he/she is being harassed is 
encouraged, but not required, to use this process. If the conduct in question continues 
after the offending person has been informed it is offensive, or if a person does not 
feel comfortable talking to the offending person directly, the employee should make a 
report in accordance with Subsection b and c below or go directly to the formal 
reporting process. 
 

2. Option to Report to Outside Administrative Agencies.  Covered individuals have the 
option to report harassment, discrimination, or retaliation to the U.S. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or the California Department of Fair 
Employment and Housing (DFEH). 

 
B. Investigation of Complaint. 

 
Upon receipt of a complaint of alleged harassment, discrimination or retaliation, the Human 
Resources Manager will be responsible for coordinating a thorough investigation (unless 
he/she is named in the complaint). The Human Resources Manager may coordinate the 
investigation with the complainant’s department head and/or Director of MHSA and Ethnic 
Services and may hire an outside investigator if the Authority deems it appropriate. The type 
of investigation undertaken, and the party chosen to conduct the investigation will depend on 
the nature of the complaint made and will be determined by the Human Resources Manager. 
The Human Resources Manager will report the status of investigations to the Executive 
Director as appropriate.  The Human Resources Manager, in concurrence with the Chief 
Operations Officer and Executive Director, may take interim action to diffuse volatile 
circumstances. 
 
The investigator will review the complaint allegations in an objective manner and to the extent 
that the Authority deems necessary. The investigation will normally include interviews with 
the reporting individual, the accused, and any other person who is believed to have relevant 
knowledge concerning the allegations. The investigator will remind all witnesses to maintain 
the confidentiality of the interview and that retaliation against those who report alleged 
harassment or who participate in the investigation is prohibited. 
 
The Authority takes a proactive approach to potential Policy violations and will conduct an 
investigation if its officers, supervisors, or managers become aware that harassment, 
discrimination or retaliation may be occurring, regardless of whether or not the recipient of 
the alleged action or a third party reports a potential violation. 
 

C. Remedial and Disciplinary Action. 
 

If the investigation determines that the alleged conduct occurred and that the conduct violated 
this Policy, the Authority will notify the complainant and perpetrator of the general 
conclusion(s) of the investigation and take effective remedial action that is designed to end 
the violation(s). If discipline is imposed, the level of discipline will not be communicated to the 
complainant. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 18 of 85 
 

 

Any employee or officer determined to have violated this Policy will be subject to disciplinary 
action, up to and including termination. Disciplinary action may also be taken against any 
supervisor or manager who condones or ignores potential violations of this Policy, or who 
otherwise fails to take appropriate action to enforce this Policy. Any official or contractor found 
to have violated this Policy will be subject to appropriate sanctions. 

 
D. Final Recommendations. 
 
 The Human Resources Manager and Chief Operations Officer, in conjunction with legal 

counsel, and the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, may advise Department Head on 
recommended course of action in regards to the findings of the investigation of complaints 
regarding protected classifications. 

 
E. Closure. 
 

At the conclusion of the investigation, the Human Resources Manager will notify the 
complainant in general terms of the outcome of the investigation. 

 
F. Confidentiality. 

 
Every possible effort will be made to assure the confidentiality of complaints made under this 
policy. Complete confidentiality cannot be assured, however, due to the need to fully 
investigate and the duty to take effective remedial action. As a result, confidentiality will be 
maintained to the greatest extent allowed by law. An individual who is interviewed during the 
course of an investigation is prohibited from discussing the substance of the interview, except 
as otherwise directed by a supervisor or Human Resources or designee. Any individual who 
discusses the content of an investigatory interview will be subject to discipline or other 
appropriate sanction. The employer will not disclose a completed investigation report except 
as it deems necessary to support a disciplinary action, to take remedial action, to defend itself 
in adversarial proceedings, or to comply with the law or court order. 

 
G. Responsibilities. 
 

1. Managers and Supervisors are responsible for: 
 

a. Informing employees of this policy. 
b. Modeling appropriate behavior. 
c. Taking all steps necessary to prevent harassment, discrimination or retaliation 

from occurring. 
d. Receiving complaints in a fair and serious manner and documenting steps taken 

to resolve complaints. 
e. Monitoring the work environment and taking immediate appropriate action to stop 

potential violations, such as removing inappropriate pictures or correcting 
inappropriate language. 

f. Following up with those who have complained to ensure that the behavior has 
stopped and that there are no reprisals. 

g. Informing those who complain of harassment or discrimination of his or her option 
to contact the EEOC or DFEH regarding alleged policy violations. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 19 of 85 
 

 

h. Assisting, advising, or consulting with employees and Human Resources 
regarding this Policy and Complaint Procedure. 

i. Assisting in the investigation of complaints involving employee(s) in their 
departments and, if the complaint is substantiated, recommending appropriate 
corrective or disciplinary action in accordance with these Rules and Policies, up 
to and including discharge. 

j. Implementing appropriate disciplinary and remedial actions. 
k. Reporting potential violations of this policy of which he or she becomes aware to 

the Human Resources Department and/or designee and department head, 
regardless of whether a complaint has been submitted. 

l. Participating in periodic training and scheduling employees for training. 
 

2. Each employee, intern, volunteer, or contractor is responsible for: 
 

a. Treating all individuals in the workplace or on worksites with respect and 
consideration. 

b. Modeling appropriate behavior. 
c. Participating in periodic training. 
d. Fully cooperating with the Authority’s investigations by responding fully and 

truthfully to all questions posed during the investigation. 
e. Maintaining confidentiality of any investigation that the employer conducts by not 

disclosing the substance of any investigatory interview, except as directed by 
Human Resources. 

f. Reporting any act he or she believes in good faith constitutes harassment, 
discrimination or retaliation as defined in this Policy, to his or her immediate   
supervisor, or department head, or Human Resources.   

 
H. Mandatory Training.   

 
As part of its commitment to ensuring a work environment free from harassment and 
discrimination, the Authority requires that all of its employees receive training on this Policy 
at least once every two years or more frequently as determined by Human Resources. 
Human Resources will schedule training sessions each year to ensure that employees are 
able to complete the mandatory training. Attendance at the training will be documented. 

 
Any questions, concerns or comments related to this complaint procedure should be directed 
to the Human Resources Manager or the Chief Operations Officer.  

 
SECTION 8.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees of the Authority with the exception of at-will 
employees.       

 
A. Policy.   
  
 The goal of this grievance procedure is to make every reasonable effort to resolve applicable 

complaints as near as possible to the point of origin. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 20 of 85 
 

 

B. Eligibility to File a Grievance.   
  
 A grievant is a regular employee who is personally affected by an act or omission that 

occurred no more than 14 calendar days prior to the filing of the grievance, provided that the 
act or omission comes within the definition of “grievance” as described herein. 

 
C. Definition of “Grievance.”   
 
 Subject to the exclusions listed in this Policy, a grievance is defined as any dispute that:  
 

1. Is job-related,  
 
2. Is wholly or partially within the province of the Authority to rectify or remedy,  
 
3. Concerns terms and conditions of employment,  
 
4. Involves the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of these Policies, and  
 
5. Is not subject to any other Authority dispute resolution process or procedure that is 

provided by statute, ordinance, resolution or agreement. 
 
D. Exclusions from the Grievance Procedure.   
 
 The following matters are excluded from the definition of “grievance.” 
 

1. Requests for changes in wages, hours, or working conditions, including any impasse 
or dispute in the meet and confer process or matter within the scope of representation; 

 
2. Requests for changes in the content of employee evaluations or performance 

reviews, oral or written warnings, reprimands or counseling memos; 
 
3. Challenges to a decision to reclassify, layoff, transfer, deny reinstatement, or deny a 

step or merit increase; 
 
4. Challenges to any disciplinary action; and 
 
5. Challenges to examinations or the appointment to positions. 

 
E. Grievance Procedure.   
  
 The grievance procedure has the following four steps: 
 

1. Step 1:  Informal Discussion.    
 

Within 14 calendar days of the occurrence of the act(s) that constitute the grievance, 
an employee shall discuss the grievance with his/her immediate supervisor, who will 
investigate and/or attempt to resolve the matter. The supervisor will give the employee 
an oral reply within ten (10) calendar days after the discussion. If the employee is not 
satisfied with the reply or receives no timely reply, he or she may proceed to Step 2. 

 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 21 of 85 
 

 

2. Step 2:  Formal Discussion. 
 

a. Any grievance not resolved at Step 1 may be submitted in writing to the immediate 
supervisor no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of the supervisor’s 
oral reply.   

  
 If the employee does not receive a timely reply from his or her supervisor, he or 

she may submit a written grievance to the immediate supervisor no later than ten 
(10) calendar days after the expiration of the supervisor’s time to reply in Step 1. 

 
The written grievance must include all of the following: 
 
(1) A description of all facts regarding how the alleged violation occurred and how 

the grievant is/was adversely affected by the alleged violation; 
misinterpretation, or misapplication; 

(2) Identify the specific provision of these Rules and Regulations that was 
allegedly violated, misinterpreted, or misapplied;  

(3) The date or dates on which the violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication 
allegedly occurred; 

(4) The documents, witnesses or other evidence that support the grievance; 
(5) The desired solution or remedy; 
(6) The signature and identification of the grievant; and 
(7) The person, if any, the grievant has chosen to be his or her representative. 

b. No grievance will be accepted for processing until all of the information listed 
above is provided. Within ten (10) calendar days after the grievant provides all of 
the information listed above, the immediate supervisor may, in his or her 
discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant for the parties to work at resolving 
the grievance. The immediate supervisor shall give the grievant a written reply 
within ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the written grievance, or the meeting, 
whichever occurs later, and will file a copy in the grievance file. If the grievant is 
not satisfied with the response, or receives no timely response, he/she may 
proceed to Step 3. 

 
3. Step 3: Department Director. 
 

Any grievance not resolved at Step 2 may be submitted in writing to the department 
director (e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Operations Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic 
Services, Medical Director) no later than ten (10) calendar days after the date of the 
immediate supervisor’s written reply.  If the employee does not receive a timely reply 
from his or her supervisor in Step 2, he or she may submit a written grievance to the 
department director no later than ten (10) calendar days after the expiration of the 
supervisor’s time to reply in Step 2. 

 
The grievant shall provide the department director with copies of the Step 2 response. 
Within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, the department director may, in his or her 
discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant for the purpose of giving the parties 
the opportunity to resolve the grievance.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 22 of 85 
 

 

The department director will give the grievant a written reply within 14 calendar days 
after receipt of the written grievance, or the meeting, whichever occurs later, and will 
file a copy in the grievance file. If the grievant is not satisfied with the response or 
receives no timely response, he/she may proceed to Step 4. 
 

4. Step 4: Executive Director or Executive Designee  
 
The Executive Director may delegate non-involved executive level directors, 
department directors or other management-level employees to act on his or her behalf 
in this process.  
 
Any grievance not resolved at Step 3 may be submitted in writing to the Executive 
Director or Designee no later than 10 days after the date of the department director’s 
written reply.   If the employee does not receive a timely reply from the department 
director in Step 3, he or she may submit a written grievance to the Executive Director 
or Designee no later than 10 calendar days after the expiration of the department 
director’s time to reply in Step 3. 
 
The grievant shall provide the Executive Director or Designee with copies of the Step 
2 and 3 responses. Within ten (10) calendar days thereafter, the Executive Director 
or Designee may, at his or her discretion, schedule a meeting with the grievant to 
discuss the matter. After consideration of the facts and an investigation, if the 
Executive Director or Designee deems necessary, he or she will give his or her written 
decision to the grievant. 
 

5. Executive Director’s Decision on Grievance. 
 

If the Executive Director delegates a management-level employee to act on his or her 
behalf during Step 4 of the grievance process, the Executive Designee will render an 
advisory recommendation to the Executive Director.  
 
The Executive Director’s decision will be final and binding. The Executive Director’s 
decision will be limited as follows: 

 
a. The decision shall neither add to, detract from, nor modify the language of these 

Personnel Rules and Regulations. 
b. The decision shall be confined to the precise issue(s) the grievance has raised 

and that the grievant has submitted. 
c. Any monetary award in favor of the grievant may not exceed wages or benefits 

that the grievant has actually lost as a result of the matters alleged in the 
grievance. In no event shall any grievance award include any compensatory 
damages or attorneys’ fees. 

 
F. Settlement of Grievance.   
 
 Any grievance will be deemed settled when it is not appealed to the next step within the 

specified time limit, unless an extension of time to a definite date has been mutually agreed 
upon in writing. Any grievance that the grievant fails to timely move to the next step shall be 
deemed resolved on the basis of the last disposition. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 23 of 85 
 

 

G. Representation.   
 
 An employee may have a representative of his or her choice present at all stages of the 

grievance procedure, except that no one may be represented by an employee he or she 
supervises, and no employee may be represented by his or her supervisor or department 
director. If the employee’s representative is a fellow employee, that employee will receive 
time off from his or her work assignment for the time of the grievance meeting or hearing plus 
reasonable travel time. Forty-eight hours prior to the grievance meeting, the employee shall 
inform the immediate supervisor, department director, Executive Director or Designee 
whether he or she shall be represented at the grievance meeting and shall identify the 
representative. 

 
H. No Retaliation.   
 
 An employee shall not be penalized for using this procedure.  However, the employee shall 

not be provided immunity from disciplinary action during the grievance process. 
 

I. Withdrawal.   
 
 A grievant may withdraw any grievance at any time, without prejudice, by giving written notice 

to the Authority representative who last took action on the grievance, and by providing a copy 
of the notice to the Human Resources Department. 

 
J. Resubmission.   
  
 Upon consent of the person hearing the grievance and the grievant, a grievance may be 

resubmitted to a lower step in the grievance procedure for reconsideration. 
 

K. Miscellaneous.   
  
 If an employee is given an order that he or she wishes to grieve, the employee must first 

comply with the order and file a grievance later, unless the employee reasonably believes 
that the assignment endangers the health or safety of the employee or others or if the 
employee reasonably believes that the requested assignment violates the employee’s 
constitutional rights or requires the employee to violate federal or state law. 
 

SECTION 9. DRUG FREE WORKPLACE/TESTING POLICY     
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
  
A.  Policy. 
 

1. The manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of alcohol, any 
controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug that has not been lawfully 
prescribed to the employee is prohibited in both Authority workplaces and wherever 
Authority business is performed. 
 

2. An Authority employee is prohibited from working or being subject to call in if impaired 
by alcohol, any controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug whether or not 
lawfully prescribed. 

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 24 of 85 
 

 

3. An employee must notify his/her supervisor before beginning work when taking 
medications or drugs, including but not limited to prescription drugs, over the counter 
medications, or illegal drugs or narcotics, which could interfere with the safe and 
effective performance of duties or operation of the Authority equipment. If there is a 
question regarding an employee’s ability to perform assigned duties safely and 
effectively while using prescribed medications, the Authority may require medical 
clearance. 

 
4. Compliance with this policy is a condition of the Authority employment. Disciplinary 

action will be taken against those who violate this policy. 
 
B. Scope of Policy. 
 

This policy applies to all Authority employees when they are on the Authority property or 
when performing the Authority-related business elsewhere. 
 

C. Searches. 
 

In order to promote a safe, productive and efficient workplace, the Authority has the right to 
search and inspect all Authority property, including but not limited to lockers, storage areas, 
furniture, Authority vehicles, and other places under the common control of the Authority, or 
joint control of the Authority, and employees. No employee has any expectation of privacy in 
any Authority building, property, or communications system. 

  
D. Drug and Alcohol Testing. 
 

The Authority has discretion to test a current employee for alcohol or drugs in the following 
instances: 

 
1. Reasonable Suspicion Testing.  The Authority may require a blood test, urinalyses, 

or other drug and/or alcohol screening of those persons reasonable suspected of 
using or being under the influence of a drug or alcohol at work. Testing must be 
approved by the Human Resources Supervisor or Manager, the department director, 
or a designee. 

 
“Reasonable suspicion” is based on objective factors, such as behavior, speech, body 
odor, appearance, or other evidence of recent drug or alcohol use which would lead 
a reasonable person to believe that the employee is under the influence of drugs or 
alcohol.  (Refer to Alcohol and Drug Abuse Policy, attached to these Personnel Rules 
as Exhibit A for further indicators.) The supervisor/Manager may not rely solely on 
long-term signs such as absenteeism. 
 
In order to receive authority to test, the supervisor must record the factors that support 
reasonable suspicion and discuss the matter with the Human Resources Supervisor 
or Manager or department director. If there is a reasonable suspicion of drug or 
alcohol abuse, the employee will be relieved from duty and placed on sick leave until 
the test results are received.   

 
2. Post-Accident Testing and Reporting. The Authority may require alcohol or drug 

screening following any work-related accident or violation of safety precautions or 
standards in which the Authority suspects drugs or alcohol may have played a role in 
the accident or violation.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 25 of 85 
 

 

The suspicion of the involvement of drugs or alcohol in the accident or violation will 
constitute reasonable suspicion. This includes individuals who drive agency vehicles 
or conduct agency business while driving their personal vehicles.  For employees 
subject to the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, such testing is mandatory for 
any accident that results in a fatality; anytime a driver is involved in an accident that 
results in anyone receiving medical treatment away from the scene of the accident, 
and/or any accident in which the driver receives a citation from law enforcement 
officials.  
 
Employees involved in workplace accidents, illnesses, or injuries must report the 
incident to a supervisor as soon as practicable after the employee has realized that 
he or she has suffered a recordable work-related accident, injury, or illness. 
Employees may initially make reports verbally, whether by phone or in person, but 
employees reporting workplace accidents, illnesses, or injuries should provide a 
written report of the incident as soon as practicable. Nothing in this Policy is intended 
to deter or discourage employees from accurately reporting a workplace injury or 
illness and employees shall not be subject to retaliation for making a reasonable 
report about a workplace accident, illness, or injury. 
 

3. Pre-Employment Drug Testing.  Individuals seeking employment for “special need” 
positions, including safety-sensitive positions and positions that involve the direct 
influence over children, shall be required to pass a pre-employment drug test as a 
condition of employment. 

 
E. Employee’s Responsibilities. 
 

An Authority employee must: 
 
1. Not report to work or be on standby or on-call status while impaired by alcohol, any 

controlled substance, narcotic, or prescription drug whether or not lawfully 
prescribed.; 

 
2. Not possess or use controlled substances, narcotics, or prescription drugs that have 

not been lawfully prescribed to the employee at any time, or use alcohol at any time 
while on the Authority property or while on duty for the Authority at any location; 

 
3. Not directly or through a third party manufacture, sell, distribute, dispense, or provide 

alcohol or controlled substances, narcotics, or prescription drugs to any person, 
including any employee, at any time while on the Authority property or while on duty 
for the Authority at any location; unless authorized and licensed to do so as an 
essential function of their job duties ( ie, Psychiatric Technician, Psychiatrist) 

 
4. Notify his or her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications, 

narcotics, or drugs, prescription or nonprescription, which may interfere with the safe 
and effective performance of duties or operation of Authority equipment; 

 
5. Notify the department director of any criminal conviction for a drug violation that 

occurred in the workplace within no more than five days after such conviction; 
 

6. Notify the supervisor immediately of facts or reasonable suspicions when he or she 
observes behavior or other evidence that a fellow employee poses a risk to the health 
and safety of the employee or others; and 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 26 of 85 
 

 

7. Consent to drug or alcohol testing and searches. 
 
F. Management Employee Responsibilities. 
 

The Authority management employees must: 
 
1. Notify the state or federal granting agency which has funded the work or program, if 

any, within ten (10) days after receiving notice of any criminal drug statute convictions 
for a violation that occurred at a site where work is/was being done with a specific 
grant or contract; 

 
2. Record factors supporting “reasonable suspicion” as defined above and consult with 

other management staff in order to determine whether there is reasonable suspicion 
to test an employee as described by this policy; 

 
3. Take appropriate disciplinary action within thirty (30) days of receiving notice of any 

criminal drug statute conviction that occurred in an Authority workplace, up to and 
including dismissal, or require that the convicted employee participate satisfactorily in 
a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program as a condition for returning to duty; 
and 

 
4. Take appropriate disciplinary action for any violation of this policy. 

 
G. Employee Assistance Programs.   

  
The Authority encourages employees to seek treatment voluntarily for alcohol or drug abuse 
and to utilize available employee assistance programs or medical insurance providers.  Any 
employee who comes forth and notifies the Authority of alcohol or drug abuse problems will 
be given the assistance extended to employees with any other illness.  In such cases, sick 
leave, or leave of absence without pay may be granted for treatment and rehabilitation as in 
other illnesses.  Employees may be referred to or encouraged to participate in employee 
assistance programs and such participation may be a mandated alternative to disciplinary 
action. Participation in an employee assistance program, however, shall not be an automatic 
exemption of employees from disciplinary action resulting from inadequate job performance. 
 

H. Tobacco Use.   
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority Facilities shall be smoke free.  Employees and/or visitors to 
the Authority shall be directed to refrain from smoking within the premises and in other areas 
designated as “non-smoking” by the Authority.  The Authority reserves the right to limit staff 
smoking on designated times and to designated areas.  It is the policy of The Authority that 
smoking employees will not be granted or allowed to use additional break time or time away 
from their work station for smoking purposes (in addition to any regularly scheduled break 
time allowed for other employees).  Further, to avoid staff modeling of potentially adverse 
health habits to clients, staff shall not be permitted to smoke when interacting with clients or 
to take smoke breaks with clients of The Authority. E-cigarettes are considered smoking 
materials and are also subject to this section.  
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 27 of 85 
 

 

1. Medical and Recreational Marijuana – Although medical and recreational marijuana 
use is legal under California State law, it is still currently illegal under Federal law. Tri-
City, as an employer, complies with Federal law and reserves the right to enforce a 
drug and alcohol free workplace with regard to employees and applicants, in 
accordance with the law.  Tri-City employees are required to refrain from drug and 
alcohol use immediately prior to and during performance of work-related duties, 
activities or functions.   

 
Accordingly, medical use of marijuana that may be legal under the State 
Compassionate Use Act or non-medical recreational use that may be legal under Prop 
64 does not constitute an acceptable explanation or excuse for a positive drug test 
under this Policy, and does not hinder or affect the Authority’s ability to fail to refuse 
to hire such applicant as a result of the positive drug test. In such instances, the 
Medical Review Officer (MRO) will automatically verify such tests as “positive”, and 
the candidate will be disqualified from further consideration. 

 
I. Drug-Free Awareness Program. 
 

The following is The Authority’s drug-free awareness program: 
 
2. Distribution of a brochure on the dangers of drug abuse to each Authority employee 

and volunteer; and 
 

3. Notification to each Authority employee and volunteer of the availability of counseling 
and treatment of drug-related problems through the Authority’s Employee Assistance 
Program provider. 

 
SECTION 10.   HOURS OF WORK         
 
A. Normal Work Schedule.   

 
Tri-City full-time employees shall be employed for a 40 hour work week minimum.  No full-
time employee may be scheduled to work less than 40 hours per week without a direct 
proportionate decrease in compensation unless otherwise authorized by the Executive 
Director.  Any foreseeable absence or deviation from regular working hours desired by an 
employee shall, in advance, be cleared through the employee’s supervisor, and such 
absences shall be noted on the employee’s e-time sheet. 
 

B. Flexible Work Schedule.   
 
Flexible work schedules (i.e., varied specific starting and ending times of work shifts) within 
the normal workweek of 40 hours per week or the equivalent are not expressly prohibited by 
these Rules and Regulations.  Executive Management may, at its discretion, approve flexible 
work schedules for employees or groups of employees to accommodate personal issues; 
however, the operational needs of the Authority and the provision of services shall be the 
primary issues of consideration in the deliberations of Executive Management. 

 
C. Alternative Work Schedule.   

 
Variations from the traditional five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week schedule are 
not expressly prohibited by these Rules and Regulations.  Any alternative work schedules 
which are variations from the traditional five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week for 
individual employees or groups of employees shall require the approval of Executive 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 28 of 85 
 

 

Management after thorough review and resolution of all potential impacts. Request for 
Modified Workweek Schedule form must be signed and submitted to HR. Employees 
assigned to an alternative work schedule shall continue to accrue leave time (i.e., sick leave, 
vacation and holidays) on an hourly basis as provided for in these rules and regulations.  If 
an employee’s regular day off (”RDO”) falls on a scheduled paid holiday, the employee may 
take off the workday immediately before or immediately following the holiday; however, it 
must be in the same pay period so that it’s taken within the same 80 hour pay period.  
 
Employees on an alternative work schedule will also continue to have leave time deducted 
from accumulated hours on an hour-for-hour basis. At the discretion of Executive 
Management any alternative work schedule may be amended, modified or revoked at any 
time.  Employees assigned to modified duty due to injury or illness or are subject to call-in for 
jury duty shall be reassigned to the standard five (5) days, eight (8) hours per day work week 
at the discretion of Executive Management. 

 
D. Holidays on the Alternative Work Schedule. 
 

Additionally, the scheduled paid holiday is an eight (8) hour paid holiday regardless of the 
agreed upon work schedule, whether it be a traditional or alternative work schedule.  It is at 
the employee’s discretion as to how to make up any remaining hour(s) via the use of a leave 
balance or unpaid hours(s). 

 
E. Meals and Breaks.  

 
Non-exempt employees are required to take a 30 minute meal break after 5 hours of work. 
Meal breaks must be taken away from the desk or work area. Meal breaks are unpaid and 
the employee may leave the premises. If an employee works no more than 6 hours in one 
day, the employee and his/her supervisor may mutually agree to waive the employee’s meal 
break period. 
 
A fifteen (15) minute compensated rest period will be provided for all non-exempt employees 
for each four (4) hour period of service. The rest periods may not be combined to shorten the 
workday or to extend the meal period. Break times may not be combined or accumulated. 
 

F. Lactation Breaks 
 

An employee who wishes to express breast milk for her infant child during her scheduled 
work hours will receive a reasonable amount of additional unpaid time beyond the 15-minute 
compensated rest period. Those desiring to take a lactation break must notify a supervisor 
prior to taking such a break. Breaks may be reasonably delayed if they would seriously disrupt 
operations. Once a lactation break has been approved, the break should not be interrupted 
except for emergency or exigent circumstances. 
 
The Authority will make reasonable efforts to accommodate employees by providing an 
appropriate location, that is not in a bathroom, to express milk in private. The Authority will 
attempt to find a location in close proximity to the employee’s work area. Employees 
occupying such private areas shall either secure the door or otherwise make it clear to others 
through signage that the area is occupied and should not be disturbed.  
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 29 of 85 
 

 

All other employees should avoid interrupting an employee during an authorized break under 
this section, except to announce an emergency or other urgent circumstance. Authorized 
lactation breaks for employees assigned to the field may be taken at the nearest appropriate 
private area.   

 
G. Overtime Pay.  

 
Overtime-eligible employees may not work overtime unless prior written approval is obtained 
from the employee’s Supervisor. Working overtime without advance approval is grounds for 
discipline. 

 
H. On-Call Duty.  

 
On-Call Duty shall be assigned to affected clinical staff by the Director of Clinical Program 
Services to meet the needs of the Authority either on a voluntary basis, or a mandatory 
rotating basis at the discretion of the Director of Clinical Program Services.  On-call coverage, 
outside regular business hours, is necessitated by consumer service needs. (Refer to On-
Call Pay Policy & Procedure for further details.) 

 
SECTION 11.   ATTENDANCE / JOB ABANDONMENT      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
  
A. Attendance.   
 
 Employees shall be in attendance at their work in accordance with the Rules and Regulations 

regarding hours of work, holidays and leaves.  Employees shall keep records of attendance 
activities, which shall be reported to the Chief Financial Officer in the form and on the dates 
specified.  Sick leave shall not be considered as a privilege which an employee may use at 
his or her discretion, but shall be allowed only in compliance with Rule VI. Section 2. Sick 
Leave in these Rules and Regulations.  

 
B. Employee’s Duty to Notify of Late Arrival or Absence.   
  
 An employee who is unexpectedly unable to report for work as scheduled due to illness or 

unforeseen circumstances must, absent extenuating circumstances as determined by the 
employee’s immediate supervisor or department head, notify his or her immediate supervisor 
or designee directly  30 minutes prior to the beginning of the scheduled work time and report 
the expected time of arrival or absence or request time off. If the employee’s immediate 
supervisor or designee is not available, the employee must notify the department head or 
program manager.  Calls to reception will not be considered an acceptable form of 
notification.  An employee who fails to provide timely notification  as soon as practicable to 
his/her supervisor of any absence, or who is not present and ready to work during all 
scheduled work times, will be deemed to have an unauthorized tardy or absence and will not 
receive compensation for the period of absence. If an employee who is absent without leave 
fails to return to duty within 24 hours after due notice to return to duty has been issued, he or 
she may be subject to discipline up to and including discharge.   

 
C. Job Abandonment.   
 
 An employee is deemed to have resigned from his/her position if he or she is absent for three 

consecutive scheduled work days/shifts without prior authorization and without notification 
during the period of the absence.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 30 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 12.   EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, except the Executive Director.   
 
The primary purpose for performance evaluations is to evaluate the work accomplishments and 
conduct of employees, to inform employees of their evaluations in writing, to establish goals and 
objectives for measuring job performance and to assist employees in improving overall job 
performance.   
 
Employees shall be expected to satisfy the minimum standards established for their positions, which 
may include, but are not limited to, timely e-timesheet submission, productivity, documentation, 
attendance and punctuality, etc.  The Authority reserves the right to withhold pay increases to 
individuals whose performance does not meet acceptable standards and to differentially reward staff 
based upon meritorious performance.  Reports shall be prepared with a copy to the employee, if 
requested, and to the Human Resources Department for retention in the employee’s employment 
history/personnel file. 
 
A. Timing of Performance Evaluation Reports.   
  
 As provided for in these rules, a performance evaluation of each probationary employee shall 

be made by respective program managers or their designees as scheduled by the Human 
Resources Department in the form provided by the Human Resources Department.  The 
employee’s performance shall be reviewed at least every three months during the 
probationary period, and shall be evaluated at the conclusion of the probationary period.   
After having attained regular employment status the performance review date will change to 
a fiscal year basis, which may mean an employee will be evaluated for a shorter period of 
time to reach the fiscal year beginning date of July 1st.  Performance Evaluations shall be 
prepared annually thereafter. All signed Performance Evaluations shall be submitted to HR 
and placed in the personnel file.  A special performance evaluation may be prepared at any 
time at the discretion of the employee’s supervisor to further reflect employee efficiency, 
character, and conduct. 

 
B. Employee Review/Rebuttal.   
 
 The merits or content of a supervisor’s report on an employee’s work performance is not 

grievable under the Grievance Procedure established in these Rules and Regulations.  
Neither does the Disciplinary and Appeals Procedures set forth in these Rules and 
Regulations apply.   

 
 Each performance evaluation report shall be discussed with the employee to point out areas 

of successful performance and areas that need improvement.  If an employee wishes to rebut 
a performance evaluation report, he/she may take the following actions within ten (10) 
working days of his/her review of the report: 
 
1. The employee may submit a response in writing to his/her supervisor. 
 
2. If the employee’s concerns are not resolved through review by the supervisor, the 

employee may within ten (10) working days request a review of the performance 
evaluation report and a written response by the department head. 

 
3. If the employee’s concerns are not resolved by review by the department head, the 

employee may within ten (10) working days request review by the Executive Director. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 31 of 85 
 

 

4. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall review the rebuttal and responses, 
if any, within ten (10) working days of receipt and issue a final decision. 

 
SECTION 13.   EMPLOYEE ACTIVITIES / OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT     
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
A. General Considerations.   
 
 During the employee’s work day, he/she is expected to devote his/her full time to the 

performance of his/her assigned duties as an Authority employee. An employee in the 
competitive service shall not engage in any employment, activity, or enterprise which is 
inconsistent, incompatible, or in conflict with his/her duties, functions, or responsibilities as 
an Authority employee.  Neither shall he/she engage in any outside activity which will directly 
or indirectly contribute to the lessening of his/her effectiveness as an Authority employee.   

 
 No employee shall engage in any type of activity relating to an employee organization which 

interferes with the safe and efficient operation of Authority business during such time an 
employee is on duty, except as provided for by these Rules and Regulations, memoranda of 
understanding, or state or federal law.   

 
B. Determination of Inconsistent Activities.   
 
 In making a determination as to the consistency of outside activities, the immediate 

supervisor shall consider, among other pertinent factors, whether the activity: 
 

1. Involves receipt or acceptance by the employee of any money or other consideration 
from anyone other than the Authority for the performance of any act which the 
employee, if not performing such act, would be required or expected to render in the 
regular course or hours of his/her Authority employment or as part of his/her duties 
as an Authority employee; or 

 
2. Involves the performance of an act in other than his/her capacity as an Authority 

employee which act may later be subject directly or indirectly to the control, 
inspection, review, audit, or enforcement by such employee or the department by 
which he/she is employed; or  

 
3. Involves the use of Authority time, facilities, equipment or supplies, or the information,   

certification, prestige, or influence obtained through Authority employment for private 
gain or advantage; or 

 
4. Involves the solicitation of future employment with a firm or individual doing business 

with the Authority over which the employee has some control or influence in his/her 
official capacity or has a financial interest in an Authority contract which the employee 
is making on the Authority’s behalf in his or her official capacity, at the time of 
transaction; or 

 
5. Involves the performance of act or work which may interfere with the employee’s 

ability to effectively perform the duties and responsibilities of his/her job, or involves 
time demands that would render the employee’s performance of his or her regular 
Authority employment less efficient or dangerous to the employee.  

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 32 of 85 
 

 

6. Requests for approval of outside employment shall be in writing (on the “Outside 
Employment Request” form located on Summit, the Authority’s Intranet website).  A 
copy of the form will be placed in the employee’s personnel file and provided to the 
appropriate Program Manager. The form must include the second employer/ agency’s 
name, location, position title, duties, hours, anticipated start date and such other 
information as may be required.  

 
 The request must be approved prior to commencing any outside employment.  
 
7. An outside employment authorization is valid only up to one year.  Should the 

employee continue the outside employment, activity, or enterprise for a longer 
duration, he or she must make, and is responsible for making, another request 
following the process in this Policy. 

 
8. If the immediate supervisor denies an employee’s outside employment request, the 

employee may submit a written notice of appeal to the Executive Director within 10 
days after the date of the denial.  The decision on appeal will be put in Writing, 
provided within 10 days after the receipt of the appeal, and will be final.   

 
9. Any outside employment authorization may be revoked or suspended during the year 

it is granted under the circumstances listed below.   
 

a. The employee’s work performance declines; or 
 

b. An employee’s conduct or outside employment conflicts with the conditions of the 
outside work authorization or is incompatible with the employee’s work for the 
Authority. 

 
 An employee may appeal the revocation or suspension as provided in this Policy. 

 
C. Improper Use of Authority Equipment Prohibited.   

 
No Authority owned equipment, autos, trucks, instruments, tools, supplies, machine, badge, 
identification cards, or other items which are the property of the Authority shall be used by an 
employee except upon prior approval of the Executive Director or the latter’s designee for 
managing that property.  

 
D. Compliance with Employment Standards.  

 
All employees will be required to comply with basic employment standards as applicable to 
their classifications.  Basic employment standards will be established in areas which may 
include, but are not limited to, timely e-timesheet submission, productivity based on direct 
client service, compliance with client service documentation, attendance and punctuality, etc. 
 

E. Public Information Statement.  
 
1. No employee should speak on behalf of the Authority to any outside media (i.e.: 

newspapers, news reporters, radio stations) without explicit approval from the 
Executive Director.   
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 33 of 85 
 

 

2. All employees of the Authority must inform their Supervisor or Human Resources as 
soon as possible of any criminal misdemeanor or felony conviction, regardless of the 
nature of the conviction.   

 
SECTION 14. RIGHT TO WORK IN THE UNITED STATES/IMMIGRATION REFORM AND 

CONTROL ACT OF 1986 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
In accordance with the Immigration Reform Act and Control Act of 1986, all new employees must 
verify identity and entitlement to work in the United States by providing required documentation.   
 
If an employee loses such rights or is unable to demonstrate that he/she is legally permitted to work 
in the United States, he/she will be disqualified from employment at the Authority resulting in 
discharge without notice or rights of appeal. 
 
SECTION 15.  ANTI-SOLICITATION POLICY        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.   
  
Non-employees may not solicit employees or distribute literature of any kind on Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority premises at any time.  Employees may only admit non-employees to work areas 
with management approval or as part of a Company-sponsored program.  These visits should not 
disrupt workflow.  The Authority employee must accompany the non-employee at all times. Former 
employees are not permitted onto Company property except for official Authority business. 
Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with an Authority 
approved or sponsored event.  

Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during work times, or in any work area at any 
time, except in connection with an Authority-sponsored event. Employees may, however, with written 
Supervisor approval, leave private fundraiser materials i.e. for schools, Girl Scout cookies, Avon, 
Tupperware, etc., on display in the employee lunchrooms, allowing employees to participate at their 
own volition.  

The posting of materials or electronic announcements is permitted with approval from Human 
Resources.   Violation of this policy should be reported to Human Resources.  

SECTION 16.  CELL PHONE / ELECTRONIC DEVICE USE POLICY    
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
A. Applicability and Purpose.   
 
 This policy and procedure applies to the use of personal and Tri-City issued cell phone and 

electronic devices by employees within the course and scope of employment. Violation of 
this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

B. General Policy on the Use of Tri-City Cell Phones and Electronic Devices.   

 All Tri-City cell phones and electronic devices (“Devices”) are provided as a tool to conduct 
Tri-City-related business. Tri-City Devices are issued on an as-needed basis with the 
approval of the Department Head.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 34 of 85 
 

 

All Tri-City employees shall use such Devices in a responsible, appropriate, and safe manner. 
All employees assigned Devices shall assume the responsibility to use the equipment in 
accordance with the provisions of this policy.  (Refer to Acceptable Use Agreement for further 
details.) 

1. Employees are prohibited from installing any third party equipment to Tri-City Devices 
unless approved by the employee’s supervisor in writing with final approval from the 
IT Manager. 

 
2. Employees have no expectation of privacy as to the Devices, including but not limited 

to data residing in Devices and /or voice mail. Tri-City may inspect that data at any 
time and without notice, as permitted by state and federal law. Employees must 
provide Tri-City with username and passwords for any Device upon Tri-City’s request. 
 

3. Employees shall protect Tri-City Devices from loss or damage. An employee assigned 
a Tri-City Device is responsible for its good care and will be required to reimburse Tri-
City’s cost for any damage, or lost Devices due to negligence. If a Device is damaged, 
fails to work properly, or is stolen or lost, the employee shall immediately notify the 
Department Head and the Information Technology Department. 

4. Tri-City Devices should only be used by Tri-City employees in the performance of 
their official duties. Personal use of Tri-City Devices, except in emergency situations 
or for incidental personal use, is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action 
and reimbursement of charges for personal use.  Incidental personal use of Tri-City 
Devices, as defined by the Authority, is allowed if such use is kept to a minimum and 
limited to break times or non-working hours; does not interfere or conflict with 
Authority operations or the work performance of Authority employees; allows an 
employee to more efficiently perform Authority work as determined by his or her 
supervisor or department head; is not abusive, illegal, inappropriate or prohibited by 
these Rules; and the employee clearly indicates it is for personal use and does not 
indicate or imply Authority sponsorship or endorsement.   

 
5. Employees shall acquaint themselves with the rate plan that applies to their Device 

and use their best efforts to make the most economical and cost efficient use of the 
Device. Cell phones are unique in that they may have charges for both in-coming and 
outgoing calls and texts. In addition, local calls can still incur airtime charges if the 
plan minutes are exceeded. A call may be made from a Device only if it cannot be 
made at any other time with a provided wired landline telephone. Because cell phones 
have additional “air time” and possible other charges, employees are expected to use 
a wired landline telephone when available. 

 
6. Employees are prohibited from using the camera function on Tri-City Devices except 

as authorized by a supervisor for work-related purposes. 
 
7. Tri-City employees are responsible for complying with the Health Insurance Portability 

and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).  Private Health Information (PHI) of Authority 
consumers is not discussed in areas where the public can overhear information; this 
includes information shared while using Tri-City Devices. 

 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 35 of 85 
 

 

8. No PHI data should ever be sent as text message through a cell phone or other 
device. Text messaging is allowed as long as staff has prior approval from the client 
to receive text messages for informational purposes, PHI is not included in the text 
message and the text message is documented in all related clinical paperwork.  
 

9. An Authority employee who is issued an Authority cell phone must refrain from using 
his or her personal cell phone for Authority-related business, unless expressly 
permitted by the employee’s immediate supervisor or department head or in 
emergency circumstances in which the employee does not have access to the 
Authority-issued cell phone.   

 
C. Use of Personal Devices. 
 

1. Employees are required to limit personal Device usage during working hours to 
breaks or lunch periods. Usage outside of the break and lunch periods should be 
Minimal and must follow the guidelines of this Policy. 
 

2. Personal Devices must be in silent or vibrating mode during work hours and must not 
be disruptive to co-workers. 
 

3. Employees are prohibited from using the camera function on personal Devices in the 
workplace. 
 

4. Employees may not use Personal Devices for work related purposes unless required 
by his or her official duties and permitted by his or her department head.   

 
D. Use of Devices While Operating a Vehicle in the Course and Scope of Employment 

 
1. In the interest of the safety of our employees and other drivers, Tri-City employees 

are generally prohibited from using Devices while driving within the course and scope 
of employment for Tri-City.  Personal and/or agency provided cell phones or other 
electronic devices are generally required to be turned off any time an employee is 
driving a Tri-City or personal vehicle in the performance of their job duties for Tri-City.  
They shall not be used for voice, text, or email communications while driving on Tri-
City time except in emergency situations where permitted by the California Vehicle 
Code. 

2. As determined by Tri-City management, if your job requires that you keep your Device 
turned on while you are driving, you must use a hands-free device while using your 
cell phone to conduct agency business while driving in compliance with the Tri-City 
Cell Phone/Electronic Device Usage policy and as required by law. 

3. In the event of a vehicle accident the camera function on Tri-City Devices may be 
used to record accident information. 

 
SECTION 17.  WORKPLACE SECURITY        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, contractors, volunteers and interns.   



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 36 of 85 
 

 

A. Policy.   
 

Tri-City is committed to providing a safe and secure workplace for employees and the public. 
Tri-City will not tolerate acts or threats of violence in the workplace. The workplace includes 
any location where Tri-City business is conducted, including vehicles and parking lots. Any 
violation of this policy may lead to criminal prosecution, and/or disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination. 

 
B. Prohibited Behavior. 
 

Employees are prohibited from engaging in or promoting acts of intimidation, violence, 
threats, coercion, assault, bullying, and/or abusive behavior toward any person while in the 
course of Tri-City employment. Tri-City has zero tolerance for any conduct that references 
workplace violence, even if it was intended to be harmless, humorous, a prank, blowing off 
steam, or venting. 

 
C. Definitions. 
 

1. “Workplace Violence” is any conduct that causes an individual to reasonably fear for 
his or her personal safety or the safety of his or her family, friends, and/or property. 
Specific examples of workplace violence include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Threats or acts of physical harm directed toward an individual or his/her family, 

friends, associates, or property, including but not limited to striking, punching, 
slapping or assaulting another person. 

b. The destruction of, or threat of destruction of, Tri-City property or another 
employee’s property. 

c. Harassing or threatening phone calls. 
d. Surveillance. 
e. Stalking. 
f. Intimidation and/or Bullying Behavior 
g. Possession of offensive or defensive weapons during work hours or on Tri-City 

property is prohibited. “Weapons” are defined as firearms, chemical sprays, clubs 
or batons, knives, or any other device, tool, chemical agent or implement that can 
cause bodily harm if used as a weapon or displayed in such a manner to cause 
harm or threaten a person with harm. 

 
D. Incident Reporting Procedures. 
 

1. Employees must immediately report to their supervisor or Program director if they 
have been a victim of, or have witnessed, workplace violence. The supervisor or 
program director will report the matter immediately to the Human Resources 
Manager. 
 

2. The Human Resources Manager will document the incident, including the employee 
names(s), date/time, location, incident description, witness names and statements, 
description of unidentified parties, description of the act(s) and/or behavior arising 
from the incident, action taken, and provide any other relevant information regarding 
the incident. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 37 of 85 
 

 

3. The Human Resources Manager will take appropriate steps to provide security, such 
as: 

 
a. Placing the employee alleged to have engaged in workplace violence on 

administrative leave, pending investigation; 
b. Asking any threatening or potentially violent person to leave the site; or  
c. Immediately contacting an appropriate law enforcement agency. 
 

E. Investigation. 
 

The Human Resources Manager will see that reported violations of this policy are 
investigated as necessary. 

 
F. Management Responsibility. 
 

Each program director has authority to enforce this policy by: 
 

1. Training supervisors and subordinates about their responsibilities under this policy; 
 
2. Assuring that reports of workplace violence are documented and addressed 

accurately and timely; 
 
3. Notifying the Human Resources Supervisor or Manager and/or law enforcement 

authorities of any incidents; 
 
4. Making all reasonable efforts to maintain a safe and secure workplace; and 
 
5. Maintaining records and follow up actions as to workplace violence reports. 
 

G. Follow-Up and Disciplinary Procedures. 
 

An employee found in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination of employment. Tri-City may also direct that an employee submit to a 
fitness for duty examination. In addition, employees found in violation of this policy may be 
subject to criminal prosecution. 

 
SECTION 18:       ANTI-BULLYING POLICY  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees, contractors, interns and volunteers.  
 
A. Purpose. 
 

The Authority is committed to providing a safe work environment.  In addition to prohibiting 
all forms of discrimination and harassment, the Authority has a zero tolerance policy for any 
form of intimidation or bullying in the workplace or elsewhere, such as offsite events.  

 
B. Policy. 
 

Every employee and every other individual, including, but not limited to, temporary workers, 
consultants, independent contractors, volunteers, and visitors has the right to be treated with 
respect.  
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 38 of 85 
 

 

Bullying is the use of aggressive behavior with the intention of harming, intimidating, 
offending, degrading, or humiliating another individual.  Bullying also includes harming, 
intimidating, offending, degrading, or humiliating another employee whether intentionally or 
unintentionally.  It can include any written, visual, verbal, or physical act, when the act 
physically harms the individual or damages his or her property; has the effect of interfering 
with an employee’s ability to work; is severe or pervasive; and creates an intimidating or 
threatening environment. Frequent or severe use of swearing, profane language, or sexually 
explicit comments violates this Anti-Bullying Policy.   
 
Bullying includes, but is not limited to: 
1. Deliberately undermining a person’s work or person’s participation in the workplace; 

2. Tormenting, teasing, offensive innuendo, taunting, abusive comments; 

3. Threatening gestures or posturing, physical intimidation, pushing, shoving, 
punching, unwanted physical contact, any use of violence; 

4. Graffiti; 

5. Name-calling, sarcasm, spreading rumors; 

6. Swearing, using profane, lewd or other offensive language. 

7. Abusive Conduct, which is defined as is conduct perpetrated by an employee in the 
workplace, with malice, that a reasonable person would find hostile, offensive, and 
unrelated to an employer's legitimate business interests.  Abusive conduct may 
include repeated infliction of verbal abuse, such as the use of derogatory remarks, 
insults, and epithets, verbal or physical conduct that a reasonable person would find 
threatening, intimidating, or humiliating, or the gratuitous sabotage or undermining of 
a person's work performance.  A single act does not constitute "abusive conduct," 
unless especially severe and egregious. 

Bullying may also occur via use of electronic or telephonic communications such as internet, 
email and chat rooms, mobile threats by text-messaging or telephone or cellphone calls or 
misuse of cameras and video equipment. 

 
C. Complaint Procedure. 

 
Any individual who believes that he or she is being or has been subjected to any form of 
bullying should immediately report this to his or her supervisor, program director, or Human 
Resources.  In addition, any person who believes that they have witnessed bullying and any 
person who has received a report of such conduct, whether the perpetrator is an employee 
or a non-employee, shall immediately report the conduct to their supervisor, program director, 
or Human Resources. 

 
1. If an Employee reports workplace bullying to Human Resources, the Human 

Resources Department will document the incident, including the employee names(s), 
date/time, location, incident description, witness names and statements, description 
of unidentified parties, description of the act(s) and/or behavior arising from the 
incident, action taken, and provide any other relevant information regarding the 
incident. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 39 of 85 
 

 

2. The Human Resources Department will then take appropriate steps based on the 
nature of the complaint and will see that reported violations of this policy are 
investigated as necessary. 

 
D. Policy Against Retaliation. 

 
The Authority policy prohibits any form of retaliation against an employee who reports an 
incident of bullying, or participates in an investigation by the Authority or its representatives 
into allegations of bullying. Additionally, all employees have a duty to cooperate in connection 
with any investigation by the Authority or its representatives into allegations of bullying.  Any 
employee found to engage in retaliation is subject to discipline, up to and including 
termination.  

 
 
 

RULE III.  CLASSIFICATION PLAN 
 
 
SECTION 1.  CLASS SPECIFICATIONS        
 
This section applies to all Authority employees.    
 
Human Resources will establish and maintain the classification plan covering all classifications in 
the competitive service.   The classification title of a position shall be used in all official personnel 
and budget records and transactions.  Class specifications shall include a listing of sample duties as 
well as employment expectations of employees in the class.  When a new position has been created, 
the Position Related Changes and Recruitment Form must be completed and signed by the 
Executive Director, Chief Operations Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Department Director for the 
new position and submitted to Human Resources for approval. The new position must be approved 
by the Governing Board and included in the Classifications Specifications before any job posting or 
recruiting can begin.  
 
SECTION 2.   LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION       
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
Certain job classifications at the Authority shall require a current certification or approved license 
either at hire or within a specified period of time. Acquisition and/or renewal of such license, 
certification and/or waiver shall be the sole responsibility of the employee, including fees and 
applications, unless specified in writing and approved in advance by the Executive Director.  The 
absence of a valid required license, certification or approved waiver may be grounds for 
disqualification for employment and failure to renew a required license, certification or approved 
waiver, by the expiration date, may constitute grounds for immediate discharge.  All 
applicants/employees that are listed as excluded on the U.S. Department of Health & Human 
Services OIG (Office of Inspector General) website are subject to immediate discharge.   

 
 
 
 
 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 40 of 85 
 

 

RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
SECTION 1.   JOB ANNOUNCEMENTS        
 
All positions to be filled in the competitive service shall be publicized by posting announcements on 
the Authority’s website, or in such other places as Human Resources deems advisable. 
The announcements shall specify the title and pay for the position, the nature of the work to be 
performed; preparation desirable for the performance of the work of the class; the dates, time, place 
and manner of submitting applications; the closing date for receiving applications and resumes; the 
minimum requirements for the position; and other pertinent information.  There shall be a minimum 
of ten (10) working days from the date the recruitment opens and until it closes.  Resumes must be 
received in the Human Resources Department by “close of business” on the day the filing time 
expires.  There will be an exception for closed promotional recruitments which shall be posted a 
minimum of five (5) working days.  The time for filing applications may be extended or reopened as 
needed by Human Resources.   
 
SECTION 2.   APPLICATION FORMS         
 
Applications shall be made on forms provided/authorized by Human Resources. Such forms shall 
require information covering training, experience, and other pertinent information as deemed 
necessary by Human Resources.  All applications must be signed by the person applying.  
No appointment shall be finalized until a completed official application form is received by Human 
Resources. Applications are required to be completed online on the CalOpps.org website.  It is the 
responsibility of the applicants to show that they clearly meet the minimum requirements for the 
position applied for and be able to perform the essential functions of the position with or without 
reasonable accommodation.  The applicants shall certify to the correctness of all statements made 
on the application. After filing, information on the application may be amended only with the 
permission of Human Resources.  Applicants may be required to submit additional information about 
their job related qualifications, or to submit evidence of their possession of degrees, licenses or 
certificates, or of the completion of courses of study or training.  Failure to supply such information 
or evidence may disqualify an applicant.   
 
Applications, resumes, examination papers, and any and all other information submitted as part the 
examination process become the property of the Human Resources Department and Tri-City Mental 
Health Authority.  Resumes/applications will be screened based upon the minimum qualifications 
indicated in the job announcement.  Applicants meeting the minimum qualifications, or those 
appearing to be the “most qualified”, will be selected to participate in successive parts of the selection 
process.  Possession of the minimum qualifications does not ensure that an applicant will be 
interviewed.  Applications/resumes will be reviewed in comparison with all other 
applications/resumes received.  
 
After a conditional offer of employment has been extended to an applicant, the Authority will require 
the applicant to be fingerprinted and/or subjected to a criminal record check. It may also require the 
applicant to submit to a fitness for duty examination that is job-related; necessary for efficient 
operations of the agency; and required of all applicants for the job classification.  An applicant who 
is required to pass a medical and/or psychological examination will be notified of his/her right to 
obtain a second opinion at his/her expense and that he/she may submit such second opinions for 
consideration.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 41 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3. INTERNAL APPLICANTS 
 
Qualified Employees in good standing may apply for any of the posted positions. The employee must 
have a 3-month and 6-month signed evaluation on file with HR. The employee must have a minimum 
of a “Meets” as the final evaluation in order to be eligible.  The employee should notify his or her 
current supervisor that they have applied for an internal position. Any employee actively on a 
Performance Improvement Plan (“PIP”) is not eligible. This provision shall not apply to lateral 
transfers. 
 
SECTION 4.    LATERAL TRANSFERS 
 
An employee may be transferred by the Authority at any time from one position to another position 
in the same or comparable class, involving the performance of similar duties and requiring 
substantially the same basic qualifications with no change in pay.  In addition, an employee may 
request and be granted a transfer if approved by Human Resources and affected program managers.  
Only those employees who are currently in a position of equal or greater qualifications shall be 
considered for the transfer.  
 
The procedure for a lateral transfer is as follows: 
 

1. Hiring Managers with an available vacancy that are interested in accepting lateral candidates 
shall submit a Position Related Changes and Recruitment Form to advertise the vacancy, 
either internally or externally. 

 
2. Employees interested in a lateral transfer must submit an application to an open and available 

recruitment via CalOpps.   
 

3. Qualified and eligible employees may be interviewed by the Hiring Manager.   
 

4. Selection(s) for the lateral transfer will be made by the Hiring Manager or on a first come, first 
served basis.  
 

5.  Both the employee’s existing department head and the department head where the vacancy 
exists must agree upon the transfer.   
 
The Hiring Manager is responsible for completing a performance review/reference check with 
the potential transferring employee’s current manager. 
 

An employee so transferred shall receive the same salary received in the former classification.   The 
employee’s base salary will only be transferrable.  Bilingual and On-Call Pay will be determined 
based on the need of the position being transferred into. 
 
SECTION 5.   DISQUALIFICATION         
 
Human Resources shall reject any application/resume which indicates on its face that the applicant 
does not possess the qualifications specified for the position or has not properly completed an 
application or has excluded other requested supplemental information.   
 
A. Applications shall also be rejected for any of the following reasons, insofar as they relate 

to the applicant’s ability to perform the job for which the application is made.  There will be 
no written notification sent to the applicant in these following instances: 

 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 42 of 85 
 

 

1. If the applicant does not possess the required license and credentials specified; 
 

2. If the applicant applying for any position has an “exclusion” as a result of  a search on 
the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General OIG 
exclusions database; 

 
3. If the applicant has requested to have the application/resume withdrawn from 

consideration; 
 

4. If the applicant is not legally permitted to work within the United States; 
 
5. If the applicant is a current user of illegal drugs; 
 
6. If the applicant has made false statements of any material fact, or omissions, 

practices, or attempted to practice any deception on the application/resume or 
in securing eligibility or appointment; 

 
7. Failure to be present upon appropriate notification for fingerprinting or medical testing 

or examination as required; 
 
8. Unsuitability of an applicant’s work record as indicated upon a review of qualifications; 
 
9. Any material cause which, in the judgment of Human Resources, would render the 

applicant unsuitable for the particular position, including prior resignation, prior 
termination or a significant disciplinary action with the Authority. 

 
B. An applicant will be provided written notification in the following instance: If the applicant has 

been convicted of either a misdemeanor or a felony that directly and adversely relates to the 
specific position duties that the applicant would perform.  Unless required by law, the 
Authority will not deny employment to any applicant solely because he or she has been 
convicted of a crime. The Authority may, however, consider the nature, date and 
circumstances of the offense, evidence of rehabilitation, as well as whether the offense is 
relevant to the duties of the position. 

 
C. An applicant may be rejected if the applicant is related by blood or marriage to an existing 

employee and if Human Resources make findings that hiring a relative in the particular 
position could adversely affect supervision, security, or morale within the department.   

 
D. False statements or evidence that an employee committed deception or fraud in his/her 

application will be cause for discharge. 
 
SECTION 6.   EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES AND SPOUSES/DOMESTIC PARTNERS  
 
It is the Authority’s policy not to discriminate in its employment and personnel actions with respect 
to its employees, prospective employees, and applicants on the basis of marital status, domestic-
partner status and relatives.  No employee, prospective employee or applicant shall be improperly 
denied employment or benefits of employment on the basis of his/her marital status or relatives.  This 
policy also applies to the selection of persons for a training program leading to employment. 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 43 of 85 
 

 

Marital status is defined as an individual’s state of marriage, divorce or dissolution, separation, or 
other marital state for the purpose of this anti-discrimination policy.  Relatives for the purposes of 
this section is defined as spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, children (including foster care 
children), brother, sister, half-brother, half-sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, 
grandchild, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew. 
 
Notwithstanding the above provisions, the Authority retains the right: 
 
A. To prohibit relatives from working in the same department, division, program or facility where 

such has the potential for creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security, or morale 
or involves potential conflict of interest.  For example, one relative will generally not be 
permitted to maintain a supervisory relationship over another relative.  A “supervisory 
relationship” is defined as one in which one employee exercises the right or responsibility to 
control, direct, reward, or discipline another by virtue of the duties and responsibilities 
assigned to his or her Authority appointment.   
 

B. When two employees, employed by the Authority in the same department, division, program 
or facility marry or file for legal status as domestic partners and where such has the potential 
for creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale, the Authority will 
attempt to transfer one spouse (or domestic partner) to a similar classified position in another 
department, division, program or facility. Although the wishes of the involved parties as to 
which spouse (or domestic partner) will be transferred will be given consideration by the 
Authority, the controlling factor in determining which spouse (or domestic partner) shall be 
transferred shall be the positive operation and efficiency of the Authority.   
 
If any such transfer results in a reduction in salary or compensation, the transfer shall not be 
considered disciplinary in nature and shall not be subject to any form of administrative appeal. 
If continuing employment of two spouses (or domestic partners) cannot be accommodated 
in a manner consistent with the Authority’s interest in promotion of safety, security, morale 
and/or efficiency, the Authority retains sole discretion to separate one spouse from Authority 
employment.  Absent resignation by one affected spouse (or domestic partner), the less 
senior of the involved parties will typically subject to separation and the same shall not 
constitute discipline and shall not be subject to any administrative appeal.  However, if in the 
Authority’s discretion, the retention of the less senior spouse (or domestic partner) would 
better serve the interest of the Authority, the said spouse (or domestic partner) shall be 
retained. 
 

C. To maintain or adopt bona fide health plans which provide additional or greater benefits 
to employees with dependents than to those employees without or with fewer dependents.  
Where such bona fide health plan discriminates against individuals on the basis of marital 
status, benefits shall not be conditioned upon whether an employee is “head of household,” 
“principal wage earner,” “secondary wage earner,” or other similar status. 

 
SECTION 7.   SUBJECT AND METHOD OF EXAMINATIONS    

  
Examinations shall be competitive and may consist of written test, oral test, appraisal interview, 
performance test, evaluations of prior training, experience and education; or any combination 
thereof.  Each examination must be job related and must be designed to test the ability of an 
individual to perform the duties of the job.  The scope and type of examination is to be determined 
by Human Resources.  If a person fails to pass such an examination, he/she may be disqualified 
from consideration for employment.  Each candidate invited to an examination shall be given written 
notice of the examination results.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 44 of 85 
 

 

As the needs of the Authority may require, promotional examinations may be conducted and may 
consist of evaluation of prior service, accomplishments in special training courses, or other tests.  
All candidates for promotion must be employees of the Authority and must possess the minimum 
qualifications as set forth in the specifications of the class to which promotion is sought. 
 
SECTION 8.   CONDUCT OF EXAMINATIONS        
 
Human Resources will determine the manner, methods, applicant pool, and by whom examinations 
will be given. The Authority may contract with any competent agency or individual for the 
performance by such agency or individual for giving or scoring examinations. 
 
SECTION 9.   ELIGIBILITY LISTS         
 
Eligibility lists may be established by Human Resources following a competitive examination process 
and will consist of the names of persons successfully passing a competitive examination process. 
Under circumstances in which an open and continuous recruitment is posted and conducted, Human 
Resources may approve the appointment of a qualified applicant without the establishment of an 
eligibility list. Eligibility lists shall be valid and in effect for a period of up to one year.   
 
An eligibility list may be extended by action of Human Resources for additional six-month periods.   
If less than three (3) names of qualified applicants are available for appointment, Human Resources 
may declare the list invalid.  Names shall be removed from an eligibility list for any of the following 
reasons: 
 
A. If an eligible requests orally or in writing that his/her name be removed. 

B. If an eligible fails to accept an offer of employment from the Authority. 

C. If an eligible on a promotional list resigns from the Authority. 

D. If an eligible, in a medical examiner’s opinion, is unable to perform the essential functions of 
the position even with reasonable accommodation. 

E. If a person on the eligibility list leaves no forwarding address at which he/she can be 
contacted by mail. 

F. If an eligible is found to be unsuitable for the position by the immediate supervisor. 
 
SECTION 10.   TYPES OF APPOINTMENTS        
 
All vacancies in the competitive service, other than temporary vacancies, shall be filled by 
reinstatement, transfer, demotion or from an appropriate eligibility list, if available.  In the absence of 
persons eligible for appointment in the above manner, temporary appointments may be made in 
accordance with these rules and regulations. 
 
A. Appointment. 
 

After interview and investigation, Human Resources shall effect the appointment by notifying 
the selected candidate subject to passing the required examinations listed below, and if the 
applicant accepts the appointment and presents himself/herself for duty within the period of 
time as the immediate supervisor shall prescribe, he/she shall be deemed to be appointed; 
otherwise, he/she shall be deemed to have declined the appointment. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 45 of 85 
 

 

Prior to appointment to a position in the competitive service, a person may be required to 
pass a medical (possibly including drug/alcohol screen), and/or physical examination plus 
fingerprinting and processing through the California Department of Justice in keeping with 
California Code of Regulations section 703(d) to the satisfaction of Human Resources.   

 
B. Emergency Appointments. 
 

To meet the immediate requirements of an emergency condition, a supervisor may in his or 
her discretion retain persons as Authority employees on a temporary basis as may be needed 
for the duration of the emergency which may exceed 60 working days without regard to the 
personnel rules affecting appointments.  Such appointments shall be reported to Human 
Resources within 24 hours and shall require approval of the Executive Director and shall be 
terminated at the discretion of the Authority regardless of cause or reason as determined by 
the Executive Director or his or her designee. 

 
C. Temporary Appointments. 
 

Temporary appointments may be made by Human Resources of persons who possess the 
qualifications for the position. A temporary appointee is typically a person with some 
administrative experience brought in to the Authority to complete a short term project.  Such 
appointments shall not continue for a period in excess of any six (6) months unless approved 
by the Executive Director.  Temporary employees will not be entitled to annual vacation leave 
with pay, or holiday pay as is provided in these rules. Temporary employees will be provided 
with sick leave to the minimum extent required by law.  However, if a temporary appointment 
is converted to a probationary appointment without interruption of service, the period of 
temporary service may be credited towards the completion of the probationary period. Annual 
vacation leave will not accrue for the period of service that the temporary appointee has 
served and received compensation for as provided in these rules.  All temporary assignments 
must be made within budget limitations and shall not be the basis for preferential hiring 
consideration. 

 
D. Provisional (Interim) Appointments. 
 

When the service demands of the Authority are such that a management level position is 
open and it could adversely affect the immediate operations of the Authority not to promptly 
fill it and an immediate open competitive recruitment process is not practical and/or in the 
absence of an eligibility list for such a management level position, the appointing authority 
may make a provisional appointment.  A provisional appointee is typically a person with 
management level expertise and/or has a highly skilled specialty that would require an 
intensive and lengthy recruiting process.  

 
1. Any person appointed in provisional status shall meet the minimum qualifications for 

the position to which he/she is being appointed. 
 
2. No person shall remain in the provisional appointment status for more than 12 

months, except as approved by the Executive Director.  Except in cases of retired 
annuitants, in which the appointment would be limited to 960 hours per fiscal year. 

 
3. A provisional appointee who is subsequently appointed to a regular position shall be 

entitled to credit for the time served in the provision status toward the completion of 
his/her probationary period. 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 46 of 85 
 

 

4. A provisional employee shall be entitled to the same salary and benefits as a regular 
employee. 

 
5. Prior to being appointed in a regular status, a provisional appointee shall successfully 

complete the competitive examination/interview process. 
 
6. A provisional appointment shall not be the basis for preferential hiring consideration. 
 

E. Trainee Appointments. 
 

When it becomes necessary for the appointing authority to fill an open classification with a 
less qualified person than required by the classification, and elects to train the person until 
minimum qualifications are met, the appointing authority may fill the classification with a 
trainee. 

 
1. Trainee status may be assigned to any classification. 
 
2. The training period may not exceed 12 months, except that it may be extended 

an additional six (6) months upon approval of the appointing authority. 
 

3. The salary range for the trainee will be the minimum salary range of the classification 
in which the employee is a trainee. 

 
4. During the training period, the trainee will be entitled to the same benefits as a 

probationary employee. 
 
5. Upon successful completion of the training period as determined by the department 

supervisor, the trainee may be promoted to the probationary status and the regular 
salary range for that classification without completing the competitive 
examination/interview process. 

 
6. Trainee appointments are considered transitional assignments to positions in regular 

classifications. A trainee who is subsequently transitioned to a position in a 
regular classification shall be required to serve a probationary period of 6 months after 
such appointment.  

 
7. Failure of a newly hired trainee to meet the qualifications of the classification during 

the training and/or probationary period as determined by the department supervisor 
will be cause for rejection from trainee status/probation. 

 
8. A regular employee who is transferred to trainee status and fails to meet the 

qualifications of the classification during the training and/or probationary period will 
be transferred back to the person’s prior regular classification or to one similar in pay. 

 
F. Lead Appointments. 

 
To recognize personnel within existing classifications who are providing lead services such 
as clinical supervision for paraprofessional and/or licensure hour accrual, but do not 
necessarily meet promotional classification qualifications or wish to be considered for 
promotional consideration, the appointing authority may designate a Lead appointment(s) 
within existing classifications.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 47 of 85 
 

 

1. The appointing authority may designate Lead status within existing classifications and 
add the term “Lead” to the working position title in order to recognize additional 
responsibilities of leading the activities of co-workers. 

 
2. A five percent (5%) differential in pay will be applied to the base rate of pay upon 

designation of Lead status. 
 
3. Lead appointment designation and corresponding 5% pay differential pursuant to 

Subparagraph B above shall be removed at the discretion of the appointing authority 
without notice, cause or right of appeal. 

 
      4.       Lead pay and the employee’s appointment to lead shall take effect at the beginning   

of the first pay period following the employee’s notification of his/her assignment. 
 
G. Additional Duty Appointments.  
 

Assignment to cover a position, which is temporarily vacant due to staff/supervisor being on 
a leave or unable to fulfill the duties of their position for a period not to exceed 6 months or 
based on HR review.  Supervisors/Managers who have direct report vacancies are excluded 
from this provision. 

 
1. The appointing authority may designate additional duty appointment to another staff 

within the same department in order to recognize additional responsibilities 
for covering their duties. 

 
2. The additional duty assignment(s) must take place for a period of four (4) consecutive 

weeks or more. 
 
3. A five percent (5%) differential in pay will be applied to the base rate of pay upon 

designation of this appointment. 
 
4. The five percent (5%) differential in pay will be removed at the completion of 

assignment 
 
5. The five percent (5%) differential in pay and the employee’s appointment to additional 

duties shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the employee’s 
notification and effective date of his/her assignment. 

 
SECTION 11.   REINSTATEMENT         
 
With the approval of Human Resources and Executive Management, an employee who has resigned 
with a good record may be reinstated within six months to his/her former position, if vacant, or to a 
vacant position in the same or comparable class.  Upon reinstatement, all benefits shall be restored 
to the employee at the same level at which they were earned at the time of resignation.  
 
SECTION 12.   AVAILABILITY          
 
For purposes of quality client services, supervisors of clinical areas must reside within a reasonable 
distance of the Authority so as not to interfere with their job responsibilities.  Clinical supervisors 
shall reside within a 90-minute commute to the Authority in heavy traffic.  After hours on-call staff 
shall reside within a 30-minute commute to the Authority in heavy traffic. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 48 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 13.   PROBATIONARY PERIOD        
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management, part-time and at-will positions. 
 
A. Extension of Probationary Period  

(The Personnel Rules and Regulations were updated on November 18, 2015 to change the 
probationary period from 1 year to 6 months)   
All original, promotional and reinstatement appointments shall be tentative and subject to a 
probationary period of 6 months. The probationary period is part of the testing process and 
shall be utilized for closely observing the employee’s work such as conduct, capacity, 
efficiency, skill, responsibility, integrity, and effectiveness to determine whether the employee 
is fully qualified for employment in the classification and position to which the employee has 
been appointed.   
 
A Manager/Director may recommend, and the Executive Director may extend, an employee’s 
probationary period by a maximum of six (6) months past the end of the initial probationary 
period for performance reasons. In order for probation to be extended, there must be a 3-
month signed evaluation on file in the Personnel file and the request for extension must be 
received by HR no later than the 5th month of the probationary period.   
 
An employee’s probationary period will automatically be extended by the length of any 
absence of a week or more. 
 

B. Rejection During Probationary Period.   
 
During the probationary period, an employee may be rejected at any time by the appointing 
power without cause, without notice, and without appeal, grievance, or any rights described 
in Rule IX regarding Discipline. If the service of a probationary employee has been 
satisfactory, then the Manager shall file with Human Resources a performance evaluation 
stating the retention of such employee is desired.   If, after the completion of a probationary 
period, no statement is filed stating that the probationary employee is rejected, or no 
evaluation is timely completed, the employee shall be deemed to have attained regular 
employment status.   

 
C. Use of Leave While on Probation 

 
While on initial probation, new employees may not use vacation leave accruals.  New 
employees, however, may use floating holidays, compensation time off, and sick leave, 
where applicable.  This provision does not apply to employees on promotional probation.  
Employees are entitled to use any applicable leave balances while on promotional probation 
provided that they have completed initial probation. 

 
D. Probationary Period After Promotion.  

 
Promotions to a higher classification will be assigned a new probationary period. Any 
employee receiving a promotion to a higher level within the same classification will maintain 
the same probationary period. A promoted employee does not have a property interest in his 
or her prior position if an employee fails to successfully complete the promotional probation 
period.   
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 49 of 85 
 

 

A promotional probationary employee may be rejected at any time during the promotional 
probationary period with or without cause or reason, without notice or appeal or grievance, 
and without any rights described in Rule IX regarding Discipline.  If the employee fails to 
complete the probationary period in the promotional position satisfactorily, the employee may 
return to the position held prior to promotion at the range and step held prior to promotion, if 
there is a vacancy in the prior position, unless he or she is terminated for cause.   

 
Should the original position no longer be available, the employee may be returned to a similar 
position provided they meet qualifications and a position is available, or they may be released 
without cause, without notice or appeal, and without any rights described in Rule IX regarding 
Discipline.  No new probationary period shall be required upon demotion or reinstatement to 
a lower class following rejection from probation.  
 

E. Employee’s Responsibility.   
 
It is the responsibility of the employee to meet and to strive to exceed the minimum standards 
established for work accomplishment and conduct, to strive to improve work effectiveness, 
and to perform at highest competency levels. 

 
 

RULE V.  COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
This section applies to all Authority employees with the exception of the Executive Director unless 
otherwise specified. 
 
SECTION 1.   SALARY RANGE          
 
The Human Resources Department or the person or agency employed for that purpose shall 
establish a salary range for each classification in the competitive service showing the minimum and 
maximum salary amounts.  The minimum salary for each classification shall be thirty percent to 
sixty percent (30% - 60%) below the maximum salary.  All salary ranges shall be adopted by the 
Governing Board by resolution.  The Executive Director retains the authority to adjust salary on a 
case-by-case basis  within the range at any time if it is determined that the current salary adversely 
affects recruitment and retention.   All salary ranges must be included on the Fiscal Year pay 
schedule and must also be approved by the Governing Board. 
 
Tri-City will not discriminate in assigning wage rates on the basis of sex, race, or ethnicity, and will 
not pay an employee at a wage rate less than the rate paid to an employee of the opposite sex, or 
of a different race or ethnicity, for performing substantially similar work, taking into consideration skill, 
effort and responsibility, and which is performed under similar working conditions.  This restriction 
does not limit Tri-City’s ability to assign different wage rates to employees based upon factors other 
than sex, race, or ethnicity, including but not limited to, seniority, merit, education, training and 
experience.  
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 50 of 85 
 

 

A. Review and Adjustment of Pay Ranges.   
 

Tri-City has implemented a system that enables regular review of all salary ranges for 
adjustments contingent upon Tri-City’s financial ability to pay.  If Tri-City is in the financial 
position to do so, as determined by the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer, all 
salary ranges will be reviewed on an annual basis in comparison to the relevant labor market 
for adjustment.  The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer will notify the Human 
Resources Department of any revisions to the schedule for the annual review of all salary 
ranges, based on each fiscal year budget. 

 
 
SECTION 2.   SALARY APPOINTMENT        
 
Generally, new employees are appointed to the minimum of the salary range for the particular class 
in which the appointment is made.  When in the judgment of Human Resources and with the 
recommendation of the appointing authority the education, training, and/or experience of the 
proposed employee justify a salary amount in excess of the minimum, Human Resources may 
authorize a salary appointment at an amount that does not exceed the mid-point of the salary range. 
Any initial salary appointment to an amount in excess of the mid-point of the salary range shall require 
the written approval of the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer.  Initial employment at a 
salary amount above the minimum may also be authorized by Human Resources when a particularly 
difficult recruiting problem for a class is found to exist. 
 
SECTION 3.   ANNIVERSARY DATE         
 
New employees shall have their initial anniversary date set on their appointment date.  Promoted, 
reclassified, or demoted employees shall have a salary anniversary date established as the date on 
which the employee begins performing the duties of the position as determined by the Authority. 
Salary changes shall be made effective on the first day of the closest pay period.   
 
There shall be no loss in seniority for vacation, departmental selection of assignments or other 
related matters.  After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed 
his/her probationary period they will revert to a July 1st salary anniversary date.     
 
SECTION 4.   SALARY ANNIVERSARY DATE        
 
A. Establishment of Salary Anniversary Date.   
 
 All employees who receive appointments in the competitive service shall be evaluated near 

the end of 12 months of employment for consideration of merit salary increase. This will 
establish the employee’s salary anniversary date. After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or 
demoted employee has completed his/her probationary period and received their 
performance evaluation and related salary adjustment (if any) they will revert to a July 1st 
salary anniversary date.   

 
B. Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date.  
 
 A salary anniversary date will revert to a July 1st salary anniversary date after a new hire, 

promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed his/her probationary period.  
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 51 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 5.   SALARY INCREASES         
 
Annual salary increases are contingent upon Tri-City’s ability to pay, as determined by the 
Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Salary increases within a salary range shall be granted to an employee based on merit in conjunction 
with an evaluation of his/her work performance. A merit salary increase must be recommended by 
the first line supervision and approved by the department head and the Human Resources 
Department.  The amount of a merit salary increase, if any, will be based on the employee’s 
achievement as recorded in a performance evaluation report based on the following guidelines, 
however, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operations Officer, the 
Executive Director retains the authority to adjust salary on a case-by-case basis at any time if it is 
determined that current salary adversely affects recruitment and retention.  At no time can an 
employee be paid over their assigned pay grade range.  
 
After a new hire, promoted, reclassified, or demoted employee has completed his/her probationary 
period and received their performance evaluation and related salary adjustment (if any) they will 
revert to a July 1st performance evaluation date for their next evaluation.  This could mean that the 
employee is given a performance evaluation before completing their second full year of service to 
put them on a July 1st evaluation schedule.  Any related adjustment to salary will be calculated on a 
pro-rata basis.  If the employee’s July 1st evaluation is six months after the initial performance 
evaluation and salary adjustment, the recommended percentage increase is multiplied by 6/12 (or 
50% which is equal to six [6] months divided by 12 months) to get a pro-rated percentage increase.  
All salary increases will be effective the first day of the pay period following the anniversary date. 
 
A. Guidelines.   
 

Tri-City places high value on caring, helpful service to clients and the public, development of 
creative workable solutions to problems, timely submission of activity logs, productivity based 
upon direct client service, compliance with client service documentation standards, 
dedication and hard work, self-improvement, cooperation with co-workers, enhancement of 
the Authority’s positive image, the accomplishment of goals and objectives established by 
the employee’s supervisor, and program cost effectiveness.   
 
The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer will consider each fiscal years merit 
increase percentages based on Tri-City’s ability to pay based on that fiscal year’s budget.  
The Chief Financial Officer will notify the Human Resources Department of the approval fiscal 
year merit increase percentage.  The Human Resources Department will be responsible to 
inform all staff prior to the July 1 merit increase anniversary date.   The Executive Director 
and Chief Financial Officer also retain the authority to revise the merit rating schedule, such 
as eliminating all ratings except for Meets Expectations. 

 
1. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Meets Expectations” may 

be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

 
2. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Acceptable in most areas, 

improvement needed in some” may be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, 
subject to the supervisors recommendation and management approval; however, the 
evaluating supervisor may delay implementation of the salary increase pending the 
results of a special performance evaluation focusing on the areas in which 
improvement is needed. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 52 of 85 
 

 

3. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Exceeds Expectations” 
may be eligible to receive a merit salary increase, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

  
4. An employee whose overall work performance is rated as “Exceptional/Exceed all 

Expectations” may be eligible to receive a merit salary, subject to the supervisor’s 
recommendation and management approval. 

 
5. Employees whose overall work performance is rated as “Immediate Improvement 

Needed” shall not be granted a merit salary increase and may be subject to 
disciplinary action and/or placed on a Performance Improvement Plan.   

 
B. Performance Improvement Plan (PIP).   
 
 An employee who does not receive at least a “Meets Expectations” annual evaluation, may 

be placed on a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP). This Plan is completed by the 
employee’s supervisor and should outline goals and expectations in order to assist the 
employee in improving his/her job performance. This plan must be approved by the 
Department Director (e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Operations Officer, Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, Medical 
Director) and the Human Resources Department. 

 
SECTION 6.   SALARY INCREASE PROCEDURE       
 
The following provisions shall govern the salary increase procedures for all employees in the 
competitive service. 
 
A. Notification of Eligibility.   

 
Thirty days prior to each employee’s salary anniversary date and annually thereafter until the 
employee reaches the maximum of the salary range for his/her class, Human Resources 
shall advise the program supervisor in writing of the employee’s pending eligibility for a 
performance evaluation and a merit salary increase.  Please refer to Rule IV, Section 4 
Lateral Transfers.  

 
B. Notification of Authorization to Accounting.   

 
If the supervisor recommends the employee for a merit increase, Human Resources shall 
notify the Accounting Department by Personnel Action Form of the approved merit salary 
increase and such notification shall constitute authorization for the Chief Financial Officer to 
make payment to the employee at the specified higher rate.   
 
Such payment shall commence at or be retroactive to the employee’s salary anniversary 
date, or July 1st of the fiscal year as stated in Rule V, Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary 
Anniversary Date. 

 
C. Postponement of Merit Salary Increase.   
 
 A supervisor may choose not to recommend that an employee receive a salary increase in 

conjunction with the salary anniversary date and postpone consideration pending further 
review of the employee’s performance.   

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 53 of 85 
 

 

 If, during or at the conclusion of the period of postponement, the supervisor recommends that 
the employee receive a merit salary increase, Human Resources shall notify the Chief 
Financial Officer by Personnel Action Form of the approved merit salary increase, and such 
notification shall constitute authorization for the Chief Financial Officer to make payment to 
the employee at the higher rate.  Such payment shall commence at the beginning of the 
nearest pay period closest to which the recommendation is made. 

 
D. Failure to Process Eligibility for Merit Salary Increase.   
 
 Should an employee’s salary anniversary date be overlooked through error, and upon 

discovery of the error the employee is recommended and approved for a merit salary 
increase, the Chief Financial Officer shall honor a request for retroactive payment 
compensating the employee from the employee’s salary anniversary date, or July 1st of the 
fiscal year as stated in Rule V. Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date.   

 
SECTION 7.   SALARY ON PROMOTION        
An employee who is appointed to a position in a class allocated to a higher salary range than the 
class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall receive a salary rate that is at least four 
percent (4%) higher than his/her previous base salary, or to the maximum of the 50th percentile of 
the new salary range. A supervisor can determine the salary increase based on years of service and 
responsibilities. This will allow for Supervisors to adjust the salary in cases where a long term 
employee, who after being promoted, is only at the new minimum salary range. The promotion and 
corresponding pay increase shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the 
employee’s notification of his/her promotion. The effective date of the promotion shall determine the 
employee’s new salary anniversary date, for the six-month promotional probationary period only. 
Thereafter, the salary anniversary date will revert to July 1st of each fiscal year as stated in Rule V. 
Section 4(b), Adjustment in Salary Anniversary Date. 
 
SECTION 8.   SALARY ON TRANSFER        
 
An employee who is transferred from one position to another in the same class or to another position 
in a class having the same salary range shall be compensated at the same rate in the salary range 
as he/she previously received. The employee’s salary anniversary shall remain the same as it was 
before the transfer.  Please refer to Rule IV, Section 4 Lateral Transfers. 
 
SECTION 9.   SALARY ON REINSTATEMENT        
 
Notwithstanding other provisions of these Rules and Regulations, a person reinstated (within six (6) 
months) in: A) a position allocated to a class in which he/she previously held regular status and from 
which he/she was separated in good standing; or B) a position allocated to a class which is 
comparable as determined by the Authority to a position to which he/she previously held regular 
status and from which he/she was separated in good standing may, with the approval of the 
Executive Director, Chief Fiscal Officer and the program manager in which he/she would be 
reinstated, be appointed to the same rate in salary range for the particular class of position as the 
rate in which he/she occupied at the effective date of his/her resignation.  Upon reinstatement, the 
employee’s anniversary date shall be determined by the effective date of the reinstatement. 
 
SECTION 10.   SALARY ON DEMOTION       

  
The salary of an employee who is demoted to a position in a class allocated to a lower salary class 
than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall be determined as follows: 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 54 of 85 
 

 

A. Involuntary Demotion.   
 
 An employee who is involuntarily demoted to a position in a class allocated to a lower salary 

range than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall have his/her monthly 
salary reduced to the nearest lower monthly salary rate in the salary range for the class to 
which he/she has been demoted.  In lieu of a reduction in salary, the Executive Director may 
approve a “Y” rate for the employee.  A “Y” rate exists when the employee’s salary is frozen 
at the present level until such time as subsequent general salary range increases catch up 
with or exceed the employee’s salary at the “Y” rate.  He shall not be required to serve a 
probationary period in the lower position unless he/she has not completed his/her initial 
probationary period as required in this section.  In such case, he/she will be required to 
complete his/her probationary period in the lower position.  The employee shall retain the 
salary anniversary date he/she had in the higher position. 

 
B. Voluntary Demotion.   
 
 An employee who is demoted at his/her own request to a position in a class allocated to a 

lower salary range than the class in which he/she formerly occupied a position shall have 
his/her monthly salary reduced to the nearest lower monthly salary in the salary range for the 
class to which he/she has been demoted.  In lieu of a reduction in salary, the Executive 
Director may approve a “Y” rate for the employee.   

 
 A “Y” rate exists when the employee’s salary is frozen at the present level until such time a 

subsequent general salary range increases catch up with or exceed the employee’s salary at 
the “Y” rate. He/she shall not be required to serve a probationary period in the lower position 
unless he/she has not completed his/her initial probationary period as required by this 
chapter.  In such case, he/she will be required to complete higher probationary period in the 
lower position.  The employee shall retain the salary anniversary date he/she had in the 
higher position. 

 
SECTION 11.   SALARY ON POSITION RECLASSIFICATION      
 
The salary of an employee in a position that is reclassified shall be determined as follows: 
 
A. Class with Same Salary Range.    

 
If the position is reclassified to a class with the same salary range as the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, the salary rate and the salary 
anniversary date of the employee shall not change.  This provision shall also apply to the 
change of class title, provided there is no change in the basic duties of the position. 

 
B. Class with Higher Salary Range.    

 
If the position is reclassified to a class with a higher salary range as the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, he/she shall be compensated at a 
rate in the new salary range which comes nearest to and/or higher than the rate he/she held 
in the previous salary range.   
 

C. Class with Lower Salary Range.    
 
If the position is reclassified to a class with a lower salary range than the previous class, and 
if the incumbent is appointed to the reclassified position, his/her salary shall not change 
unless it is greater than the maximum of the lower salary range, in which case, the Executive 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 55 of 85 
 

 

Director shall approve a “Y” rate for the employee.  A ”Y” rate exists when the employee’s 
salary is frozen at the present level until such time as subsequent general salary range 
increases equal or exceed the employee’s salary at the “Y” rate.  The incumbent’s salary 
anniversary date shall not change. 
 

D. Employee Incentive Pay 
 
 If an employee obtains a license,  degree, or certification that requires continuing education 

units (CEUs) and that is determined by the Department Head to be of value to the Authority 
and relative to their job classification, they may be eligible for a one-time 4% salary increase 
subject to Department Head and Human Resources approval. The employee must present 
documentation and the license,  degree, or certification must enhance skills relevant to their 
current position, as determined by the Department Head, for consideration.   

 
E. Step Increases 
 
 If there are multiple pay steps within the same classification and an employee has occupied 

his or her current position for at least 12 months, has increased responsibilities, and has 
maintained a Meets Expectations on all Performance Evaluations while in his or her current 
position, the Department Head may grant a one-step pay increase without posting an 
opening, as a natural career progression.  

  
Upon moving to the higher step, the employee receives a 4% increase above their base 
salary at the time of the increase along with the title number change. If the employee has 
obtained a license, degree, or certification which qualified them for the step increase, the 
employee is only eligible for the 4% salary increase for meeting the requirements of that step. 
The step increase shall take effect at the beginning of the first pay period following the 
employee’s notification of his/her increase. 

 
SECTION 12.   OVERTIME            
 
It is the policy of the Authority to avoid overtime work whenever possible.  In cases of emergency, 
however, or whenever public interest or necessity requires, any employee may be directed by proper 
authority, and is expected to perform, overtime work. 
 
A. Definition of Overtime.   

 
Overtime is hours worked by non-exempt employees in excess of 40 hours in a seven (7) 
day work week.  “Hours worked” shall mean hours actually worked and does not include paid 
leave (i.e., vacation, sick leave, compensatory time, etc.).  No overtime shall be recorded or 
reported for less than 40 hours worked over a seven (7) day work week. 

 
B. Prior Authorization.   

 
Overtime must be authorized in writing in advance by the Authority.  All overtime requests 
must have the prior written authorization of a supervisor prior to the commencement of such 
overtime work.   
 
Where prior written authorization is not feasible, explicit verbal authorization must be 
obtained.  Where verbal authorization is obtained, written authorization must be obtained as 
soon thereafter as practicable.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 56 of 85 
 

 

Dispatched calls beyond the end of duty time are considered as authorized.  Working 
overtime without advance approval is grounds for discipline. Employees are cautioned not to 
spend excessive amount of time at their workstation before or after their normal work period 
or during their meal breaks.  Meal breaks should be taken away from the employee’s 
workstation. This incidental time will not be compensated in any manner whatsoever unless 
prior authorization of a supervisor is obtained. It is the Supervisor’s responsibility to approve 
their assigned staff’s timesheets before submission to Accounting to authorize any overtime 
work performed.   

 
C. Rate.    

 
Employees who have worked overtime hours shall be compensated as follows based on that 
status of their classification under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).  
1. FLSA-Covered Employees. Employees in non-exempt classifications under the FLSA 

shall be compensated at a rate of time and one-half for all overtime hours.  
 
2. Exempt Employees.  Employees in classifications that have been determined to be 

exempt under the FLSA due to their managerial, supervisory or professional status 
as determined by the Executive Director per Department of Labor guidelines may be 
compensated at a rate of straight time in the form of compensatory time off, as 
described in section D(2) below.  Such compensatory time shall not be accrued 
without prior authorization from the employee’s supervisor.   

 
At the discretion of the Executive Director, Exempt employees may be required to 
work overtime without additional compensation to meet unusual operational needs of 
the Authority.  

 
D. Compensatory Time Off. 
 

1. FLSA-Covered Employees and Executive Management.  Non-Exempt and Executive 
Management employees are not eligible to receive compensatory time.  Executive 
Management employees refer to the Resolution. 

 
2. Exempt Employees.  As stated in sub-section C (2) above, exempt employees who 

do not have a legal entitlement to overtime compensation may be permitted to receive 
compensation for overtime in the form of compensatory time off at the straight time 
rate at the discretion of the Authority.  Exempt employees may be permitted to 
accumulate or “bank” up to 60 hours of compensatory time with pre-approval from 
their supervisor; however exempt employees shall not be eligible to receive pay for 
compensatory time hours on the books during employment.  Rather, exempt 
employees may utilize accumulated compensatory time hours only in the form of time 
off in accordance with established vacation utilization procedures. Accrued 
compensatory time off, if available, shall be used first before using vacation leave 
balances.  Exempt employees shall be entitled to carry over unused accumulated 
compensatory time hours from one fiscal year to the next.  If an employee leaves 
Authority employment before exhausting compensatory leave balances, the 
remaining compensatory leave balance will be paid off in the separating employee’s 
final paycheck. 
 

3. Approval of Use. Use of compensatory time must be pre-approved by the employee’s 
Supervisor/Manager/Department Director prior to commencing use for all employees.  
Compensatory time shall not be used for injury or illness-related absences in lieu of 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 57 of 85 
 

 

sick leave when sick leave is available unless otherwise required by state or federal 
law. 

 
SECTION 13.   EXCEPTIONAL PERFORMANCE AWARDS            
 
Consistently exceptional performance may be recognized in the form of an Exceptional Performance 
Award. The provision of such an award shall be a discretionary action requiring review and approval 
of the Executive Director.  An Exceptional Performance Award may be made on a one-time, lump 
sum basis during any fiscal year and is dependent upon the availability of funds as determined by 
the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer. An Exceptional Performance Award may be 
granted to an employee in addition to a merit salary increase. The Authority’s ability to provide 
Exceptional Performance Awards is contingent upon the availability of funding guaranteed through 
employee productivity. 
 
A. Annual Initiation of Program.   

 
On a fiscal year basis, the Chief Financial Officer, with the approval of the Executive Director, 
shall determine whether sufficient funding has been received within the Authority to initiate 
the Exceptional Performance Award program for that particular fiscal year.  If a determination 
is made that funds are available, the Executive Director shall issue a memorandum to 
supervisory staff advising of such and the time period during which recommendations for 
Exceptional Performance Awards will be considered. 

 
B. Amount of Award.  

 
An employee may receive a one-time, lump sum Exceptional Performance Award of up to 
eight percent (8%) of his/her annual regular earnings from Tri-City during the previous fiscal 
year. 

 
C. Eligibility.   

 
To be eligible for an Exceptional Performance Award an employee shall have completed the 
probationary period with at least 12 months of full-time service with the Authority.  However, 
under rare special circumstances, the Executive Director may authorize an Exceptional 
Performance Award for an employee who has not yet completed the probationary period and 
12 months of employment with the Authority.   
 
An employee who has informed the Authority of his/her intent to resign or retire from 
employment with Tri-City shall not be eligible to receive an Exceptional Performance Award.  
To be eligible, an employee must consistently exceed performance level standards. 

 
D. Justification.   

 
An Exceptional Performance Award may be granted to recognize an employee’s excellent 
job performance which has produced increased productivity or efficiency, has been above 
and beyond the call of duty and/or is consistently maintained at an outstanding level.   
 
To receive an Exceptional Performance Award, an employee must be recommended as a 
recipient in a memorandum written to the Executive Director by the employee’s supervisor or 
department head.  The justification memorandum to the Executive Director shall describe in 
detail the employee’s accomplishments in one or more of the following categories: 

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 58 of 85 
 

 

1. Submittal of ideas and/or taking action that has resulted in increased productivity 
and/or efficiency. 

2. Outstanding actions that have brought credit to the Authority, or improved its services 
and/or image. 

 
3. An option or actions performed that would not normally be expected of the employee’s 

classification and performance of them in an outstanding manner; 
 

4. Within the employee’s area of responsibility, there is a consistent, high level of 
productivity and/or efficiency with repeated successful implementation of outstanding 
work products; 

 
5. Extraordinary effort, diligence, courage, patience, empathy or creativity;  
 
6. Commitment of the employee’s own time to the benefit of the Authority. 

 
E. Executive Director Approval.    

 
The provision of an Exceptional Performance Award requires the written approval of the 
Executive Director.  Such approval may be granted to eligible employees only in instances in 
which funds are available and justification is provided based on a written recommendation in 
the form of a memorandum to the Executive Director that complies with the requirements set 
forth in sub-section D in this Section. 
 

SECTION 14.   BILINGUAL INCENTIVE PAY        
 
The Authority will provide bilingual incentive pay to qualified employees who have the ability to 
fluently converse in one of the following languages:  Spanish, Cambodian, Vietnamese, Cantonese, 
Korean, Mandarin, any of the Asian languages, and uses the language in his/her work in accordance 
with operational guidelines in effect established by the Executive Director and Director of Clinical 
Program Services.  Bilingual incentive pay shall be in the amount of $0.50 per hour totaling in $1,040 
per year.  Department Directors reserve the right to repeal bilingual incentive pay at any time 
depending on the need of the Department and/or position.  The Authority reserves the right to 
establish standards and procedures to determine if an affected employee is qualified to receive such 
compensation.  The Authority additionally reserves the right to review and expand the category of 
accepted languages that would qualify for bilingual pay.  Bilingual incentive pay will take effect at the 
beginning of the pay period following all completed qualifications and approvals. 
 
SECTION 15.  EMPLOYEE REFERRAL FEE PROGRAM 
 
The Authority is always looking for qualified employees and appreciates recommendations made by 
existing employees. If a current staff member recommends someone who is hired on a full-time, 
permanent basis, they will receive a referral fee totaling up to $400. The Authority may from time to 
time, however, pay a higher referral fee for particular positions as approved by the Executive 
Director.  The first $200 will be paid when the referral commits to the offer and actually starts working 
for the Authority. The newly hired employee must fill out a form stating who referred them on their 
first day of employment. The second $200 will be paid when that referral completes probation.  This 
amount may be changed from time to time depending on existing market conditions.  
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 59 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 16.  ON CALL PAY 
 
Certain staff members are required to be available after-hours on a rotating basis. These staff 
members receive an annual on-call pay. In addition, if staff is called to come into the office, they will 
be paid for hours actually worked, including travel time to and from their home.  Department Directors 
reserve the right to repeal On-Call pay at any time depending on the need of the Department and/or 
position.   (Refer to On-Call Pay Policy & Procedure for further details.) 
 
SECTION 17.   INSURANCE BENEFITS         
 
The Authority will make available group insurance benefits to full-time employees in accordance 
with resolutions adopted by the Governing Board and as required by law.  The Authority pays a 
percentage of the premiums with the employee paying the remaining percentage. Employees may 
opt for coverage through a health insurance exchange. Employees who decline medical insurance 
plan coverage shall receive an Health Incentive Plan in lieu payment of $150 per month over 24 pay 
periods. All declining employees must provide proof of alternative insurance coverage to be eligible 
for this payment.   
 
An open enrollment period will occur each year prior to the effective date of each policy.  Only during 
this time may the employee change insurance plans.  An exception occurs if the employee claims a 
qualifying event affecting his/her family, then enrollment will be the first of the next month.   
Tri-City provides term life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment policies, including 
short-term and long-term disability insurance.  Additional voluntary (employee-paid) group rate 
supplemental plans are available through American Fidelity. American Fidelity also provides a 
Medical Expense and Dependent Care Flexible Spending Account, an IRS Code Section 125 benefit 
plan.  Benefits for new hires receiving coverage and their dependents, are effective the first day of 
the calendar month following the employee’s hire month.   
 
Pursuant to the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), the Authority shall not retaliate 
against any employee who receives health insurance premium tax credits or a subsidy in the health 
insurance exchange; reports potential violations of protections afforded under Title I of the ACA; 
testifies, assists or participates in a proceeding concerning such violation; or objects to, or refuses 
to participate in, any activity, policy, practice, or assigned task that the employee reasonably believes 
to be a violation of any provision of Title I of the ACA. 
 
SECTION 18.   MEDICARE          
 
All employees hired after April 1, 1986, will have 1.45 percent of their base salary deducted from 
their paycheck to be paid to Medicare.  The Authority will match the 1.45 percent, as mandated by 
law. 
 
SECTION 19.   PAY PERIOD          
 
The compensation due to all employees of the Authority shall be on a bi-weekly basis. 
 
SECTION 20.   PAY DAYS          
 
The payment of compensation, as well as paystubs, shall be made available by the Authority to 
employees on the pay date, the Friday following the completion of each bi-weekly pay period.  In the 
event that a pay date falls on a holiday, payment of compensation (as well as pay stubs) shall be 
made available to the Authority employee on the first work day preceding the holiday. 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 60 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 21. TIME ENTRY 
 
Time entry into Workforce Now (the System) is to be completed and approved by the employee and 
the employee’s time and attendance supervisor no later than 11 am on the Monday following the 
completion of each bi-weekly pay period (Approval Deadline). 
 
The employee’s approval of their timecard indicates their attestation to the accuracy and 
completeness of their recorded hours.  The time and attendance supervisors’ approval of employees’ 
timecards indicates their attestation to the accuracy and completeness of the employees’ recorded 
hours. 
 
Exempt and non-exempt employees shall be compensated based on the approved hours as 
recorded within the System.  Modification of hours subsequent to the approval deadline (as noted 
above) will have to be documented and approved by the employee requesting the change and their 
time and attendance supervisor. These modifications will be applied to the subsequent pay period. 
 
SECTION 22. LICENSURE / CERTIFICATION INCENTIVE PAY 
 
For full-time staff who are preparing to get licensed or certified, Tri-City will pay up to $250 per 
calendar year for the cost of the class or workshop that is related directly to getting the license or 
certification.  The license and certification must require continuing education units (CEUs) and be 
approved by the Department Head as having value to the Authority and relative to the employee’s 
job classification, fees associated with registering/sitting for the exam are not covered.   
 
Employees in the Psychiatrist classification refer to the Psychiatrist Resolution. 
 
SECTION 23.   LICENSE / REGISTRATION RENEWAL PAY 
 
Tri-City will pay for the licensure and registration renewal fees for full-time staff whose duties 
require a license. 
 
Employees in the Psychiatrist classification refer to the Psychiatrist Resolution. 
 
 

RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS 
 
SECTION 1.   VACATION          
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management.  Executive Management vacation leave benefits are covered under the 
Executive Management Resolution. 
 
A. Basis of Accrual.   
 
 Every full-time regular employee shall be entitled to a paid vacation leave following 6 months 

of full-time, continuous service with the Authority. Accrual shall take place on a  bi-weekly 
basis as defined below: 

 
Longevity  Accrual  Longevity  Accrual 
0-2 Years  80 Hours  5-9 Years  128 Hours 
3-4 Years  104 Hours  10+ Years  168 Hours 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 61 of 85 
 

 

 
Vacation accrual shall be prorated for employees who begin or terminate their employment 
in the middle of the pay period.  For purposes of this section, continuous service shall include 
time in which an employee is on authorized leave of absence with pay. Vacation leave will 
not accrue during leaves of absence without pay unless required by law. 

 
B. Vacation Accrual.   

 
All full-time employees shall be entitled to accrue vacation up to a maximum of 240 hours. 
No additional vacation hours can be accumulated until balance is below 240 hours.  
Supervisors shall encourage the taking of accrued vacation leave within the calendar year 
earned.  

 
C. Effects of Holiday on Vacation Leave.   

 
In the event one or more authorized Authority holidays fall within a vacation leave, such 
holiday shall not be charged as vacation leave. 

 
D. Effects of Sick Leave on Vacation Leave.   
 
 In the event an employee becomes ill during his/her vacation period, such time shall not be 

charged as vacation leave, upon approval of the supervisor or Human Resources 
Department, if the following conditions are met: 

 
1. Notice is given immediately to the employee’s supervisor or the Human Resources 

Department.  Sick leave will only be granted for those days on which notice is given 
or which follow notice to the Authority; and 

 
2. Upon request, the employee submits a doctor’s certificate for the period of sick leave.  

A doctor’s note will not be required except as described in the Sick Leave policy 
contained in these Personnel Rules and Regulations.  

 
E. Scheduling Vacations.    
 
 An employee may request his/her annual vacation leave at any time during the year, 

contingent upon determination by his/her supervisor that such absence will not adversely 
affect the department.  

 Each employee must consider the needs of the service when requesting annual vacation 
leave. An employee shall request vacation time off through the ADP timesheet process. 

 
F. Vacation Accrual Cash Out.    
 
 An employee may request a “Vacation Cash Out” of a maximum of eighty (80) accrued 

vacation hours during any fiscal year. Eligibility Criteria for a vacation accrual cash out are 
as follows: 

 
1. The employee must be regular, full-time employee, who has completed his or her 

initial probationary period, if applicable.  
 

2. A vacation accrual balance of 40 hours will remain following the completion of the 
cash-out request.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 62 of 85 
 

 

 Employees who meet the Eligibility Criteria for a Vacation Cash Out should complete and 
submit a Vacation Accrual Cash-Out Request Form available on Summit.  Human Resources 
and Finance will review the request for approval or denial.  Only full hour increments of 
accrued vacation leave may be requested.   Vacation Accrual Cash-Outs will be paid out at 
the base rate of pay plus bilingual incentive pay, if applicable.  Approval of an employee’s 
Vacation Cash Out request will be limited to time periods during which an adequate cash flow 
is available to Tri-City to accommodate potential requests by multiple employees as 
determined by the Chief Financial Officer.   

 
 Employees are not permitted to cash out more than 80 hours of vacation accruals during any 

one fiscal year (July 1-June 30).  
 
G. Payment Upon Separation.    

 
An employee separated from Authority service shall receive full compensation for 
accumulated vacation hours on the books at the employee’s then current salary rate. 

 
SECTION 2.   SICK LEAVE   
 
This section applies to all full-time and part-time employees employed by the Authority with 
the exception of Executive Management. Executive Management sick leave benefits are covered 
under the Executive Management Resolution.         
 
A. Accrual of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees.   
 
 Every full-time probationary, regular, and provisional (interim) employee shall accrue sick 

leave at the rate of 88 hours per year.  Sick leave shall accrue on a  bi-weekly  basis, 
beginning on the first day of employment and shall be prorated when an employee begins or 
terminates his/her employment in the middle of a month.  Sick leave is not a leave which an 
employee may use at his/her discretion, but shall be allowed only as provided in this Section 
or as indicated by federal or state law. 

 
B. Accrual of and Eligibility for Sick Leave for Part-Time and Temporary Employees. 

 
Effective January 1, 2024, any existing part-time or temporary employees not otherwise 
provided paid sick leave shall be granted 40 hours of sick leave for use during the calendar 
year.  Every year thereafter, on the first pay period in January, each covered employee shall 
receive an annual grant of 40 hours of sick leave for use during that calendar year.  New 
hires shall receive an annual grant of 40 hours of sick leave upon the 90th day of employment 
at which time they are also eligible to use said sick leave. 
 
This sick leave entitlement shall be reflected on the covered employee’s regular pay stub.  
This annual grant does not rollover to the next calendar year and is not paid out upon 
separation from employment, promotion, or reclassification into a full-time classification. An 
employee who is promoted or reclassified from a part-time or temporary classification into a 
regular, full-time classification, will cease to be eligible for the annual front load grant of 40 
hours of sick leave under this section and will assume the accrual of sick leave for full-time 
employees as outlined in the Authority’s Personnel Rules and Regulations, Rule VI, Section 
2.A.  Any remaining hours not used prior to the promotion or reclassification from the annual 
front load grant of 40 hours will be forfeited. 
 

Deleted: Part-time employees shall accrue sick leave at 
the rate of 1 hour for every 30 hours worked, up to 3 days 
or 24 hours, whichever is greater, per 12 month calendar 
period.  Part-time employees may carry over accrued sick 
days to the following year, with a maximum cap of 6 days or 
48 hours, whichever is greater, that may carry over year to 
year.  Accrued sick leave will be restored if a part-time or 
temporary employee separates from the Authority but 
returns to work for the Authority, in any position, within 12 
months. Tri-City will comply with California law regarding 
sick leave for part-time employees in accordance with 
Labor Code section 245, et seq. ¶
¶
A part-time or temporary employee is permitted to use 
accrued sick leave beginning on the 90th day of his/her 
employment.  Use of sick leave by part-time and temporary 
employees is capped at 3 days or 24 hours, whichever is 
greater, per 12-month period for the uses provided in this 
Section.  ¶



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 63 of 85 
 

 

Unused sick leave will be restored if a part-time or temporary employee separates from Tri-
City but returns to work for Tri-City, in any position, within 12 months. Tri-City will comply with 
California law regarding sick leave for part-time employees in accordance with Labor Code 
section 245.5, 246, and 246.5. 
 

C. Accumulation of Sick Leave for Full-Time Employees.   
 

Sick leave may be accumulated indefinitely without limitation during the employee’s full-time 
employment with the Authority. 

D. Use of Sick Leave.   
 
 Employees may use sick leave for the following reasons:   
  

1. For the employee’s own diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition 
or preventative care. 
 

2. For the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or preventative 
care for an employee’s immediate family member (child of any age or dependency 
status, spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, 
grandchild, or sibling). 

3. For an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking to: 
i) obtain or attempt to obtain a temporary restraining order or other court assistance 
to help ensure the health safety or welfare of the employee or his or her child; ii) obtain 
medical attention or psychological counseling services from a shelter, program or 
crisis center; or iii) participate in safety planning or other actions to increase safety. 

 
 A full-time employee’s use of one half of his or her annual accrued sick leave in a calendar 

year for the uses provided in this Section will be considered “Protected Sick Leave” in 
accordance with California Labor Code section 233. 

 
E. Notification and Proof of Illness.    
  
 In order to be paid for time while absent from duty on sick leave, if the need for sick leave is 

foreseeable, the employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor prior to the time set for 
the beginning of his/her regular duties.  If the need for sick leave is unforeseeable, the 
employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor of the need for leave as soon as 
practicable.   

 
 The Authority may require a full-time employee (or a part-time employee accruing sick leave) 

to provide a physician’s certification to support any absence that involves the illness of the 
employee or family member if the Authority suspects that there is an abuse of sick leave by 
the employee.  The Authority may also require such certification regarding sick leave use at 
any time to the extent permitted by law.  

 
 All employees who use paid leave to address issues related to domestic violence, sexual 

assault or stalking, and who cannot provide advance notice of their need for leave, must 
provide certification of the need for leave within a reasonable time thereafter.   

 
F. Payment Upon Separation.     
 
 Upon separation of employment from the Authority, a terminating full-time employee shall 

receive payment for accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of 240 hours. In addition, an 
Employee who is separating from employment for the purpose of retirement under the 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 64 of 85 
 

 

California Public Employee’s Retirement System (CalPERS) may request that accrued and 
unused sick leave be converted to CalPERS service credit in accordance with applicable 
state laws and regulations. If the employee is re-employed by the Authority within 12 months 
of separating, the employee shall be credited with prior accrued, unused sick time that has 
not been cashed out.  Payment upon separation is made upon the next regularly scheduled 
Authority pay date. 

 
 
SECTION 3.   HOLIDAYS          
 
A. Authorized Holidays.   
 
 Every full-time employee shall be entitled to the following paid holidays, and/or other days 

designated by action of the Governing Board. 
 

1. New Year’s Day (January 1st)  
2. Martin Luther King Day (3rd Monday in January)  
3. President’s Day (3rd Monday in February)  
4. Memorial Day (4th Monday in May) 
5. Juneteenth (June 19th)  
6. Independence Day (July 4th) 
7. Labor Day (1st Monday in September) 
8. Thanksgiving Day  
9. Day after Thanksgiving 
10. Christmas Eve 
11. Christmas Day 
  
Two (2) Floating Holidays (16 hours per calendar year; prorated for new hires) 

 
The Executive Director is empowered to determine whether the Authority shall observe 
special days of declaration by the President or Governor as a day of public fast, thanksgiving, 
mourning, or holiday, as well as determine if any other day shall be a holiday. 

 
B. Use of Floating Holidays.    
 
 A floating holiday shall be scheduled in the same manner as vacations.  The employee will 

request the Floating Holiday through the ADP timesheet process.  Approval of the requested 
day off shall be contingent upon determination that the employee’s absence will not adversely 
affect the operations of the department.  A floating holiday not used during a calendar year 
will be cashed out on the last pay period of the calendar year.  Upon separation of 
employment, any remaining floating holidays will be cashed out. 

 
C. Weekends.    
 
 If a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday; or if the 

holiday falls on a Saturday, the Friday preceding will be observed as the holiday. Additionally, 
if the holiday falls on the employee’s flex day, the employee shall take off another working 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 65 of 85 
 

 

day immediately preceding or following the holiday, with the supervisor’s approval, preferably 
within the same week but may be within the same pay period. 

 
D. Flextime and Holidays. 

  
If an employee’s regular day off (”RDO”) falls on a scheduled paid holiday, the employee may 
take off the workday immediately preceding or immediately following the holiday as their RDO 
instead.   

 
E. During Unpaid Leaves.   
 
 Holiday pay will not be provided during a period in which an employee is on unpaid leave or 

other absence in which regular compensation is not provided. 
 
F. New Hires.     
 
 A new employee whose first working day is the day after a holiday shall not be paid for that 

holiday.   
 
SECTION 4.   COMPENSATORY TIME OFF        
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular employees employed by the Authority with the exception 
of Executive Management.  Executive Management vacation leave benefits are covered under the 
Executive Management Resolution. 
 
Refer to Rule V. Section 12 (D) of these rules and regulations for policies governing the use of 
compensatory time.  An employee who has requested the use of accumulated compensatory time 
shall be permitted to use such time within a reasonable period unless such scheduling will unduly 
disrupt the operations of the Authority.  Upon separation of employment, any remaining 
compensatory time off will be cashed out. 
 
SECTION 5.   PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE 
    
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
The Authority will allow leave in accordance with the California Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(FEHA), if you are disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions.  (Refer to Family 
Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave Policy II.09). 
 
SECTION 6.   FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE / FAMILY RIGHTS ACT  
   
This section applies to all eligible employees employed by the Authority. 
 
The Authority will allow family medical leave for eligible employees in compliance with the federal 
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 and the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”).  California law 
shall prevail unless preempted by federal law.  (Refer to Family Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability 
Leave Policy II.09). 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 66 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 7.   BABY BONDING LEAVE  
   
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
New-child bonding is part of CFRA and allows eligible employees to take up to 12 weeks of leave to 
bond with or care for a newborn child, a newly adopted child or a child newly placed in foster care. 
There is no requirement that either the employee or child have a serious health condition, nor must 
the employee be disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or a related medical condition before taking CFRA 
leave for reason of birth of the child. (Refer to Family Medical Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave 
Policy II.09). 
 
 
SECTION 8.   MILITARY LEAVE  
        
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
Military leave will be granted in accordance with state and federal law.  An employee requesting 
leave for this purpose shall promptly provide the Department Director with a copy of the military 
orders specifying the dates, site and purpose of the activity or mission.  Within the limits of such 
orders, the Department Director may determine when the leave is to be taken and may modify the 
employee’s work schedule to accommodate the request for leave.  
 
The Department Director shall advise Human Resources of such military orders immediately.  Sick 
leave and annual vacation leave will accrue to the employee during the period he/she is on military 
leave in accordance with the Military and Veterans Code of the State.  (Refer to Family Medical 
Leave/Pregnancy Disability Leave Policy II.09). 
 
This provision shall not be construed to grant any other benefits, other than those provided by state 
and federal law, to employees who voluntarily join the armed services or who are called to full-time 
active duty in the armed services. 
 
SECTION 9.  LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY       
 
A. General Policy.    
 
 This policy shall not apply to any leave of absence required by law.  
  
 An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for up to 30 days upon the 

recommendation of his/her supervisor and approval of the Executive Director.  A leave of 
absence in excess of thirty days may only be granted by the Department Director and Human 
Resources for any of the following reasons: 

 
1. To take a course of study which will increase the employee’s usefulness on return to 

his/her position in the Authority service; 
 
2. For personal reasons approved by the Executive Director and Department Director. 

Use of a leave of absence for a purpose other than that requested may be cause for 
forfeiture of reinstatement rights.  No leave of absence without pay shall be utilized to 
permit an employee to seek other employment or to permit an employee to engage 
in non-Authority employment where the employment is an internship.  

 
B. Authorization Procedure.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 67 of 85 
 

 

 Requests for leave of absence without pay shall be made upon the Request for Time Off 
Form and submitted to the Department Director for approval and shall state specifically the 
reason for the request, the date when it is desired to begin the leave and the probable date 
of return.  The request shall be transmitted to the Executive Director for final approval.  The 
action of the Executive Director shall be final.  A copy of any approved request for leave of 
absence without pay shall be delivered promptly to Human Resources, Accounting, the 
Department Director and the employee. 

  
 
 
 
 
C. Length of Leave and Extension.   
 
 A leave of absence without pay may be made for a period not to exceed one (1) year provided 

that the Executive Director and Department Head may extend such leave for an additional 
period not to exceed one (1) year.  Procedure in granting such extensions shall be the same 
as granting the original leave provided that the request for extension is made no later than 
30 calendar days prior to the expiration of the original leave. 

 
D. Return From Leave.   

 
When an employee intends to return from an authorized leave of absence without pay either 
before or upon the expiration of such leave, he/she shall contact his/her supervisor at least 
14 calendar days prior to the day he/she plans to return.  
The supervisor shall promptly notify the Department Director and Executive Director of the 
employee’s intention.  Failure on the part of the employee to report for work promptly at the 
date of leave expiration, or within a reasonable time after notice to return to duty, shall 
constitute a separation from service.  Paid leaves, i.e., vacation, sick leave and holidays, and 
other similar benefits shall not accrue to an employee granted such leave during the period 
of absence. An employee on leave of absence does not have any of the privileges granted 
regular full-time employees, except as otherwise required by law.  Unless required by law, 
the Authority will not maintain contributions toward group insurance or retirement coverage 
for the employee on such leave.    

 
SECTION 10.      BEREAVEMENT LEAVE  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
Any accrued vacation, sick, compensation time or floating holiday pay can be used for Bereavement, 
but must be approved by the Supervisor.  As employees are required to use their own time for 
Bereavement leave, employees shall request the time off through his or her Supervisor through the 
normal request for time off practice.   
 
SECTION 11.  WORKERS’ COMPENSATION  
       
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
All injuries sustained in the course of employment shall be reported as soon as practicable to the 
supervisor, who shall in turn immediately report the same to Human Resources or the Chief 
Operations Officer.   In the event the employee is physically incapacitated in such a manner as to 
prevent submission of a report, the supervisor shall complete and forward the required form to 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 68 of 85 
 

 

Human Resources within 24 hours following the injury.  Medical care and payments for temporary 
and permanent disabilities incurred in the course of employment shall be paid as prescribed by State 
law.  Any regular employee shall continue to earn eligibility for consideration for merit salary 
increases during an absence resulting from an on-the-job injury providing he/she receives 
compensation payments under the provisions of the California Workers’ Compensation Law.  A 
probationary employee shall be entitled to the same benefits as a regular employee. 
 
During the time the employee is in fully paid status while absent from work by reason of injury or 
illness covered by Workers’ Compensation, he or she shall continue to accrue sick leave and 
vacation benefits as though he or she were not on leave of absence. 
 
 
SECTION 12.   EMPLOYEE TIME OFF FOR VOTING  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
      
California Elections Code Section 14001 requires agencies to post a notice to employees advising 
them of provisions for taking paid leave for the purpose of voting in statewide elections.  The notice 
must be posted ten (10) days before a state wide election.  In general, a statewide election is defined 
as one in which all voters in the state have an opportunity to vote on at least one common race or 
issue.  Employees are eligible for up to two (2) hours of paid time off for the purpose of voting only if 
they do not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote.  The intent of the law is to provide 
an opportunity to vote to workers who would not be able to do so because of their jobs.  Voting hours 
are from 7:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.  Employees can be given as much time as they need in order to vote, 
but only a maximum of two hours is paid.  Employees must give notice to their supervisors at least 
two (2) working days prior to the statewide election that they will need additional time off for voting.  
Employees will be required to take the time off only at the beginning or end of the employee’s shift. 
 
SECTION 13.   FAMILY SCHOOL PARTNERSHIP ACT/PARENTAL LEAVE    
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
An employee who is a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, grandparent, or person who 
stands in loco parentis to of one or more children in kindergarten or grades 1 to 12, inclusive, or 
attending a licensed child care facility, can take off up to 40 hours each year, not exceeding eight (8) 
hours in any calendar month of the year, to participate in activities of their child’s school or licensed 
child care facility; find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider; or 
to pick up a child due to a child care provider or school emergency.  The employee, prior to taking 
the time off, must give reasonable notice to Tri-City of the planned absence. The employee shall 
utilize existing vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for purposes of the planned 
absence authorized by this section.   
 
An employee may also utilize time off without pay for this purpose if approved by his/her supervisor.  
The supervisor may request the employee provide documentation from the school or licensed child 
care facility as proof that he or she participated in school or licensed child care facility activities on a 
specific date and at a particular time.  If both parents, guardians or grandparents having custody 
work for the Authority at the same work site, only the first parent requesting will be entitled to leave 
under this provision.  At the discretion of the Department Director(s), the Authority will allow both 
parents to take leave under this provision.   
 
SECTION 14.   JURY DUTY          
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 69 of 85 
 

 

It shall be the general rule to excuse employees of the Authority from regular responsibilities of their 
positions when called for jury duty for a period not exceeding 15 working days.  No employee shall 
be disciplined or separated as a result of jury duty service.  An employee who is summoned to serve 
on a jury must notify his or her supervisor or program manager as soon as possible after receiving 
notice of both possible and actual jury service in order to receive time off for the period of actual 
service required on such jury.  The time spent off the job by the full-time, regular employee while 
actually serving on jury duty under the supervision of the court shall be compensated on a straight 
time basis, limited to the employee’s normal workday schedule. The time spent on jury duty is not 
work time for purposes of calculating overtime compensation.  
 
 
 
An employee excused from jury duty prior to the completion of his/her normal workday must return 
to work. All per diem reimbursement paid the employee by the court shall be endorsed to the 
Authority.  It shall be the duty of the employee requesting compensation under this provision to 
present court verification of time and dates of such employee’s jury duty.  Failure to provide court 
verification of jury duty attendance for each day and any reimbursement of the court per diem to the 
Authority shall be cause for the Authority not to compensate the employee for jury duty. 
 
SECTION 15.    WITNESS LEAVE   
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
        
A. Subpoena.     
 
 An employee who is subpoenaed to appear in court in a matter regarding an event or 

transaction in the course of his or her Tri-City job duties will do so without loss of 
compensation. The time spent will be considered work time. The Authority will offset the 
amount from pay the employee receives for witness fees.    

 
B. Exception for Employee-Initiated or Non-Authority Related Lawsuits.    
 
 An employee who is subpoenaed to appear or who appears in court in a matter unrelated to 

his or her Authority job duties or because of civil or administrative proceedings that he or she 
initiated does not receive compensation for time spent related to those proceedings. An 
employee may request to receive time off without pay, or may use accrued vacation for time 
spent related to those proceedings. The time spent in these proceedings is not considered 
work time.  

 
SECTION 16. TIME OFF FOR VICTIMS OF VIOLENT CRIMES, STALKING OR DOMESTIC 

VIOLENCE  
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
A. Any employee who is a victim of a crime that is a serious or violent felony, or a felony involving 

theft or embezzlement, may take leave from work to attend judicial proceedings related to 
that crime, if the employee provides the Authority a copy of the notice of the scheduled 
proceeding in advance.  If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide the 
Authority, within a reasonable time after the leave is taken, documentation from the District 
Attorney, victim’s rights office, or court / governing agency that shows that the judicial 
proceeding occurred when the leave was used.  An employee who is an immediate family 
member of such a crime victim, including: a registered domestic partner; the child of the 
registered domestic partner; spouse; child; stepchild; brother; stepbrother; sister; stepsister; 
mother; stepmother; father; or stepfather of the crime victim is also entitled to leave from work 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 70 of 85 
 

 

to attend judicial proceedings relating to that crime.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee 
elects to use accrued vacation, sick, or other paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

B. Any employee who is a victim of a crime listed in Labor Code section 230.5(a)(2)(A), may 
take leave from work to appear in court to be heard at any proceeding in which the right of 
the victim is at issue, if the employee provides the employer reasonable advance notice.  If 
advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide the Authority, within a reasonable 
time after the leave is taken, certification from a police report, a district attorney or court, or 
from a health care provider or victim advocate, that the employee was a victim of any of the 
crimes listed in Labor Code section 230.5(a)(2)(A).   An employee who is a spouse, parent, 
child, sibling, or guardian of such a crime victim is also a victim who is entitled to this leave if 
the above notice or certification requirements are met. The leave is unpaid unless the 
employee elects to use accrued vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

C. Any employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, may take 
leave from work to obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to: a 
temporary restraining order, restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the 
health, safety, or welfare of the employee or his or her child, if the employee provides advance 
notice of the need for leave. If advance notice is not feasible, the employee must provide any 
of the following certifications within a reasonable time after the leave: a police report 
indicating that the employee was a victim; a court order protecting the employee from the 
perpetrator; evidence from the district attorney or court that the employee has appeared in 
court; or documentation from a health care provider or counselor that the employee was 
undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless 
the employee elects to use 2014 Healthy Workplaces sick leave (Labor Code § 246.5(a)(2)), 
accrued vacation or paid leave, or compensatory time off.   

D. Any employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, may take 
leave from work to attend to any of the following:  obtaining medical attention or psychological 
counseling; obtaining services from a shelter, program or crisis center; or participating in 
safety planning or other actions to increase safety, if the employee provides advance notice 
of the employee’s intention to take time off for these purposes.  If advance notice is not 
feasible, the employee must provide any of the following to the Authority within a reasonable 
time after the leave: a police report indicating that the employee was a victim; a court order 
protecting the employee from the perpetrator; evidence from the district attorney or court that 
the employee has appeared in court; or documentation from a health care provider or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment for physical or mental injuries or 
abuse.  The leave is unpaid unless the employee elects to use 2014 Healthy Workplaces sick 
leave (Labor Code § 246.5(a)(2)), accrued vacation or personal leave, or compensatory time 
off. 

 
SECTION 17.   ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE  
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
      
The Authority has the right to place an employee on leave at any time with full pay. An employee 
may be placed on administrative leave pending investigation of misconduct, potential disciplinary 
action, or other reasons that the Human Resources Manager, in his/her discretion, believes warrant 
such leave. Paid administrative leave is not considered a disciplinary action. As such, the employee 
has no right to appeal if placed on paid administrative leave. 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 71 of 85 
 

 

RULE VII.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 
 

SECTION 1.  TRAINING           
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
 
A. Responsibility.   

 
The responsibility for developing Authority-wide training programs for employees shall be 
assumed jointly by the Human Resources Department and department directors/managers.  
Training programs may include lecture courses, demonstrations, attendance at conferences, 
assignment of reading material, or such other programs as may be available for the purpose 
of improving the efficiency and broadening the knowledge of employees in the performance 
of their duties and responsibilities. 

 
B. Orientation.  

 
All new employees will be scheduled for the New Employee Orientation on their first day of 
hire, in order to receive an introduction to Authority employment.  Representatives from each 
department will give an overview of how their department operates and how the various 
programs are integrated into their work. This includes an introduction to Tri-City, Revenue, 
review of the Recovery Model, Quality Assurance, Collaborative Documentation, information 
on the Wellness Authority and our Outreach programs. In addition, the new hire will receive 
HIPAA, Privacy and Security training, Safety training and information on Tri-City policies and 
procedures. During this period, employees will also be asked to complete new-hire forms and 
documents necessary to complete the hiring process and receive their Employee ID badge. 

 
C.        Mandatory All Staff Trainings. 
 

1. All new hires will be assigned the following mandatory staff trainings. These trainings 
must be completed by the end of the employee’s probationary period (with the 
exception of Sexual Harassment) and then annually as required. Certificates of 
Completion will be maintained in the HR Department on each employee. 

              
a. Bloodborne Pathogens 
b. Boundaries 
c. Community Resiliency Model (CRM) Non-Clinical staff 
d. Trauma Resiliency Model (TRM) Clinical staff           
e. Crisis Prevention Institute (CPI) Non-violent Crisis Intervention Training 
f. Cultural Diversity (Competency) 
g. Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) 
h. Motivational Interviewing (MI) 
i. Sexual Harassment for Employees (Must be completed within the first 30 days of 

hire) 
j. Sexual Harassment for Supervisors in California (Must be completed within first 

30 days of hire) 
k. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) 
l. Human Trafficking: Sexual Exploitation 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 72 of 85 
 

 

2. All existing staff will be assigned the following mandatory staff trainings.  These staff 
should have completed all new hire trainings as listed in section C(I).  Human 
Resources will notify all employees and their supervisors of any incomplete training 
assignments. Certificates of Completion will be maintained in the Human Resources 
Department on each employee. 

 
a. Bloodborne Pathogens – annually 
b. Cultural Diversity (Competency) - annually 
c. HIPAA Privacy - annually   
d. Sexual Harassment for Supervisors in California – bi-annually 
e. Sexual Harassment for Employees in California – bi-annually 

        
RULE VIII. SEPARATION 

 
SECTION 1.   RESIGNATION          
 
Executive Management employees are excluded from this section.   
 
An employee wishing to leave in good standing shall file a written resignation with his/her supervisor 
at least two (2) calendar weeks before leaving service, unless, because of extenuating 
circumstances, the supervisor agrees to permit a shorter period of notice.  The written resignation 
shall be immediately forwarded to Human Resources.  The filing of the written resignation with the 
supervisor shall be deemed official notice to and acceptance by the supervisor.  Once a written 
resignation is tendered, the resignation may not be withdrawn by the employee without the consent 
of the supervisor.  Once a resignation has been tendered, the Authority reserves the right to release 
the employees from duty at their discretion. The resignation of an employee who fails to give notice 
may be cause for denying future employment by the Authority.  Payment for hours worked up to the 
resignation date will be paid at the next scheduled pay date.   
 
All assigned Authority property and/or equipment in their possession or control must be returned on 
or before the last day of employment.  This includes keys, employee identification badges, cell 
phones and other materials provided by the Authority. 
 
All employees leaving the Authority service will be encouraged to participate in an exit interview.  
At the exit interview, employees will be advised of their rights on benefits and insurance.  Employees 
will be given an opportunity to discuss their views on the Authority, their department, training, and 
other subjects upon which they would like to comment.   
 
SECTION 2.   RETIREMENT SYSTEM / RETIREMENT      
 
This section applies to all Authority employees. 
  
Regular full-time employees of the Authority or part-time employees employed over 1000 hours in a 
fiscal year, as a condition of employment shall become members of the California Public Employee’s 
Retirement System (CalPERS), in accordance with the existing legislation governing retirement.   
The Authority participates in the two percent (2%) at 62 Plan for those hired on or after January 1, 
2013. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2013 participate in the 2% at 55 plan.  Employees 
contemplating retirement should contact Human Resources at least 90 days prior to their anticipated 
retirement date.   
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 73 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 3.  LAYOFF PROCEDURES   
 
This section applies to all full-time, regular Authority employees.     

  
A. The Authority may layoff any employee(s) due to termination of a position, termination of the 

program to which the position is assigned, lack of work, or lack of funds.  This is not a 
disciplinary or punitive action and shall not be subject to administrative appeal.  In the event 
that the Authority determines that a reduction in the work force is necessary, full-time regular 
employees shall be deemed to have seniority over part-time, hourly employees. 

 
B. Whenever possible, employees to be laid off shall be given at least 30 calendar days prior 

notice.  The employee shall be advised in writing by the Human Resources Department of 
any and all rights available to employees scheduled to be laid off. 

C. Employees in the classification, program, and/or department that have been reduced will 
be laid off in accordance with their classification, seniority, funding, grant and/or special 
project training.  When two or more employees have relatively equal skills, qualifications and 
ability to perform the work without further training, the employee(s) with the least seniority in 
the affected classification will be laid off first. 

 
SECTION 4. EXTENDED BENEFITS – COBRA 
       
This section applies to all eligible Authority employees. 
 
The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986 (COBRA) provides for the temporary 
continuation of health care coverage. COBRA continuation coverage is a continuation of Plan 
coverage when coverage would otherwise end because of a life event known as a “qualifying event.” 
After a qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage must be offered to each person who is 
a “qualified beneficiary.”  You, your spouse, and your dependent children could become qualified 
beneficiaries if coverage under the Plan is lost because of the qualifying event.  Under the Plan, 
qualified beneficiaries who elect COBRA continuation coverage must pay for COBRA continuation 
coverage.   
 
When the qualifying event is the death of the employee, the employee’s becoming entitled to 
Medicare benefits (under Part A, Part B, or both), your divorce or legal separation, or a dependent 
child’s losing eligibility as a dependent child, COBRA continuation coverage lasts for up to a total of 
36 months.   
 
When the qualifying event is the end of employment or reduction of the employee’s hours of 
employment, and the employee became entitled to Medicare benefits less than 18 months before 
the qualifying event, COBRA continuation coverage for qualified beneficiaries other than the 
employee lasts until 36 months after the date of Medicare entitlement.  For example, if a covered 
employee becomes entitled to Medicare eight (8) months before the date on which his employment 
terminates, COBRA continuation coverage for his spouse and children can last up to 36 months after 
the date of Medicare entitlement, which is equal to 28 months after the date of the qualifying event 
(36 months minus eight [8] months).  Otherwise, when the qualifying event is the end of employment 
or reduction of the employee’s hours of employment, COBRA continuation coverage generally lasts 
for only up to a total of 18 months.  
 
 
 

RULE IX. DISCIPLINE 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 74 of 85 
 

 

SECTION 1.   DISCIPLINARY AND APPEALS PROCEDURES     
 
A. Excluded Positions.    
 
 The disciplinary and appeals procedures set forth in this section do not pertain to Executive 

Management and employees that are specifically excluded from the competitive service as 
listed in Rule II, Section 1 of these rules and regulations. In addition, any regular employee 
who is exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) is not 
subject to any disciplinary penalty which is inconsistent with his or her FLSA overtime-exempt 
status. 

 
 
 
B. Notification and Approval of Department Directors 
 
            The Supervisor must notify and receive approval from the appropriate Department Director 

(e.g. Director of Clinical Program Services, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operations Officer, 
Chief Compliance Officer, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services, and Medical Director) and 
HR prior to proposing or imposing any personnel action or discipline as it pertains to Rule IX 
of these Rules and Regulations.  

 
C. Basis For Disciplinary Action.    
 
 The tenure of employment at the Authority shall be based on reasonable standards of 

personal conduct and job performance.  Failure to meet such standards shall be grounds for 
appropriate disciplinary action, which shall be commensurate with the seriousness of the 
offense and with due consideration of the employee’s performance record.  Although not an 
all-inclusive list, the following are examples of infractions which will result in disciplinary action 
up to, and including, dismissal: 

 
1. Dishonesty – Including, but not limited to, falsification of records, billing claims, or 

timesheets, willful omission of information, misrepresentation of a material fact, etc. 

2. Theft. 

3. Unsatisfactory job performance, incompetence, inefficiency or negligence in the 
performance of duties, including failure to perform assigned task or failure to 
discharge duties in a prompt, competent and responsible manner.  

4. Intemperance. 

5. Discourteous or offensive treatment of the public or other employees. 

6. Failure to cooperate with employee’s supervisor or fellow employees. 

7. Disobedience, insubordination or insulting or demeaning the authority of a supervisor 
or manager. 

8. Reporting to work under the influence of drugs, controlled substances or alcohol or 
possessing, transferring, selling or using drugs, controlled substances or alcohol in 
Authority offices, vehicles, work areas, or on Authority property during work hours 
including paid or unpaid break periods.  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 75 of 85 
 

 

9. Unexcused absence. 

10. Excessive and/or patterned absenteeism or tardiness. 

11. Violation of any Authority Personnel Rule or Regulation or Authority Policy and 
Procedure, including but not limited to those contained in this manual. 

12. Violations of rules, regulations, orders, or directives established by a supervisor. 

 

 

13. Conviction of a felony that has a nexus to the employee’s job duties.  The record of 
conviction shall be conclusive evidence of the fact that the conviction occurred.  
Human Resources may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission 
of the crime in order to fix the degree of discipline.  A plea or verdict of guilty, 
conviction showing a plea of nolo contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the 
meaning of this section.   

Human Resources may, in its sole discretion, take disciplinary action upon the 
conviction of the offense, when the time for appeal has elapsed, or when order 
granting probation is made suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a 
subsequent order under the provisions of section 1203.4 of California Penal Code 
allowing such person to withdraw his/her plea and enter a plea of not guilty, or setting 
aside a verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation or indictment. 

14. Misuse, abuse or unauthorized use of Authority property, including, but not limited to 
physical property, tools, equipment, Authority communications systems, Authority 
vehicles, intellectual property or certifications. 

15. Mishandling of public funds. 

16. Substandard job performance. 

17. Disciplinary action by a licensing board in connection with a job related license. 

18. Verbal or physical abuse and/or harassment. 

19. Failure to submit timesheets in a timely manner. 

20. Failure to meet established productivity standards. 

21. Failure to comply with service documentation standards, including failure to possess, 
keep in effect, or report loss of any license, certificate or other similar requirement 
specified in the employee’s job description. 
 

22. Breach of Acceptable Use Agreement for improper use of Authority Information 
Technological equipment. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 76 of 85 
 

 

23. Unauthorized disclosure or release of health information1 that relates to any individual 
served by the Authority. 

24. Use of leave in a manner not authorized or provided for pursuant to Authority policies. 

25. Unapproved outside employment or activity that violates the Authority’s policy, or 
other enterprise that constitutes a conflict of interest with service to the Authority. 

26. Any conduct that impairs, disrupts, or causes discredit to the Authority, the 
employee’s Authority employment, to the public service, or other employee’s 
employment.  

27. Abusive conduct, including malicious verbal, visual or physical actions, or the 
gratuitous sabotage or undermining of a person’s work performance.      

28. Failure to comply with OSHA Safety Standards and Authority safety policies. 

29. Working overtime without prior authorization or refusing to work assigned overtime. 

30. Carrying firearms or other dangerous weapons on Authority premises at any time, 
unless authorized to do so. 

31. Horseplay or fighting. 

32. Abuse of Company Time – excessive time spent on non-work related issues, including 
internet/phone usage and/or socializing.  

33. Retaliation - It is illegal and inappropriate to retaliate against any person who has 
participated in complaining or providing information regarding allegations of 
misconduct. 

 
D. Types of Discipline.   

  
 The types of personnel actions or discipline, which may be taken, in reverse order of severity, 

are (dismissal, demotion, reduction in step within a range, suspension, and written and verbal 
reprimand): 

 
1. Dismissal.   The discharge of an employee from the Authority service. Documents 

related to discharge shall become a part of an employee’s personnel file when the 
discipline becomes final. A discharged employee is entitled to prior written notice and 
appeal as provided herein. 

2. Demotion.   Demotion without consent as a disciplinary action shall be reduction in 
classification or rank to a lower classification or rank with reduction in salary.  
Documents related to a demotion shall become part of the employee’s personnel file 
when the discipline is final. An employee subject to demotion will be entitled to prior 
written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

                                                
1 “Health Information” means any information, whether oral or recorded in any form or medium that: (a) is 

created or received by Tri-City Mental Health Authority; and (b) relates to the past, present, or future 
physical or mental health or condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an individual; or the 
past, present, or future for the provision of health care to an individual. (45 CFR Part 164.530 (e) (i)) 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 77 of 85 
 

 

3. Reduction in Salary.  The reduction of pay within the salary range.  The maximum 
reduction in pay that may be given for any one disciplinary action shall be ten percent 
(10%) within the range for that class.  Reduction in pay shall become effective on the 
first day of the pay period following the effective date of the disciplinary action.  
Reduction may be made on a regular or temporary basis. Documents related to a 
reduction in pay shall become part of the employee’s personnel file when the 
discipline becomes final. An employee subject to a reduction in pay is entitled to prior 
written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

4. Suspension.   Any person holding the position of employment in the competitive 
service shall be subject to disciplinary suspension without pay not to exceed 
30 cumulative days in a 12 month period.  Documents related to a suspension shall 
become part of the employee’s personnel file when the discipline is final. An employee 
subject to suspension will receive prior written notice and appeal as provided herein. 

 

5. Written Reprimand.   An official notification in writing by the immediate supervisor 
to the employee that there is cause for dissatisfaction with his/her performance or 
behavior and that further disciplinary action may be taken if the cause is not corrected.  
Written reprimand shall be made a part of the employee’s official personnel record 
and may not be appealed. The employee has the right to have a written response 
attached to the reprimand in the employee’s personnel file if the response is submitted 
to the Human Resources Department within ten (10) working days of the date the 
reprimand was received. 

6. Verbal Reprimand.  An oral warning or statement of dissatisfaction with employee’s 
performance or behaviors.  A verbal reprimand will be memorialized in writing 
and retained in the supervisor’s file until the completion of the evaluation year and 
documented in the performance evaluation, as the supervisor deems necessary. A 
verbal reprimand may not be appealed under this policy.  Aside from the performance 
evaluation, no record of the verbal reprimand is placed in the employee’s personnel 
file unless subsequent more severe disciplinary action is taken. 

E. Procedures For Discipline.    
 
 Respective levels of disciplinary actions will be imposed based upon the seriousness of the 

employee’s disciplinary problem. However, a higher level of disciplinary action may be 
imposed for serious violations of policy, repeated or chronic minor offenses which have 
resulted in previous lower level disciplinary action, or based upon a history of repeated 
offenses discovered by the supervisor. 

 
1. Verbal Reprimand.   The supervisor will notify the employee of the specific 

performance and/or behavioral deficiencies and the efforts to be undertaken 
to correct them. Following the verbal reprimand the supervisor will submit 
a memorandum to the employee which documents the matters discussed, 
the employee’s response and the understanding reached.  The memorandum shall 
include a statement that this memorandum will not be included in the employee’s 
personnel file unless the matters of concern are not satisfactorily resolved and more 
severe disciplinary action is subsequently taken. 

 
3. Written Reprimand.  When a written reprimand is given it shall be in writing.  The 

immediate supervisor shall give the employee a copy and forward a copy to Human 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 78 of 85 
 

 

Resources for retention in the employee’s official personnel file.  A written reprimand 
shall contain a description of the events which necessitated the action, specific 
expectations for change by the employee, how the supervisor will assist, and notice 
of further action in the event that a change by the employee does not occur.  

  
 Employee’s Response and Opportunity to Respond to Written Reprimand.  

Written reprimands may not be appealed. Full-time regular employees who have 
received a written reprimand may present a written response to the reprimand and 
have the written response placed in the personnel file.   

 Any written response must be submitted to the Human Resources Department within 
ten (10) working days of receipt of the written reprimand to be included in the 
employee’s personnel file. 
 

4. Skelly Process.  Pre-Disciplinary Procedure for Discharge, Demotion, Reduction 
in Salary or Suspension without Pay. 

 
 Only regular, for-cause employees have the right to the conference and appeal 

processes outlined in this Section. At-will employees and those persons in positions 
identified in Rule II, Section 1 of these Rules are not entitled to the procedures 
outlined in this Section. 

 
a. Notice of Intent to Discipline.  The employee will be provided a written notice of 

intent to discipline that contains the following: 
 

ii. The level of discipline intended to be imposed; 
iii. The specific charges upon which the intended discipline is based; 
iv. A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 
v. A copy of all materials, reports, or documents upon which the intended 

discipline is based; 
vi. Notice of the employee’s right to respond to the charges within five (5) working 

days from the date of the Notice, either by requesting a conference, or by 
providing a written response, or both; 

vii. Notice of the employee’s right to have a representative of his or her choice at 
the conference, should he or she choose to respond orally; and 

viii. Notice that the failure to respond at the time specified shall constitute a waiver 
of the right to respond prior to the imposition of discipline. 

b. Employee’s Response and the Skelly Conference. 
 

i. If the employee requests an informal conference timely (within five (5) working 
days from the date of the Notice of Intent) to respond orally to the charge(s), 
the conference must be scheduled at least seven (7) working days from the 
date of the employee’s official request.  The conference will be an informal 
meeting with the supervisor and Human Resources, at which the employee 
has an opportunity to rebut the charges against him or her and/or present any 
mitigating circumstances, and shall have the right to representation.  This is 
not intended to be an adversarial hearing.  The employee will not have the 
opportunity to cross examine the Authority nor to present a formal case in 
opposition to the proposed discipline.   
The supervisor will consider the employee’s presentation before any final 
decision is made on the proposed disciplinary action. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 79 of 85 
 

 

 

ii. The employee’s failure to make an oral response at the arranged conference 
time, or the employee’s failure to cause his or her written response to be 
delivered by the date and time specified in the notice, constitutes a waiver of 
the employee’s right to respond prior to the imposition of the discipline. In that 
case, the decision on whether disciplinary action shall be made without any 
response from the employee. 

 
c. Final Notice of Discipline. 

 

i. Before issuing the final notice, the immediate supervisor shall consult with the 
Human Resources Department, and at Human Resources discretion, may 
also consult with legal counsel.  Within ten (10) working days of receipt of the 
employee’s timely written response, within ten (10) working days of the 
informal conference, or within ten (10) working days after the expiration of the 
employee’s time to respond to the Notice of Intent, whichever comes last, the 
immediate supervisor, with the approval of the Human Resources 
Department, will:   
 

(1) Dismiss the notice of intent and take no disciplinary action against the 
employee,  

(2) Modify the intended disciplinary action, or  
(3) Impose the disciplinary action as originally proposed.  

ii. In any event, the supervisor will prepare and provide the employee with a 
notice that contains the following: 
(1) The level of discipline, if any, to be imposed and the effective date of the 

discipline; 
(2) The specific charges upon which the discipline is based; 
(3) A summary of the facts upon which the charges are based; 
(4) A copy of all materials, reports, or documents upon which the discipline is 

based; and 
(5) A statement of the nature of the employee’s right to appeal and the 

deadline to appeal. 
 
F. Evidentiary Appeal Procedure Following Disciplinary Action for Discharge, Demotion, 

Reduction in Salary or Suspension without Pay.   
 
Only regular, for-cause employees have the right to the conference and appeal processes 
outlined in this Section. At-will employees and those persons in positions identified in Rule II, 
Section 1 of these Rules are not entitled to the procedures outlined in this Section.   

 
1. Employee’s Right to Appeal.  A regular, for-cause employee may appeal the final 

notice of discipline in the form of suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay, 
or discharge by delivering a written answer to the charges and a request for appeal 
to the Human Resources Manager or designee, who will forward the appeal to the 
Executive Director. The written answer and request for appeal must be received no 
later than five (5) working days from:  
 
a. receipt of the final notice of discipline; or  



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 80 of 85 
 

 

b. the date of attempted delivery by the post office or delivery service of the notice 
to the last known address of the employee. If the employee fails to timely submit 
a written request for appeal, the employee’s right to appeal is waived and the 
action of the Authority shall be considered conclusive and shall take effect as 
prescribed. 

 
 
 

2. Date and Time of the Appeal Hearing.  Once the Appeal Hearing Officer has been 
designated, the Executive Director will set a date for an appeal hearing.  The 
employee shall be notified in writing at least 21 days prior to the hearing of the 
scheduled date. An employee who, having filed a timely written answer and request 
for appeal, has been notified of the time and place of the appeal hearing, and who 
fails to appear personally at the hearing, may be deemed to have abandoned his or 
her appeal. In such a case, the Executive Director may dismiss the appeal. 

 
3. Hearing Officer.  In his or her sole discretion, the Executive Director may:  

 
a. Serve as the Hearing Officer and choose to hear the evidentiary appeal directly, 

or  
 

b. He or she may authorize the Authority’s retention of an independent, mutually 
agreeable, Hearing Officer to hear the appeal and make a recommendation to the 
Executive Director.   

 
Should a Hearing Officer be retained, the Hearing Officer’s decision shall be 
advisory only.  The Hearing Officer may recommend to the Executive Director 
sustaining, rejecting, or modifying the disciplinary action invoked against the 
employee, but in no case may the Hearing Officer’s recommendation impose 
greater discipline upon the employee. The decision of the Executive Director shall 
be final and conclusive administrative action. 

 
4. Identification of Issues, Witnesses and Evidence.  Not later than ten (10) days prior 

to the appeal hearing, each party will provide each other and the Hearing Officer with 
a statement of the issues to be decided, a list of all witnesses to be called (except 
rebuttal witnesses), a brief summary of the subject matter of the testimony of each 
witness, and a copy of all evidence (except rebuttal evidence) to be submitted at 
the hearing. Neither party will be permitted to call any witness during the hearing who 
has not been identified pursuant to this section, nor use any exhibit not provided 
pursuant to this section, unless that party can show that they could not have 
reasonably anticipated the need for the witness or exhibit.  

 
5. Conduct of the Appeal Hearing. 

 
a. Subpoenas. The Executive Director has authority to issue subpoenas in the 

name of the Authority prior to the commencement of the hearing. Each party is 
responsible for serving his/her/its own subpoenas. Tri-City employees who are 
subpoenaed to testify during working hours will be released with pay to appear at 
the hearing.  

 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 81 of 85 
 

 

Tri-City employees who are subpoenaed to testify during non-working hours will 
be compensated for the time they actually testify unless Tri-City agrees to a 
different arrangement. 
 

b. Continuances. The Hearing Officer may continue a scheduled hearing only upon 
good cause shown. 
 

c. Record of the Proceedings.  All disciplinary hearings may, at the discretion of 
the parties, be either recorded by a court reporter or tape recorded. Any party who 
requests a transcript of the proceedings must pay for his/ her/ its own copy of a 
transcript. 

d. The Hearing Officer’s Authority During the Hearing.  The Hearing Officer has 
the authority to control the conduct of the hearing and to recommend to the 
Executive Director to affirm, modify, or revoke the discipline. 

 
e. Conduct of the Hearing. 

 
i. The hearing need not be conducted in accordance with technical rules relating 

to evidence and witnesses, but hearings shall be conducted in a manner the 
Hearing Officer decides is the most conducive to determining the truth. 

ii. Any relevant evidence may be admitted if it is the type of evidence upon which 
responsible persons are accustomed to rely upon in the conduct of serious 
affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rules which 
might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil 
actions. 

iii. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or 
explaining any direct evidence, but shall not be sufficient in itself to support a 
finding, unless such evidence would be admissible over objection in civil 
actions. An objection is timely if made before submission of the case. 

iv. The rules dealing with privileges shall be effective to the same extent that they 
are now or hereafter may be recognized in civil litigation. 

v. Irrelevant and unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded by the Hearing 
Officer. 

vi. The Hearing Officer shall determine relevance, weight and credibility of 
testimony and evidence. 

vii. During the examination of a witness, all other witnesses, except the parties, 
shall be excluded from the hearing upon the request of either party. 

viii. All witnesses shall be administered the oath to testify truthfully prior to 
testifying at the hearing. The Hearing Officer or the court reporter shall request 
each witness to raise his or her right hand and respond to the following: “Do 
you swear or affirm that the testimony that you are about to give at this hearing 
is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth? 

f. Burden of Proof at the Hearing. The Authority has the burden of proof of the 
factual charges by a preponderance of the evidence. 

 
g. Right to Due Process.  The employee shall have the following due process rights 

during the hearing: 
 

ii. The right to be represented by legal counsel or another chosen representative, 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 82 of 85 
 

 

at his or her own expense; 
iii. The right to call and examine witnesses on his or her behalf; 
iv. The right to introduce evidence; 
v. The right to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the 

issues; 
vi. The right to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called him or 

her to testify; and 
vii. The right to rebut evidence against him or her. 

h. Hearing to be Closed to the Public.  The hearing will be closed to the public 
unless the employee requests that it be open. 
 

i. Presentation of the Case.  The parties will address their remarks, evidence, and 
objections, to the Hearing Officer. All parties and their counsel or representatives 
shall not disparage the intelligence, morals, or ethics of their adversaries or of the 
Hearing Officer.  

 
The Hearing Officer may terminate argument at any time and issue a ruling 
regarding an objection or any other matter. The Hearing Officer may alter the order 
of witnesses, limit redundant or irrelevant testimony, or directly question the 
witness. The hearing shall proceed in the following order unless the Hearing 
officer directs otherwise: 

 
i. The Department shall be permitted to make an opening statement. 
ii. The employee shall be permitted to make an opening statement.  

 
iii. The Department shall produce its evidence.  
iv. The employee shall produce his or her evidence.  
v. The Department, followed by the employee, may offer rebuttal evidence. 
vi. Closing arguments of not more than 20 minutes by each party shall be 

permitted at the discretion of the Hearing Officer. The Department shall have 
the right to argue first, the employee may argue second, and the Department 
may reserve a portion of its argument time for rebuttal. 

j. Written Briefs by the Parties.  The Hearing Officer or the parties may request 
the submission of written briefs. The Hearing Officer will determine whether to 
allow written briefs, the deadline for submitting briefs, and the page limit for briefs. 

 
i. Written Findings and Decision. 

 
(1) Independent Hearing Officer.  The Hearing Officer shall render a 

statement of written findings and recommendation to the Executive 
Director. The Hearing Officer’s decision shall be advisory only.   
The Hearing Officer may recommend to the Executive Director sustaining, 
rejecting, or modifying the disciplinary action invoked against the 
employee, but in no case may the Hearing Officer’s recommendation 
impose greater discipline upon the employee. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 83 of 85 
 

 

The Executive Director shall review the Hearing Officer’s findings and 
issue a final decision within 30 days after he or she receives the Hearing 
Officer’s findings. The Executive Director’s decision shall be conclusive, 
final and binding administrative action. 

(2) Executive Director. If the Executive Director heard the appeal directly, he 
or she shall render a statement of written findings and decision within 30 
days after the hearing has been completed and the briefs, if any, have 
been submitted. The Executive Director’s decision is conclusive, final and 
binding administrative action.   

k. Proof of Service of the Written Findings and Decision.  The Executive Director 
shall send his or her final statement of written findings and decision, along with a 
proof of service of mailing, to each of the parties and to each of the parties’ 
representatives. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to inform the 
Executive Director of his/her address.  Copies shall also be distributed to the 
Human Resources Supervisor or Manager. 

 
l. Statute of Limitations.  The Executive Director’s written findings and decision is 

final administrative action. There is no process for reconsideration. Pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.6, the parties have 90 days from the date 
of the proof of service of mailing of the written findings and decision to file a 
petition for writ of mandamus with the Superior Court, County of Los Angeles. 

 
 

 
RULE X.  RECORDS 

 
SECTION 1.   PERSONNEL FILE         

 
A. Official File.    
 
 The Human Resources Department shall maintain the “official” personnel file for each 

employee.  Information contained in these files shall include classification title, the 
department to which assigned, salary, changes in employment status, disciplinary actions, 
performance evaluations, commendatory materials, and such other information as is required 
by law or that may be considered necessary and relevant to the administration of Tri-City’s 
personnel program. Personnel files are the property of Tri-City, and access to the information 
they contain is restricted to protect employee privacy interests.   

 
1. Every appointment, transfer, promotion, demotion, change of salary rate, and other 

temporary or permanent changes in status of employees shall be reported to Human 
Resources for the employee, and shall be retained in the employee’s “official” 
personnel file in the Human Resources Department. 

 
B. Update of File.   
 
 It shall be the responsibility of each employee to keep his/her supervisor/manager notified (in 

writing) concerning any changes in his or her contact and benefits information, including:  
number and names of dependents, correct mailing address, telephone number, and the 
person to be contacted in case of an emergency. 

 
C. Medical Information. 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 84 of 85 
 

 

 
1. Separate Confidential Files.   All medical information about an employee or applicant 

is kept separately and is treated as confidential, in accordance with applicable state 
and federal law. 

 
2. Information in Medical Files.  Tri-City will not obtain medical information about 

an employee or applicant except in compliance with the California Confidentiality 
of Medical Information Act. To enable Tri-City to obtain certain medical information, 
the employee or applicant may need to sign an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE 
OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION. 

3. Access to Medical Information.  Access to employee or applicant medical 
information shall be strictly limited to only those with a legitimate need to have 
such information for Tri-City business reasons, or if access is required by law, 
subpoena or court order. In the case of an employee with a disability, managers and 
supervisors may be informed regarding necessary restrictions on the work or duties 
of the employee and necessary accommodations. Tri-City will not provide employee 
or applicant medical information to a third party (except as permitted under the 
California Confidentiality of Medical Information Act) unless the employee signs an 
AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INFORMATION. 
Tri-City will release only the medical information that is identified in the employee’s 
authorization. If the employee’s authorization indicates any limitations regarding the 
use of the medical information, Tri-City will communicate those limitations to the 
person or entity to which it discloses the medical information. 

 
D. References and Release of Information in Personnel Files. 

 
1. Public Information.   Upon request, Tri-City will release to the public information about 

its employees as required by the Public Records Act. Tri-City will not disclose 
personnel information if it believes doing so would constitute an unwarranted invasion 
of personal privacy. 

 
2. Reference Checks.  All requests from outside Tri-City for reference checks or 

verification of employment concerning any current or former employee must be 
referred to the Human Resources Department. Information will be released only if the 
employee signs an AUTHORIZATION FOR RELEASE OF EMPLOYMENT 
INFORMATION in the form attached to this rule, except that without such 
authorization, the following limited information will be provided: dates of employment, 
and salary upon departure. Department heads and supervisors shall not provide 
information in response to requests for reference checks or verification of 
employment, unless specifically approved by the Human Resources Department on 
a case-by-case basis. 

 
3. Medical Information.  Medical information will be released only in accordance with 

subsection C above. 
 

E. Employee Access to Personnel File. 
 

1. Inspection of File.   A current employee may inspect his or her own personnel file, at 
reasonable times and at reasonable intervals, within 30 days of a written request.  A 
former employee is entitled to inspect his or her personnel records one time per year 
provided that the record is still being maintained.  Personnel files will be destroyed 
five years after the employee separates from the Authority as in accordance with the 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 85 of 85 
 

 

law. If an employee wishes to view his/her personnel file, he/she will schedule an 
appointment with Human Resources, or designee. The review must be done in the 
presence of an employee of the Human Resources Department.  

 
2. Copies.   A current or former employee is entitled to receive a copy of his or her 

personnel records within 30 days after the employer receives a written request.  A 
current or former employee who wishes to receive such a copy should contact the 
Human Resources Department in writing.  The Authority may charge a fee for the 
actual cost of copying.   

 
3. In the event the employee wishes to have another person/representative inspect his 

or her personnel file, the employee must provide the person/representative with 
written authorization. The Human Resource Department will notify the employee of 
the date, time and place of the inspection in writing. It is the employee’s responsibility 
to notify the person to whom the employee has given written authorization of the date, 
time and place of the inspection. 

 
4. Under no circumstances is the employee and/or the employee’s designee permitted 

to add or remove any document or other item from the employee’s personnel file 
during the inspection. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(End of Document) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Tri-City Mental Health Authority  January 18, 2023 
Personnel Rules & Regulations  Page 86 of 85 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 DATE: January 17, 2024 

 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority  

    
FROM:  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director  
 
BY:   Kitha Torregano, Human Resources Director       
    
SUBJECT: Consideration of Resolution No. 732 Revising the Job Descriptions for 

the Behavioral Health Worker, DEI Coordinator, Human Resources 
Director, Peer Support Specialist I/II, and TCG Gardener 
Classifications; and Rectifying the Authority’s Master Classification 
and Salary Schedule Effective Retroactive to March 7, 2022 

 
 
Summary: 
 
On September 20, 2023, the Governing Board approved Resolution No. 724 which 
implemented the final phase of Tri-City’s Classification and Compensation Study, 
including a revised Master Classification and Salary Schedule and various revised job 
descriptions.  This Resolution is to further adopt additional revisions and corrections to 
existing classifications as a result of the study. 
 
Background: 
 
As mentioned above, in September 2023, the Governing Board adopted a revised Master 
Classification and Salary Schedule in addition to various revised job descriptions as a 
result of the recommendations from the Classification and Compensation.  There was a 
couple of classifications that while adopted in September 2023, the job description 
required additional analysis and revisions to the titles, essential functions, etc., which we 
have included as attached. This agenda item is to request the adoption of the revised job 
descriptions for the classifications of Behavioral Health Worker, Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion Coordinator, Human Resources Director, Peer Support Specialist I/II and TCG 
Gardener as well as include in required corrections on the corresponding Master 
Classification and Salary Schedule. 
 
Additionally, this will correct an administrative error that incorrectly listed the Crisis 
Intervention and Medical Support Supervisor on Range 52 rather than Range 37, which 
is the correct pay range. 
 
Fiscal Impact: 
 
None applicable.  The administrative revisions associated with this resolution do not result 
in pay changes for any staff.    



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Consideration of Resolution No. 732 Revising the Job Descriptions for the Behavioral 
Health Worker, DEI Coordinator, Human Resources Director, Peer Support Specialist I/II, 
and TCG Gardener Classifications; and Rectifying the Authority’s Master Classification 
and Salary Schedule Effective Retroactive to March 7, 2022 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the Governing Board adopt Resolution No. 732 revising the Job 
Descriptions for the Behavioral Health Worker, Diversity Equity and Inclusion Coordinator, 
Human Resources Director, Peer Support Specialist I/II, and TCG Gardener 
Classifications; and Rectifying the Authority’s Master Classification and Salary Schedule 
Effective Retroactive to March 7, 2022. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment 3-A:  Resolution No. 732 - DRAFT   
Attachment 3-A1:  Master Classification and Salary Schedule Revised 01/17/2024, 

Effective Retroactive 03/7/2022 
 
Attachment 3-B:  Behavioral Health Worker Job Description Revised 01/17/2023 
Attachment 3-B1:  Behavioral Health Worker Job Description Rev 9/20/23-Annotated 
 
Attachment 3-C:  DEI Coordinator Job Description Revised 01/17/2023 
Attachment 3-C1:  DEI Coordinator Job Description Revised 09/20/2023 - Annotated 
 
Attachment 3-D:  HR Director Job Description Revised 01/17/2024 
Attachment 3-D1:  HR Director Job Description Revised 09/20/2023 - Annotated 
 
Attachment 3-E:  Peer Support Specialist I/II Job Description Revised 01/17/2024 
Attachment 3-E1: Peer Support Specialist I/II Job Description Rev 09/20/2023-Annotated 
 
Attachment 3-F:  TCG Gardener Job Description Revised 01/17/2024 
Attachment 3-F1: TCG Gardener Job Description Revised 09/20/2023 - Annotated 
 



 

ATTACHMENT 3-A 
 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 732 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE TRI-CITY MENTAL 
HEALTH AUTHORITY REVISING THE JOB DESCRIPTIONS FOR THE 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH WORKER, DEI COORDINATOR, HUMAN 
RESOURCES DIRECTOR, PEER SUPPORT SPECIALIST I/II, AND TCG 
GARDENER CLASSIFICATIONS; AND RECTIFYING THE AUTHORITY’S 
MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE 
RETROACTIVE TO MARCH 7, 2022 
 
 

The Governing Board of the Tri-City Mental Health Authority does resolve as 
follows: 

1. Findings.   The Governing Board hereby finds and declares the following:  

A. The Tri-City Mental Health Authority (“Authority” or “TCMHA”) on 
September 20, 2023, adopted Resolution No. 724 implementing the final phase of the 
Authority’s Classification and Compensation Study, which included the revision of various 
job descriptions and an updated  Master Classification and Salary Schedule effective 
March 7, 2022. 

 
B. An administrative error incorrectly listed the Crisis Intervention and Medical 

Support Supervisor position with Salary Range 52 rather than Salary Range 37. The 
following is the appropriate salary range for the Crisis Intervention and Medical Support 
Supervisor classification: 

     

    Salary Range 37   $75,806.43 - $96,750.37/annual 
 

C. The Authority desires to revise the Job Descriptions for the Behavioral 
Health Worker, Diversity Equity and Inclusion Coordinator, Human Resources Director, 
Peer Support Specialist I/II, and Therapeutic Community Garden Gardener 
classifications; and rectifying the Authority’s Master Classification and Salary Schedule 
effective retroactive to March 7, 2022, listing the correct salary range for the Crisis 
Intervention and Medical Supervisor classification. 
 

D. The Authority’s Governing Board has previously approved job descriptions, 
classifications, salary ranges, and benefits for the Authority’s employees through the 
adoption of Resolutions.  

 
2. Action  

The Governing Board approves the revised Job Descriptions and adopts the Authority’s 
Revised Master Classification and Salary Schedule effective March 7, 2022, attached 
herein as ‘Exhibit A.’ 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 732 
GOVERNING BOARD OF THE TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY 
PAGE 2 

 
 

3. Adoption   
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the Governing Board held on 
January 17, 2024 by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT:  
 
  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
STEVEN L. FLOWER, GENERAL COUNSEL 
 
 
By:  

   
JED LEANO, CHAIR 
 
ATTEST: 
MICAELA P. OLMOS, RECORDING SECRETARY 
 
 
By:  

 



TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE MARCH 7, 2022
ADOPTED JANUARY 17, 2024

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6
1 31,163.60            32,721.73            34,357.86            36,075.73            37,879.50            39,773.34         2,596.97    2,726.81      2,863.15      3,006.31      3,156.63      3,314.45      1,198.60      1,258.53       1,321.46       1,387.53       1,456.90       1,529.74       14.98250       15.73160       16.51820       17.34410       18.21130       19.12180      
2 31,942.56            33,539.79            35,216.69            36,977.62            38,826.53            40,767.79            2,661.88      2,794.98      2,934.72      3,081.47      3,235.54      3,397.32      1,228.56      1,289.99       1,354.49       1,422.22       1,493.33       1,567.99       15.35700       16.12490       16.93110       17.77770       18.66660       19.59990      
3 32,741.28            34,378.24            36,097.15            37,901.97            39,797.06            41,786.99            2,728.44      2,864.85      3,008.10      3,158.50      3,316.42      3,482.25      1,259.28      1,322.24       1,388.35       1,457.77       1,530.66       1,607.19       15.74100       16.52800       17.35440       18.22210       19.13320       20.08990      
4 33,559.76            35,237.70            36,999.66            38,849.62            40,792.13            42,831.57            2,796.65      2,936.47      3,083.31      3,237.47      3,399.34      3,569.30      1,290.76      1,355.30       1,423.06       1,494.22       1,568.93       1,647.37       16.13450       16.94120       17.78830       18.67770       19.61160       20.59210      
5 34,398.62            36,118.58            37,924.64            39,820.77            41,811.74            43,902.35            2,866.55      3,009.88      3,160.39      3,318.40      3,484.31      3,658.53      1,323.02      1,389.18       1,458.64       1,531.57       1,608.14       1,688.55       16.53780       17.36470       18.23300       19.14460       20.10180       21.10690      
6 35,258.70            37,021.71            38,872.70            40,816.26            42,857.15            44,999.97         2,938.23    3,085.14      3,239.39      3,401.35      3,571.43      3,750.00      1,356.10      1,423.91       1,495.10       1,569.86       1,648.35       1,730.77       16.95130       17.79890       18.68880       19.62320       20.60440       21.63460      
7 36,140.21            37,947.10            39,844.48            41,836.70            43,928.56            46,125.04            3,011.68      3,162.26      3,320.37      3,486.39      3,660.71      3,843.75      1,390.01      1,459.50       1,532.48       1,609.10       1,689.56       1,774.04       17.37510       18.24380       19.15600       20.11380       21.11950       22.17550      
8 37,043.55            38,895.79            40,840.59            42,882.74            45,026.80            47,278.19            3,086.96      3,241.32      3,403.38      3,573.56      3,752.23      3,939.85    1,424.75    1,495.99       1,570.79       1,649.34       1,731.80       1,818.39    17.80940    18.69990       19.63490       20.61670       21.64750       22.72990      
9 37,969.78            39,868.19            41,861.66            43,954.77            46,152.50            48,460.05            3,164.15      3,322.35      3,488.47      3,662.90      3,846.04      4,038.34      1,460.38      1,533.39       1,610.06       1,690.57       1,775.10       1,863.85       18.25470       19.16740       20.12580       21.13210       22.18870       23.29810      

10 38,918.88            40,864.93            42,908.11            45,053.63            47,306.27            49,671.65            3,243.24      3,405.41      3,575.68      3,754.47      3,942.19      4,139.30      1,496.88      1,571.73       1,650.31       1,732.83       1,819.47       1,910.45       18.71100       19.64660       20.62890       21.66040       22.74340       23.88060      
11 39,891.90            41,886.62            43,980.98            46,179.95            48,488.96            50,913.41            3,324.33      3,490.55      3,665.08      3,848.33      4,040.75      4,242.78      1,534.30      1,611.02       1,691.58       1,776.15       1,864.96       1,958.21       19.17880       20.13780       21.14470       22.20190       23.31200       24.47760      
12 40,889.26            42,933.70            45,080.46            47,334.35            49,701.18            52,186.16            3,407.44      3,577.81      3,756.71      3,944.53      4,141.77      4,348.85      1,572.66      1,651.30       1,733.86       1,820.55       1,911.58       2,007.16       19.65830       20.64120       21.67330       22.75690       23.89480       25.08950      
13 41,911.58            44,006.98            46,207.41            48,517.87            50,943.78            53,490.94            3,492.63      3,667.25      3,850.62      4,043.16      4,245.31      4,457.58      1,611.98      1,692.58       1,777.21       1,866.07       1,959.38       2,057.34       20.14980       21.15720       22.21510       23.32590       24.49220       25.71680      
14 42,959.28            45,107.30            47,362.64            49,730.72            52,217.36            54,828.18            3,579.94      3,758.94      3,946.89      4,144.23      4,351.45      4,569.01      1,652.28      1,734.90       1,821.64       1,912.72       2,008.36       2,108.78       20.65350       21.68620       22.77050       23.90900       25.10450       26.35970      
15 44,033.18            46,234.86            48,546.58            50,973.94            53,522.77            56,198.90            3,669.43      3,852.91      4,045.55      4,247.83      4,460.23      4,683.24      1,693.58      1,778.26       1,867.18       1,960.54       2,058.57       2,161.50       21.16980       22.22830       23.33970       24.50670       25.73210       27.01870      
16 45,134.13            47,390.72            49,760.26            52,248.35            54,860.83            57,603.73            3,761.18      3,949.23      4,146.69      4,354.03      4,571.74      4,800.31      1,735.93      1,822.72       1,913.86       2,009.55       2,110.03       2,215.53       21.69910       22.78400       23.92320       25.11940       26.37540       27.69410      
17 46,262.53            48,575.49            51,004.30            53,554.59            56,232.38            59,043.92            3,855.21      4,047.96      4,250.36      4,462.88      4,686.03      4,920.33      1,779.33      1,868.29       1,961.70       2,059.79       2,162.78       2,270.92       22.24160       23.35360       24.52130       25.74740       27.03480       28.38650      
18 47,419.01            49,790.00            52,279.55            54,893.49            57,638.05            60,520.10            3,951.58      4,149.17      4,356.63      4,574.46      4,803.17      5,043.34      1,823.81      1,915.00       2,010.75       2,111.29       2,216.85       2,327.70       22.79760       23.93750       25.13440       26.39110       27.71060       29.09620      
19 48,604.40            51,034.67            53,586.42            56,265.66            59,079.07            62,033.09            4,050.37      4,252.89      4,465.53      4,688.81      4,923.26      5,169.42      1,869.40      1,962.87       2,061.02       2,164.06       2,272.27       2,385.89       23.36750       24.53590       25.76270       27.05080       28.40340       29.82360      
20 49,819.54            52,310.54            54,926.14            57,672.37            60,556.08            63,583.73            4,151.63      4,359.21      4,577.18      4,806.03      5,046.34      5,298.64      1,916.14      2,011.94       2,112.54       2,218.17       2,329.08       2,445.53       23.95170       25.14930       26.40680       27.72710       29.11350       30.56910      
21 51,065.04            53,618.24            56,299.15            59,114.22            62,069.90            65,173.47            4,255.42      4,468.19      4,691.60      4,926.19      5,172.49      5,431.12      1,964.04      2,062.24       2,165.35       2,273.62       2,387.30       2,506.67       24.55050       25.77800       27.06690       28.42030       29.84130       31.33340      
22 52,341.74            54,958.80            57,706.69            60,592.06            63,621.58            66,802.74            4,361.81      4,579.90      4,808.89      5,049.34      5,301.80      5,566.89      2,013.14      2,113.80       2,219.49       2,330.46       2,446.98       2,569.34       25.16430       26.42250       27.74360       29.13080       30.58730       32.11670      
23 53,650.27            56,332.85            59,149.38            62,106.93            65,212.16            68,472.77            4,470.86      4,694.40      4,929.11      5,175.58      5,434.35      5,706.06      2,063.47      2,166.65       2,274.98       2,388.73       2,508.16       2,633.57       25.79340       27.08310       28.43720       29.85910       31.35200       32.91960      
24 54,991.46            57,741.01            60,628.05            63,659.44            66,842.46            70,184.61            4,582.62      4,811.75      5,052.34      5,304.95      5,570.21      5,848.72      2,115.06      2,220.81       2,331.85       2,448.44       2,570.86       2,699.41       26.43820       27.76010       29.14810       30.60550       32.13580       33.74260      
25 56,366.34            59,184.53            62,143.74            65,251.06            68,513.54            71,939.30            4,697.19      4,932.04      5,178.65      5,437.59      5,709.46      5,994.94      2,167.94      2,276.33       2,390.14       2,509.66       2,635.14       2,766.90       27.09920       28.45410       29.87680       31.37070       32.93920       34.58620      
26 57,775.54            60,664.24            63,697.50            66,882.40            70,226.42            73,737.66            4,814.63      5,055.35      5,308.13      5,573.53      5,852.20      6,144.81      2,222.14      2,333.24       2,449.90       2,572.40       2,701.02       2,836.06       27.77670       29.16550       30.62380       32.15500       33.76270       35.45080      
27 59,219.89            62,180.77            65,289.95            68,554.30            71,982.14            75,581.17            4,934.99      5,181.73      5,440.83      5,712.86      5,998.51      6,298.43      2,277.69      2,391.57       2,511.15       2,636.70       2,768.54       2,906.97       28.47110       29.89460       31.38940       32.95880       34.60680       36.33710      
28 60,700.43            63,735.36            66,922.13            70,268.22            73,781.55            77,470.64            5,058.37      5,311.28      5,576.84      5,855.69      6,148.46      6,455.89      2,334.63      2,451.36       2,573.93       2,702.62       2,837.75       2,979.64       29.18290       30.64200       32.17410       33.78280       35.47190       37.24550      
29 62,217.79            65,328.64            68,595.07            72,024.99            75,626.10            79,407.54            5,184.82      5,444.05      5,716.26      6,002.08      6,302.17      6,617.29      2,392.99      2,512.64       2,638.27       2,770.19       2,908.70       3,054.14       29.91240       31.40800       32.97840       34.62740       36.35870       38.17670      
30 63,773.22            66,961.86            70,310.03            73,825.65            77,516.82            81,392.69            5,314.43      5,580.15      5,859.17      6,152.14      6,459.73      6,782.72      2,452.82      2,575.46       2,704.23       2,839.45       2,981.42       3,130.49       30.66020       32.19320       33.80290       35.49310       37.26770       39.13110      
31 65,367.54            68,636.05            72,067.84            75,671.23            79,454.75            83,427.55            5,447.29      5,719.67      6,005.65      6,305.94      6,621.23      6,952.30      2,514.14      2,639.85       2,771.84       2,910.43       3,055.95       3,208.75       31.42670       32.99810       34.64800       36.38040       38.19940       40.10940      
32 67,001.79            70,351.84            73,869.54            77,562.99            81,441.15            85,513.17            5,583.48      5,862.65      6,155.79      6,463.58      6,786.76      7,126.10      2,576.99      2,705.84       2,841.14       2,983.19       3,132.35       3,288.97       32.21240       33.82300       35.51420       37.28990       39.15440       41.11210      
33 68,676.82            72,110.69            75,716.16            79,501.97            83,477.06            87,650.99            5,723.07      6,009.22      6,309.68      6,625.16      6,956.42      7,304.25      2,641.42      2,773.49       2,912.16       3,057.77       3,210.66       3,371.19       33.01770       34.66860       36.40200       38.22210       40.13320       42.13990      
34 70,393.86            73,913.42            77,609.17            81,489.62            85,564.13            89,842.27            5,866.15      6,159.45      6,467.43      6,790.80      7,130.34      7,486.86      2,707.46      2,842.82       2,984.97       3,134.22       3,290.93       3,455.47       33.84320       35.53530       37.31210       39.17770       41.13660       43.19340      
35 72,153.54            75,761.30            79,549.39            83,526.77            87,703.20            92,088.26            6,012.79      6,313.44      6,629.12      6,960.56      7,308.60      7,674.02      2,775.14      2,913.90       3,059.59       3,212.57       3,373.20       3,541.86       34.68920       36.42370       38.24490       40.15710       42.16500       44.27320      
36 73,957.52            77,655.34            81,538.08            85,615.09            89,895.73            94,390.61            6,163.13      6,471.28      6,794.84      7,134.59      7,491.31      7,865.88      2,844.52      2,986.74       3,136.08       3,292.89       3,457.53       3,630.41       35.55650       37.33430       39.20100       41.16110       43.21910       45.38010      
37 75,806.43            79,596.82            83,576.48            87,755.41            92,143.17            96,750.37            6,317.20      6,633.07      6,964.71      7,312.95      7,678.60      8,062.53      2,915.63      3,061.42       3,214.48       3,375.21       3,543.97       3,721.17       36.44540       38.26770       40.18100       42.19010       44.29960       46.51460      
38 77,701.52            81,586.54            85,666.05            89,949.18            94,446.77            99,168.99            6,475.13      6,798.88      7,138.84      7,495.77      7,870.56      8,264.08      2,988.52      3,137.94       3,294.85       3,459.58       3,632.57       3,814.19       37.35650       39.22430       41.18560       43.24480       45.40710       47.67740      
39 79,644.03            83,626.40            87,807.62            92,198.08            96,807.98            101,648.35          6,637.00      6,968.87      7,317.30      7,683.17      8,067.33      8,470.70      3,063.23      3,216.40       3,377.22       3,546.08       3,723.38       3,909.55       38.29040       40.20500       42.21520       44.32600       46.54230       48.86940      
40 81,635.22            85,717.01            90,002.85            94,502.93            99,228.06            104,189.49          6,802.93      7,143.08      7,500.24      7,875.24      8,269.01      8,682.46      3,139.82      3,296.81       3,461.65       3,634.73       3,816.46       4,007.29       39.24770       41.21010       43.27060       45.43410       47.70580       50.09110      
41 83,676.11            87,859.82            92,252.78            96,865.60            101,708.88          106,794.27          6,973.01      7,321.65      7,687.73      8,072.13      8,475.74      8,899.52      3,218.31      3,379.22       3,548.18       3,725.60       3,911.88       4,107.47       40.22890       42.24030       44.35230       46.57000       48.89850       51.34340      
42 85,767.97            90,056.30            94,559.30            99,287.14            104,251.47          109,464.16          7,147.33      7,504.69      7,879.94      8,273.93      8,687.62      9,122.01      3,298.77      3,463.70       3,636.90       3,818.74       4,009.67       4,210.16       41.23460       43.29630       45.46120       47.73420       50.12090       52.62700      
43 87,912.24            92,307.70            96,923.22            101,769.41          106,857.71          112,200.61          7,326.02      7,692.31      8,076.93      8,480.78      8,904.81      9,350.05      3,381.24      3,550.30       3,727.82       3,914.21       4,109.91       4,315.41       42.26550       44.37870       46.59770       48.92760       51.37390       53.94260      
44 90,109.97            94,615.46            99,346.21            104,313.66          109,529.26          115,005.70          7,509.16      7,884.62      8,278.85      8,692.81      9,127.44      9,583.81      3,465.77      3,639.06       3,821.01       4,012.06       4,212.66       4,423.30       43.32210       45.48820       47.76260       50.15080       52.65830       55.29120      
45 92,362.82            96,980.83            101,829.94          106,921.36          112,267.38          117,880.88          7,696.90      8,081.74      8,485.83      8,910.11      9,355.61      9,823.41      3,552.42      3,730.03       3,916.54       4,112.36       4,317.98       4,533.88       44.40520       46.62540       48.95670       51.40450       53.97470       56.67350      
46 94,671.82            99,405.49            104,375.65          109,594.37          115,074.13          120,827.82          7,889.32      8,283.79      8,697.97      9,132.86      9,589.51      10,068.99    3,641.22      3,823.29       4,014.45       4,215.17       4,425.93       4,647.22       45.51530       47.79110       50.18060       52.68960       55.32410       58.09030      
47 97,038.66            101,890.46          106,985.01          112,334.35          117,950.98          123,848.61          8,086.55      8,490.87      8,915.42      9,361.20      9,829.25      10,320.72    3,732.26      3,918.86       4,114.81       4,320.55       4,536.58       4,763.41       46.65320       48.98580       51.43510       54.00690       56.70720       59.54260      
48 99,464.56            104,437.84          109,659.68          115,142.56          120,899.79          126,944.69          8,288.71      8,703.15      9,138.31      9,595.21      10,074.98    10,578.72    3,825.56      4,016.84       4,217.68       4,428.56       4,649.99       4,882.49       47.81950       50.21050       52.72100       55.35700       58.12490       61.03110      
49 101,951.20          107,048.66          112,401.12          118,021.28          123,922.24          130,118.35          8,495.93      8,920.72      9,366.76      9,835.11      10,326.85    10,843.20    3,921.20      4,117.26       4,323.12       4,539.28       4,766.24       5,004.55       49.01500       51.46570       54.03900       56.74100       59.57800       62.55690      
50 104,500.03          109,724.99          115,211.20          120,971.76          127,020.40          133,371.26          8,708.34      9,143.75      9,600.93      10,080.98    10,585.03    11,114.27    4,019.23      4,220.19       4,431.20       4,652.76       4,885.40       5,129.66       50.24040       52.75240       55.39000       58.15950       61.06750       64.12080      
51 107,112.51          112,468.10          118,091.38          123,996.08          130,195.94          136,705.71          8,926.04      9,372.34      9,840.95      10,333.01    10,849.66    11,392.14    4,119.71      4,325.70       4,541.98       4,769.08       5,007.54       5,257.91       51.49640       54.07120       56.77470       59.61350       62.59420       65.72390      
52 109,790.30          115,279.84          121,043.73          127,095.90          133,450.72          140,123.36          9,149.19      9,606.65      10,086.98    10,591.33    11,120.89    11,676.95    4,222.70      4,433.84       4,655.53       4,888.30       5,132.72       5,389.36       52.78380       55.42300       58.19410       61.10380       64.15900       67.36700      
53 112,535.07          118,161.68          124,069.92          130,273.31          136,787.04          143,626.29          9,377.92      9,846.81      10,339.16    10,856.11    11,398.92    11,968.86    4,328.27      4,544.68       4,771.92       5,010.51       5,261.04       5,524.09       54.10340       56.80850       59.64900       62.63140       65.76300       69.05110      
54 115,348.48          121,115.90          127,171.62          133,530.18          140,206.77          147,216.99          9,612.37      10,092.99    10,597.63    11,127.51    11,683.90    12,268.08    4,436.48      4,658.30       4,891.22       5,135.78       5,392.57       5,662.19       55.45600       58.22880       61.14020       64.19720       67.40710       70.77740      
55 118,232.19          124,143.76          130,350.90          136,868.37          143,711.78          150,897.55          9,852.68      10,345.31    10,862.57    11,405.70    11,975.98    12,574.80    4,547.39      4,774.76       5,013.50       5,264.17       5,527.38       5,803.75       56.84240       59.68450       62.66870       65.80210       69.09220       72.54690      
56 121,187.87          127,247.33          133,609.63          140,290.18          147,304.56          154,669.84          10,098.99    10,603.94    11,134.14    11,690.85    12,275.38    12,889.15    4,661.07      4,894.13       5,138.83       5,395.78       5,665.56       5,948.84       58.26340       61.17660       64.23540       67.44720       70.81950       74.36050      
57 124,217.60          130,428.48          136,949.90          143,797.47          150,987.20          158,536.56          10,351.47    10,869.04    11,412.49    11,983.12    12,582.27    13,211.38    4,777.60      5,016.48       5,267.30       5,530.67       5,807.20       6,097.56       59.72000       62.70600       65.84130       69.13340       72.59000       76.21950      
58 127,323.04          133,689.30          140,373.58          147,392.34          154,761.98          162,500.00          10,610.25    11,140.77    11,697.80    12,282.69    12,896.83    13,541.67    4,897.04      5,141.90       5,398.98       5,668.94       5,952.38       6,250.00       61.21300       64.27370       67.48730       70.86170       74.40480       78.12500      
59 130,506.06          137,031.44          143,882.96          151,077.06          158,630.99          166,562.66          10,875.51    11,419.29    11,990.25    12,589.75    13,219.25    13,880.22    5,019.46      5,270.44       5,533.96       5,810.66       6,101.19       6,406.26       62.74330       65.88050       69.17450       72.63320       76.26490       80.07820      
60 133,768.75          140,457.20          147,480.11          154,854.13          162,596.72          170,726.61          11,147.40    11,704.77    12,290.01    12,904.51    13,549.73    14,227.22    5,144.95      5,402.20       5,672.31       5,955.93       6,253.72       6,566.41       64.31190       67.52750       70.90390       74.44910       78.17150       82.08010      
61 137,112.98          143,968.66          151,167.12          158,725.42          166,661.66          174,994.77          11,426.08    11,997.39    12,597.26    13,227.12    13,888.47    14,582.90    5,273.58      5,537.26       5,814.12       6,104.82       6,410.06       6,730.57       65.91970       69.21570       72.67650       76.31030       80.12580       84.13210      
62 140,540.82          147,567.89          154,946.27          162,693.65          170,828.32          179,369.63          11,711.73    12,297.32    12,912.19    13,557.80    14,235.69    14,947.47    5,405.42      5,675.69       5,959.47       6,257.45       6,570.32       6,898.83       67.56770       70.94610       74.49340       78.21810       82.12900       86.23540      
63 144,054.35          151,256.98          158,819.86          166,760.88          175,098.98          183,853.90          12,004.53    12,604.75    13,234.99    13,896.74    14,591.58    15,321.16    5,540.55      5,817.58       6,108.46       6,413.88       6,734.58       7,071.30       69.25690       72.71970       76.35570       80.17350       84.18220       88.39130      
64 147,655.66          155,038.42          162,790.37          170,929.82          179,476.34          188,450.29          12,304.64    12,919.87    13,565.86    14,244.15    14,956.36    15,704.19    5,679.06      5,963.02       6,261.17       6,574.22       6,902.94       7,248.09       70.98830       74.53770       78.26460       82.17780       86.28670       90.60110      
65 151,347.04          158,914.50          166,860.10          175,203.18          183,963.31          193,161.49          12,612.25    13,242.87    13,905.01    14,600.27    15,330.28    16,096.79    5,821.04      6,112.10       6,417.70       6,738.58       7,075.51       7,429.29       72.76300       76.40120       80.22120       84.23230       88.44390       92.86610      
66 155,130.77          162,887.30          171,031.74          179,583.25          188,562.40          197,990.62          12,927.56    13,573.94    14,252.65    14,965.27    15,713.53    16,499.22    5,966.57      6,264.90       6,578.14       6,907.05       7,252.40       7,615.02       74.58210       78.31120       82.22680       86.33810       90.65500       95.18780      
67 159,009.14          166,959.52          175,307.39          184,072.93          193,276.51          202,940.40          13,250.76    13,913.29    14,608.95    15,339.41    16,106.38    16,911.70    6,115.74      6,421.52       6,742.59       7,079.73       7,433.71       7,805.40       76.44670       80.26900       84.28240       88.49660       92.92140       97.56750      
68 162,984.22          171,133.46          179,690.16          188,674.72          198,108.35          208,013.73          13,582.02    14,261.12    14,974.18    15,722.89    16,509.03    17,334.48    6,268.62      6,582.06       6,911.16       7,256.72       7,619.55       8,000.53       78.35780       82.27570       86.38950       90.70900       95.24440       100.00660    
69 167,058.94          175,411.81          184,182.34          193,391.54          203,061.04          213,214.14          13,921.58    14,617.65    15,348.53    16,115.96    16,921.75    17,767.85    6,425.34      6,746.61       7,083.94       7,438.14       7,810.04       8,200.54       80.31680       84.33260       88.54920       92.97670       97.62550       102.50680    
70 171,235.38          179,797.07          188,787.04          198,226.29          208,137.70          218,544.56          14,269.61    14,983.09    15,732.25    16,518.86    17,344.81    18,212.05    6,585.98      6,915.27       7,261.04       7,624.09       8,005.30       8,405.56       82.32470       86.44090       90.76300       95.30110       100.06620     105.06950    
71 175,516.22          184,291.95          193,506.56          203,181.89          213,341.02          224,008.10          14,626.35    15,357.66    16,125.55    16,931.82    17,778.42    18,667.34    6,750.62      7,088.15       7,442.56       7,814.69       8,205.42       8,615.70       84.38280       88.60190       93.03200       97.68360       102.56780     107.69620    
72 179,904.19          188,899.36          198,344.22          208,261.46          218,674.56          229,608.29          14,992.02    15,741.61    16,528.69    17,355.12    18,222.88    19,134.02    6,919.39      7,265.36       7,628.62       8,010.06       8,410.56       8,831.09       86.49240       90.81700       95.35780       100.12570     105.13200     110.38860    
73 184,401.78          193,621.79          203,302.94          213,468.11          224,141.42          235,348.46          15,366.81    16,135.15    16,941.91    17,789.01    18,678.45    19,612.37    7,092.38      7,446.99       7,819.34       8,210.31       8,620.82       9,051.86       88.65470       93.08740       97.74180       102.62890     107.76030     113.14830    
74 189,011.68          198,462.37          208,385.42          218,804.77          229,744.94          241,232.16          15,750.97    16,538.53    17,365.45    18,233.73    19,145.41    20,102.68    7,269.68      7,633.17       8,014.82       8,415.57       8,836.34       9,278.16       90.87100       95.41460       100.18530     105.19460     110.45430     115.97700    
75 193,737.02          203,424.00          213,595.20          224,274.96          235,488.66          247,263.12          16,144.75    16,952.00    17,799.60    18,689.58    19,624.05    20,605.26    7,451.42      7,824.00       8,215.20       8,625.96       9,057.26       9,510.12       93.14280       97.80000       102.69000     107.82450     113.21570     118.87650    

Monthly Per Pay Period HourlySalary Range  Annually 

Page 1 of 2



TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE MARCH 7, 2022
ADOPTED JANUARY 17, 2024

 Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6  Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6
Monthly Per Pay Period HourlySalary Range  Annually 

76 198,580.51          208,509.60          218,934.98          229,881.81          241,375.89          253,444.67          16,548.38    17,375.80    18,244.58    19,156.82    20,114.66    21,120.39    7,637.71      8,019.60       8,420.58       8,841.61       9,283.69       9,747.87       95.47140       100.24500     105.25720     110.52010     116.04610     121.84840    
77 203,545.06          213,722.29          224,408.29          235,628.85          247,410.18          259,780.77          16,962.09    17,810.19    18,700.69    19,635.74    20,617.51    21,648.40    7,828.66      8,220.09       8,631.09       9,062.65       9,515.78       9,991.57       97.85820       102.75110     107.88860     113.28310     118.94720     124.89460    
78 208,633.57          219,065.39          230,018.67          241,519.62          253,595.47          266,275.36          17,386.13    18,255.45    19,168.22    20,126.63    21,132.96    22,189.61    8,024.37      8,425.59       8,846.87       9,289.22       9,753.67       10,241.36    100.30460     105.31990     110.58590     116.11520     121.92090     128.01700    
79 213,849.38          224,542.03          235,769.04          247,557.44          259,935.31          272,932.19          17,820.78    18,711.84    19,647.42    20,629.79    21,661.28    22,744.35    8,224.98      8,636.23       9,068.04       9,521.44       9,997.51       10,497.39    102.81220     107.95290     113.35050     119.01800     124.96890     131.21740    
80 219,195.81          230,155.54          241,663.34          253,746.48          266,433.86          279,755.42          18,266.32    19,179.63    20,138.61    21,145.54    22,202.82    23,312.95    8,430.61      8,852.14       9,294.74       9,759.48       10,247.46    10,759.82    105.38260     110.65170     116.18430     121.99350     128.09320     134.49780    
81 224,675.57          235,909.44          247,704.91          260,090.06          273,094.64          286,749.42          18,722.96    19,659.12    20,642.08    21,674.17    22,757.89    23,895.79    8,641.37      9,073.44       9,527.11       10,003.46    10,503.64    11,028.82    108.01710     113.41800     119.08890     125.04330     131.29550     137.86030    
82 230,292.40          241,807.07          253,897.49          266,592.35          279,922.03          293,918.14          19,191.03    20,150.59    21,158.12    22,216.03    23,326.84    24,493.18    8,857.40      9,300.27       9,765.29       10,253.55    10,766.23    11,304.54    110.71750     116.25340     122.06610     128.16940     134.57790     141.30680    
83 236,049.84          247,852.38          260,244.82          273,257.09          286,919.98          301,265.95          19,670.82    20,654.37    21,687.07    22,771.42    23,910.00    25,105.50    9,078.84      9,532.78       10,009.42    10,509.89    11,035.38    11,587.15    113.48550     119.15980     125.11770     131.37360     137.94230     144.83940    
84 241,951.01          254,048.70          266,751.06          280,088.64          294,093.07          308,797.63          20,162.58    21,170.73    22,229.25    23,340.72    24,507.76    25,733.14    9,305.81      9,771.10       10,259.66    10,772.64    11,311.27    11,876.83    116.32260     122.13880     128.24570     134.65800     141.39090     148.46040    
85 247,999.86          260,399.78          273,419.74          287,090.75          301,445.25          316,517.55          20,666.65    21,699.98    22,784.98    23,924.23    25,120.44    26,376.46    9,538.46      10,015.38    10,516.14    11,041.95    11,594.05    12,173.75    119.23070     125.19220     131.45180     138.02440     144.92560     152.17190    
86 254,199.92          266,909.76          280,255.25          294,268.00          308,981.50          324,430.50          21,183.33    22,242.48    23,354.60    24,522.33    25,748.46    27,035.87    9,776.92      10,265.76    10,779.05    11,318.00    11,883.90    12,478.10    122.21150     128.32200     134.73810     141.47500     148.54880     155.97620    
87 260,554.74          273,582.61          287,261.73          301,624.75          316,706.00          332,541.25          21,712.89    22,798.55    23,938.48    25,135.40    26,392.17    27,711.77    10,021.34    10,522.41    11,048.53    11,600.95    12,181.00    12,790.05    125.26670     131.53010     138.10660     145.01190     152.26250     159.87560    
88 267,068.67          280,422.06          294,443.14          309,165.38          324,623.73          340,854.80          22,255.72    23,368.51    24,536.93    25,763.78    27,051.98    28,404.57    10,271.87    10,785.46    11,324.74    11,890.98    12,485.53    13,109.80    128.39840     134.81830     141.55920     148.63720     156.06910     163.87250    
89 273,745.47          287,432.70          301,804.26          316,894.45          332,739.26          349,376.14          22,812.12    23,952.73    25,150.35    26,407.87    27,728.27    29,114.68    10,528.67    11,055.10    11,607.86    12,188.25    12,797.66    13,437.54    131.60840     138.18880     145.09820     152.35310     159.97080     167.96930    
90 280,589.09          294,618.48          309,349.46          324,816.96          341,057.81          358,110.69          23,382.42    24,551.54    25,779.12    27,068.08    28,421.48    29,842.56    10,791.89    11,331.48    11,898.06    12,492.96    13,117.61    13,773.49    134.89860     141.64350     148.72570     156.16200     163.97010     172.16860    
91 287,603.68          301,983.97          317,083.10          332,937.28          349,584.14          367,063.42          23,966.97    25,165.33    26,423.59    27,744.77    29,132.01    30,588.62    11,061.68    11,614.77    12,195.50    12,805.28    13,445.54    14,117.82    138.27100     145.18460     152.44380     160.06600     168.06930     176.47280    
92 294,793.82          309,533.54          325,010.19          341,260.82          358,323.89          376,239.97          24,566.15    25,794.46    27,084.18    28,438.40    29,860.32    31,353.33    11,338.22    11,905.14    12,500.39    13,125.42    13,781.69    14,470.77    141.72780     148.81420     156.25490     164.06770     172.27110     180.88460    
93 302,163.68          317,271.97          333,135.50          349,792.35          367,281.82          385,645.94          25,180.31    26,439.33    27,761.29    29,149.36    30,606.82    32,137.16    11,621.68    12,202.77    12,812.90    13,453.55    14,126.22    14,832.54    145.27100     152.53460     160.16130     168.16940     176.57780     185.40670    
94 309,717.82          325,203.63          341,463.82          358,537.09          376,463.98          395,287.15          25,809.82    27,100.30    28,455.32    29,878.09    31,372.00    32,940.60    11,912.22    12,507.83    13,133.22    13,789.89    14,479.38    15,203.35    148.90280     156.34790     164.16530     172.37360     180.99230     190.04190    
95 317,460.83          333,333.73          350,000.56          367,500.43          385,875.57          405,169.23          26,455.07    27,777.81    29,166.71    30,625.04    32,156.30    33,764.10    12,210.03    12,820.53    13,461.56    14,134.63    14,841.37    15,583.43    152.62540     160.25660     168.26950     176.68290     185.51710     194.79290    
96 325,397.28          341,667.04          358,750.50          376,688.00          395,522.40          415,298.62          27,116.44    28,472.25    29,895.87    31,390.67    32,960.20    34,608.22    12,515.28    13,141.04    13,798.10    14,488.00    15,212.40    15,973.02    156.44100     164.26300     172.47620     181.10000     190.15500     199.66280    
97 333,532.16          350,208.77          367,719.25          386,105.20          405,410.51          425,680.94          27,794.35    29,184.06    30,643.27    32,175.43    33,784.21    35,473.41    12,828.16    13,469.57    14,143.05    14,850.20    15,592.71    16,372.34    160.35200     168.36960     176.78810     185.62750     194.90890     204.65430    
98 341,870.46          358,964.11          376,912.22          395,757.86          415,545.73          436,323.06          28,489.21    29,913.68    31,409.35    32,979.82    34,628.81    36,360.25    13,148.86    13,806.31    14,496.62    15,221.46    15,982.53    16,781.66    164.36080     172.57890     181.20780     190.26820     199.78160     209.77070    
99 350,417.18          367,938.06          386,335.04          405,651.79          425,934.29          447,231.20          29,201.43    30,661.51    32,194.59    33,804.32    35,494.52    37,269.27    13,477.58    14,151.46    14,859.04    15,601.99    16,382.09    17,201.20    168.46980     176.89330     185.73800     195.02490     204.77610     215.01500    
100 359,177.73          377,136.66          395,993.31          415,793.04          436,582.64          458,411.82          29,931.48    31,428.05    32,999.44    34,649.42    36,381.89    38,200.99    13,814.53    14,505.26    15,230.51    15,992.04    16,791.64    17,631.22    172.68160     181.31570     190.38140     199.90050     209.89550     220.39030    

Page 2 of 2



TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE MARCH 7, 2022
ADOPTED JANUARY 17, 2024

Classifications/Job Titles Range

Accountant 31
Accounting Manager 52
Accounting Technician 22
Administrative Assistant 26
Administrative Services Manager 46
Behavioral Health Advocate I 6
Behavioral Health Advocate II 10
Behavioral Health Program Supervisor 43
Behavioral Health Specialist 22
Behavioral Health Specialist Coordinator 30
Behavioral Health Worker 14
Chief Clinical Officer 70
Chief Compliance Officer and Privacy Officer 65
Chief Financial Officer 70
Chief Information Officer 65
Chief Operations Officer 70
Clinical Program Manager 53
Clinical Supervisor I 45
Clinical Supervisor II 49
Clinical Therapist I 37
Clinical Therapist II 41
Communications Coordinator 32
Community Capacity Organizer 37
Community Behavioral Health Trainer 37
Community Navigator 19
Compliance Adminstrator 37
Controller 57
Counselor 31
Crisis Intervention and Medication Support Manager 52
Crisis Intervention and Medication Support Supervisor 37
Data Analyst  42
Data Specialist 38
Data Supervisor 46
Deputy Chief Clinical Officer 61
Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services  65
Diversity Equity and Inclusion Coordinator 37
Electronic Health Records Specialist 37
Executive Director  92
Facilities and Safety Manager 46
Facilities Coordinator  42
Facilities Maintenance Worker 19
Grants Manager 47
Housing Manager 52
Housing Outreach Specialis 26



TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
MASTER CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE MARCH 7, 2022
ADOPTED JANUARY 17, 2024

Housing Supervisor 46
Human Resources Analyst 38
Senior Human Resources Analyst 42
Human Resources Assistant 19
Human Resources Director  60
Human Resources Techncian 25
Intern 4
IT Service Desk & Project Supervisor 46
Information Technology Specialist I 30
Information Technology Specialist II 34
IT Systems Administrator 52
JPA Administrator/Clerk 52
Manager of Best Practices 52
Medical Assistant 15
Medical Director  92
MHSA Program Coordinator 42
MHSA Projects Manager 52
Nurse Practitioner I 56
Nurse Practitioner II 60
Occupational Therapist 50
Office Assistant 11
Office Specialist 15
Peer Support Specialist I 10
Peer Support Specialist II 14
Program Analyst 42
Program Manager 52
Program Supervisor 46
Program Support Supervisor 31
Psychiatric Technician I 22
Psychiatric Technician II 26
Psychiatrist I 82
Psychiatrist II 86
Psychiatrist III 90
Psychologist 46
Quality Assurance Specialist I 38
Quality Assurance Specialist II 42
Quality Assurance Supervisor  46
Residential Services Coordinator 18
Revenue Billing Manager 52
Senior Accountant 37
Senior Behavioral Health Specialist 26
Senior Facilities Maintenance Worker 23
Senior Information Technology Specialist 52
TCG Gardener 10
WET Supervisor 46



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024 

Page 1 of 4 

 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH WORKER  

  
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and 
responsibilities associated with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by 
individuals within a classification. In addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications 
necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 

FLSA STATUS: Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION:  
 
Under general supervision, provides a variety of technical, administrative, and clerical support 
services for assigned program staff, and clients to facilitate clients’ access to and participation in 
services; provides information and assistance to clients regarding programs, services, and 
processes; receives and processes service referrals and public inquiries; facilitates 
communication and makes referrals to a variety of internal programs/services and external 
agencies; assumes responsibility for, and completes, assigned projects; and performs related 
duties, as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives general supervision from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises 
no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
This journey-level classification is responsible for independently performing a variety of duties in 
support of program staff and operations. Positions at this level exercise judgment and initiative in 
their assigned tasks, receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new or unusual 
situations arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the work unit. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Depending on the area of assignment, essential duties 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Provides technical, administrative, and clerical support and assistance in the day-to-day 

operations of an assigned program; screens calls and visitors; processes services referrals; 
schedules intake appointments; responds to requests for information and services; explains 
departmental programs, services, policies, and procedures. 

• Processes a high volume of service requests; asks questions to obtain and record 
demographic information, language preference, medication history, etc.; links requestor to 
appropriate services and schedules intake/assessment appointments with applicable 
treatment team; monitors and tracks a variety of program and requestor data for use by 
management and/or treatment team.  



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024 

Page 2 of 4 

• Facilitates communication and makes referrals to a variety of internal programs/services and 
external agencies to address basic needs and other barriers to wellness and recovery 
including food, housing, clothing, transportation, and other financial resources.  

• Monitors and tracks client participation/attendance in a variety of activities; contacts clients 
regarding scheduled or missed activities; prepares client files for discharge from activities as 
necessary.  

• Schedules and/or conducts formal and informal meetings and/or informational group 
sessions; prepares meeting materials; collects client contact information for follow-up; and 
responds to general client questions related to Authority programs and services. 

• Assists with the processing of a variety of documents related to the assigned program area; 
maintains and creates client files and records; inputs, maintains, and downloads data from a 
computer database; gathers, compiles, tracks, and evaluates pertinent data and statistics; 
prepares, processes, and maintains a variety of narrative and statistical records and reports 
on program activities; provides reports in a timely manner to the appropriate entity. 

• Collects and routes vendor invoices and supporting program documentation for appropriate 
approvals; disburses payments to vendors as necessary; may disburse flex funds to program 
staff or make purchases as directed. 

• Transports and/or assists in coordination transportation for clients to/from a variety of 
appointments and external agencies as necessary, or as assigned. 

• Maintains client confidentiality in compliance with all Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 

 
QUALIFICATIONS:  
 
Incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes:  
 

Education and Experience 
 

Education: 
• Equivalent to completion of the twelfth (12th) grade. 

 
Experience: 
• Two (2) years of experience providing technical or administrative program support in a 

behavioral health setting.  
 

Licenses and Certifications: 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment.  



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024 

Page 3 of 4 

 
Knowledge of: 
• Authority policies and procedures pertaining to assigned department/program.  
• Behavioral health care systems and services.  
• Cultural, social, and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Basic needs and challenges for individuals and families accessing behavioral health 

services, including cultural barriers. 
• Safe driving rules and practices.  
• Record keeping principles and practices.  
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to:  

 
• Perform responsible technical, administrative, clerical support work. 
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to clients, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations. 
• Establish and maintain the confidence of clients. 
• Assess needs and make appropriate program referrals. 
• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist clients. 
• Respond to and effectively prioritize multiple phone calls and other requests for service. 
• Listen attentively to clients and address their needs and issues fairly and professionally. 
• Work well with and provide services to a variety of clients in various stages of behavioral 

health illness/treatment; maintain appropriate boundaries, identify and nurture strengths, 
and support their right to make independent decisions as appropriate.  

• Prepare and maintain clear and concise correspondence, records, client case 
documentation, and other written materials. 

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 
procedural guidelines. 

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of client information. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024 

Page 4 of 4 

• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 
modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 

 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle and visit various Authority sites; vision to read 
printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and 
over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office classification although standing in work 
areas and walking between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 10 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures. 
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/202306/XX/2021 

Page 1 of 4 

Deleted: ¶

 
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH WORKER  

  
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and 
responsibilities associated with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by 
individuals within a classification. In addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications 
necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 

FLSA STATUS: Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION:  
 
Under general supervision, provides a variety of technical, administrative, and clerical support 
services for assigned program staff, and clients to facilitate clients’ access to and participation in 
services; provides information and assistance to clients regarding programs, services, and 
processes; receives and processes service referrals and public inquiries; facilitates 
communication and makes referrals to a variety of internal programs/services and external 
agencies; assumes responsibility for, and completes, assigned projects; and performs related 
duties, as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives general supervision from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises 
no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
 
This journey-level classification is responsible for independently performing a variety of duties in 
support of program staff and operations. Positions at this level exercise judgment and initiative in 
their assigned tasks, receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new or unusual 
situations arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the work unit. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Depending on the area of assignment, essential duties 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Provides technical, administrative, and clerical support and assistance in the day-to-day 

operations of an assigned program; screens calls and visitors; processes services referrals; 
schedules intake appointments; responds to requests for information and services; explains 
departmental programs, services, policies, and procedures. 

• Processes a high volume of service requests; asks questions to obtain and record 
demographic information, language preference, medication history, etc.; links requestor to 
appropriate services and schedules intake/assessment appointments with applicable 
treatment team; monitors and tracks a variety of program and requestor data for use by 
management and/or treatment team.  

Deleted: MENTAL

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:          ¶
         

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: direct

Deleted: assists professional staff by performing

Deleted: routine

Deleted: ; acts as liaison between departmental staff, 
the community and clients; and does other work as 

Deleted: . ¶
Incumbents in this class are responsible for assisting 
professional staff by carrying out a variety of routine 
supportive functions, depending on their assignment. 
Mental Health Workers are responsible for performing 
liaison functions between the

Deleted: which they are assigned 

Deleted: , the community 

Deleted: clients; obtaining important

Deleted: about client background 

Deleted: tracking services provided on a case-by-case ...
Deleted:  that are available.  Incumbents report to the ...
Deleted:   

Deleted:  ¶ ...
Deleted:  

Deleted: basic 

Deleted: about

Deleted: and program

Deleted:  helping the community and/or clients ...
Deleted:  

Deleted: ¶ ...



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

Deleted: Mental

Deleted:                                       Revised 06/19/2019 ...

• Facilitates communication and makes referrals to a variety of internal programs/services and 
external agencies to address basic needs and other barriers to wellness and recovery 
including food, housing, clothing, transportation, and other financial resources.  

• Monitors and tracks client participation/attendance in a variety of activities; contacts clients 
regarding scheduled or missed activities; prepares client files for discharge from activities as 
necessary.  

• Schedules and/or conducts formal and informal meetings and/or informational group 
sessions; prepares meeting materials; collects client contact information for follow-up; and 
responds to general client questions related to Authority programs and services. 

• Assists with the processing of a variety of documents related to the assigned program area; 
maintains and creates client files and records; inputs, maintains, and downloads data from a 
computer database; gathers, compiles, tracks, and evaluates pertinent data and statistics; 
prepares, processes, and maintains a variety of narrative and statistical records and reports 
on program activities; provides reports in a timely manner to the appropriate entity. 

• Collects and routes vendor invoices and supporting program documentation for appropriate 
approvals; disburses payments to vendors as necessary; may disburse flex funds to program 
staff or make purchases as directed. 

• Transports and/or assists in coordination transportation for clients to/from a variety of 
appointments and external agencies as necessary, or as assigned. 

• Maintains client confidentiality in compliance with all Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 

 
QUALIFICATIONS:  
 
 Incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes:  
 

Education and Experience 
 

Education: 
• Equivalent to completion of the twelfth (12th) grade. 

 
Experience: 
• Two (2) years of experience providing technical or administrative program support in a 

behavioral health setting.  
 

Licenses and Certifications: 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment.  

Deleted: to provide information to individuals 
regarding problems involved in daily living and/or job 
search; interviews clients to gather basic 

Deleted: .¶
Logs appropriate case

Deleted: information, such as individuals contacted, 
services provided, and/or resources utilized. 

Deleted: <#>Supervises the behavior and conduct of 
minors in various situations; assists clients in 
completing necessary forms and paperwork. ¶
<#>Monitors and reports to professional staff on 
client progress and adherence to rules of established 
agreements; monitors and reports to professional 
staff on client responses and interactions during 
approved family visitations. ¶
<#>Identifies and reports problem situations to 
professional staff; logs appropriate case-related 
information and progress reports. ¶
<#>Schedules 

Deleted: for services; refers clients to other

Deleted: when appropriate. ¶
Coordinates and/or provides 

Deleted:  transportation to clients; assists 
professional staff by making home visits. 

Deleted: <#>Makes computer inquiries and does 
record and/or background checks on clients.¶
<#>Initiates and composes routine correspondence; 
compiles a variety of narrative and statistical reports; ...
Deleted: <#>Federal, State, Local and Agency ...
Deleted: <#>Act (HIPAA) and The Health ...
Deleted: ¶ ...

Moved down [1]: ¶

Deleted: janitorial and reception

Deleted: assigned

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: Any combination of education, training, and ...
Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: , Training,
Deleted: :   

Deleted: High school diploma or equivalency ...



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

Deleted: Mental

Deleted:                                       Revised 06/19/2019 ...

 
Knowledge of: 
• Authority policies and procedures pertaining to assigned department/program.  
• Behavioral health care systems and services.  
• Cultural, social, and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Basic needs and challenges for individuals and families accessing behavioral health 

services, including cultural barriers. 
• Safe driving rules and practices.  
• Record keeping principles and practices.  
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to:  

 
• Perform responsible technical, administrative, clerical support work. 
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to clients, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations. 
• Establish and maintain the confidence of clients. 
• Assess needs and make appropriate program referrals. 
• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist clients. 
• Respond to and effectively prioritize multiple phone calls and other requests for service. 
• Listen attentively to clients and address their needs and issues fairly and professionally. 
• Work well with and provide services to a variety of clients in various stages of behavioral 

health illness/treatment; maintain appropriate boundaries, identify and nurture strengths, 
and support their right to make independent decisions as appropriate.  

• Prepare and maintain clear and concise correspondence, records, client case 
documentation, and other written materials. 

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 
procedural guidelines. 

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of client information. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted:    

Deleted: The basic

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Space
After:  0 pt, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Deleted: problems of underserved mental health 
populations

Deleted: youth, elderly, and other diversity factors 
such as culture.  

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: Principles

Deleted:  of group dynamics. 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Deleted: Community 

Deleted: lines of

Deleted: in a specific area. 

Deleted: <#>Available community resources and 
sources of referral. ¶
<#>Principles and practices of record keeping.  ¶
<#>Standard office equipment. ¶

Moved (insertion) [1]

Deleted: Identify existing community-based 
services and recommend and assist in the 
establishment of new services. ¶
Understand and apply Agency program services 
and policies. ¶

Deleted: Agency

Deleted: participants

Deleted:  

Deleted: verbally

Deleted: .  

Deleted: <#>Understand and follow verbal and ...
Formatted ...

Deleted: <#> and

Deleted: <#>professional

Deleted: <#>participants,

Deleted: <#>physicians, social agencies, and ...
Deleted: <#> members in carrying out the work of 

Deleted: <#>supports team



 

Behavioral Health Worker 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

Deleted: Mental

Deleted:                                       Revised 06/19/2019 
Page 4 of 4 

• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 
modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 

 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle and visit various Authority sites; vision to read 
printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and 
over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office classification although standing in work 
areas and walking between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 10 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures. 
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 

Moved (insertion) [2]

Deleted: Establish and maintain the confidence of 
participants and family/caregivers with diverse 
cultural, ethnic, and socio-economic backgrounds.  ¶
Operate standard office equipment and a computer 
and utilize a variety of software programs. ¶
Maintain confidentiality of participant information. ¶
 Special Requirements: ¶
Possess a current valid Driver’s License, a 
satisfactory driving record and meet the Agency’s 
vehicle insurance standards. 

Moved down [3]: ¶
Receive satisfactory results from a background 
investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a 
drug/alcohol test

Deleted:  and an administrative review.

Moved (insertion) [3]

Deleted:  

Moved up [2]: ¶
PHYSICAL 
Deleted: STANDARDS:¶
 ¶
The position requires prolonged sitting, reaching, 
twisting, turning, bending, stooping, lifting, and carrying 
paper and documents weighing up to 15 pounds in the 
performance of daily activities; body mobility to move 
from one work area to another, and operate a vehicle; 
grasping, repetitive hand movement and fine 
coordination in typing, filing, recording information, 
preparing records and reports, data entry, using a 
computer keyboard and office equipment; vision 
sufficient to observe  activities, reading 
correspondence and reports, statistical data, and using 
a computer; and communicating with others on the 
phone, in person, and in meetings. ¶
 ¶



 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DE) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 
 
 

 
DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION (DEI) COORDINATOR 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and 
responsibilities associated with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by 
individuals within a classification. In addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications 
necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  

 
FLSA STATUS:  Exempt 

 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under direction performs a range of activities that ensure the Authority’s policies, protocols, 
procedures, programs, and services provided to clients and the community are culturally and 
linguistically appropriate throughout the entire system of care; maintains and updates the Tri-City 
Cultural Competency Plan in accordance with state and other mandated requirements; collects 
and evaluates Tri-City cultural demographics data for program purposes; collaborates with others 
in the development delivery of program training; and performs related duties as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives direction from the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services. Exercises no direct 
supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This classification is responsible for independently performing professional duties to ensure the 
Authority is culturally competent and inclusive within its workforce and in the services provided to 
its clients, and that mandated requirements are met. Incumbents are responsible for planning, 
organizing, and coordinating assigned services and activities within the program requiring the 
interpretation and application of policies, procedures, and regulations.  Employees serve as a 
specialist, liaison, and advocate for the program, requiring the use of initiative and 
resourcefulness, independent judgment, and regular contact with program stakeholders. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
• Assists the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services in the day-to-day administrative tasks 

related to cultural competency as outlined in the Tri-City’s Cultural Competence Plan to ensure 
the Authority is in compliance with state and federal cultural and linguistic regulations. 

• Collects and assesses cultural demographic data of individuals employed and served at Tri-
City including race, ethnicity, primary language, gender, and sexual orientation; maintains 
confidentiality of all data. 

• Confers with staff, contracted individuals, groups and/or organizations, individuals served, Tri-
City’s Mental Health Commission, stakeholders, advisory groups, and the community, to 



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

determine behavioral health and service delivery issues, barriers, and needs of diverse 
populations. 

• Serves on and/or provides staff support to assigned committees and Councils, including, but 
not limited to,  the Authority’s Cultural Inclusion and Diversity Committee, and Cultural 
Advisory Councils. 

• Coordinates, facilitates, and supports the activities, trainings and events of the Cultural 
Inclusion and Diversity Committee and the various cultural advisory councils. 

• Maintains and updates the Tri-City Cultural Competency Plan in accordance with state 
requirements; assists in preparing required quarterly reports, annual updates, and other 
analyses and evaluations for Cultural Competency activities. 

• Works in collaboration with the Workforce Education and Training Supervisor to provide 
culturally competent/relevant and linguistically appropriate trainings to staff and the various 
advisory councils. 

• Works in partnership with the Human Resources Department and the Workforce Education 
and Training Supervisor to plan, coordinate, and implement events for staff recruitment and 
the professional development of existing staff. 

• Maintains up-to-date knowledge of policies and procedures that govern program operations; 
disseminates knowledge to staff and ensures compliance on a continuous basis. 

• Ensures confidentiality and integrity of Protected Health Information (PHI) of clients served by 
Center to comply with all Health Insurance Portability and Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
The incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education:  
• Equivalent to a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college with major coursework in 

psychology, social work, or a related field. 
 

Experience: 
• Three (3) years of professional level experience behavioral health services, local 

government, or a related field with emphasis in policy and program planning within 
behavioral health.  

 
Licenses and Certifications 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment.  
 
Knowledge of:  

• Implicit bias and antiracism theories and perspectives and their impact on the public 
behavioral health system and the communities served by Tri-City. 

• Methods and techniques of creating specialized training/workshops plans and materials. 



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

• Cultural and linguistic strengths and challenges to consider when developing and 
providing quality mental health services. 

• Community socio-economic and cultural demographics. 
• Cultural, social and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Principles and techniques for working with groups and fostering effective team interaction 

to ensure teamwork is conducted smoothly. 
• Practices and techniques of administrative and statistical research, analysis and report 

preparation. 
• Effective techniques for speaking before groups and preparing public presentations. 
• Local community resources and support systems. 
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting, and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 

 
• Assist in the development and administration of policies, protocols and programs which 

are culturally and linguistically appropriate for the Authority’s workforce and clients. 
• Implement trainings and activities that will enhance the workforce’s ability to provide 

culturally sensitive and competent services. 
• Develop, implement, and coordinate community collaborations that target penetration in 

unserved/underserved populations. 
• Use a participatory style in reaching solutions to problems. 
• Facilitate groups to develop and implement recommendations.  
• Manage, track, and report on multiple, complex projects. 
• Analyze data for program evaluation and development. 
• Produce analyses and documents using a variety of software programs. 
• Identify and address implicit bias and effectively discuss race in the workplace  
• Analyze and interpret factual data and a variety of administrative issues; make sound 

policy and procedural recommendations; implement effective solutions; and prepare 
complex reports. 

• Speak in public and give public presentations. 
• Understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, policies and 

procedures, and standards relevant to work performed. 
• Effectively represent the department and the Authority in meetings with governmental 

agencies; community groups; various business, professional, and regulatory 
organizations; and in meetings with individuals.  

• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, client case documentation, and other 

written materials.  



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within legal, general policy and 
procedural guidelines. 

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of staff and client information received in the course of work.  
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle and visit various Authority sites; vision to read 
printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and 
over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office classification although standing in work 
areas and walking between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 10 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.  
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 



 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DE) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 4 
 

Deleted: 09/20/2023

 
 
 
 

 
DIVERSITY, EQUITY, AND INCLUSION (DEI) COORDINATOR 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and 
responsibilities associated with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by 
individuals within a classification. In addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications 
necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  

 
FLSA STATUS:  Exempt 

 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under direction performs a range of activities that ensure the Authority’s policies, protocols, 
procedures, programs, and services provided to clients and the community are culturally and 
linguistically appropriate throughout the entire system of care; maintains and updates the Tri-City 
Cultural Competency Plan in accordance with state and other mandated requirements; collects 
and evaluates Tri-City cultural demographics data for program purposes; collaborates with others 
in the development delivery of program training; and performs related duties as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives direction from the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services. Exercises no direct 
supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS 
 
This classification is responsible for independently performing professional duties to ensure the 
Authority is culturally competent and inclusive within its workforce and in the services provided to 
its clients, and that mandated requirements are met. Incumbents are responsible for planning, 
organizing, and coordinating assigned services and activities within the program requiring the 
interpretation and application of policies, procedures, and regulations.  Employees serve as a 
specialist, liaison, and advocate for the program, requiring the use of initiative and 
resourcefulness, independent judgment, and regular contact with program stakeholders. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
• Assists the Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services in the day-to-day administrative tasks 

related to cultural competency as outlined in the Tri-City’s Cultural Competence Plan to ensure 
the Authority is in compliance with state and federal cultural and linguistic regulations. 

• Collects and assesses cultural demographic data of individuals employed and served at Tri-
City including race, ethnicity, primary language, gender, and sexual orientation; maintains 
confidentiality of all data. 

• Confers with staff, contracted individuals, groups and/or organizations, individuals served, Tri-
City’s Mental Health Commission, stakeholders, advisory groups, and the community, to 



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

Deleted: Program 

Deleted: 07/21/2021¶

Deleted: 09/20/2023

determine behavioral health and service delivery issues, barriers, and needs of diverse 
populations. 

• Serves on and/or provides staff support to assigned committees and Councils, including, but 
not limited to,  the Authority’s Cultural Inclusion and Diversity Committee, and Cultural 
Advisory Councils. 

• Coordinates, facilitates, and supports the activities, trainings and events of the Cultural 
Inclusion and Diversity Committee and the various cultural advisory councils. 

• Maintains and updates the Tri-City Cultural Competency Plan in accordance with state 
requirements; assists in preparing required quarterly reports, annual updates, and other 
analyses and evaluations for Cultural Competency activities. 

• Works in collaboration with the Workforce Education and Training Supervisor to provide 
culturally competent/relevant and linguistically appropriate trainings to staff and the various 
advisory councils. 

• Works in partnership with the Human Resources Department and the Workforce Education 
and Training Supervisor to plan, coordinate, and implement events for staff recruitment and 
the professional development of existing staff. 

• Maintains up-to-date knowledge of policies and procedures that govern program operations; 
disseminates knowledge to staff and ensures compliance on a continuous basis. 

• Ensures confidentiality and integrity of Protected Health Information (PHI) of clients served by 
Center to comply with all Health Insurance Portability and Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
The incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education:  
• Equivalent to a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college with major coursework in 

psychology, social work, or a related field. 
 

Experience: 
• Three (3) years of professional level experience behavioral health services, local 

government, or a related field with emphasis in policy and program planning within 
behavioral health.  

 
Licenses and Certifications 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment.  
 
Knowledge of:  

• Implicit bias and antiracism theories and perspectives and their impact on the public 
behavioral health system and the communities served by Tri-City. 

• Methods and techniques of creating specialized training/workshops plans and materials. 

Deleted: Any combination of education, training, and 
experience that provides the required knowledge, skills, and 
abilities to perform the essential duties of the position is 
qualifying. 

Deleted: ¶
¶



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

Deleted: Program 

Deleted: 07/21/2021¶

Deleted: 09/20/2023

• Cultural and linguistic strengths and challenges to consider when developing and 
providing quality mental health services. 

• Community socio-economic and cultural demographics. 
• Cultural, social and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Principles and techniques for working with groups and fostering effective team interaction 

to ensure teamwork is conducted smoothly. 
• Practices and techniques of administrative and statistical research, analysis and report 

preparation. 
• Effective techniques for speaking before groups and preparing public presentations. 
• Local community resources and support systems. 
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting, and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 

 
• Assist in the development and administration of policies, protocols and programs which 

are culturally and linguistically appropriate for the Authority’s workforce and clients. 
• Implement trainings and activities that will enhance the workforce’s ability to provide 

culturally sensitive and competent services. 
• Develop, implement, and coordinate community collaborations that target penetration in 

unserved/underserved populations. 
• Use a participatory style in reaching solutions to problems. 
• Facilitate groups to develop and implement recommendations.  
• Manage, track, and report on multiple, complex projects. 
• Analyze data for program evaluation and development. 
• Produce analyses and documents using a variety of software programs. 
• Identify and address implicit bias and effectively discuss race in the workplace  
• Analyze and interpret factual data and a variety of administrative issues; make sound 

policy and procedural recommendations; implement effective solutions; and prepare 
complex reports. 

• Speak in public and give public presentations. 
• Understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, policies and 

procedures, and standards relevant to work performed. 
• Effectively represent the department and the Authority in meetings with governmental 

agencies; community groups; various business, professional, and regulatory 
organizations; and in meetings with individuals.  

• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, client case documentation, and other 

written materials.  



Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) Coordinator 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

Deleted: Program 

Deleted: 07/21/2021¶

Deleted: 09/20/2023

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within legal, general policy and 
procedural guidelines. 

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of staff and client information received in the course of work.  
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; to operate a motor vehicle and visit various Authority sites; vision to read 
printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and 
over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office classification although standing in work 
areas and walking between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is needed to access, 
enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate standard office 
equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull 
drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. Employees must possess the ability to 
lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 10 pounds. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.  
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 5 

 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions.  Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification.  In 
addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily 
convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 
 

FLSA STATUS:  Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under administrative direction, assumes full management responsibility for all Human Resources 
Department programs, services, and activities; manages Human Resources Department Staff; 
administers agency’s HR activities including, worker’s compensation, employee benefit programs, 
recruitment and selection, classification and compensation, employee relations, training and 
development, the formulation of personnel rules and policies, and general human resources 
administration; assists in overseeing the privacy needs of the Authority for compliance with 
federal, state, and local regulations including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 
Act (HIPAA) are maintained; and performs related duties as assigned. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives administrative direction from the Executive Director. Exercises direct supervision over 
professional, technical, and administrative support staff. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS  
 
This is a department director classification that oversees, directs, and participates in all activities 
of Human Resources, including short- and long-term planning as well as development and 
administration of departmental policies, procedures, and services. This class provides assistance 
to the Executive Director in a variety of administrative, coordinative, analytical, and liaison 
capacities. Successful performance of the work requires knowledge of public policy, Authority 
functions and activities, including the role of the Governing Board and Mental Health Commission, 
and the ability to develop, oversee, and implement projects and programs in a variety of areas. 
Responsibilities include coordinating the activities of the department with those of other 
departments and outside agencies and managing and overseeing the complex and varied 
functions of the department. The incumbent is accountable for accomplishing departmental 
planning and operational goals and objectives, and for furthering the Authority’s mission, goals 
and objectives within general policy guidelines. 
  
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 

• Assumes full management responsibility for all Human Resources Department programs, 
services, and activities including workers compensation, recruitment and selection, benefits 
administration, employee and labor relations, and classification and compensation. 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 5 

• Provides lead consultation to all Authority staff on human resources related issues such as 
recruitment and selection, employee relations, disciplinary actions, leave management, 
workers compensation, and benefits. 

• Selects, trains, motivates, and directs Human Resources Department personnel; evaluates 
and reviews work for acceptability and conformance with department standards, including 
program and project priorities and performance evaluations; works with employees to correct 
deficiencies; implements discipline and termination procedures; responds to staff questions 
and concerns. 

• Reviews, manages, and makes recommendations on current Personnel Rules and 
Regulations, policies, and procedures. 

• Investigates and resolves sensitive, confidential, and controversial employee issues and 
complaints. 

• Stays abreast of federal, state, and local law, reviews court cases and legal documentation 
and determines application to the Authority and provides recommendations on 
implementation.  

• Manages the development and recommended classification specifications for adoption of 
position or class of positions; oversees the review of job descriptions and salary surveys for 
job descriptions; provides recommendations for the development of policies and procedures 
and the employee performance evaluation system. 

• Establishes positive working relationships with representatives of the community, state, 
county, local agencies, associations, and the public.  

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Ensures staff observe and comply with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, 
and protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Any combination of education, training, and experience that provides the required knowledge, 
skills, and abilities to perform the essential duties of the position is qualifying. The incumbent will 
possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and experience, as 
demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education: 
• Equivalent to a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with major 

coursework in public administration, human resources, business administration, or a 
related field, with an emphasis in personnel administration or organizational behavior. 

 
Experience: 
• Five (5) years of increasingly responsible experience working in a public agency as an HR 

professional with at least one (1) year of administrative/management responsibility. 
 
 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 5 

Licenses and Certifications 
 

• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 
properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment. 

• Possession of a PHR (Professional in Human Resources) and/or SPHR (Senior 
Professional in Human Resources) is highly desirable. 

• Possession of an IMPA-HR (International Public Management Association Human 
Resources Professional) SHRM CP (Certified Professional) or SHRM SCP (Senior 
Certified Professional) is highly desirable.  

 
Knowledge of:  
 
• Organization and management practices as applied to the development, analysis, and 

evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the assigned area of 
responsibility. 

• Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment 
review and evaluation, discipline, and the training of staff in work procedures. 

• Principles and practices of leadership. 
• Administrative principles, practices, and methods including goal setting, program 

development, implementation and evaluation, policy and procedure development, quality 
control, and work standards. 

• Principles and techniques for working with groups and fostering effective team interaction 
to ensure teamwork is conducted smoothly. 

• Principles and practices of public personnel administration for public agencies, including 
employee recruitment and selection, labor relations, training, employee relations, 
classification and compensation, and equal employment opportunity. 

• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations, as well as industry 
standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and Meyers-Milias Brown Act 
(MMBA), and OSHA/Cal OSHA laws.  

• Organization and management practices, as applied to the development, analysis and 
evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the applicable program. 

• Principles and practices of Safety and Risk Management. 
• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 

 
• Select and supervise staff, provide training and development opportunities, ensure work 

is performed effectively, and evaluate performance in an objective and positive manner. 
• Develop and implement goals, objectives, practices, policies, procedures, and work 

standards. 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 5 

• Provide administrative, management, and professional leadership for the Human 
Resources Department. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of employee/client information and personnel matters. 
• Conduct research, understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, 

policies and procedures, and standards relevant to work performed.  
• Understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, policies and 

procedures, and standards relevant to work performed. 
• Effectively represent the department and the Authority in meetings with governmental 

agencies; community groups; various business, professional, and regulatory 
organizations; and in meetings with individuals. 

• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions.  
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, client case documentation, and other 

written materials. 
• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 

procedural guidelines.  
• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 

assignments. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; vision to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and 
speech to communicate in person and over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office 
classification although standing in work areas and walking between work areas may be required.  
Finger dexterity is needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or 
calculator and to operate standard office equipment.  Positions in this classification occasionally 
bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information.  
Employees must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 35 
pounds.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances.  Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.    
 
WORKING CONDITIONS 
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 5 of 5 

Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 4 

Deleted: ¶

 
HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions.  Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification.  In 
addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily 
convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 
 

FLSA STATUS:  Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under administrative direction, assumes full management responsibility for all Human Resources 
Department programs, services, and activities; manages Human Resources Department Staff; 
administers agency’s HR activities including, worker’s compensation, employee benefit programs, 
recruitment and selection, classification and compensation, employee relations, training and 
development, the formulation of personnel rules and policies, and general human resources 
administration; assists in overseeing the privacy needs of the Authority for compliance with 
federal, state, and local regulations including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 
Act (HIPAA) are maintained; and performs related duties as assigned. 
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives administrative direction from the Executive Director. Exercises direct supervision over 
professional, technical, and administrative support staff. 
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS  
 
This is a department director classification that oversees, directs, and participates in all activities 
of Human Resources, including short- and long-term planning as well as development and 
administration of departmental policies, procedures, and services. This class provides assistance 
to the Executive Director in a variety of administrative, coordinative, analytical, and liaison 
capacities. Successful performance of the work requires knowledge of public policy, Authority 
functions and activities, including the role of the Governing Board and Mental Health Commission, 
and the ability to develop, oversee, and implement projects and programs in a variety of areas. 
Responsibilities include coordinating the activities of the department with those of other 
departments and outside agencies and managing and overseeing the complex and varied 
functions of the department. The incumbent is accountable for accomplishing departmental 
planning and operational goals and objectives, and for furthering the Authority’s mission, goals 
and objectives within general policy guidelines. 
  
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 

• Assumes full management responsibility for all Human Resources Department programs, 
services, and activities including workers compensation, recruitment and selection, benefits 
administration, employee and labor relations, and classification and compensation. 

Formatted: No underline
Deleted: MANAGER

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: Level 1
Deleted: oversees and performs highly responsible, complex, 
and confidential

Deleted: functions and coordinates related

Deleted:  and

Deleted:  risk management

Formatted: Font: Not Italic
Deleted: and 

Deleted: ; and assist

Deleted: Tri-City Mental Health Services

Deleted: State

Deleted: .  Perform other

Deleted: required

Formatted: Justified
Deleted: :

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Justified

Deleted: The class of Human Resources Manager is the 
working Manager level in the professional personnel series.  
General direction is provided by the Chief Operations Officer.  
Responsibilities include supervision of professional, technical, 
and/or clerical personnel.¶
¶

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: Direct, oversee

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0", Space Before: 
6 pt, After:  6 pt, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5", Tab stops: Not at  0.5"

Deleted: participate in the development of the Human 
Resources Department’s work plan, 

Deleted: , projects, and programs; and review and evaluate 
work products, methods, and procedures; organize, 
supervise and coordinate office operations.¶
¶
Manages cooperative legal cases which involve negotiating 
and appearances at court where the entity is involved.¶
¶
Supervise and participate in benefit 

Deleted: in the maintenance of the

Deleted:  system; participate in the development and ...



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Revised 04/20/16¶

• Provides lead consultation to all Authority staff on human resources related issues such as 
recruitment and selection, employee relations, disciplinary actions, leave management, 
workers compensation, and benefits. 

• Selects, trains, motivates, and directs Human Resources Department personnel; evaluates 
and reviews work for acceptability and conformance with department standards, including 
program and project priorities and performance evaluations; works with employees to correct 
deficiencies; implements discipline and termination procedures; responds to staff questions 
and concerns. 

• Reviews, manages, and makes recommendations on current Personnel Rules and 
Regulations, policies, and procedures. 

• Investigates and resolves sensitive, confidential, and controversial employee issues and 
complaints. 

• Stays abreast of federal, state, and local law, reviews court cases and legal documentation 
and determines application to the Authority and provides recommendations on 
implementation.  

• Manages the development and recommended classification specifications for adoption of 
position or class of positions; oversees the review of job descriptions and salary surveys for 
job descriptions; provides recommendations for the development of policies and procedures 
and the employee performance evaluation system. 

• Establishes positive working relationships with representatives of the community, state, 
county, local agencies, associations, and the public.  

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols. 

• Ensures staff observe and comply with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, 
and protocols. 

• Performs related duties as required. 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Any combination of education, training, and experience that provides the required knowledge, 
skills, and abilities to perform the essential duties of the position is qualifying. The incumbent will 
possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and experience, as 
demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education: 
• Equivalent to a bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university with major 

coursework in public administration, human resources, business administration, or a 
related field, with an emphasis in personnel administration or organizational behavior. 

 
Experience: 
• Five (5) years of increasingly responsible experience working in a public agency as an HR 

professional with at least one (1) year of administrative/management responsibility. 
 

Licenses and Certifications 

Deleted: ¶
Assist the Chief Operations Officer with the coordination, 
assignment and renewal processes for securing and 
maintaining agency insurance coverage such as Auto, 
Workers Compensation, Directors & Officers, Professional 
and General Liability, Crime and Commercial Property. Directs 
loss prevention and safety program; select brokers and 
carriers.¶
¶
¶
Supervise the preparation and distribution of job 
announcements, selection, and hiring process; and establish 
and maintain records of recruitment and selection activity 
data.¶
¶
Assist in the development, scheduling, and coordination of 
training and educational programs for Agency staff on a wide ...
Formatted ...
Deleted: .¶ ...
Deleted: procedures, notices and informational materials ...

Formatted: Not Strikethrough

Deleted: ¶ ...
Formatted ...
Deleted: by the Governing Board for each

Deleted:  in the competitive service; and revising, updating, ...
Deleted: ,

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: ¶ ...
Moved down [1]: ¶

Deleted: , train, motivate and evaluate personnel; provide or ...
Deleted: State, County

Deleted:  and

Deleted: ¶ ...

Formatted ...
Deleted: /or

Deleted: could likely provide

Deleted: job 

Deleted:  

Deleted: Incumbent

Deleted: his/her

Deleted:  

Formatted ...
Deleted: , Training,

Deleted: :

Deleted: Bachelor’s

Deleted: , and five

Deleted: sector human resources or personnel ...
Deleted: the following types



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Revised 04/20/16¶

 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment. 
• Possession of a PHR (Professional in Human Resources) and/or SPHR (Senior 

Professional in Human Resources) is highly desirable. 
• Possession of an IMPA-HR (International Public Management Association Human 

Resources Professional) SHRM CP (Certified Professional) or SHRM SCP (Senior 
Certified Professional) is highly desirable.  

 
Knowledge of:  
 
• Organization and management practices as applied to the development, analysis, and 

evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the assigned area of 
responsibility. 

• Principles and practices of employee supervision, including work planning, assignment 
review and evaluation, discipline, and the training of staff in work procedures. 

• Principles and practices of leadership. 
• Administrative principles, practices, and methods including goal setting, program 

development, implementation and evaluation, policy and procedure development, quality 
control, and work standards. 

• Principles and techniques for working with groups and fostering effective team interaction 
to ensure teamwork is conducted smoothly. 

• Principles and practices of public personnel administration for public agencies, including 
employee recruitment and selection, labor relations, training, employee relations, 
classification and compensation, and equal employment opportunity. 

• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations, as well as industry 
standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and Meyers-Milias Brown Act 
(MMBA), and OSHA/Cal OSHA laws.  

• Organization and management practices, as applied to the development, analysis and 
evaluation of programs, policies, and operational needs of the applicable program. 

• Principles and practices of Safety and Risk Management. 
• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 

 
• Select and supervise staff, provide training and development opportunities, ensure work 

is performed effectively, and evaluate performance in an objective and positive manner. 
• Develop and implement goals, objectives, practices, policies, procedures, and work 

standards. 
• Provide administrative, management, and professional leadership for the Human 

Resources Department. 

Deleted: certifications is highly desirable:

Deleted: ),

Deleted: ),

Formatted: List Paragraph, Space Before:  0 pt, Don't add
space between paragraphs of the same style, Bulleted +
Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: ).                                                                                                                                    

Formatted: Justified, None, Indent: Left:  0.25", First line: 
0", Space Before:  0 pt, Don't add space between paragraphs
of the same style, Don't keep with next, Don't keep lines
together

Deleted:  ¶

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25", Don't add space between
paragraphs of the same style

Deleted: discipline

Deleted: Federal

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Tab stops:
Not at  0.75"

Deleted: State Employment, benefits, and employee 
relations

Deleted: . ¶
Principles and practices of organization, administration,

Deleted: budget management; collective bargaining, and 
labor contract administration.¶
Applicable federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and 
policies relating to public personnel administration.¶
Federal 

Deleted: , standards, and requirements.

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Tab stops:
Not at  0.75"

Deleted: Principles of budgeting

Deleted: supervision.¶
Skill to:¶

¶
Operate a computer

Deleted: utilize a variety

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25",
Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" + Tab after:  0.75" +
Indent at:  0.75", Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

Deleted: and data bases

Deleted:       

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25", First line:  0", Space
Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt, Don't add space between
paragraphs of the same style

Moved (insertion) [1]

Formatted: Left, Level 1, Don't add space between
paragraphs of the same style



 

Human Resources Director 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

Deleted: Manager 

Deleted: Revised 04/20/16¶

• Maintain the confidentiality of employee/client information and personnel matters. 
• Conduct research, understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, 

policies and procedures, and standards relevant to work performed.  
• Understand, interpret, and apply all pertinent laws, codes, regulations, policies and 

procedures, and standards relevant to work performed. 
• Effectively represent the department and the Authority in meetings with governmental 

agencies; community groups; various business, professional, and regulatory 
organizations; and in meetings with individuals. 

• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions.  
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, client case documentation, and other 

written materials. 
• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 

procedural guidelines.  
• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 

assignments. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting and use standard office equipment, 
including a computer; vision to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and 
speech to communicate in person and over the telephone. This is primarily a sedentary office 
classification although standing in work areas and walking between work areas may be required.  
Finger dexterity is needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or 
calculator and to operate standard office equipment.  Positions in this classification occasionally 
bend, stoop, kneel, reach, push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information.  
Employees must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects up to 35 
pounds.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS 

 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances.  Employees may interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.    
 
WORKING CONDITIONS 
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 

Deleted:  of 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted +
Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" + Tab after:  0.75" + Indent at: 
0.75", Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

Deleted: standards, and practices pertaining to personnel 
and risk management. 

Deleted: Assemble, organize, and present statistical, 
financial, and factual data derived from a variety

Deleted: sources

Deleted: recommendations for management

Deleted: Carry

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted +
Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" + Tab after:  0.75" + Indent at: 
0.75", Tab stops: Not at  0.75"

Deleted: many simultaneous 

Deleted:  with close attention to detail, schedules, and 
deadlines

Deleted: <#>Properly interpret and make decisions in 
accordance with laws, regulations, and policies.¶
<#>Compose correspondence, perform mathematical 
calculations, and prepare accurate reports independently.¶
<#>Use tact and diplomacy in discussing sensitive 
personnel matters.¶

Deleted: <#>effectively

Deleted: <#>verbally

Deleted: <#>Use, and edit for, correct English grammar, 
punctuation, and spelling.¶ ...
Deleted: <#> and

Deleted: <#>those contacted in the course of work.

Deleted: <#>Maintain confidentiality of all personnel ...
Moved down [2]: <#>Receive satisfactory results from a 

Deleted: <#>¶ ...
Deleted: <#>maintain

Deleted: <#>current valid California Driver License,

Formatted ...
Deleted: satisfactory driving record,

Deleted: properly registered

Deleted: insured vehicle.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Deleted: <#>Receive satisfactory results from a ...
Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted ...
Formatted: Level 1, Indent: Left:  0", Space Before:  0 pt

Deleted: PHYSICAL STANDARDS:¶ ...
Formatted: Justified

Moved (insertion) [2]



 

Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 5 

 
PEER SUPPORT SPECIALIST I/II  

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification. In addition, 
specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the 
qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 

FLSA STATUS:  Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under immediate (Peer Support Specialist I) or general (Peer Support Specialist II) supervision, 
utilizes lived experience to build rapport and provide support, guidance, and advocacy to clients 
and their families; assists clients with accessing and navigating behavioral health care services, 
resources, and systems of care; encourages full client engagement in services to promote 
wellness and recovery; and performs related duties as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
  
Receives immediate (Peer Support Specialist I) or general (Peer Support Specialist II) supervision 
from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:  
 
Peer Support Specialist I: This is the entry-level classification in the certified Peer Support 
Specialist series. Initially under close supervision, incumbents learn and perform routine billable 
and non-billable peer support and advocacy duties and required documentation while learning 
Authority policies and procedures. As experience is gained, assignments become more varied, 
complex, and difficult; close supervision and frequent review of work lessen as an incumbent 
demonstrates skill to perform the work independently. Positions at this level usually perform most 
of the duties required of the positions at the Peer Support Specialist II level but are not expected to 
function at the same skill level and usually exercise less independent discretion and judgment in 
matters related to work procedures and methods. Work is usually supervised while in progress and 
fits an established structure or pattern. Exceptions or changes in procedures are explained in detail 
as they arise.  
 
Peer Support Specialist II: This is the journey-level classification in the certified Peer Support 
Specialist series. Positions at this level are distinguished from the Peer Support Specialist I by 
the performance of the full range of duties as assigned, working independently, and exercising 
judgment and initiative. Positions at this level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as 
new or unusual situations arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of 
the work unit.  
 
This classification series is distinguished from the Behavioral Health Advocate series in that 
incumbents are certified Peer Specialists and perform a variety of billable and non-billable 
activities.  
 



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 5 

Positions in the Peer Support Specialist series are flexibly staffed; positions at the Peer Support 
Specialist II level are normally filled by advancement from the Peer Support Specialist I level; 
progression to the Peer Support Specialist II level is dependent on (i) management affirmation 
that the position is performing the full range of duties assigned to the classification; (ii) satisfactory 
work performance; (iii) the incumbent meeting the minimum qualifications for the classification 
including any licenses and certifications; and (iv) management approval for progression to the 
Peer Support Specialist II level. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:   
 
Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the following:  
 
Positions at the Peer Support Specialist I level may perform some of these duties and 
responsibilities in a learning capacity.  
 
• Provides peer to peer support services in the office and/or in the field including, but not limited 

to outreach, support, encouragement, guidance, advocacy, and referrals to external resources 
and services for clients and their families; builds rapport with clients and their families through 
sharing stories of lived experience and recovery.  

• Encourages and supports clients to fully engage in services; provides outreach and assists 
clients in addressing and overcoming barriers to treatment.  

• Provides resources and referrals to address basic needs and other barriers to wellness and 
recovery including food, housing, clothing, transportation, and other financial resources. 

• Assists clients with setting, implementing, and tracking wellness and recovery goals; develops 
individual Wellness and Recovery Action Plans (WRAP); models and shares effective coping 
strategies.  

• Assists clients and families to understand behavioral health problems and steps to recovery. 

• Provides support and guidance in navigating systems and obtaining additional support 
services; attends meetings and therapy sessions with clients; assists with completing 
applications and forms; and ensures client concerns are address and processes understood.  

• Provides advice and guidance to clients and staff related to area of expertise, based on lived 
experience.  

• Participates as a member of multidisciplinary treatment teams; addresses client concerns, 
barriers, progress, and other relevant information to enhance treatment services.; assists and 
supports clients in maintaining cooperative and effective relationships with treatment teams. 

• Attends and participates in a variety of meetings, trainings, utilization and peer review 
activities, and other functions involving supervision, case consultation and public information 
and education. 

• Maintains accurate, detailed, and thorough documentation, case records, and notes of all 
billable and non-billable activities and services related to client care; completes necessary 
documentation for billing purposes. 

• Maintains client confidentiality in compliance with all Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols.  



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 5 

• Performs related duties as required.  
 

QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
 The incumbent will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 

Education: 
• Peer Support Specialist I/II: Equivalent to completion of the twelfth (12th) grade.  

 
Experience: 
• Peer Support Specialist I: Direct lived experience either personally or as a caregiver of 

someone who has recovered from behavioral health illness and/or substance use 
disorder.  

• Peer Support Specialist II: Two (2) years of experience providing peer support services to 
clients in a behavioral health care setting.  

 
Licenses and Certifications 
 
• Some positions may require possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a 

satisfactory driving record, and a properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained 
throughout employment.  

• Possession of a valid Peer Support Specialist Certification, to be maintained throughout 
employment.  

 
Knowledge of:   
 
Positions at the Peer Support Specialist I level may exercise some of these knowledge and 
abilities statements in a learning capacity. 
 
• Social, emotional, and behavioral aspects of behavioral health disorders and illness. 
• Behavioral health care systems and services.  
• Principles and practices of building and maintaining strong relationships and connections 

with peers.  
• Principles and practices of direct client service delivery. 
• Principles of behavioral health education. 
• Principles and practices of case management for behavioral health clients, including client 

charting and process documentation. 
• Cultural, social, and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Basic needs and challenges for individuals and families accessing behavioral health 

services, including cultural barriers. 
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 5 

• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 
dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 
 
• Provide peer mentoring and advocacy support and services to clients and their families.  
• Engage and encourage clients to participate in treatment services by sharing stories of 

lived experience and inspiring hope.  
• Assist clients in identifying and addressing barriers to treatment.  
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to clients, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations.  
• Establish and maintain the confidence of clients and family/caregivers from diverse 

cultural, ethnic, and socio-economic backgrounds.  
• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist clients. 
• Listen attentively to clients and address their needs and issues fairly and professionally.  
• Work well with and provide services to a variety of clients in various stages of behavioral 

health illness/treatment; maintain appropriate boundaries, identify and nurture strengths, 
and support their right to make independent decisions as appropriate.  

• Perform crisis intervention, respond promptly to client emergency situations and take 
effective action within scope of authority. 

• Prepare clear and concise correspondence, client case documentation, and other written 
materials. 

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 
procedural guidelines.  

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of client information. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
When assigned to an office environment, must possess mobility to work in a standard office 
setting and use standard office equipment, including a computer; vision to read printed materials 
and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and over the 
telephone; ability to stand and walk between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is 
needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate 



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 5 of 5 

standard office equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, 
push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. 
 
When performing field work, must possess mobility to work in changing site conditions; to sit, 
stand, and walk on level, uneven, or slippery surfaces; to reach, twist, turn, kneel, and bend; and 
to operate a motor vehicle and visit various sites throughout the Tri-Cities; vision to observe client 
behavior, signs of illness, and potential hazards. The job involves frequent walking to locate, 
assist, and deliver services to clients, with exposure to hazardous materials and waste in some 
locations. Employees must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects 
averaging a weight of 10 pounds, or heavier weights, in all cases with the use of proper equipment 
and/or assistance from other staff. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees also work in 
the field and are exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather 
conditions, and may be exposed to blood and bodily fluids, and other hazardous physical 
substances and fumes. Employees interact with clients with behavioral disorders who may display 
erratic and assaultive behavior, including those who require emergency crisis intervention. 
Employees may also interact with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in 
interpreting and enforcing departmental policies and procedures. 
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Employees serve as members of the Authority’s on-call crisis intervention team and may be 
required to be available and respond to crisis situation 24/7 during on-call rotation.  
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 



 

Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 5 

Deleted: 

 
PEER SUPPORT SPECIALIST I/II  

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions. Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification. In addition, 
specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily convey the 
qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 

FLSA STATUS:  Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under immediate (Peer Support Specialist I) or general (Peer Support Specialist II) supervision, 
utilizes lived experience to build rapport and provide support, guidance, and advocacy to clients 
and their families; assists clients with accessing and navigating behavioral health care services, 
resources, and systems of care; encourages full client engagement in services to promote 
wellness and recovery; and performs related duties as assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
  
Receives immediate (Peer Support Specialist I) or general (Peer Support Specialist II) supervision 
from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:  
 
Peer Support Specialist I: This is the entry-level classification in the certified Peer Support 
Specialist series. Initially under close supervision, incumbents learn and perform routine billable 
and non-billable peer support and advocacy duties and required documentation while learning 
Authority policies and procedures. As experience is gained, assignments become more varied, 
complex, and difficult; close supervision and frequent review of work lessen as an incumbent 
demonstrates skill to perform the work independently. Positions at this level usually perform most 
of the duties required of the positions at the Peer Support Specialist II level but are not expected to 
function at the same skill level and usually exercise less independent discretion and judgment in 
matters related to work procedures and methods. Work is usually supervised while in progress and 
fits an established structure or pattern. Exceptions or changes in procedures are explained in detail 
as they arise.  
 
Peer Support Specialist II: This is the journey-level classification in the certified Peer Support 
Specialist series. Positions at this level are distinguished from the Peer Support Specialist I by 
the performance of the full range of duties as assigned, working independently, and exercising 
judgment and initiative. Positions at this level receive only occasional instruction or assistance as 
new or unusual situations arise and are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of 
the work unit.  
 
This classification series is distinguished from the Behavioral Health Advocate series in that 
incumbents are certified Peer Specialists and perform a variety of billable and non-billable 
activities.  
 

Deleted: CLINICAL WELLNESS ADVOCATE I, II and III¶

Deleted:  

Deleted:  

Deleted: the

Deleted:  of the Program Supervisor,

Deleted: advocacy

Deleted: feedback, outreach 

Deleted: support

Deleted: help 

Deleted:  to access and work more effectively

Deleted: the

Deleted: involved. Perform other

Deleted: required.

Deleted: The Clinical Wellness Advocate is a multiple-
position class. The Clinical Wellness Advocate reports to the 
designated Program Supervisor in the Adult Outpatient 
Program. Incumbents in this series may reasonably expect to 
advance through the series upon meeting the minimum 
qualifications and on a merit basis, subject to the 
recommendation of their supervisor, and budget authority.  
Advancement is not automatic.  Based on assigned duties, 
organizational structure, demonstrated level of 
proficiency/work performance, and budgetary authorization, a 
position may remain at the Clinical Wellness Advocate I level 
indefinitely.¶



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 5 

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate I, II, III¶
03/15/2017¶

Positions in the Peer Support Specialist series are flexibly staffed; positions at the Peer Support 
Specialist II level are normally filled by advancement from the Peer Support Specialist I level; 
progression to the Peer Support Specialist II level is dependent on (i) management affirmation 
that the position is performing the full range of duties assigned to the classification; (ii) satisfactory 
work performance; (iii) the incumbent meeting the minimum qualifications for the classification 
including any licenses and certifications; and (iv) management approval for progression to the 
Peer Support Specialist II level. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:   
 
Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the following:  
 
Positions at the Peer Support Specialist I level may perform some of these duties and 
responsibilities in a learning capacity.  
 
• Provides peer to peer support services in the office and/or in the field including, but not limited 

to outreach, support, encouragement, guidance, advocacy, and referrals to external resources 
and services for clients and their families; builds rapport with clients and their families through 
sharing stories of lived experience and recovery.  

• Encourages and supports clients to fully engage in services; provides outreach and assists 
clients in addressing and overcoming barriers to treatment.  

• Provides resources and referrals to address basic needs and other barriers to wellness and 
recovery including food, housing, clothing, transportation, and other financial resources. 

• Assists clients with setting, implementing, and tracking wellness and recovery goals; develops 
individual Wellness and Recovery Action Plans (WRAP); models and shares effective coping 
strategies.  

• Assists clients and families to understand behavioral health problems and steps to recovery. 

• Provides support and guidance in navigating systems and obtaining additional support 
services; attends meetings and therapy sessions with clients; assists with completing 
applications and forms; and ensures client concerns are address and processes understood.  

• Provides advice and guidance to clients and staff related to area of expertise, based on lived 
experience.  

• Participates as a member of multidisciplinary treatment teams; addresses client concerns, 
barriers, progress, and other relevant information to enhance treatment services.; assists and 
supports clients in maintaining cooperative and effective relationships with treatment teams. 

• Attends and participates in a variety of meetings, trainings, utilization and peer review 
activities, and other functions involving supervision, case consultation and public information 
and education. 

• Maintains accurate, detailed, and thorough documentation, case records, and notes of all 
billable and non-billable activities and services related to client care; completes necessary 
documentation for billing purposes. 

• Maintains client confidentiality in compliance with all Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability (HIPAA) regulations. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols.  

Deleted:  ¶
Encourage

Deleted: in engaging in social activities and the maintaining 
of 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: Depending under which Program the Clinical 
Wellness Advocate is hired, the position may be field based.

Moved down [1]: ¶
Provide 

Deleted: support to clients during routine and emergency 
intake evaluations.¶
Help clients with completion of appropriate forms and 
documents relating to the intake process, as warranted.¶
Support client during individual, family, and group 
psychotherapy sessions, as warranted. ¶
Provide additional support to new or existing clients while 
functioning as a role model. ¶
Provide mentoring and/or coaching by helping

Deleted: set

Deleted: , develop

Deleted: ), solve problems directly related to recover, and 
provides encouragement, motivation and support to clients 
seeking to establish or strengthen their recovery.

Deleted: Attend

Deleted: participate

Deleted: , team

Deleted: planning, staff training

Deleted:   

Deleted: Assist clients

Deleted: families to understand behavioral health problems

Deleted: steps to recovery.¶
Work as a partner to guide and provide feedback to clients 
and families.¶
Document

Deleted: relating to clients care.¶
Support clients to address gaps in treatment from client’s 
perspective.¶
Work with Tri-City MHC program staff to develop social 
support programming for clients and families.¶
Assist 

Deleted: support clients in maintaining cooperative and 
effective relationships with teams.¶
Perform wellness checks on new and existing clients.¶
Assist in program development and case review.¶ ...
Deleted: .¶
Complete

Deleted: <#>Help prepare and support clients and 
families/caregivers at a variety of formal and informal ...
Deleted: <#>and integrity of Protected Health Information 
(PHI) of clients served by Center to comply

Deleted: <#>May be responsible for billable and non-billable 
activities such as maintaining a client caseload, meeting with ...



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 5 

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate I, II, III¶
03/15/2017¶

• Performs related duties as required.  
 

QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
 The incumbent will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history. A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 

Education: 
• Peer Support Specialist I/II: Equivalent to completion of the twelfth (12th) grade.  

 
Experience: 
• Peer Support Specialist I: Direct lived experience either personally or as a caregiver of 

someone who has recovered from behavioral health illness and/or substance use 
disorder.  

• Peer Support Specialist II: Two (2) years of experience providing peer support services to 
clients in a behavioral health care setting.  

 
Licenses and Certifications 
 
• Some positions may require possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a 

satisfactory driving record, and a properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained 
throughout employment.  

• Possession of a valid Peer Support Specialist Certification, to be maintained throughout 
employment.  

 
Knowledge of:   
 
Positions at the Peer Support Specialist I level may exercise some of these knowledge and 
abilities statements in a learning capacity. 
 
• Social, emotional, and behavioral aspects of behavioral health disorders and illness. 
• Behavioral health care systems and services.  
• Principles and practices of building and maintaining strong relationships and connections 

with peers.  
• Principles and practices of direct client service delivery. 
• Principles of behavioral health education. 
• Principles and practices of case management for behavioral health clients, including client 

charting and process documentation. 
• Cultural, social, and environmental factors and influences affecting behavioral health. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Basic needs and challenges for individuals and families accessing behavioral health 

services, including cultural barriers. 
• Applicable federal, state, and local laws, codes, and regulations as well as industry 

standards and best practices pertinent to the assigned area of responsibility, including the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 

• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"
Deleted:  

Deleted:  
Deleted: , Training,

Deleted: : 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.06"

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate

Formatted: Font: Not Italic, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: a high school diploma and

Deleted: .  “Lived experience” is defined as having been 
involved,

Deleted: directly or indirectly, with mental

Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:
 0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Deleted: services.

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate II:  Associate’s degree 
and at least two years of experience as Clinical Wellness 
Advocate in a Mental Health community setting or five plus 
years working as a Peer Support/Community Worker. ¶
Clinical Wellness Advocates with experience as a peer or 
family member support staff in a mental health system; will 
work with more specialized populations such as persons in 
formal mental health treatment services; will work more 
independently than the Clinical Wellness Advocate I level, 
and will either work out in the field or one-on-one to provide 
peer support or non-billable case management services in 
Agency Full-Service Partnerships or will be responsible to 
plan, organize and oversee development of special projects 
and/or groups at the Wellness Center.¶
¶
Clinical Wellness Advocate III: Bachelor’s degree and at 
least three years of experience in a Mental Health 
community setting or seven plus years working as a Peer 
Support/Community Worker. In addition to Clinical Wellness 
Advocate II duties will have some leadership role to 
coordinate and/or oversee other Clinical Wellness Advocate 
staff.¶
¶
Licensure/Registration/Certification:¶
None required.¶

Deleted: Mental health system

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: <#>Impact of mental health issues on life 
functioning.¶ ...

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Deleted:  such

Formatted: Font color: Black
Deleted: SSI, Medi-Cal, and related



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 5 

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate I, II, III¶
03/15/2017¶

• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 
dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 

 
Ability to: 
 
• Provide peer mentoring and advocacy support and services to clients and their families.  
• Engage and encourage clients to participate in treatment services by sharing stories of 

lived experience and inspiring hope.  
• Assist clients in identifying and addressing barriers to treatment.  
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to clients, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations.  
• Establish and maintain the confidence of clients and family/caregivers from diverse 

cultural, ethnic, and socio-economic backgrounds.  
• Understand scope of authority in making independent decisions. 
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist clients. 
• Listen attentively to clients and address their needs and issues fairly and professionally.  
• Work well with and provide services to a variety of clients in various stages of behavioral 

health illness/treatment; maintain appropriate boundaries, identify and nurture strengths, 
and support their right to make independent decisions as appropriate.  

• Perform crisis intervention, respond promptly to client emergency situations and take 
effective action within scope of authority. 

• Prepare clear and concise correspondence, client case documentation, and other written 
materials. 

• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 
procedural guidelines.  

• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 
assignments. 

• Maintain the confidentiality of client information. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with clients, 

their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
 

PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
When assigned to an office environment, must possess mobility to work in a standard office 
setting and use standard office equipment, including a computer; vision to read printed materials 
and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and over the 
telephone; ability to stand and walk between work areas may be required. Finger dexterity is 
needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black

Moved (insertion) [1]

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Left, Level 1, Indent: Left:  0.25", Space After: 
0 pt,  No bullets or numbering

Deleted: Interact positively with others. ¶
Understand

Deleted: follow verbal

Deleted: written instructions. ¶
Establish and maintain effective relationships with 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: , physicians, social agencies,

Deleted: others.¶
Communicate effectively, both verbally and 

Deleted: writing. ¶
Model effective coping techniques and communication 
skills.¶
Listen attentively to client complaints and suggestions and 
address their issues fairly and professionally, coordinate 
with supervisor. ¶
Effectively advocate for the interests and needs

Deleted: others. ¶
Display professionalism in appearance, language and 
conduct.

Deleted: correcting inappropriate behavior

Deleted: <#>Work effectively with professional and other 
staff members in carrying out the work of the therapy team.¶

Deleted: <#>Agency

Deleted: with

Deleted: Operate standard office equipment and a 
computer and 

Deleted: software programs

Deleted: <#>Provide services outside the office on a 
regular basis as required. ¶

Deleted: patient/

Deleted:  

Deleted: Prepare

Formatted: Font: Arial, Font color: Black

Formatted: Font: Arial, Font color: Black
Deleted:  concise and accurate records

Formatted: Font: Arial, Font color: Black



Peer Support Specialist I/II 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 5 of 5 

Deleted: Clinical Wellness Advocate I, II, III¶
03/15/2017¶

standard office equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, 
push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. 
 
When performing field work, must possess mobility to work in changing site conditions; to sit, 
stand, and walk on level, uneven, or slippery surfaces; to reach, twist, turn, kneel, and bend; and 
to operate a motor vehicle and visit various sites throughout the Tri-Cities; vision to observe client 
behavior, signs of illness, and potential hazards. The job involves frequent walking to locate, 
assist, and deliver services to clients, with exposure to hazardous materials and waste in some 
locations. Employees must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects 
averaging a weight of 10 pounds, or heavier weights, in all cases with the use of proper equipment 
and/or assistance from other staff. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances. Employees also work in 
the field and are exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather 
conditions, and may be exposed to blood and bodily fluids, and other hazardous physical 
substances and fumes. Employees interact with clients with behavioral disorders who may display 
erratic and assaultive behavior, including those who require emergency crisis intervention. 
Employees may also interact with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in 
interpreting and enforcing departmental policies and procedures. 
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Employees serve as members of the Authority’s on-call crisis intervention team and may be 
required to be available and respond to crisis situation 24/7 during on-call rotation.  
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or numbering, Tab stops:
Not at  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Arial
Deleted: activities and progress

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0"

Moved (insertion) [2]

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or numbering, Tab stops:
Not at  0.75"
Deleted: ¶
¶
Special Requirements:¶
Possess a current valid California Driver License, a 
satisfactory driving record, and a properly registered and 
insured vehicle. ¶
Language Skills: Bilingual fluency in English/Spanish 
strongly preferred. ¶
The Clinical Wellness Advocate must have personal lived 
experience of recovery from a mental health challenge and 
be able to articulate their lived experience.¶

Formatted: Font: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian
text, Don't adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Deleted:  

Moved up [2]: ¶
In accordance with California Government Code 

Formatted: Font: 10 pt
Deleted: 3100, Tri City Mental Health Center employees, the 
in event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers 
and may be asked to protect the health, safety, lives and 
property of the people of the State.¶
¶
PHYSICAL STANDARDS:¶
¶
The position requires prolonged sitting, reaching, twisting, 
turning, bending, stooping, lifting, and carrying paper and 
documents weighing up to 15 pounds in the performance of 
daily activities; body mobility to move from one work area to 
another, and operate a vehicle; grasping, repetitive hand 
movement and fine coordination in preparing reports, data 
entry, and using a computer keyboard; vision sufficient for 
observing  work performed, reading correspondence and 
reports, statistical data, computer screen and other standard 
text; and communicating with others on the phone, in person, 
and in meetings.

Formatted: Font: 11 pt



 

TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 4 

 
THERAPUETIC COMMUNITY GARDEN (TCG) GARDENER 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions.  Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification.  In 
addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily 
convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 
 

FLSA STATUS:  Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under general supervision, assists in the day-to-day planning, maintenance, and upkeep of 
Therapeutic Community Gardening (TCG) Project sites; cultivates/prepares soil, plants seeds and 
starts, composts, weeds, waters, and harvests the garden; maintains mature fruit trees onsite by 
managing pests and disease and conducting routine pruning and harvesting; attends and 
participates in a variety of internal/external outreach events; and performs related duties as 
assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives general supervision from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises 
no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:  
 
This journey-level classification is responsible for independently performing technical duties in 
support of the TCG Project, ensuring project sites are maintained and accessible for program 
participants and staff. Positions at this level exercise judgment and initiative in their assigned 
tasks, receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new or unusual situations arise and 
are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the work unit. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
• Plans and maintains in-ground and raised vegetable garden beds for continuous harvest 

including cultivating/preparing soil, planting seeds and starts, composting, weeding, 
watering/irrigating, and harvesting the garden sites, removing dead/diseased or pest-infested 
plant material, adding mulch, and rotating and planting new crops.  

• Maintains mature fruit trees and other mature crops onsite by managing pests and disease 
and conducting routine pruning and harvesting.  

• In collaboration with TCG Project team members, provides input and recommendations into 
curriculum and internal/external event planning centered around garden activities and 
therapeutic horticulture.  



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

• Conducts research and analysis related to gardening and therapeutic horticulture; prepares 
and/or assists in the preparation of a variety of reports, documents, and correspondence in 
support of the TCG project.   

• Facilitates and/or co-facilitates group sessions focused on the TCG garden and technical 
gardening; leads staff, community members, program participants, and volunteers in planting, 
watering, harvesting, and other gardening activities.    

• Establishes and maintains working relationships with internal staff, external agencies, 
community-based organizations, and the public to promote the TCG Project and garden 
activities, and to arrange for the donation of garden harvests.  

• Attends meetings, workshops, and training sessions; attends and participates in professional 
group meetings; stays abreast of new trends and innovations in the field of therapeutic 
horticulture.  

• Maintains accurate, detailed, and thorough documentation of garden activities and harvest 
production.  

• Maintains inventory and orders materials and supplies for the TCG Project. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols.  

• Performs related duties as required.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history.  A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education:  
• Equivalent to an associate degree in horticulture, agriculture, or related field.  
 
Experience:  
• Two (2) years of increasingly responsible experience planning, maintaining, and tending 

to a garden site(s) for multiple seasons.  
 

Licenses and Certifications 
 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment. 
 

Knowledge of:   
 

• Principles and techniques of organic gardening including soil preparation, plant selection 
and care, and best practices. 

• Climate, season, planting and harvesting rules, interactions and practices. 
• Principles and practices of organic composting.  
• Common plant diseases, pests, and control measures.  



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

• Basic understanding of therapeutic horticulture and mindfulness approach, and their 
application to the garden sites and garden activities.  

• Principles and practices of record-keeping. 
• Practice and maintenance of irrigation, including drip irrigation systems. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Standard farming equipment and supplies and their use. 
• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 
 

Ability to: 
 
• Plan, prepare, harvest, and maintain garden sites.  
• Implement a general garden hygiene and tool care routine.  
• Appropriately use a variety of gardening equipment and supplies.  
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist participants.  
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to participants, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations.  
• Establish and maintain the confidence of participants and family/caregivers from diverse 

cultural, ethnic, and socio-economic backgrounds.  
• Facilitate group sessions and lead garden activities.  
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, and other written materials. 
• Maintain accurate records.  
• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 

procedural guidelines.  
• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 

assignments. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with program 

participants, their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
  
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
When assigned to an office environment, must possess mobility to work in a standard office 
setting and use standard office equipment, including a computer; vision to read printed materials 
and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and over the 
telephone; ability to stand and walk between work areas may be required.  Finger dexterity is 
needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate 
standard office equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, 
push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. 



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

 
When performing field work, must possess mobility to work in changing site conditions; to sit, 
stand, and walk on level, uneven, or slippery surfaces; to reach, twist, turn, kneel, and bend; and 
to operate a motor vehicle and visit various sites throughout the Tri-Cities; vision to observe  
participant behavior, garden health, and potential hazards. The job involves frequent walking to  
maintain and harvest various garden sites, with exposure to hazardous materials. Employees 
must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects averaging a weight of 
25 pounds, or heavier weights, in all cases with the use of proper equipment and/or assistance 
from other staff.    
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances.  Employees also work in 
the field and are exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather 
conditions, and may be exposed to pests, and other hazardous physical substances and fumes. 
Employees interact with clients with behavioral disorders who may display erratic and assaultive 
behavior, including those who require emergency crisis intervention. Employees may also interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.    
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be asked 
to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a pre-
employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 
 



 

TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 1 of 4 

Deleted: 

Deleted: ¶

 
THERAPUETIC COMMUNITY GARDEN (TCG) GARDENER 

 
Classification specifications are only intended to present a descriptive summary of the range of duties and responsibilities associated 
with specified positions.  Therefore, specifications may not include all duties performed by individuals within a classification.  In 
addition, specifications are intended to outline the minimum qualifications necessary for entry into the class and do not necessarily 
convey the qualifications of incumbents within the position.  
 
 

FLSA STATUS:  Non-Exempt 
 
DEFINITION: 
 
Under general supervision, assists in the day-to-day planning, maintenance, and upkeep of 
Therapeutic Community Gardening (TCG) Project sites; cultivates/prepares soil, plants seeds 
and starts, composts, weeds, waters, and harvests the garden; maintains mature fruit trees 
onsite by managing pests and disease and conducting routine pruning and harvesting; attends 
and participates in a variety of internal/external outreach events; and performs related duties as 
assigned.  
 
SUPERVISION RECEIVED AND EXERCISED: 
 
Receives general supervision from assigned supervisory or management personnel. Exercises 
no direct supervision over staff.  
 
DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:  
 
This journey-level classification is responsible for independently performing technical duties in 
support of the TCG Project, ensuring project sites are maintained and accessible for program 
participants and staff. Positions at this level exercise judgment and initiative in their assigned 
tasks, receive only occasional instruction or assistance as new or unusual situations arise and 
are fully aware of the operating procedures and policies of the work unit. 
 
EXAMPLES OF ESSENTIAL DUTIES:  Essential duties include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
• Plans and maintains in-ground and raised vegetable garden beds for continuous harvest 

including cultivating/preparing soil, planting seeds and starts, composting, weeding, 
watering/irrigating, and harvesting the garden sites, removing dead/diseased or pest-
infested plant material, adding mulch, and rotating and planting new crops.  

• Maintains mature fruit trees and other mature crops onsite by managing pests and disease 
and conducting routine pruning and harvesting.  

• In collaboration with TCG Project team members, provides input and recommendations into 
curriculum and internal/external event planning centered around garden activities and 
therapeutic horticulture.  

Deleted: Tri~City Mental Health Center¶
¶
Community Garden Farmer¶

Deleted: management

Deleted: site(s) designated to the Mental Health Services Act 
(MHSA) Prevention and Early Intervention (PEI) Plan’s 

Deleted: . Responsibilities include cultivating/preparing

Deleted: planting, composting, weeding, watering

Deleted: . Perform other

Deleted: Incumbents of this single-class position receive 
general supervision and direction from TCG Project’s 
contracted Land Manager in regards to what, when and where 
certain plants will be planted and harvested. Administrative 
supervision is provided by the assigned Tri-City Program 
Manager or Coordinator. The Community Garden Farmer 
works in collaboration with the contracted Land Manager and 
TCG Program Staff to insure that the designated program 
site(s) are maintained for the benefit of the program 
participants, that the produce selected, planted and harvested 
can be also be accessed by TCG program staff and its 
participants, and that ample plant production is planned so as 
to be available for marketing and distribution to assist in the 
sustainability of the TCG Project.   ¶
¶

Deleted: Form

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"
Deleted: ¶
Select

Deleted: or plants for planting¶
Prepare beds for planting¶
Sow seeds¶
Weed¶
Prepare 

Deleted: conduct

Deleted: ¶
Assemble and maintain irrigation systems, while manually

Deleted:  if necessary.

Deleted: <#>Keep production logs/reports¶
<#>Harvest and prepare for market¶
<#>Direct volunteers as needed



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 2 of 4 

Deleted: Community Garden Farmer¶
July 17, 2013¶

Deleted: ¶

• Conducts research and analysis related to gardening and therapeutic horticulture; prepares 
and/or assists in the preparation of a variety of reports, documents, and correspondence in 
support of the TCG project.   

• Facilitates and/or co-facilitates group sessions focused on the TCG garden and technical 
gardening; leads staff, community members, program participants, and volunteers in 
planting, watering, harvesting, and other gardening activities.    

• Establishes and maintains working relationships with internal staff, external agencies, 
community-based organizations, and the public to promote the TCG Project and garden 
activities, and to arrange for the donation of garden harvests.  

• Attends meetings, workshops, and training sessions; attends and participates in 
professional group meetings; stays abreast of new trends and innovations in the field of 
therapeutic horticulture.  

• Maintains accurate, detailed, and thorough documentation of garden activities and harvest 
production.  

• Maintains inventory and orders materials and supplies for the TCG Project. 

• Observes and complies with all Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and 
protocols.  

• Performs related duties as required.  
 
QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
Incumbents will possess the most desirable combination of education, training, skills, and 
experience, as demonstrated in their past and current employment history.  A typical example 
includes: 
 

Education and Experience 
 
Education:  
• Equivalent to an associate degree in horticulture, agriculture, or related field.  
 
Experience:  
• Two (2) years of increasingly responsible experience planning, maintaining, and tending 

to a garden site(s) for multiple seasons.  
 

Licenses and Certifications 
 
• Possession of a valid California Driver’s License, a satisfactory driving record, and a 

properly registered and insured vehicle, to be maintained throughout employment. 
 

Knowledge of:   
 

• Principles and techniques of organic gardening including soil preparation, plant selection 
and care, and best practices. 

• Climate, season, planting and harvesting rules, interactions and practices. 
• Principles and practices of organic composting.  
• Common plant diseases, pests, and control measures.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: , Training,

Deleted: :  

Deleted: One

Deleted: two

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.25", Bulleted +
Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.75"

Deleted: produce gardening

Deleted: /or coursework in horticulture or certification as

Deleted: Master gardener is preferred.

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Level 1

Deleted: Language Skills:¶
¶
Bilingual fluency in English/Spanish strongly preferred.¶
¶
Licensure/Registration/Certification:  ¶
¶
None required.¶

Formatted: Font: Italic, Underline

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25", First line:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"
Deleted: farming

Deleted:  and pest control.



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 3 of 4 

Deleted: Community Garden Farmer¶ ...
Deleted: ¶

• Basic understanding of therapeutic horticulture and mindfulness approach, and their 
application to the garden sites and garden activities.  

• Principles and practices of record-keeping. 
• Practice and maintenance of irrigation, including drip irrigation systems. 
• Community and governmental services and resources. 
• Standard farming equipment and supplies and their use. 
• Authority and mandated safety rules, regulations, and protocols. 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service, interacting and effectively 

dealing with the public, community-based organizations and service providers, 
stakeholders, and Authority staff. 

• The structure and content of the English language, including the meaning and spelling of 
words, rules of composition, and grammar. 

• Modern equipment and communication tools used for business functions and program, 
project, and task coordination, including computers and software programs relevant to 
work performed. 
 

Ability to: 
 
• Plan, prepare, harvest, and maintain garden sites.  
• Implement a general garden hygiene and tool care routine.  
• Appropriately use a variety of gardening equipment and supplies.  
• Effectively utilize community resources to assist participants.  
• Interpret Authority programs and policies to participants, the general public, and outside 

agencies/organizations.  
• Establish and maintain the confidence of participants and family/caregivers from diverse 

cultural, ethnic, and socio-economic backgrounds.  
• Facilitate group sessions and lead garden activities.  
• Prepare clear and concise reports, correspondence, and other written materials. 
• Maintain accurate records.  
• Use tact, initiative, prudence, and independent judgment within general policy and 

procedural guidelines.  
• Independently organize work, set priorities, meet critical deadlines, and follow-up on 

assignments. 
• Communicate clearly and concisely, both orally and in writing, using appropriate English 

grammar and syntax. 
• Establish, maintain, and foster positive and effective working relationships with program 

participants, their families, Authority staff, and the behavioral health community.  
• Effectively use computer systems, software applications relevant to work performed, and 

modern business equipment to perform a variety of work tasks. 
  
PHYSICAL DEMANDS (ADA) 
 
When assigned to an office environment, must possess mobility to work in a standard office 
setting and use standard office equipment, including a computer; vision to read printed materials 
and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to communicate in person and over the 
telephone; ability to stand and walk between work areas may be required.  Finger dexterity is 
needed to access, enter, and retrieve data using a computer keyboard or calculator and to operate 
standard office equipment. Positions in this classification occasionally bend, stoop, kneel, reach, 
push, and pull drawers open and closed to retrieve and file information. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: Available community 

Formatted: Font color: Black
Deleted:  and sources of referral

Formatted: Font color: Black

Deleted: ¶
Skill to:¶
¶
Work relatively independently to organize, manage

Deleted: sustain

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Font color: Black
Deleted:  garden

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font color: Black

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25"

Deleted: Interact positively

Deleted: effectively with others, including TCG Program 
participants, Tri-City Staff

Formatted: Default, Justified, Indent: Left:  0.25", Tab
stops:  0.5", List tab

Deleted: members at large.

Deleted: Understand and apply Agency program services

Formatted: Default, Justified, Tab stops:  0.5", List tab

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman
Deleted: .¶
Assists in preparing and maintaining concise and accurate 
records of farming activities and progress.¶
Communicate clearly, both verbally and in writing. ¶
Understand and follow verbal and written instructions.¶
Work effectively with professional and other staff members 
in carrying out

Deleted: work of the TCG Project

Deleted: clients

Deleted: with

Deleted: Operate

Deleted: utilize standard farming equipment 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman
Deleted: tools.¶

¶
¶
Special Requirements:¶
¶
Possess

Deleted: maintain a current valid California Driver ...
Deleted: a properly registered

Deleted: insured



TCG Gardener 
Revised 01/17/2024, Effective 09/20/2023 

Page 4 of 4 

Deleted: Community Garden Farmer¶
July 17, 2013¶

Deleted: ¶

 
When performing field work, must possess mobility to work in changing site conditions; to sit, 
stand, and walk on level, uneven, or slippery surfaces; to reach, twist, turn, kneel, and bend; and 
to operate a motor vehicle and visit various sites throughout the Tri-Cities; vision to observe  
participant behavior, garden health, and potential hazards. The job involves frequent walking to  
maintain and harvest various garden sites, with exposure to hazardous materials. Employees 
must possess the ability to lift, carry, push, and pull materials and objects averaging a weight of 
25 pounds, or heavier weights, in all cases with the use of proper equipment and/or assistance 
from other staff.    
 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS  
 
Employees work in an office environment with moderate noise levels, controlled temperature 
conditions, and no direct exposure to hazardous physical substances.  Employees also work in 
the field and are exposed to loud noise levels, cold and hot temperatures, inclement weather 
conditions, and may be exposed to pests, and other hazardous physical substances and fumes. 
Employees interact with clients with behavioral disorders who may display erratic and assaultive 
behavior, including those who require emergency crisis intervention. Employees may also interact 
with upset staff and/or public and private representatives in interpreting and enforcing 
departmental policies and procedures.    
 
WORKING CONDITIONS  
 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 3100, Tri-City Mental Health Center 
employees, in the event of a disaster, are considered disaster service workers and may be 
asked to protect the health, safety, lives, and property of the people of the State. 
 
Receive satisfactory results from a background investigation, which includes fingerprinting; a 
pre-employment physical examination, which includes a drug/alcohol test; and an administrative 
review. 
 

Deleted: .

Formatted: Justified,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Don't adjust space
between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between
Asian text and numbers

Deleted: ¶
PHYSICAL STANDARDS:¶
¶
The position requires constantly working outdoors and 
prolonged standing, walking, kneeling and use of gardening 
equipment, and communicating with others on the phone or in 
person.



 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 4 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 

DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority  

    
FROM:  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director                  
 
BY:  Mica Olmos, JPA Administrator/Clerk                  

 
SUBJECT: Election of Officers for the 2024 Calendar Year as Required by the 

Joint Powers Agreement between the Cities of Pomona, Claremont, 
and La Verne 

 

 
Summary: 
 
The Joint Powers Agreement between the Cities of Pomona, Claremont, and La Verne, 
requires the Governing Board to elect, or re-elect, a chairperson and a vice-chairperson 
at the first meeting held in each succeeding calendar year.  The last election of officers 
was held on January 18, 2023. 
 
Background: 

 
Pursuant to the Joint Powers Agreement, Tri-City is governed by a Governing Board 
composed of seven members, each serving in his/her individual capacity and without 
compensation. In addition, Section 5601(a) of the Bronzan-McCorquodale Act/Short-
Doyle Act, states that members of the board shall be a council member of his/her 
respective City, and three members of the board shall be community members appointed 
by the three Cities.  The chairperson presides at, and conducts all meetings of the 
Governing Board. In the absence or inability of the chairperson to act, the vice-
chairperson shall act as chairperson.   
 
Funding: 
 
None required. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the Governing Board consider the election or re-election of a 
chairperson and vice-chairperson.   
 
Attachments: 
 
None. 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 5 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
AGENDA REPORT 

 
 DATE: January 17, 2024 

 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority  

    
FROM:  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director                  
 
BY:  Mica Olmos, JPA Administrator/Clerk 
 
SUBJECT: Consideration to Form an Ad-Hoc Committee to Interview Applicants 

for Membership to TCMHA Mental Health Commission  
 

    

Summary 
 
Article IV, Section D [Appointment] of the Tri-City Mental Health Authority (TCMHA) 
Mental Health Commission (MHC) Bylaws, states that Commission members shall be 
appointed by the Governing Board.  Accordingly, staff recommends that two Governing 
Board Members form an Ad-Hoc Committee to interview and select potential MHC 
Membership Applicants. 
 
Background: 
 
The Mental Health Commission is an advisory body to the Governing Board of TCMHA; 
serve without compensation; and it has no policy or budget authority. Section 5604.2 of 
the California Welfare and Institutions Code (WIC) defines in detail the duties of a MHC.  
 
Following the recent resignations of three Commissioners, JPA Administrator/Clerk 
Olmos began recruitment efforts for potential candidates to serve on the Commission. 
Invitations to apply for membership were distributed to community organizations, service 
organizations and area providers located in Claremont, La Verne, and Pomona; posted 
on TCMHA’s website and on the three cities websites; and distributed through social 
media outlets of TCMHA and the three cities.   
 
Therefore, it is recommended that the Governing Board form an Ad Hoc Committee at 
this time so that it is ready and in place for when interviews are scheduled for potential 
candidates for membership to the Mental Health Commission. 
. 
Funding:  
 
None Required. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the Governing Board select two of Board Members to form an Ad 
Hoc Committee to interview potential MHC Membership Applicants. 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Consideration to Form an Ad-Hoc Committee to Interview Applicants for Membership to 
TCMHA Mental Health Commission  
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment 5-A.  MHC Membership Recruitment Flyer 
 
Attachment 5-B.  MHC Membership Application 
 



 

ATTACHMENT 5-A 
 

 



Administrative Office  
1717 North Indian Hill  
Boulevard, Suite B 
Claremont, CA 91711 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 623-4073 

Clinical Office / Adult  
2008 North Garey Avenue 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 865-9281 

Clinical Office / Child & Family 
1900 Royalty Drive, Suite 180 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 766-7340 
Fax (909) 865-0730 

MHSA Administrative Office 
2001 North Garey Avenue 
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 623-6131 
Fax (909) 326-4690 

Wellness Center 
1403 North Garey Avenue  
Pomona, CA 91767 
Phone (909) 242-7600 
Fax (909) 242-7691 

 
 

 

HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. 
Let’s find it together. 

Founded in 1960  
by the residents 
of Pomona, 
Claremont and La 
Verne. 

 
www.tricitymhs.org  

 

APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP TO  MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

 

Thank you for your interest in Mental Health Commission Membership.  Below is some 

important information about the MHC you should review before completing your application. 

 

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION BACKGROUND AND AUTHORITY 

The authority of the Mental Health Commission is established by provisions of the Short-Doyle 

Act, originally known as the Community Mental Health Services Act; is specified in Sections 

5604 et seq. of the California Welfare and Institutions Code (WIC); governed by the Mental 

Health Commission By-Laws; and must comply with WIC Sections 54950-54963 and be subject 

to the provisions of Chapter 9 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code known 

as the Ralph M. Brown Act (Brown Act). 

 

PURPOSE OF THE MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION      

• Advocacy for persons with serious mental illness and ensure that services are delivered with 

dignity and respect, in a way that is effective, efficient, and responsive to the needs and 

desires of clients. 

• Advocate with the TCMHA Governing Board, Los Angeles County Department of Mental 

Health, and the California Department of Health Care Services. 

• Provide advice to the governing body (TCMHA Governing Board) and the local mental 

health director (TCMHA Executive Director). 

• Promote Cultural Competence, and Wellness, Recovery, and Resilience-oriented services. 

 

DUTIES & ROLE OF THE MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

The Mental Health Commission (MHC) is an advisory body to the Governing Board of Tri-City 

Mental Health Authority (TCMHA). It has no policy or budget authority. Section 5604.2 of the 

California Welfare and Institutions Code defines certain duties for MHC: 

• Review, evaluate, and make recommendations to the Governing Board regarding methods for 

meeting identified local mental health needs, services, facilities, and special problems. 

• Review State mandated planning documents as required by State legislation. 

• Advise the Governing Board and the local Executive Director as to any aspect of the local 

Mental Health program. 

• Review and approve the procedures used to insure citizen and professional involvement at all 

stages of the planning process, as specified in WIC Section 5651. 

• Review any annual outcomes or reports devised by the agency. 

• Submit an annual report to the Governing Board, which includes an evaluation of the local 

mental health program, such as unmet needs, gaps in the service system, quality of services, 

and consumer satisfaction with the system. 

  

RESIDENCE OR EMPLOYMENT REQUIREMENT (WIC 5604e) 

  All MHC members shall reside or work within the TCMHA catchment area of Pomona, 

Claremont, or La Verne.  Preference shall be given to those candidates who live within the 

member cities.  Commissioners serve on a volunteer basis and are appointed by the Governing 

Board.   

http://www.tricitymhs.org/


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

 

  MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

    

 GENERAL COMMISSIONER QUALIFICATIONS 

 • Demonstrates interest in community mental health services. 

• Ready to commit to Commission duties, including preparation for and regular attendance at monthly Commission 

meetings, timely review of meeting materials and completion of Commission paperwork and training. 

• Willing and able to work alongside mental health consumers and members of diverse communities. 

• Able to constructively handle conflict and differences of opinion. 

• Willing and able to work with TCMHA staff and the Governing Board. 

 

COMPOSITION OF THE MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

 The WIC mandates that the MHC membership is composed of mental health consumers, family members of 

consumers or the parents, spouses, siblings, or adult children of consumers, who are receiving or have received 

mental health services, and residents of the Cities of Claremont, Pomona, and La Verne with a broad range of 

disciplines, professions and knowledge of the mental health system, and ethnic diversity.  The WIC also requires 

that one member of the MHC shall be a member of the Governing Board which facilitates bilateral 

communications between the two bodies. The membership shall reflect the cultural diversity of the catchment 

area (Cities of Claremont, Pomona, and La Verne). Lastly, the WIC requires that at least one member of the 

MHC is a veteran or a veteran advocate (either a parent, spouse, or adult child of a veteran, or an individual who 

is part of a veteran organization). 

 

Restrictions on Membership 
  

WIC 5604.d(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) below, no member of the Commission or his or her spouse 

shall be a full-time or part-time employee of Tri-City Mental Health Authority, the County Mental Health service, 

the State Department of Health Care Services, the Governing Board, or of a mental health contract agency.   
 

WIC 5604.d(2) A consumer of mental health services who has obtained employment with an employer described 

in paragraph (1) and who holds a position in which he or she does not have any interest, influence, or authority 

over any financial or contractual matter concerning the employer may be appointed to the MHC. The member 

shall abstain from voting on any financial or contractual issue concerning his or her employer that may come 

before the board. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUBMIT YOUR SIGNED APPLICATION TO: JPA Administrator/Clerk 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 

1717 N. Indian Hill Boulevard, Suite B 

Claremont, California  91711 

 For further information, please contact the JPA Administrator/Clerk at molmos@tricitymhs.org or at (909) 451-6421. 

PLEASE BE AWERE THAT ONCE AN APPLICATION IS FILED WITH TCMHA, IT BECOMES PUBLIC 

INFORMATION. 

 

TERM OF OFFICE 

Appointments shall be for a term of three (3) years 

providing that during that period, appointees retain the 

status which qualified them for appointment and fulfill 

the responsibilities of Commission membership.  

Members may be re-appointed to additional three (3) 

year terms by action of the Governing Board.   

MHC MEETING DATES 

Regular Meetings are held the 2nd Tuesday of the 

month at 3:30 p.m.; except in August when no meetings 

are held, and in May & December when the MHC meet 

on the 3rd Wednesday of the month in a joint meeting 

with the Governing Board at 4:45 p.m. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERSHIP 

Members of the MHC are expected to: attend all regular 

and special meetings of the MHC; report unavoidable 

absences to the Chairperson or Secretary prior to the date 

of the meeting; participate in the deliberations and 

activities of the Commission; and fulfill those other 

responsibilities that are specifically delegated to them as 

MHC members by the Chairperson. 

TRAINING REQUIRED 

After appointment, Commissioners are required to 

participate in the AB 1234 Ethics Training, which is 

offered on line through the Fair Political Practices 

Commission (FPPC). 

 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/
mailto:molmos@tricitymhs.org


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

APPLICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP 

Date of Application: 

Name:   Date of Birth : 

Street Address:  City:  Zip Code:  

Residence Telephone:  Cell Phone:  

Business Address:  City:  Zip Code:  

E-mail Address:  Bus. Telephone:  

Approximate length of time you have resided or worked within TCMHA Catchment Area: (Pomona, Claremont, La Verne) 

Residence:  years Work:  years 

Previous Work Experience (past 7 years): 

Employer: Occupation: Dates: From - To 

Languages spoken: 

How did you hear about TCMHA’s Mental Health Commission? 

Please list Group or Organization Memberships, purpose of the group and dates of involvement: 
Group/Organization:  Purpose: Dates: From - To: 

How have you been involved in your community?  List organization names, purpose and dates of service. 
Organization:  Purpose: Dates: From - To: 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/


TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY HOPE. WELLNESS. COMMUNITY. Let’s find it together. 

www.tricitymhs.org 

MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION 

Please list any special interests or involvement which might be helpful to you as a TCMHA Mental Health 
Commission Member: 

Please describe briefly the reasons for your interest in serving on the TCMHA Mental Health Commission: 

WIC 5604.d provides that members of the Mental Health Commission must be free of any conflict of interest. 
The content of the questions below is based on the standards established by the legislation. 

Are you or your spouse an employee of the State or County Mental Health System or an affiliated contract 

agency?  Yes  No 

If your answer is Yes; where you or your spouse a consumer of mental health services before becoming an 
employee of the State or County Mental Health System or an affiliated contract agency?      Yes No 

Service on the Mental Health Commission requires attendance at one mid-day monthly meeting that lasts 

approximately two hours and at infrequent special purpose meetings. 

Does your personal schedule allow you to set aside a minimum of two hours each month for Mental Health 

Commission Meetings?  Yes  No 

WIC 5604.a provides that at least one member of the Mental Health Commission is a veteran or veteran 
advocate (either a parent, spouse, or adult child of a veteran, or an individual who is part of a veteran 
organization). 

Do you qualify as a veteran or a veteran advocate? 

State law provides that a significant portion of the Commission must be comprised of mental health service 
consumers or immediate family members of persons receiving mental health services. 

Yes No 

I qualify as a recipient of mental health services. 

 I qualify as an immediate family member of a recipient of mental health services. 

Additional comments or information you would like to add: 

I certify that all statements in this application are true and complete to the best of my knowledge.  I authorize TCMHA to make inquiries 
to determine my suitability for membership on the Mental Health Commission.  I understand that any misrepresentation made may be 
grounds for rejection of this application or dismissal from the Commission. 

(Signature) 

Please attach any additional documentation or information that you deem to be relevant to your application. 

RETURN YOUR SIGNED APPLICATION TO: JPA Administrator/Clerk 
Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
1717 N. Indian Hill Boulevard, Suite B 
Claremont, CA  91711-2788 

http://www.tricitymhs.org/


 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 

 
 

 
DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:   Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
 
FROM: Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
 
SUBJECT: Executive Director’s Monthly Report 
 
 
HAPPY NEW YEAR!  
 
Over the 2024 calendar year, Tri-City’s staff will participate in a variety of Supervisory and 
Management trainings as it relates to public sector employment presented by 
employment law firm, Liebert, Cassidy and Whitmore.  The trainings will take place 
monthly and consist of a variety of topics including, but not limited to, “Maximizing 
Supervisory Skills for the First Line Supervisor – Part 1 & 2”, “Supervisor’s Guide to 
Understanding and Managing Employee’s Rights’ Labor, Leaves and Accommodations”, 
“Introduction to FLSA”, “Difficult Conversations”, and “Managing the Marginal Employee.” 
 
Also in August 2024, Tri-City staff will participate in our very own, second annual, Tri-City 
Annual Training Month.  During Tri-City Annual Training Month, staff will receive and 
participate in a variety of training courses such as Cultural Diversity (Competency), 
Bloodborne Pathogens, HIPAA Privacy and Security, and where applicable, Sexual 
Harassment for California employees which also includes a component on Workplace 
Bullying. 
 
COVID UPDATE 
 
In February 2024, in accordance with the Los Angeles County Department of Public 
Health (LAC DPH) requirements, Tri-City will begin implementing a reduced masking 
requirement for our healthcare workers provided that employees receive both an annual 
influenza and an updated COVID-19 vaccine (2023-2024 formula). Since March 1, 2022, 
when the State implemented the COVID-19 vaccine requirement for healthcare workers 
in the State, approximately 87% of Tri-City staff have received vaccination against 
COVID-19 with the remaining 13% of staff having an approved exemption.   
 
MHSA 
 
The Mental Health Services Act (MHSA) Department is currently working on the annual 
plan update and is hosting a number of stakeholder meetings, the links to these meetings 
are posted on Tri-City’s website.  Once all the feedback from the stakeholders is received, 
it will be compiled in a report and that report will be distributed in the community for a 30-
day public comment period in March followed by a Public Hearing during the April Mental 
Health Commission Meeting.  
 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Monthly Staff Report of Rimmi Hundal 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY UPDATE 
 
The Information Technology Team has continued to provide support and technology 
guidance, ensuring smooth, secure operations and swift resolution of technical issues for 
our staff. In addition, we have started to receive equipment for our network infrastructure 
upgrade project and we are on-track to install the first new switches and access points in 
January. This project will increase total network speeds as well as wireless coverage for 
staff and guests at each of our five locations. We’re excited to be able to deliver these 
much-needed upgrades to the agency.  
 
HUMAN RESOURCES UPDATE 
 
Staffing – Month Ending December 2023 
  

• Total Staff is 201 full-time and 8 part-time plus 44 full-time vacancies 3 part-time vacancies 
for a total of 251 positions.   

• There was 1 new hire in December 2023. 
• There were 4 separations in December 2023. 

Workforce Demographics in December 2023 
 

• American Indian or Alaska Native =                    0.48% 
• Asian =                                                                9.57% 
• Black or African American =                               8.61%   
• Hispanic or Latino =                                          60.29% 
• Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander =      0.48% 
• Other =                                                               3.35% 
• Two or more races =                                          1.91% 
• White or Caucasian =                                       15.31% 

Posted Positions in December 2023 
 

• Administrative Assistant                                               (1 FTE) 
• Behavioral Health Specialist – Access to Care           (1 FTE) 
• Behavioral Health Specialist – Children’s                   (1 FTE) 
• Behavioral Health Worker – Wellness Center             (1 FTE) 
• Clinical Program Manager – Children’s                       (1 FTE) 
• Clinical Supervisor I – Access to Care                        (1 FTE) 
• Clinical Therapist I/II – FSP/TAY                                (2 FTEs) 
• Clinical Therapist II – PACT                                        (1 FTE) 
• Program Supervisor – AOP                                         (1 FTE) 
• Psychiatric Technician I/II                                           (2 FTEs) 
• Psychiatrist                                                                  (1 FTE) 
• Senior Behavioral Health Specialist – MHSSA           (1 FTE) 

 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 

 
 

  
DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 

Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
 
FROM: Diana Acosta, CPA, Chief Financial Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Finance and Facilities Report 
 

 
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FIVE MONTHS ENDED 
NOVEMBER 30, 2023 (2024 FISCAL YEAR-TO-DATE): 
 
The financials presented herein are the PRELIMINARY and unaudited financial 
statements for the five months ended November 30, 2023. These financial statements 
include the activities from the clinical outpatient operations as well as activities from the 
implemented MHSA programs under the CSS, PEI, INN, WET and CFTN plans. 
 
The increase in net position (income) is approximately $9.1 million. MHSA operations 
accounted for approximately $9.0 million of the increase, which is primarily the result of 
recognizing MHSA revenues on hand at the beginning of the fiscal year. MHSA non-
operating revenues are reflected when MHSA funds have been received and are eligible 
to be spent. 
 
During fiscal 2023, Tri-City received MHSA funding of approximately $11.4 million, of 
which $8.4 million were for approved programs for fiscal 2023-24 MHSA operations and 
was reflected as MHSA Revenue Restricted for Future Period on the Statement of Net 
Position (balance sheet) at June 30, 2023.  These restricted MHSA revenues have now 
been recorded as non-operating revenues in fiscal 2023-24.  In addition, during this 
current fiscal year 2023-24 approximately $14.3 million in MHSA funding has been 
received of which $7.1 million was identified and approved for use in the current fiscal 
year 2023-24 and recorded as non-operating revenues, bringing the total MHSA non-
operating revenues recognized to date up to approximately $15.5 million. Unlike the 
requirement to reflect all available and approved MHSA funding when received as non-
operating revenues, MHSA operating costs are reflected when incurred. Therefore, the 
matching of revenue to expense is not consistent as the timing of expenditures will lag 
behind the timing of revenue recognition. 
 
The increase in net position of approximately $73 thousand is from Clinic outpatient 
operations, which is the result of operations for the four months ended November 30, 
2023 which includes one-time payments made at the beginning of the year.   
 
 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Diana Acosta 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
The total cash balance at November 30, 2023 was approximately $47.6 million, which 
represents an increase of approximately $8.5 million from the June 30, 2023 balance of 
approximately $39.1 million. Outpatient Clinic operations, after excluding any 
intercompany receipts or costs resulting from MHSA operations, had an increase in cash 
of approximately $1.1 million primarily as a result timing of cash receipts from LADMH.  
MHSA operations reflected an increase in cash of approximately $7.4 million, after 
excluding intercompany receipts or costs resulting from clinic operations. Total increase 
in MHSA cash reflects the receipt of approximately $14.3 million in MHSA funds offset by 
the use of cash for MHSA operating activities. 
 
Approximately $3.8 million in Medi-Cal cash receipts have been collected for both 
Outpatient Clinic Operations and MHSA Operations within the five months ended 
November 30, 2023. As of January 12, 2024 an additional $1 million has been received. 
Note that all receipts in the current year have been related to outstanding accounts 
receivable, no amounts related to current year billings have been received to-date. 
 
UPCOMING, CURRENT EVENTS & UPDATES 
 
Overall Financial Update:  
 
We continue to closely monitor for any new developments, changes to legislation and 
updated revenue projections from CBHDA, specifically with regard to MHSA as these 
revenues continually fluctuate and as evidenced in the past and as noted below, 
significantly differ from original projections as well as revised projections.  As such, 
planning appropriately to ensure we meet the needs of our community, and having the 
ability to make changes as we go will be necessary in the upcoming years, especially if 
projections wind up being significantly different than currently projected. 
 
Fiscal Year 2022-23 Annual Audit:  
 
Final fieldwork on the annual independent audit commenced on September 11, 2023. 
Due to the extensive and complex implementation of a new Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board standard (GASB 96) anticipated issuance of final opinions on the audit 
is expected to be pushed to likely March of 2024. 
 
MHSA Reform: 
 
As the Executive Director has previously mentioned in her staff report, the Governor has 
announced a proposed ballot measure that would dramatically alter MHSA funding and 
how Counties, along with Tri-City, would be required to utilize it.  Although Management 
is closely following this proposal, its development, and potential requirements that come 
with it, as of today we are still compelled to follow the existing legislative requirements of 
MHSA law as it exists today. 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Diana Acosta 
January 17, 2024 
Page 3 
 
CalAIM:  
 
As of September 7, 2023, Tri City was able to bill our first batch of claims and are currently 
awaiting adjudication of said claims. There is currently no ETA as to when to expect this 
initial billing batch to be processed and paid. As of November 30, 2023 an estimated $4.2 
million in Medi-Cal claims has been recognized as revenue. 
 
MHSA Funding Updates: 
 
Estimated Current Cash Position – The following table represents a brief summary of 
the estimated (unaudited) current MHSA cash position as of the five months ended 
November 30, 2023. 

 

 
 
MHSA Expenditures and MHSA Revenue Receipts –  
 
FY 2023-24 Revenue Projections:  Based on the announcement that tax filings were 
delayed until October of 2023, for individuals living in Counties who experienced weather 
related States of Emergency. As a result, MHSA receipts were $11.4 million for fiscal year 
2022-23. Just like we experienced in fiscal year 2019-20, cash receipts were anticipated 
to decrease significantly followed by a significant increase in cash receipts in fiscal year 
2023-24. To date, Tri City has received $14.3 million for the five months ended November 
30, 2023. For reference, the following table is an excerpt from the Fiscal Year 2023-24 
MHSA Three-Year Plan.  

MHSA
Cash at November 30, 2023 38,097,532$                   

Receivables net of Reserve for Cost Report Settlements 2,861,065                       
Prudent Reserves (2,200,000)                      *

Estimated Remaining Expenses for Operations FY 2023-24 (7,217,312)                      **
Reserved for future CFTN Projects including approved TCG Project (3,116,487)                      

Total Estimated Adjustments to Cash (9,672,734)                      

Estimated Available at June 30, 2024 28,424,798$                   

Estimated remaining MHSA funds to be received in FY 2023-24 9,366,821$                     

* Per SB 192, Prudent Reserves are required to be maintained at an amount that does not
exceed 33% of the average Community Services and Support (CSS) revenue received for
the fund, in the preceding 5 years.

** Estimated based on to-date actuals projected through year-end June 30, 2024, net of
estimated Medi-Cal revenue, including actual and estimated amounts to year end 06/30/2024. 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Diana Acosta 
January 17, 2024 
Page 4 
 

 
 
MHSA Reversion Update: 
 
Each remittance of MHSA funds received by Tri-City is required to be allocated among 
three of the five MHSA Plans, CSS, PEI and INN.  The first 5% of each remittance is 
required to be allocated to INN and the remaining amount is split 80% to CSS and 20% 
to PEI. While the WET and the CapTech plans have longer time frames in which to spend 
funds (made up of one-time transfers into these two plans), the CSS, PEI and INN plans 
have three years.    
 
Amounts received within the CSS and PEI programs must be expended within three years 
of receipt. INN amounts must be programmed in a plan that is approved by the Mental 
Health Services Oversight and Accountability Commission (MHSOAC) within three years 
of receipt, and spent within the life of the approved program. Upon approval by the 
MHSOAC, INN amounts have to be expended within the life of said program. For 
example, a program approved for a five-year period will have the full five years associated 
with the program to expend the funds. 
 
The following tables are excerpts from DHCS’s annual reversion report received by Tri-
City on March 16, 2023 based on the fiscal year 2021-22 Annual Revenue and Expense 
Report (ARER).  The next updated information from DHCS is expected in March of 2024. 
 
CSS reversion waterfall analysis 

 

Included in the MHSA FY 2023-24 Annual Update CSS PEI Innovation WET CFTN Totals
Estimated Unspent Funds from Prior Fiscal Years 16,544,291           4,476,308          3,107,758           1,431,643         2,729,658         28,289,658      
Transfers in FY 2023-24 (2,500,000)            -                      500,000            2,000,000         -                    
Available for Spending in FY 2023-24 14,044,291           4,476,308          3,107,758           1,931,643         4,729,658         28,289,658      
Approved Plan Expenditures during FY 2023-24 (11,610,705)          (3,336,066)         (980,883)             (611,680)           (980,700)           (17,520,034)     
Remaining Cash before new funding 2,433,586              1,140,242          2,126,875           1,319,963         3,748,958         10,769,624      

Estimated New FY 2023-24 Funding 11,178,109           2,794,527          735,402               14,708,038      
Estimated Ending FY 2023-24 Unspent Fund Balance 13,611,695           3,934,769          2,862,277           1,319,963         3,748,958         25,477,662      

* Updated  Funding Estimates for FY 2023-24 17,998,168           4,499,542          1,184,090           -                    -                     23,681,800      
(as of June of 2023)

FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 Total
8,676,848                 8,797,914                  9,293,482                  11,824,329              13,252,035             51,844,608             

Expended in:
2017-18 -                            -                           
2018-19 939,014                    -                              939,014                  
2019-20 7,737,834                 1,290,269                  -                              9,028,103               
2020-21 7,507,645                  3,546,924                  -                           11,054,569             
2021-22 5,746,558                  3,676,533                -                          9,423,091               

2022-23 ** 8,147,796               4,137,023              12,284,819             
2023-24 ** 11,610,705            11,610,705             

Total Expended 8,676,848                 8,797,914                  9,293,482                  11,824,329              15,747,728             54,340,301             
Unspent Balance -                            -                              -                              -                           (2,495,693)             (2,495,693)              

**=Planned Expenditures based on approved MHSA Plan

CSS amounts received



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Diana Acosta 
January 17, 2024 
Page 5 
 
PEI reversion waterfall analysis 

 
 
The following table was copied directly from latest information provided from DHCS 
 
INN reversion waterfall analysis  

INN
Reallocated

AB 114 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22
Encumbered Unspent Funds3 799,187       302,889  580,471                       550,879                       784,114                       245,707                       
Unencumbered Unspent Funds4 -                -          -                               -                               -                               628,829                       
Unspent Balance 799,187       302,889  580,471                       550,879                       784,114                       874,536                       

Encumbered Funds Starting Balance → 799,187       302,889  580,471                       550,879                       784,114                       245,707                       
Applied Expenditure ↓ Applied Expenditure ↓
FY 15-16 -                                       
FY 16-17 -                                       
FY 17-18 304,376       -          304,376                               
FY 18-19 131,206       -          -                               131,206                               
FY 19-20 355,393       -          -                               -                               355,393                               
FY 20-21 8,212            -          -                               -                               -                               8,212                                   
FY 21-22 -                302,889  25,035                         -                               -                               -                               327,924                               
FY 22-23 -                -          TBD TBD TBD TBD -                                       
Encumbered Unspent Balance → -                -          555,436                       550,879                       784,114                       245,707                       

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 Total
2,145,788                 2,119,324                  2,173,110                  2,948,240                3,311,501               12,697,963             

Expended in:
2017-18 726,119                    726,119                  
2018-19 1,419,669                 387,017                     1,806,686               
2019-20 -                            1,644,825                  -                              1,644,825               
2020-21 87,482                       1,746,984                  -                           1,834,466               
2021-22 426,126                     1,309,696                -                          1,735,822               

2022-23 ** 1,638,544               582,962                 2,221,506               
2023-24 ** 3,336,066              3,336,066               

Total Expended 2,145,788                 2,119,324                  2,173,110                  2,948,240                3,919,028               13,305,490             
Unspent Balance -                            -                              -                              -                           (607,527)                 (607,527)                 

**=Planned Expenditures based on approved MHSA Plan

PEI amounts received



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Diana Acosta 
January 17, 2024 
Page 6 
 
FACILITIES DEPARTMENT  
 
Status of Governing Board Approved Upcoming, Current or Ongoing projects: 
 
The Community Garden Upgrades:  A contract for the completion of this project was 
approved and awarded during the March 15, 2023 Governing Board Meeting.  This project 
is considered substantially complete with the exception of some phases that are 
experiencing delays as a result of lead times and availability of materials required for the 
project.  As reported previously, construction broke ground on Wednesday, May 10, 2023 
and continual progress is being made.   
 
Office Space Remodel at the MHSA Administrative Building:  Project concept was 
initially approved in March of 2020 as part of the approved CFTN Plan.  This project had 
previously been temporarily on hold until the Electrical/Power Upgrade Project was 
complete as this project was also being performed in the same building. The Electrical 
was completed in November of 2022. At the November of 2022 Governing Board Meeting 
an agreement with a design firm was approved for services to include the preparation of 
formal plans, a Request For Proposal (RFP) and construction management for the 
project.  Over the past several months our Facilities Department worked closely with the 
design firm on finalizing the design and formal plans which were submitted to the City for 
Approval.  As reported previously, the plans were approved by the City of Pomona and 
shortly after the solicitation of contractors through an RFP process began.  After some 
administrative related delays we are now moving on to the next phase which will be to 
bring forth a contract for approval to the Governing Board Meeting as soon as possible 
and projecting the March board meeting.  Target date of project completion will be closer 
to mid calendar year 2024. 
Attachments 
 
Attachment 7-A: November 30, 2023 Unaudited Monthly Financial Statements 



TCMH MHSA Consolidated TCMH MHSA Consolidated
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Current Assets
Cash 9,521,733$     38,097,532$     47,619,264$     8,976,643$     30,118,745$    39,095,388$      
Accounts receivable, net of reserve for uncollectible accounts

$957,774 at November 30, 2023 and $742,206 at June 30, 2023 6,236,274        5,893,038         12,129,312       7,142,756        5,365,900        12,508,656        
Total Current Assets 15,758,006     43,990,570       59,748,576       16,119,399     35,484,646      51,604,044        

Property and Equipment
Land, building, furniture and equipment 3,835,817        10,457,887       14,293,703       3,822,091        9,994,846        13,816,937        
Accumulated depreciation (2,802,121)      (4,712,566)        (7,514,687)        (2,759,359)      (4,527,857)       (7,287,216)        
Rights of use assets-building lease 1,753,343        -                    1,753,343         1,753,343        -                   1,753,343          
Accumulated amortization-building lease (1,186,550)      -                    (1,186,550)        (1,037,395)      -                   (1,037,395)        

Total Property and Equipment 1,600,489        5,745,320         7,345,809         1,778,680        5,466,989        7,245,669          
Other Assets

Deposits and prepaid assets 263,007           205,090            468,097            53,934             248,892           302,826             
Note receivable-Housing Development Project -                   2,800,000         2,800,000         -                   2,800,000        2,800,000          

Total Noncurrent Assets 1,863,497        8,750,410         10,613,907       1,832,614        8,515,881        10,348,495        
          Total Assests 17,621,503     52,740,980       70,362,483       17,952,013     44,000,527      61,952,539        

Deferred Outflows of Resources
  Deferred outflows related to the net pension liability 5,749,104        -                    5,749,104         5,749,104        -                   5,749,104          
      Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 5,749,104        -                    5,749,104         5,749,104        -                   5,749,104          
          Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resouces 23,370,607$   52,740,980$     76,111,587$     23,701,117$   44,000,527$    67,701,644$      

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 505,305           63,577              568,881            449,997           122,807           572,804             
Accrued payroll liabilities 915,692           2,369,789         3,285,481         917,396           2,409,809        3,327,205          
Accrued vacation and sick leave 663,002           1,253,525         1,916,527         608,466           1,063,071        1,671,537          
Deferred revenue 458,408           -                    458,408            322,539           -                   322,539             
Reserve for Medi-Cal settlements 3,560,255        3,031,973         6,592,228         3,440,500        2,883,786        6,324,286          
Current portion of lease liability 208,816           -                    208,816            357,971           -                   357,971             

Total Current Liabilities 6,311,477        6,718,864         13,030,341       6,096,868        6,479,473        12,576,342        

Intercompany Acct-MHSA & TCMH (204,882)         204,882            -                    412,889           (412,889)          -                     

Long-Term Liabilities
Lease liability 357,977           357,977            357,977           -                   357,977             
Net pension liability 8,262,600        -                    8,262,600         8,262,600        -                   8,262,600          
Unearned MHSA revenue -                   8,235,721         8,235,721         -                   1,080,332        1,080,332          

Total Long-Term Liabilities 8,620,577        8,235,721         16,856,298       8,620,577        1,080,332        9,700,909          

Total Liabilities  14,727,172     15,159,467       29,886,639       15,130,334     7,146,916        22,277,250        

Deferred Inflow of Resources
MHSA revenues restricted for future period -                   -                    -                    -                   8,349,489        8,349,489          
Deferred inflows related to the net pension liability 237,328           -                    237,328            237,328           -                   237,328             

           Total Deferred Inflow of Resources 237,328           -                    237,328            237,328           8,349,489        8,586,817          

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets net of related debt 1,033,696        5,745,320         6,779,016         1,062,732        5,466,989        6,529,721          
Restricted for MHSA programs -                   31,836,193       31,836,193       -                   23,037,133      23,037,133        
Unrestricted 7,372,411        -                    7,372,410         7,270,722        -                   7,270,722          
     Total Net Position 8,406,106        37,581,513       45,987,619       8,333,454        28,504,122      36,837,576        
         Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position 23,370,607$   52,740,980$     76,111,587$     23,701,117$   44,000,527$    67,701,644$      

Definitions:
  TCMH=Tri-City's Outpatient Clinic
  MHSA=Mental Health Services Act (Proposition 63)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

AT NOVEMBER 30, 2023 AT JUNE 30, 2023



TCMH MHSA Consolidated TCMH MHSA Consolidated
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

OPERATING REVENUES
Medi-Cal FFP 1,628,530$     1,745,731$   3,374,261$      1,073,702$     1,199,500$   2,273,201$      
Medi-Cal FFP FYE Prior Year 67,297           3,039            70,336             -                     -                -                      
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT 364,115         410,232        774,346           281,945         363,337        645,281           
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT Prior Year 3,379             25,813          29,192             -                 -                -                  
Medicare 3,311             2,348            5,659               3,656             1,398            5,054               
Contracts 2,500             12,886          15,386             2,500             12,513          15,013             
Patient fees and insurance 351                62                 413                 496                57                 553                 
Rent income - TCMH & MHSA Housing 4,620             30,987          35,607             4,620             29,786          34,406             
Other income 156                65                 221                 315                87                 401                 

Net Operating Revenues 2,074,259           2,231,163         4,305,423            1,367,232           1,606,677         2,973,909            

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and benefits 3,428,327       7,103,821     10,532,148      3,767,953       5,672,462     9,440,414        
Facility and equipment operating cost 231,784         498,372        730,156           258,074         497,043        755,117           
Client lodging, transportation, and supply expense 106,795         437,140        543,936           7,215             33,574          40,789             
Depreciation & amortization 123,141         253,485        376,625           132,945         257,302        390,247           
Other operating expenses 403,161         919,829        1,322,989        286,696         598,367        885,063           

Total Operating Expenses 4,293,208           9,212,647         13,505,855          4,452,883           7,058,748         11,511,631          

OPERATING (LOSS) (Note 1) (2,218,948)         (6,981,483)        (9,200,432)           (3,085,651)         (5,452,071)        (8,537,722)           

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Realignment 1,523,063       -                1,523,063        1,644,331       -                1,644,331        
MHSA funds -                 15,539,345   15,539,345      -                 14,780,860   14,780,860      
Grants and Contracts 433,378         -                433,378           8,903             -                8,903               
Interest Income net with FMV 93,782           519,530        613,312           6,208             13,288          19,496             
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expense) 2,050,222           16,058,875       18,109,098          1,659,442           14,794,148       16,453,590          

INCOME (LOSS) (168,726)            9,077,392     8,908,666            (1,426,209)         9,342,077     7,915,868            

Special Item:
  Receipt of SB90 claims previously reserved 241,378         -                241,378           -                 -                -                      

241,378              -                    241,378               -                     -                    -                      

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 72,652           9,077,392     9,150,044        (1,426,209)     9,342,077     7,915,868        
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,333,454           28,504,121       36,837,576      7,995,472           25,853,634       33,849,106      
NET POSITION, END OF MONTH 8,406,106$         37,581,513$     45,987,619$        6,569,263$         35,195,712$     41,764,974$        

 (Note 1)  "Operating Loss" reflects loss before realignment funding and MHSA funding which is included in non-operating revenues.

Definitions:
  Medi-Cal FFP= Federal Financial Participation Reimbursement
  Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT=State General Funds reimbursement for Medi-Cal services provided to children under the "Early and
    Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment" regulations.
  TCMH=Tri-City's Outpatient Clinic
  MHSA=Mental Health Services Act (Proposition 63)

PERIOD ENDED 11/30/23

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FIVE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022

PERIOD ENDED 11/30/22



TCMH MHSA Consolidated TCMH MHSA Consolidated
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash received from and on behalf of patients 1,753,535$          1,826,260$          3,579,795$            2,102,456$        1,520,009$         3,622,465$            
Cash payments to suppliers and contractors (1,009,689)           (1,939,546)           (2,949,235)             (858,896)            (1,231,110)         (2,090,006)             
Payments to employees (3,375,495)           (6,953,387)           (10,328,882)           (3,197,390)         (5,710,550)         (8,907,940)             

(2,631,648)           (7,066,673)           (9,698,321)             (1,953,830)         (5,421,651)         (7,375,481)             

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
MHSA Funding -                       14,314,979          14,314,979            -                     6,628,574           6,628,574              
CalHFA-State Administered Projects -                       30,266                 30,266                   -                     64,485                64,485                   
Realignment 2,846,974            -                       2,846,974              2,302,553          -                      2,302,553              
Grants and Contracts 619,360               -                       619,360                 148,000             -                      148,000                 

3,466,334            14,345,245          17,811,579            2,450,553          6,693,059           9,143,612              

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (13,725)                (463,040)              (476,765)                (4,267)                (48,449)               (52,716)                  
Intercompany-MHSA & TCMH (617,771)              617,771               -                         (1,107,661)         1,107,661           -                         

(631,496)              154,731               (476,765)                (1,111,928)         1,059,212           (52,716)                  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received 94,230                 544,693               638,923                 29,166               158,363              187,529                 

94,230                 544,693               638,923                 29,166               158,363              187,529                 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 538,797               7,977,996            8,516,794              (586,038)            2,488,984           1,902,945              

Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 8,976,643            30,118,745          39,095,388            8,386,759          31,504,790         39,891,549            
Cash Equivalents at End of Month 9,515,440$          38,096,742$        47,612,181$          7,800,720$        33,993,774$       41,794,494$          

Cash from the Balance Sheet 9,521,733            38,097,532          47,619,264            7,771,857          33,808,125         41,579,982            
YTD Gain/(Loss) from GASB 31 Fair Market Value 6,293$                 790                      7,083                     (28,863)$            (185,649)            (214,512)                

Definitions:
  TCMH=Tri-City's Outpatient Clinic
  MHSA=Mental Health Services Act (Proposition 63)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FIVE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022

PERIOD ENDED 11/30/23 PERIOD ENDED 11/30/22



Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance
OPERATING REVENUES

Medi-Cal FFP 1,775,932$      1,309,449$      466,483$         1,903,742$      1,815,728$      88,014$           3,679,674$      3,125,177$      554,498$         
Medi-Cal FFP Prior Year 73,388             -                      73,388             3,314               -                  3,314               76,702             -                      76,702             
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT 397,072           -                  397,072           447,363           -                  447,363           844,434           -                      844,434           
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT Prior Year 3,685               -                  3,685               28,149             -                  28,149             31,835             -                      31,835             
Medicare 3,311               2,083               1,227               2,348               875                  1,473               5,659               2,958               2,701               
Patient fees and insurance 351                  417                  (65)                  62                    -                  62                    413                  417                  (3)                    
Contracts 2,500               8,333               (5,833)             12,886             11,667             1,220               15,386             20,000             (4,614)             
Rent income - TCMH & MHSA Housing 4,620               4,620               -                  30,987             29,167             1,820               35,607             33,787             1,820               
Other income 156                  458                  (302)                65                    -                  65                    221                  458                  (237)                
Provision for contractual disallowances (180,359)         -                  (180,359)         (195,142)         -                  (195,142)         (375,501)         -                      (375,501)         
Provision for contractual disallowances prior year (6,397)             -                  (6,397)             (2,611)             -                  (2,611)             (9,009)             -                      (9,009)             

Net Operating Revenues 2,074,259        1,325,361        748,899           2,231,163        1,857,436        373,728           4,305,423        3,182,797        1,122,626        
 

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and benefits 3,428,327        4,344,347        (916,020)         7,103,821        8,180,213        (1,076,392)      10,532,148      12,524,560      (1,992,412)      
Facility and equipment operating cost 231,784           256,658           (24,873)           498,624           515,054           (16,430)           730,408           771,711           (41,304)           
Client program costs 106,795           25,972             80,824             437,140           259,543           177,598           543,936           285,514           258,421           
Grants 1,554               -                  1,554               64,005             154,167           (90,161)           65,559             154,167           (88,607)           
MHSA training/learning costs -                  39,964             41,305             (1,342)             39,964             41,305             (1,342)             
Depreciation & amortization 123,141           118,287           4,854               253,485           264,285           (10,800)           376,625           382,571           (5,946)             
Other operating expenses 401,606           214,803           186,804           815,609           1,232,718        (417,109)         1,217,215        1,447,520        (230,305)         

Total Operating Expenses 4,293,208        4,960,066        (666,858)         9,212,647        10,647,283      (1,434,637)      13,505,855      15,607,349      (2,101,495)      

OPERATING (LOSS) (2,218,948)      (3,634,705)      1,415,757        (6,981,483)      (8,789,848)      1,808,364        (9,200,432)      (12,424,553)    3,224,121        

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Realignment 1,523,063        1,833,333        (310,271)         -                  -                  -                  1,523,063        1,833,333        (310,271)         
MHSA Funding -                  -                  -                  15,539,345      15,539,345      -                  15,539,345      15,539,345      -                  
Grants and contracts 433,378           455,166           (21,788)           -                  -                  -                  433,378           455,166           (21,788)           
Interest (expense) income, net 93,782             54,375             39,407             519,530           323,301           196,229           613,312           377,676           235,636           
Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expense) 2,050,222        2,342,874        (292,652)         16,058,875      15,862,646      196,229           18,109,098      18,205,520      (96,423)           

Special Item:  Net reorganization income (expense) 241,378           -                  241,378           -                  -                  -                  241,378           -                      241,378           

INCREASE(DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 72,652$           (1,291,831)$    1,364,483$      9,077,392$      7,072,799$      2,004,593$      9,150,044$      5,780,968$      3,369,076$      

Definitions:
  Medi-Cal FFP= Federal Financial Participation Reimbursement
  Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT=State General Funds reimbursement for Medi-Cal services provided to children under the
    "Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment" regulations.
  TCMH=Tri-City's Outpatient Clinic
  MHSA=Mental Health Services Act (Proposition 63)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH OUTPATIENT CLINIC            
(TCMH)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ACT 
(MHSA)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY                                  
CONSOLIDATED

(UNAUDITED)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

ACTUAL TO BUDGET COMPARISON
FIVE MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2023



5 of 7

COMMENT:  PLEASE NOTE, THE DISCUSSION BELOW MAY USE THE FOLLOWING ABBREVIATIONS:
TCMH==TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH (OUTPATIENT CLINIC OPERATIONS)
MHSA==MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ACT (ACTIVITIES INCLUDE CSS, PEI, INN, WET AND CFTN PROGRAMS)

Net Operating Revenues

   Net operating revenues are higher than the budget by $1.1 million for the following reasons:  

1 Medi-Cal FFP revenues for FY 2023-24 were $554 thousand higher than the budget. Medi-Cal FFP revenues were approximately $466
thousand higher for TCMH and $88 thousand higher for MHSA.  At TCMH, the adult program revenues were higher than budget by $98
thousand and the children program revenues were higher by $368 thousand. For MHSA, the adult and older adult FSP programs were
lower than budget by $233 thousand and the Children and TAY FSP programs were higher by $321 thousand. Additionally, as the result
of the fiscal year 2020-21 interim cost report settlement, a total of approximately $77 thousand in prior year Medi-Cal FFP revenues were
recorded to the current year operations.

2 Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT revenues for fiscal year 2023-24 were higher than budget by $844 thousand of which $397 thousand higher
were from TCMH and $447 thousand higher were from MHSA. As was mentioned above, an additional $32 thousand in prior year
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT revenue were recorded to the current year operations. SGF-EPSDT relates to State for provision of qualifying
Medi-Cal services for Early Prevention Screening and Diagnostic Testing (EPSDT) to children and youth under 21 years. 

3 Medicare revenues are approximately $3 thousand higher than the budget. Tri-City records revenue when the services are provided
and the claims are incurred and submitted.

4 Contract revenues are lower than the budget by approximately $5 thousand.

5 Rent Incomes are $2 thousand higher than the budget. The rental income represents the payments collected from Genoa pharmacy
for space leasing at the 2008 N. Garey Avenue and from the tenants staying at the MHSA house on Park Avenue.

6 Provision for contractual disallowances for fiscal year 2023-24 was higher than budget by $384 thousand including prior years
amount.

Operating Expenses

   Operating expenses were lower than budget by $2.1 million for the following reasons:

1 Salaries and benefits are approximately $2.0 million lower than budget and of that amount, salaries and benefits are $916 thousand
lower for TCMH operations and are $1.1 million lower for MHSA operations. These variances are due to the following:

TCMH salaries are lower than budget by $510 thousand due to vacant positions and benefits are lower than budget by $406 thousand.
Benefits are budgeted as a percentage of the salaries. Therefore, when salaries are lower, benefits will also be lower.

MHSA salaries are lower than budget by $571 thousand. The direct program salary costs are lower by $569 thousand due to vacant
positions and the administrative salary costs are lower than budget by $2 thousand. Benefits are lower than the budget by another $505
thousand. Of that, health insurance is lower than budget by $235 thousand, retirement insurance is lower by $166 thousand, state 
unemployment insurance is lower by $56 thousand, workers compensation is lower by $12 thousand, medicare tax and other insurances
are lower by $36 thousand. 

> Benefits variances are high compare to the salary variances for both TCMH and MHSA. These are due to the adoption and 
implementation of the Governing Board approved Reso. 724 this year for all salary classifications. All staff salaries are brought
up to the new six-step Salary Schedule except for the Clinical Therapist I/II and Clinical Supervisor I/II of which were already
adjusted in March 2022. This resulted in a higher rate of salary increases compare to benefits when benefit insurance costs
such as health, dental and vision remain constant.

2 Facility and equipment operating costs were lower than the budget by $41 thousand of which $25 thousand lower were from TCMH
and $16 thousand lower were from MHSA. Overall, building and facility costs were higher by $11 thousand and equipment expenses 
were lower by $52 thousand.

3 Client program costs are higher than the budget by approximately $258 thousand partly due to a payment of $396 thousand to the City
of Pomona Hope for Home Year-Round Emergency Shelter early in the year while the budget is evenly spread out over a fiscal year.

4 Grants for fiscal year 2023-24 are $89 thousand lower than the budget. These are the community grants awarded under the PEI
Community Wellbeing project and the Student Loan Forgiveness program under the WET plan which was planned to be disbursed
later in June.

5 MHSA learning and training costs are $1 thousand lower than the budget.

6 Depreciation and amortization are $6 thousand lower than the budget.

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
ACTUAL TO BUDGET VARIANCE EXPLANATIONS

FIVE MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2023



6 of 7

COMMENT:  PLEASE NOTE, THE DISCUSSION BELOW MAY USE THE FOLLOWING ABBREVIATIONS:
TCMH==TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH (OUTPATIENT CLINIC OPERATIONS)
MHSA==MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES ACT (ACTIVITIES INCLUDE CSS, PEI, INN, WET AND CFTN PROGRAMS)

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
ACTUAL TO BUDGET VARIANCE EXPLANATIONS

FIVE MONTHS ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2023

7 Other operating expenses were lower than the budget by $230 thousand of which approximately $187 thousand higher were from
TCMH and $417 thousand lower were from MHSA. At TCMH, liability insurance was higher by $141 thousand mainly from the 50% share
of cost for the Psychiatric Assessment Care Team (PACT) program with the City of Claremont Police Department, the attorney fees were
higher than the budget by $56 thousand, dues and subscriptions fees are higher by $12 thousand. These higher costs were offset by
lower personnel ads and professional fees. As for MHSA, professional fees were lower than the budget by $141 thousand due to a slow
startup by the INN Psychiatric Advance Directives program. Also, IT expenses under the CFTN plan were lower by $326 thousand. These
lower expenses are offset with higher attorney fees, security expense and dues and subscription fees.

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)

   Non-operating revenues, net, are lower than budget by $96 as follows:

1 TCMH non-operating revenues are $293 thousand lower than the budget. Of that, realignment fund was lower than the budget by
$310 thousand, grants and contracts were lower by $22 thousand from the Crisis Care Mobil Units (CCMU) program. Interest income
net with fair market value was higher by $39 thousand.

2 MHSA non-operating revenue is in line with the budget.
In accordance with Government Accounting Standards Board, MHSA funds received and available to be spent must be recorded as
non-operating revenue as soon as the funds are received. Funds are available to be spent when an MHSA plan and related programs
have been approved and the proposed expenditures for those programs have been approved through an MHSA plan, MHSA update,
or State Oversight and Accountability Commission. 

The differences in actual to budget are broken out as follows:
Actual Budget Variance

CSS funds received and available to be spent 11,610,705$   11,610,705$   -$                
PEI funds received and available to be spent 3,336,068        3,336,068       -                  
WET funds received and available to be spent -                   -                  -                  
CFTN funds received and available to be spent -                   -                  -                  
INN funds received and available to be spent 592,572           592,572          -                  

Non-operating revenues recorded 15,539,345$   15,539,345$   -$                

CSS, PEI and INN recorded revenues are all in line with the budget.

Interest income net with Fair Market Value for MHSA is higher than budget by $196 thousand.

Special Item:  Reorganization income: this caption included any expense or income recognized as a result of the bankruptcy.
In October 2023, Tri City received  $241,378 from Los Angeles County in payment for the FY1999-00 SB90 claims. This amount
was a pass-through payment due Tri-City from the State as determined by the final audit settlement performed by the State
Controller's Office. The pre-petition SB90 claims were fully reserved in fiscal 2006-07 and reflected as an expense under Special
Items-SB90 Claims Reserves, therefore, Tri-City now recognizes the receipt of SB90 receivables as income under Special Items.
It also should be noted that this transaction completed and closed out the last bankruptcy item that was remained on Tri-City's books.



TCMH MHSA Consolidated TCMH MHSA Consolidated
Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

REVENUES
Medi-Cal FFP, net of reserves 1,628,530$      1,745,731$    3,374,261$       1,073,702$      1,199,500$    2,273,201$       
Medi-Cal FFP FYE Prior Year 67,297             3,039             70,336              -                   -                 -                   
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT 364,115           410,232         774,346            281,945           363,337         645,281            
Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT Prior Year 3,379               25,813           29,192              -                   -                 -                   
Medicare 3,311               2,348             5,659                3,656               1,398             5,054                
Realignment 1,523,063        -                 1,523,063         1,644,331        -                 1,644,331         
MHSA funds -                   15,539,345    15,539,345       -                   14,780,860    14,780,860       
Grants and contracts 435,878           12,886           448,764            11,403             12,513           23,916              
Patient fees and insurance 351                  62                  413                   496                  57                  553                   
Rent income - TCMH & MHSA Housing 4,620               30,987           35,607              4,620               29,786           34,406              
Other income 156                  65                  221                   315                  87                  401                   
Interest Income 93,782             519,530         613,312            6,208               13,288           19,496              
Receipt of SB90 claims previously reserved 241,378           -                 241,378            -                   -                 -                   

Total Revenues 4,365,860            18,290,038        22,655,898          3,026,674            16,400,825        19,427,499          

EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and benefits 3,428,327        7,103,821      10,532,148       3,767,953        5,672,462      9,440,414         
Facility and equipment operating cost 231,784           498,372         730,156            258,074           497,043         755,117            
Client lodging, transportation, and supply expense 106,795           437,140         543,936            7,215               33,574           40,789              
Depreciation & amortization 123,141           253,485         376,625            132,945           257,302         390,247            
Other operating expenses 403,161           919,829         1,322,989         286,696           598,367         885,063            

Total Expenses 4,293,208            9,212,647          13,505,855          4,452,883            7,058,748          11,511,631          

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 72,652             9,077,392      9,150,044         (1,426,209)       9,342,077      7,915,868         
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 8,333,454            28,504,121    36,837,576       7,995,472            25,853,634        33,849,106       
NET POSITION, END OF MONTH 8,406,106$          37,581,513$      45,987,619$        6,569,263$          35,195,712$      41,764,974$        

NOTE:  This presentation of the Change in Net Assets is NOT in accordance with GASB, but is presented only for a simple review of Tri-City's revenue sources and
    expenses. 

Definitions:
  Medi-Cal FFP= Federal Financial Participation Reimbursement
  Medi-Cal SGF-EPSDT=State General Funds reimbursement for Medi-Cal services provided to children under the "Early and
    Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment" regulations.
  TCMH=Tri-City's Outpatient Clinic
  MHSA=Mental Health Services Act (Proposition 63)

PERIOD ENDED 11/30/23 PERIOD ENDED 11/30/22

TRI-CITY MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FIVE MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 8 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 

 
 

 
DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:   Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 

 Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
 
FROM: Elizabeth Renteria, LCSW, Chief Clinical Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Clinical Services Report 
 
 
CLINICAL PROGRAM UPDATES 
 
Service Connection Event 
 
On December 15, 2023, the Los Angeles County Chief Executive Office conducted a 
Pathway Home encampment resolution focused on RVs, or recreational vehicles in the 
Pomona area. Pathway Home helped 43 individuals move into hotels. To facilitate their 
transition to permanent housing, the County provided Pathway Home participants with a 
Service Connection Event. At the event, a range of supportive service providers were 
present, as well as housing navigation assistance and access to time-limited rental 
subsidies. Tri-City Mental Health Authority along with LACDMH provided mental health 
support. Staff from our Access to Care and Full- Service Partnership Teams participated 
and linked clients to services or re-engaged clients in care. 
 
A total of 8 participants were served by TCMHA staff. Six participants were connected 
to services and two were provided with information and resources. 

 
 
 
 
 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal,  Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Elizabeth Renteria, LCSW Chief Clinical Officer 
January 17, 2024 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
From left to right: Krystal Escobedo, Behavioral Health Specialist from Access to Care, Rosa 
Ramirez, Senior Behavioral Health Specialist from Access to Care Department and Tracy Boase, 
Clinical Therapist from our Full- Service Partnership Team. 
 
 Therapeutic Community Garden 
 
For the month of December all groups continue to run virtually. TCG participants have 
made reports of learning and enjoying the curriculum TCG team has facilitated. 
Participants have requested printouts of TCG curriculum to enhance their well-being 
and practice the tools they have learned during group. TCG team continues to outreach 
current participants through check-in calls, engagement in the groups, and harvest/seed 
packets to keep participants engaged in TCG program.  
 
Group Number   Group Name Time  
1. Garden Bloomers (Older Adults 55+) 10am-

11am 
2. Florece en tu Manera (Spanish Speaking Adults) 2pm-3pm 
3. Mindfulness Through Virtual Gardening (Adul 18+) 11am-

12pm 
4. Growing Youth Growing Gardens (Adults 18-25) 2pm-3pm 
5. Building the Nest Together (Family Group, 18 and 

Younger) 
4pm-5pm 

6. (Re)Connect in the Garden (Adults 18+)  1pm-2pm 
Total number of 
Groups: 6 

  

 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal,  Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Elizabeth Renteria, LCSW Chief Clinical Officer 
January 17, 2024 
 
 

 
 

Above: This chart depicts the number of groups currently being held in the Therapeutic 
Community Garden, Tri-City Mental Health. 
  
Garden Rejuvenation/ beautification project updates  
The garden rejuvenation project continues to move forward. According to Facilities 
Manager, Alex Ramirez, the following items are still outstanding as of December/2023: 

• Installation of the polygon structure and foundation 
• Install light poles for the garden.  
• Finalize ADA stall improvement.  
• Install benches. 
• Construct planter boxes 
• Installation of additional irrigation 
• Tuff shed to be ordered and constructed. 
• Seal the parking lot. 
• Stripe the parking lot 
• Relocate the existing shed.  

We look forward to the continued progress of the garden rejuvenation project and look 
forward to when the garden is ready and open to invite the community and participants 
back in. 

Child Services 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Total Number of 
completed Adult Service 

Requests 

49 

47

1 1
0

10

20

30

40

50

Child ATC Child- FSP ATC CTAY ATC

Total # of Service Requests by Program- CFS



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal,  Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Elizabeth Renteria, LCSW Chief Clinical Officer 
January 17, 2024 
 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Adult Services 
 
  
 

This graph above compares the number of services requests from last month, November 
2023 and last year, December 2022 to the current month, December 2023. There was a 
42% decrease in the number of service requests from last month and a 47% decrease in 

     
 

85

49

93

0

20

40

60

80

100

LAST MONTH: NOV 2023 CURRENT MONTH: DEC 2023 LAST YEAR: DEC 2022

Service Request (CFS)- Time Based Comparisson 

42% decrease from last 
  

47% decrease from last 
 

Total Number of 
completed Adult Service 

Requests 

139 

132

5 2
0

50

100

150

Adult ATC Adult- FSP ATC OAdult  FSP ATC

Total # of Service Requests by Program- AAOP



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal,  Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of Elizabeth Renteria, LCSW Chief Clinical Officer 
January 17, 2024 
 
 

 
 

  

This graph above compares the number of services requests from last month, November 
2023 and last year, December 2022 to the current month, December 2023. There was a 
10% increase in the number of service requests from last month. 
 

127 139
154

0

50

100

150

200

LAST MONTH: NOV 2023 CURRENT MONTH: DEC 2023 LAST YEAR: DEC 2022

Service Request (AAOP)- Time Based Comparisson 

10% increase from last 
 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 9 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 

 
 

 
DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:   Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
 
FROM: Seeyam Teimoori, M.D., Medical Director 
 
SUBJECT: Medical Director’s Monthly Report 
 

 
SERVICES PROVIDED BY TRI-CITY INTENSIVE OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT 
TEAM (IOET), and PACT TEAMS IN DECEMBER 2023 
 
IOET Program 
 
o Number of all new outreach= 36 
o Number client given intake appointments= 20 
o Number of clients opened= 12 
o Total number of ALL clients outreached= 152 
o Total number of homeless served= 91 
o Percentage of clients outreached that are homeless= 60%  
o Percentage of clients enrolled this month in formal services that are homeless= 33% 

 
Service area: 
 

o Laverne= 1 
o Pomona= 143 
o Claremont= 8 
o Total= 152 

 
Enrollments: 

 
o FSP (Full-Service Partnership)-Older Adult= 2 
o FSP-adult= 9 
o FSP-TAY (Transition Age Youth) = 0 
o AOP (Adult Outpatient Program) = 0 
o COP (Children Outpatient Program) = 1 
o FCCS (Field Capable Clinical Services) = 0 
o FSP Children= 0 

 

 



Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Monthly Staff Report of Dr. Seeyam Teimoori 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Health Issues: 
 

o Number of initial health assessments completed= 17 
o Number of clients linked to PCP appointments with IOET LPT= 12 

 

P.A.C.T. (Psychiatric Assessment Care Team) 
 
o Number of new individuals added for the month= 3 
o Number enrolled in formal services for the month= 0 
o Number referred to Navigators this month= 2 

 
Pop Up Clinic  
 

o Total of attendees= 33 
o Non-enrolled clients = 14 
o Enrolled clients= 4 
o Total Rx written = 35 

Psychiatric services 
 

o Initial Medication Appointment Authorization- 58 
o Total Scheduled for October = 70 (To see a psychiatrist) 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 10 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Monthly Staff Report 

DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority  

    
FROM:  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director                  
 
BY:  Dana Barford, Director of MHSA and Ethnic Services      

 
SUBJECT: Monthly MHSA and Ethnic Services Report 
 

    

COMMUNITY PLANNING PROCESS  
 
During the month of December, the Community Navigator Supervisor and MHSA Projects 
Manager, presented to the San Gabriel Pomona Valley Regional Center. The content for 
this mini-stakeholder meeting included an overview of Tri- City, programming, and 
services available, as well as an opportunity for attendees to make comments and ask 
questions. Feedback included statements of gratitude regarding the opportunity to learn 
more about Tri-City services. This brings the total number of stakeholders engaged during 
mini-stakeholder meetings to 126 with two additional presentations scheduled for later 
this month.  
 
The MHSA Project Manager also attended a community meeting hosted by the Pomona 
Police Department. This community dialogue group was developed following the death of 
George Floyd in 2020. Several community members and individuals representing various 
organizations were present, as well as Lieutenant Bostrom and Captain Samuels who 
facilitated the dialogue and listened to attendee questions, comments, and concerns. 
Making connections with local police departments in the Tri-City area is part of the crucial 
network of relationships needed when approaching the community from a 
multidimensional and multidisciplinary lens. 
 
PREVENTION AND EARLY INTERVENTION (PEI) 
 
Tri-City is now recruiting for the Community Wellbeing Grant for FY 2024-2025. The  
Community Wellbeing Grant is part of the Tri-City Prevention and Early Intervention 
program designed to help communities across the three cities who serve and/or support 
children and youth ages 0-25 to develop and implement community-driven plans to 
improve and sustain the mental and emotional wellbeing of their members. Staff will be 
hosting an Information Night on February 6, 2024, at 6:00 pm via zoom, where staff will 
offer more detailed information on the Community Wellbeing Grants. This meeting will be 
followed by a Bidders Conference on February 20, 2024, at 6 pm and February 22, 2024, 
at 10 am via Zoom which is mandatory for anyone interested in applying for this grant. 
For more information and registration details, please contact Daisy Martinez: 
dmartinez@tricitymhs.org.  
 

https://tricitymhs.org/our-services/community-support-programs/community-wellbeing-program
mailto:dmartinez@tricitymhs.org


Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of MHSA 
January 17, 2024 
Page 2 
 
Peer Mentor Program 
 
During the month of December, Peer Mentors and staff had an open dialogue about 
holiday blues affecting the community we serve. The mentors were trained on how to 
assist their mentees who are experiencing difficulties during the holiday season. 
Resources were supplied to mentors throughout the month to utilize with mentees. 
Mentors were also provided with a presentation on Compassion Fatigue and Self Care.  
 
Stigma Reduction 
 
Program staff attended the Directing Change Program Advisory Council meeting which 
includes educators and county behavioral workers collaborating to continue Directing 
Change efforts. Directing Change is a statewide film contest that encourages youth to 
take action for suicide prevention, stigma reduction, and promote mental health 
awareness. This year, three local high schools received a Directing Change mini grant 
which will encourage more students to participate in the annual Directing Change film 
contest. Program staff continue to collaborate closely with school advisors and provide 
additional support with stigma reduction workshops and activities for the students.  
 
COMMUNITY NAVIGATORS  
 
The Community Navigator program recently hired two additional Navigators. With the new 
staff onboard, the Navigators can expand their existing efforts to reengage with 
community partners, local agencies, and faith-based organizations. In addition to 
identifying and verifying resources in the community, staff also visit and tour other 
agencies to stay current on the different services that each one offers, along with any 
updates or changes that have taken place.    
 
WELLNESS CENTER                                                                                                                                                       
 
The annual tree lighting event, Holly Jolly, was held again this year at Tri-City’s Wellness 
Center. Families joined in this festive event and celebrated with a night of singing “Jingle 
Bells” and “Feliz Navidad.” Santa and Mrs. Claus arrived all the way from the North Pole 
to take pictures with families and share candy cane treats. The evening ended with 
holiday cookies and hot coco as families watched “A Charlie Brown Christmas” movie.  

https://directingchangeca.org/


Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director 
Monthly Staff Report of MHSA 
January 17, 2024 
Page 3 
 

 
Wellness Center Holly Jolly Event 

     
WORKFORCE EDUCATION AND TRAINING  
 
Outreach & Engagement: Outreach and engagement continues to be an important 
component of the Workforce Education and Training plan. During December, WET staff 
visited local high schools and colleges to share information on career opportunities in 
community mental health. These opportunities included Career Night at San Dimas High 
School where staff interacted with over 100 students and parents. Future outreach efforts 
in 2024 include presentations to local high school health classes.   
 
INNOVATIONS  
 
Help@Hand: December was the final month of the Help@Hand Innovation project. This 
five-year project was a collaboration between multiple counties which included the use of 
the myStrength application. In addition, participants were provided with Digital Health 
Literacy training to assist them with navigating this wellness application as well as the 
Internet in general. These trainings were tailored for each population who participated in 
the project.   
 
One example includes a Digital Health Literacy (DHL) training held for older adults at the 
La Verne Community Center. This training focused on the topic of Staying Safe Online 
which included discussions on frauds and scams. The same DHL training was presented 
in Spanish for the older adult Spanish speaking community at Purpose Church in 
Pomona. Attendance was at a maximum capacity for both Digital Health Literacy 
trainings. Participants were highly engaged and asked numerous questions. The 
Innovation team received positive feedback from participants expressing that they felt the 
training was very helpful and they desire more DHL trainings. 
 
Quotes from participants: 
“Please let me know when you do this again.”  
“I was scammed recently, and I wish I would have attended a training like this before.” 
“Thank you, this training taught me so much. It was very helpful.” 
 



 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 11 
 

Tri-City Mental Health Authority 
MONTHLY STAFF REPORT 

 
 

 
DATE: January 17, 2024 
 
TO:  Governing Board of Tri-City Mental Health Center  
  Rimmi Hundal, Executive Director             
 
FROM:  Natalie Majors-Stewart, LCSW, Chief Compliance Officer  

 
SUBJECT: Monthly Best Practices Report 
 

 
The Best Practices division will be prioritizing a concentrated effort on assessment, 
development, and training concerning HIPAA* and related privacy regulations (*Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996). This effort is a core aspect of our 
commitment to compliance with federal and state regulations.  
 
HIPAA regulations set the national standards for how and when client protected health 
information can be accessed, used, disclosed and/or released. Failure to comply with the 
outlined provisions of HIPAA can lead to violations, which can result in financial and even 
criminal penalties. According to the Department of Health and Human Services1, the most 
frequent HIPAA violation complaints reported to the Office of Civil Rights (OCR) are: 
 
– Impermissible uses and disclosures of protected health information; 
– Lack of safeguards of protected health information; 
– Lack of patient access to their protected health information; 
– Lack of administrative safeguards of electronic protected health information; and  
– Use or disclosure of more than the minimum necessary protected health information. 
 
In order to help reduce the risk of the occurrence of these common violations of HIPAA, 
our efforts will commence with a series of review trainings, focused on ensuring that 
service providers and other clinic staff have full understanding and ability to execute key 
components of HIPAA. The HIPAA compliance effort will also include enhancing access 
controls and developing workflow processes that will result in the best possible outcomes.  
 
_________________________________ 
1   https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/compliance-enforcement/data/enforcement-
highlights/index.html 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 


	2024-01-17 Governing Board Meeting Agenda
	Item No 1. 2023-12-20 Minutes-GB and MHC Joint Meeting
	Item No 2. Amending Personnel Rules & Regulations Manual Agenda Report 01172024
	Attachment 2A. Resolution 731.240117 Revising TCMHA Personnel Rules & Regulations Manual
	Attachment 2B. Personnel Rules and Regulations-Revised 01172024 -Effective 01012024
	RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
	RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISIONS
	RULE III.  CLASSIFICATION PLAN
	RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION
	RULE V.  COMPENSATION PLAN
	RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS
	RULE VII.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
	RULE VIII. SEPARATION
	RULE IX. DISCIPLINE
	RULE X.  RECORDS

	Attachment 2C. Personnel Rules and Regulations-Revised 01182023-ANNOTATED
	RULE I.    INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
	RULE II.   GENERAL PROVISIONS
	RULE III.  CLASSIFICATION PLAN
	RULE IV.  RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION
	RULE V.  COMPENSATION PLAN
	RULE VI.  LEAVE BENEFITS
	RULE VII.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
	RULE VIII. SEPARATION
	RULE IX. DISCIPLINE
	RULE X.  RECORDS


	Item No 3. Revised Job Descriptions Agenda Report 01172024
	Attachment 3A. Resolution 732. 240117 Revising Job Descriptions
	Exhibit A. TCMHA Master Classification and Salary Schedule Eff 03072022 Adopted 01172024

	Attachment 3B. Behavioral Health Worker Job Description Revised 01172024
	Attachment 3B1. Behavioral Health Worker Job Description -ANNOTATED

	Attachment 3C. Diversity Equity and Inclusion Coordinator Job Description rev 01172024 - CLEAN
	Attachment 3C1. Diversity Equity and Inclusion Coordinator Job Description -ANNOTATED

	Attachment 3D. Human Resources Director Job Description Revised 01172024
	Attachment 3D1. Human Resources Director Job Description -ANNOTATED

	Attachment 3E. Peer Support Specialist I II Job Description Revised 01172024
	Attachment 3E1. Peer Support Specialist I II Job Description -ANNOTATED

	Attachment 3F. TCG Gardener Job Description Revised 01172024
	Attachment 3F1. TCG Gardener Job Description -ANNOTATED


	Item No 4. Election of Officers Report 01172024
	Item No 5. Selection of an Ad-Hoc Committee to Interview MHC Membership Applicants 01172024
	Attachment 5A. MHC Membership Recruitment Flyer
	Attachment 5B. Application for Membership to Mental Health Commission-Rev 07052023

	Item No 6. Executive Director Monthly Report 01172024
	Item No 7. Chief Financial Officer Monthly Report 01172024
	Item No 7A. 11-30-2023 Unaudited Financial Statements 01172024
	Balance Sheet
	Income Statement
	Cash Flow
	Actual to Budget Summary
	Actual to Budget Variations
	Attachment 2


	Item No 8. Chief Clinical Officer Montlhy Report 01172024
	Item No 9. Medical Director Monthly Report 01172024
	Item No 10. Director of MHSA & Ethnic Services Monthly Report 01172024
	Item No 11. Chief Compliance Officer Monthly Report 01172024


	Date of Application: 
	Name: 
	Date of Birth: 
	Street Address: 
	City: 
	Zip Code: 
	Residence Telephone: 
	Cell Phone: 
	City 2: 
	Zip Code 2: 
	Business Address: 
	Bus: 
	 Telephone: 

	Approximate length of time you have resided or worked within TCMHA Catchment Area Pomona Claremont La Verne: 
	years: 
	Employer 1: 
	Employer 2: 
	Employer 3: 
	Occupation 1: 
	Occupation 2: 
	Occupation 3: 
	Dates From To 1: 
	Dates From To 2: 
	Dates From To 3: 
	Languages spoken: 
	How did you hear about TCMHAs Mental Health Commission: 
	GroupOrganization 1: 
	GroupOrganization 2: 
	GroupOrganization 3: 
	Purpose 1: 
	Purpose 2: 
	Purpose 3: 
	Dates From To 1_2: 
	Dates From To 2_2: 
	Dates From To 3_2: 
	Organization 1: 
	Organization 2: 
	Organization 3: 
	Organization 4: 
	Purpose 1_2: 
	Purpose 2_2: 
	Purpose 3_2: 
	Purpose 4: 
	Dates From To 1_3: 
	Dates From To 2_3: 
	Dates From To 3_3: 
	Dates From To 4: 
	Are you or your spouse an employee of the State or County Mental Health System or an affiliated contract: Off
	If your answer is Yes where you or your spouse a consumer of mental health services before becoming an: Off
	Does your personal schedule allow you to set aside a minimum of two hours each month for Mental Health: Off
	Do you qualify as a veteran or a veteran advocate: Off
	I qualify as a recipient of mental health services: Off
	I qualify as an immediate family member of a recipient of mental health services: Off
	Text2: 
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 
	Text3: 
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Text14: 


